
School Board of Clay County
Teacher Inservice Center, 2233 Village Square Parkway, Fleming Island, FL  32003

September 4, 2025 - Regular School Board Meeting

Date: Sep 04 2025 (6:00 p.m.)

Student Showcase (Fleming Island High School)

Invocation (Pastor Mason Dorsey, Trinity Community Church, Fleming Island)

Pledge of Allegiance

Call to Order

Recognitions and Awards

Presenters

1. Florida Safe School Assessment Tool Findings

School Showcase (Fleming Island High School, Principal Thomas Pittman)

Presentations from the Audience (Public Comment on Specific Agenda Items)

Discussion Agenda

Human Resources

2. D1 - Human Resources Special Action A

3. D2 - Human Resources Special Action B

Consent Agenda

Superintendent

4. C1 - Minutes of School Board Special Meeting on July 22, 2025; Workshop on July 29, 2025; Special Meeting on July
29, 2025; and Regular Meeting on August 7, 2025

2025 Jul 22 Special Meeting.pdf

2025 Jul 29 Workshop.pdf

2025 Jul 29 Special Meeting.pdf

2025 Aug 7 Regular Mtg.pdf

School Board Member

5. C2 - Approval to Advertise and Notice of Public Hearing to Revise School Board Policy 2411 School Counseling

2411 School Councseling_proposed revisions.pdf

Page 1 of 2427

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=54952
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=54963
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=54964
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=54951
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=54951
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2025-jul-22-special-meeting.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2025-jul-29-workshop.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2025-jul-29-special-meeting.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2025-aug-7-regular-mtg.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=54991
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2411-school-councseling_proposed-revisions.pdf


Legal Adv Notice of PH for Revisions to SB Policy 2411 School Counseling.pdf

Human Resources

6. C3 - Personnel Consent Agenda

Personnel Consent Agenda - Sept 2025.pdf

Instruction-Academic Services

7. C4 -  Required Revisions - 2025-2026 Comprehensive Evidence-Based Reading Plan (CERP)

25_26_CERP_APPROVED JUNE_2025.pdf

REVISED_2025_2026 CERP_AUG.pdf

8. C5 - Interlocal Agreement Between The School Board of Clay County, Florida and Eagle Harbor Association
Regarding Usage of District Recreational Facilities.

Interlocal Agreement FIHS Swim (2025) - EAGLE HARBOR.docx - Google Docs.docx - Google Docs.pdf

9. C6 - School Improvement Plan Approval

School Improvement Plans 2025-2026.pdf

Instruction-K-12 Academic

10. C7 - K-12 Academic Services Out of State and Overnight Student Travel

September 2025 Student Travel.pdf

Instruction-Professional Development

11. C8 - Affiliation Agreement between Clay County District Schools and St. Leo University.

250210 St Leo.pdf

12. C9 - Affiliation Agreement between Clay County District Schools and Florida State College of Jacksonville (FSCJ).

260001 FSCJ Clinical Exp Early Childhood Prog Agreement 7.8.2025.pdf

13. C10 - Affiliation Agreement between Clay County District Schools and St. Johns River State College.

260008 SJR State Student Teaching Affiliation Agreement.pdf

14. C11 - 2025-2026 Uniform Statewide Assessment Calendar

K12UniformAssessmentCalendar2526 July 2025.pdf

2025-2026 District Assessment Information.pdf

Instruction-Climate and Culture

15. C12 - Proclamation for September National Attendance Awareness Month

Proclamation of September 2025 as Attendance Awareness Month in Clay County District Schools.pdf

IN-SEDNET

16. C13 - RATIFY 260017 LUTHERAN SERVICES FLORIDA (LSF HEALTH SYSTEMS) CONTRACT

NewContract SED-FL023 070125.pdf

081325 Contract Review Form LSF.pdf

Page 2 of 2427

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/legal-adv-notice-of-ph-for-revisions-to-sb-policy-2411-school-counseling_1.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=54962
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/personnel-consent-agenda-sept-2025.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=54981
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/25_26_cerp_approved-june_2025.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/revised_2025_2026-cerp_aug.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=54942
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=54942
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/interlocal-agreement-fihs-swim-2025-eagle-harbordocx-google-docsdocx-google-docs.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=54987
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/school-improvement-plans-2025-2026.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=54990
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/september-2025-student-travel.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=54965
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/250210-st-leo.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=54966
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/260001-fscj-clinical-exp-early-childhood-prog-agreement-782025.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=54967
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/260008-sjr-state-student-teaching-affiliation-agreement.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=54995
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/k12uniformassessmentcalendar2526-july-2025.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2025-2026-district-assessment-information.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=54972
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/proclamation-of-september-2025-as-attendance-awareness-month-in-clay-county-district-schools.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=54974
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/newcontract-sed-fl023-070125.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/081325-contract-review-form-lsf.pdf


Business Affairs

17. C14 - Proposed Allocation Changes for 2025-2026

09.04.25 - 25-26 Allocation Summary.pdf

Business Affairs-Property

18. C15 - Deletion of Certain Items Report - August, 2025

DELETION REPORT AUGUST, 2025.pdf

DELETION ANALYSIS August 2025-2026.pdf.pdf

Business Affairs-Purchasing

19. C16 - Contract Renewal - County-Wide Professional Mechanical/Electrical Engineering Services Architect/Engineer
Agreement

20. C17 - BID Renewal

Operations-Facilities

21. C18 - Supplemental Spot Survey to the Current Educational Plant Survey to Finalize Moving All or a Portion of Sixth
Grade Students from Ten Elementary Schools to Two Junior High Schools

Spot Survey 7.4 Recommendations.pdf

22. C19 - Prequalification of Contractors

Table for Board Backup Contractor Prequal, 9.4.2025

23. C20 - Change Order #3 (Direct Purchasing) for Lake Asbury Junior High School Classroom Addition

Change Order #3 (Direct Purchasing) Lake Asbury Junior High School Classroom Addition

24. C21 - Change Order #2 (Days Only) for Oakleaf Village Elementary School Fire Alarm Repair/Replacement

Change Order #2 OVE Fire Alarm Repair Replacement

25. C22 - Change Order #2 (Days Only) for Tynes Elementary School Fire Alarm Repair/Replacement

Change Order #2 TES Fire Alarm Repair Replacement

26. C23 - Change Order #2 (Days Only) for Plantation Oaks Elementary School Fire Alarm Repair/Replacement

Change Order #2 POE Fire Alarm Repair Replacement

27. C24 - Thunderbolt Elementary School HVAC Repair/Replacement Contract Award

TBE HVAC Repair Replacement Contract

TBE HVAC Repair Replacement Contract Cont.

Adoption of Consent Agenda

Presentations from the Audience (Public Comment on Non-Specific Agenda Items)

CCEA Update  (Victoria Kidwell)

CESPA Update  (Lonnie Roberts)

Superintendent's Update and Presentations

Page 3 of 2427

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=54971
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/090425-25-26-allocation-summary_1.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=54955
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/deletion-report-august-2025.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/deletion-analysis-august-2025-2026pdf.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=54988
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=54988
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=54989
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=54973
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=54973
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/spot-survey-74-recommendations.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=54982
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/table-for-board-backup-contractor-prequal-942025.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=54983
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/change-order-3-direct-purchasing-lake-asbury-junior-high-school-classroom-addition.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=54984
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/change-order-2-ove-fire-alarm-repair-replacement.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=54985
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/change-order-2-tes-fire-alarm-repair-replacement.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=54986
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/change-order-2-poe-fire-alarm-repair-replacement.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/agendaitem/publishagendaitem?agendaitemid=55000
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/tbe-hvac-repair-replacement-contract.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/tbe-hvac-repair-replacement-contract-cont_1.pdf


School Board Attorney Remarks

School Board Member Remarks

Adjournment

Page 4 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

September 4, 2025 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
Florida Safe School Assessment Tool Findings

Description
Clay County District Schools, Safety and Security team must present their Florida Safe Schools Assessment findings and
recommendations to the District School Superintendent and the District School Board which identify strategies and activities that
the District School Board should implement in order to address the findings and improve school safety and security.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
The Safety & Security Department has previously presented non-specific findings at a school board meeting.

Expected Outcomes
During a School Board Meeting on August 26, 2025 (closed to the public), Matthew Boyack, Director of Safety & Security, will
present findings from the Florida Safe School Assessments to the school board members.
During a Regular School Board Meeting on September 4, 2025, Matthew Boyack, Director of Safety & Security, will present to
the public and board members a broad overview of the assessment findings.  No specifics will be disclosed during the public
meeting.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure effective management of the organization, operations, and facilities to maximize the use of resources and promote a safe,
efficient, and effective learning environment for Clay County students.

Recommendation
Presentation only.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent for Operations (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net
Matthew Boyack, Director of Safety and Security, 904-336-6846, matthew.boyack@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 5 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

September 4, 2025 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
D1 - Human Resources Special Action A

Description
Florida Statutes (F.S. 1012.22(1)(9f), State Board Rules and Clay County School Board Policies require Board notification
and/or action regarding decisions and recommendations of the Superintendent related to Personnel matters.  

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
N/A

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 2:  Enact a highly effective recruitment and professional development plan along with opportunities for growth and career
development to ensure all students have access to a world class education to become life-long learners for success in a global and
competitive workplace and in acquiring applicable life skills.
Strategy 2.1.1 Develop strategic partnerships with organizations and universities to source new talent for a diverse workforce that
is effective and highly-qualified for non-instructional, instructional, and administrative positions throughout CCDS.
Strategy 2.1.3 Expand involvement in community-sponsored career fairs, providing the opportunity to recruit a diverse
population to the multiple career paths within CCDS.
Strategy 2.1.4 Continue to streamline the application and onboarding process to successfully engage and hire quality applicants.
Strategy 2.1.5 Collaborate to strengthen CCDS’ branding and marketing to increase the awareness and presence of career
opportunities.

Recommendation
Approve the action as presented.

Contact
Brenda G. Troutman, Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources  (904) 336 6701   Brenda.Troutman@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 6 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

September 4, 2025 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
D2 - Human Resources Special Action B

Description
Florida Statutes (F.S. 1012.22(1)(9f), State Board Rules and Clay County School Board Policies require Board notification
and/or action regarding decisions and recommendations of the Superintendent related to Personnel matters.  

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
N/A

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 2:  Enact a highly effective recruitment and professional development plan along with opportunities for growth and career
development to ensure all students have access to a world class education to become life-long learners for success in a global and
competitive workplace and in acquiring applicable life skills.
Strategy 2.1.1 Develop strategic partnerships with organizations and universities to source new talent for a diverse workforce that
is effective and highly-qualified for non-instructional, instructional, and administrative positions throughout CCDS.
Strategy 2.1.3 Expand involvement in community-sponsored career fairs, providing the opportunity to recruit a diverse
population to the multiple career paths within CCDS.
Strategy 2.1.4 Continue to streamline the application and onboarding process to successfully engage and hire quality applicants.
Strategy 2.1.5 Collaborate to strengthen CCDS’ branding and marketing to increase the awareness and presence of career
opportunities.

Recommendation
Approve the action as presented.

Contact
Brenda G. Troutman, Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources  (904) 336 6701   Brenda.Troutman@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 7 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

September 4, 2025 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C1 - Minutes of School Board Special Meeting on July 22, 2025; Workshop on July 29, 2025; Special Meeting on July 29, 2025;
and Regular Meeting on August 7, 2025

Description
Florida Statute 1001.42(1) requires the superintendent, as secretary, to keep such minutes and records as are necessary to set
forth clearly all actions and proceedings of the school board.  The minutes of each meeting shall be reviewed, corrected if
necessary, and approved at the next regular meeting; provided that this action may be taken at an intervening special meeting if
the board desires.

Gap Analysis

Previous Outcomes

Expected Outcomes

Strategic Plan Goal

Recommendation
Approve minutes as submitted.

Contact
David S. Broskie, Superintendent of Schools, david.broskie@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

2025 Jul 22 Special Meeting.pdf

2025 Jul 29 Workshop.pdf

2025 Jul 29 Special Meeting.pdf

2025 Aug 7 Regular Mtg.pdf

Page 8 of 2427

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2025-jul-22-special-meeting.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2025-jul-29-workshop.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2025-jul-29-special-meeting.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2025-aug-7-regular-mtg.pdf


Date: Jul 22 2025 (9:00 a.m.)

School Board of Clay County

District Multi-Purpose Center, Corner of Walnut Street and Gratio Place, Green Cove Springs FL

July 22, 2025 - School Board Special Meeting

Invocation  (Erin Skipper)

Call to Order  (Present: Erin Skipper, District 1; Robert Alvero, District 2; Michele Hanson, District 4; Ashley Gilhousen, District 5; and
Superintendent David S. Broskie; Not present: Beth Clark, District 3)

Agenda Items

1. 2025-2026 Mental Health Assistance Allocation Plan

clay-2025-26-mha (1).pdf

Motion
Motion to Approve 2025=2026 Mental Health Assistance Allocation Plan

Vote Results ( Approved )
Motion: Ashley Gilhousen
Second: Robert Alvero
Ashley Gilhousen - Aye
Beth Clark - Not Present
Michele Hanson - Aye
Erin Skipper - Aye
Robert Alvero - Aye

2. 2025-2026 Food and Nutrition Services Proposed Meal Price Increase

Meal Price Comparison 1.pdf

Meal Price Comparison 2.pdf

Motion
Motion to Approve 2025-2026 Food and Nutrition Services Proposed Meal Price Increase

Vote Results ( Approved )
Motion: Ashley Gilhousen
Second: Michele Hanson
Ashley Gilhousen - Aye
Beth Clark - Not Present
Michele Hanson - Aye
Erin Skipper - Aye
Robert Alvero - Aye

3. Proposed Allocation Changes for 2025-2026

07.22.25 - 25-26 Allocation Summary.pdf
Page 9 of 2427

DRAFT



Motion
Motion to Approve Proposed Allocation Changes for 2025-2026

Vote Results ( Approved )
Motion: Michele Hanson
Second: Ashley Gilhousen
Ashley Gilhousen - Aye
Beth Clark - Not Present
Michele Hanson - Aye
Erin Skipper - Aye
Robert Alvero - Aye

4. Tentative 2025/2026 – 2029/2030 Educational Facilities Plan

EFP 2025-2030 Tentative 7.22.25 Agenda Backup.pdf

Minutes:

Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent for Operations, indicated that the Educational Facilities Plan documentation is attached to the
agenda, and the EFP will be presented in full at the upcoming special meeting/public hearing on July 29, 2025.  

5. Review 2025-2026 TRIM advertisements for the Tentative Millage and Budget

Budget Presentation 7 22 2025.pdf

Minutes:

Dawn Posey, Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs, presented the tentative budget for the 2025-2026 fiscal year (copy of
presentation attached to agenda item).  She reported that the required local effort rate to be levied exceeds the rolled-back rate
computed pursuant to Section 200.065(1), F.S., by 5.51%, so the district will be required to advertise a tax increase. The required
local effort rate is provided by the Florida Department of Education, and the rolled-back rate is based on property values.  The Clay
County School Board has no authority nor responsibility for any tax increase. The first public hearing on the millage rates and the
tentative budget will be on July 29, 2025. The proposed annual budget for all funds for the 2025-2026 school year is $669,862,016. 

The budget review discussed current events having an immediate impact on the tentative budget, including a $647,000 shortfall in the
final Florida Education Finance Program (FEFP) disbursement to CCDS and a $1,500,000 decrease for Clay arising out of withheld
federal funds (Title II, Title III, and Title IV).  The fund balance is estimated at approximately 4% and may be further affected by
funding necessary to support the mission of educating students.

6. Approve TRIM Advertisement for the 2025-2026 Tentative Budget and Millages

NOTICE OF PROPOSED TAX INCREASE 2025docx - Google Docs.pdf

2025-26 Budget Summary Ad - Google Sheets.pdf

CAPITAL PROJECTS TRIM AD - 25_26 - Google Docs.pdf

Motion
Motion to Approve TRIM Advertisement for the 2025-2026 Tentative Budget and Millages

Vote Results ( Approved )
Motion: Michele Hanson
Second: Ashley Gilhousen
Ashley Gilhousen - Aye
Beth Clark - Not Present
Michele Hanson - Aye
Erin Skipper - Aye
Robert Alvero - Aye

Presentations from the Audience  (None)

Superintendent Comments

Page 10 of 2427

DRAFT



7. Superintendent Comments

Minutes:

Superintendent Broskie thanked Ms. Posey and her team, noting the extremely tight budget and the effect on the fund balance of any
further expenditures. The prioritization of students in the classroom drove the strategic allocation of resources. 

Mr. Broskie noted the positive school grades, indicating that CCDS has earned an A and is in the top 10 in all four subject areas. He
noted the individual school successes of Argyle Elementary, Middleburg Elementary, Clay Hill Elementary, Wilkinson Junior High,
Charles E. Bennett, Clay Virtual Academy, Orange Park Elementary, Paterson Elementary, Fleming Island High and Oakleaf High.

He looks forward to the return of teachers and students and anticipates a highly successful year ahead.

School Board Attorney Comments

8. School Board Attorney Comments

Minutes:

Jeremiah Blocker, School Board Attorney, shared comments submitted to him by Mrs. Clark (see School Board Member Comments
for details).

School Board Comments

9. School Board Member Comments

Minutes:

Mrs. Clark shared her comments through Jeremiah Blocker, School Board Attorney. She advised that, in her 4.5 years on the School
Board, the required tax rate has dropped each year while the Board has strived to increase teacher pay. This year's tax increase is
.036%, and she is willing to find a way not to increase taxes because citizens are already facing an increase in property taxes of 3%
in home values in addition to a potential utility tax increase that may be imposed by the Board of County Commissioners.  Questions
posed by Mrs. Clark re fund balance, as well as additional information requested (breakdown of School Board expenses) will be
addressed by Ms. Posey.

Mrs. Hanson extended appreciation to staff who worked on the budget as well as those involved in placing employees in alternate
employment positions due to recent revisions necessary to reduce the overall budget.

Mrs. Skipper thanked all involved in the budget work and requested a reminder/message be sent to teachers re the Teacher Forum
being hosted by the board members on July 24, 2025 at 6:00 p.m. at the Teacher Learning Center, Orange Park High School. 

Mrs. Hanson suggested future teacher forums be scheduled in connection with reviewing focused portions of the Student Code of
Conduct.

Adjournment  (10:09 a.m.)

Superintendent of Schools School Board Chair

Page 11 of 2427

DRAFT



Date: Jul 29 2025 (9:00 a.m.)

School Board of Clay County

District Multi-Purpose Center, Corner of Walnut Street and Gratio Place, Green Cove Springs FL

July 29, 2025 - School Board Workshop

Invocation  (Ashley Gilhousen)

Call to Order  (Present: Erin Skipper, District 1; Robert Alvero, District 2; Beth Clark, District 3, Ashley Gilhousen, District 5; and
Superintendent David S. Broskie. Not Present:Michele Hanson, District 4)

Workshop Items

1. CCSO Year End Update

CCSO_Financial Summary 24-25.pdf

CCSO 24-25 School Year iN Review.pdf

Minutes:

Vicki Adams, Chief Financial Officer, and Director Patrick Golemme, Chief of Services, Clay County Sheriff's Office, provided a year-
end update (attached) for the 2025/2025 school year.

Statistics re dispatched calls, threat assessments, case dispositions (95.33% clearance rate), incident reporting, seized contraband,
and training hours were highlighted. Individual CHIRP (County Hazards Incident Response Plans) were completed and reviewed for
each school. Security walks through all 37 schools were conducted along with district safety personnel and Clay County Fire Rescue.
School Resource Officers (SROs) have completed all mandatory training requirements, including crisis intervention, cyber-security
and infrastructure, threats of violence, vaping, active assailant, and SROs have engaged in joint initiatives with the district.

Board members' questions and discussion included the SROs working with the guardians to ensure all safety protocols are
understood, the ability to share information with other Florida counties, working with the Department of Juvenile Justice (DJJ) to
ensure awareness of students' correct educational settings and supervision, and the need to provide additional education to students
and families re the physical and legal effects of vaping.

A recap of the 2024-2025 funding compared the original budget request to actuals and reflected a reversion of funds totaling
$769,554.76 back to Clay County District Schools.

Superintendent Broskie thanked CCSO for their great work and partnership.

2. Self-Funded Insurance Update

Insurance Update.pdf

Page 12 of 2427

DRAFT



Minutes:

Hannah Carter, Senior Account Executive, The Bailey Group, shared a presentation (attached) to review network discounts and
savings. Christina Isais, Supervisor of Risk Management and Employee Benefits also participated in answering questions and relating
information to board members.

Adequate funding of the plan was discussed, and the Florida Office of Insurance Regulation's requirement for self-funded school
districts to keep an actuarially sound and funded plan reserve was reviewed. 

Board members' discussion included the need to provide additional information to employees to guide them in their selection of
benefits and providers, how savings are reflected (primarily based on future savings), virtual informational meetings available to
employees, how information can be reinforced and communicated to employees during pre-planning and via email, the substantial
funds that have been saved by utilizing the self-funded model, and the ability of CCDS to maintain current premium costs for the past
six (6) years, absorbing any additional cost to employees.

3. Apptegy Update

July 29_ Board Workshop Appetgy Update Presentation.pptx

Minutes:

Terri Dennis, Coordinator of Communications and Media, reviewed the attached visual presentation re Apptegy, the platform for the
district's website and app that was launched in January 2025. There has been a significant increase in active users, and user
engagement has shown a dramatic improvement. "Rooms" was launched in May 2025 and will be the primary method for school-to-
guardian communication for the 2025-2026 school year. The marketing plan for parents and guardians to download the new app and
stay connected with the district and their children's schools will continue.

Board members' discussion included Apptegy being the type of platform/format that parents and the community had requested, other
programs which are now no longer needed as a result of Apptegy, and the expenditure for the program occurring a year ago, prior to
changes in state funding. This platform will also be used for teacher/coach communication to students. 

Social media pages will be streamlined and pulled back to a degree to ensure compliance with public record laws. The app is ADA
compliant, offering full accessibility, and there is no data sharing. A lot of training has taken place to protect teachers' and students'
identities.

4. Review Draft Agenda for Regular School Board Meeting on August 7, 2025

August-7-2025-regular-school-board-meeting_agenda_packet.pdf

Minutes:

Superintendent Broskie requested board members contact him with any questions or concerns relating to the August 7, 2025 agenda.

Questions from the Audience  (None)

Superintendent Comments  (None)

School Board Attorney Comments  (None)

School Board Comments

5. School Board Member Comments

Minutes:

Mrs. Clark appreciated the presentation for the self-funded insurance program and the savings realized from this insurance product. 

Mrs. Skipper requested that Ms. Dennis add the report card posted on social media to the next Board Brief. 

Mrs. Hanson requested the graphic provided by CCSO be provided to the public, and it will be attached to the agenda/minutes for this
meeting.

Adjournment  (11:11 a.m.)

Superintendent of Schools School Board Chair
Page 13 of 2427

DRAFT



Date: Jul 29 2025 (5:05 p.m.)

School Board of Clay County

Teacher Inservice Center, 2233 Village Square Parkway, Fleming Island FL

July 29, 2025 - School Board Special Meeting (Public Hearing on the 2025-2026 Tentative Budget)

Invocation  (Michele Hanson)

Call to Order  (Present: Erin Skipper, District 1; Robert Alvero, District 2; Beth Clark, District 3, Michele Hanson, District 4; Ashley
Gilhousen, District 5; and Superintendent David S. Broskie)

Agenda Items

1. Approval for the Purchase of I-Ready Mathematics K-5 and Ellevation Platform for the 2025-2026 School Year

250167 Curriculum Associates.pdf

Executed 250167 Curriculum Associates.pdf

Motion
Motion to Approve Purchase of I-Ready Mathematics K-5 and Ellevation Platform for the 2025-2026 School Year

Vote Results ( Approved )
Motion: Michele Hanson
Second: Ashley Gilhousen
Ashley Gilhousen - Aye
Beth Clark - Aye
Michele Hanson - Aye
Erin Skipper - Aye
Robert Alvero - Aye

2. Public Hearing to Approve as Advertised Modifications to the 2024-2025 Student Progression Plan

Summary of Changes - 25-26 SPP.pdf

2025-26 SPP Draft for Approval.pdf

Legal Adv Notice of PH Modifications to 2024-2025 Student Progression Plan.pdf

Minutes:

Chair Skipper opened the public hearing.  With no one coming forward to speak to the item, the public hearing was closed.

Motion
Motion to Approve as Advertised Modifications to the 2024-2025 Student Progression Plan

Vote Results ( Approved )
Motion: Beth Clark
Second: Robert Alvero
Ashley Gilhousen - Aye
Beth Clark - Aye

Page 14 of 2427

DRAFT



Michele Hanson - Aye
Erin Skipper - Aye
Robert Alvero - Aye

3. Public Hearing to Approve as Advertised School Board Policies entitled Bylaws-Agendas; Parent Organizations; Booster Clubs and
Other Outside Support Organizations; Parent and Family Involvement in the School Program; Use of District Facilities, Grounds &
Equipment; Wellness; and Transportation;

Legal Adv Notice of PH Adopt Bylaws and Policies and Rescind Bylaws and Policies (2).pdf

Proposed Policies 0165.1; 2111; 7510; 8510; 8600; 9210; 9211.pdf

Minutes:

Chair Skipper opened the public hearing.  With no one coming forward to speak to the item, the public hearing was closed.

Motion
Motion to Approve as Advertised School Board Policies entitled Bylaws-Agendas; Parent Organizations; Booster Clubs and Other
Outside Support Organizations; Parent and Family Involvement in the School Program; Use of District Facilities, Grounds &
Equipment; Wellness; and Transportation

Vote Results ( Approved )
Motion: Michele Hanson
Second: Ashley Gilhousen
Ashley Gilhousen - Aye
Beth Clark - Aye
Michele Hanson - Aye
Erin Skipper - Aye
Robert Alvero - Aye

4. Public Hearing to Approve as Advertised Amendments to the 2025-2026 Student & Family Handbook and Code of Student Conduct

2025-2026 Amendment to Student and Family Handbook and Code of Conduct Section 6.4.pdf

Legal Adv Notice of PH Student and Family Handbook and Code of Student Conduct.pdf

Minutes:

Chair Skipper opened the public hearing. With no one coming forward to speak to the item, the public hearing was closed.

Motion
Motion to Approve as Advertised Amendments to the 2025-2026 Student & Family Handbook and Code of Student Conduct

Vote Results ( Approved )
Motion: Ashley Gilhousen
Second: Beth Clark
Ashley Gilhousen - Aye
Beth Clark - Aye
Michele Hanson - Aye
Erin Skipper - Aye
Robert Alvero - Aye

5. Review the 2025-2026 Proposed Millage andTentative Budget (All Funds)

Minutes:

Dawn Posey, Assistant Superintendent of Business Affairs, provided the attached visual presentation of the 2025-2026 tentative
budget that included the proposed millages, rolled-back rate calculation, and proposed revenues and expenditures for all funds. The
total millage to be levied is more than the rolled-back rate by 5.51% so the district is required to advertise a tax increase.  The
district's total tentative budget (all funds) for the fiscal year 2025-2026 is $669,862,016. The final public hearing to adopt the final
millage and budget for 2025-2026 will be held on September 11, 2025 at 5:05 p.m.

Page 15 of 2427

DRAFT



Current events with an immediate impact on the 2025-2026 budget were reviewed, including the FEFP third calculation being relesed
two months late. The Base Student Allocation (BSA) increase is insufficient to cover inflation, new FRS rates, health costs,
transportation costs, and electricity. The final FEFP disbursement reflected a $647,000 shortfall in the final Florida Education Finance
Program (FEFP) disbursement to Clay County District Schools. 

Board member discussion included the requirement for funds to stay within their designated categories for expenditures and the
restricted use of impact fees for new construction and payment of principal and interest on Certificates of Participation (COPS).

6. Public Hearing for Comments on the 2025-2026 Budget and Millages

Minutes:

Chair Skipper opened the public hearing. Public speakers addressing the budget:

Dennis Metheny - thought property values would go up and millage go down; what's the difference between disadvantaged and
disabilities

7. Adopt the 2025-2026 Tentative Budget (All Funds) and set the Public Hearing for the 2025-2026 Final Budget for Thursday,
September 11, 2025 at 5:05 p.m.

Motion
Motion to Adopt the 2025-2026 Tentative Budget (All Funds) and set the Public Hearing for the 2025-2026 Final Budget for
Thursday, September 11, 2025 at 5:05 p.m.

Vote Results ( Approved )
Motion: Ashley Gilhousen
Second: Robert Alvero
Ashley Gilhousen - Aye
Beth Clark - Aye
Michele Hanson - Aye
Erin Skipper - Aye
Robert Alvero - Aye

8. Adopt Resolution 26-01 Request for Adoption of the 2025-2026 CCDS Tentative Millages for Required Local Effort, Basic
Discretionary, Capital Improvement, and Additional Voted Millage

Resolution Number 26-01.pdf

Executed Resolution 26-01.pdf

Motion
Motion to Adopt Resolution 26-01 Request for Adoption of the 2025-2026 CCDS Tentative Millages for Required Local Effort, Basic
Discretionary, Capital Improvement, and Additional Voted Millage

Vote Results ( Approved )
Motion: Michele Hanson
Second: Beth Clark
Ashley Gilhousen - Aye
Beth Clark - Aye
Michele Hanson - Aye
Erin Skipper - Aye
Robert Alvero - Aye

9. Adopt Resolution 26-02 Request for the Adoption of the 2025-2026 CCDS Tentative Budget

Resolution Number 26-02.pdf

Executed Resolution 26-02.pdf

Motion
Motion to Adopt Resolution 26-02 Request for the Adoption of the 2025-2026 CCDS Tentative Budget

Vote Results ( Approved )
Page 16 of 2427

DRAFT



Motion: Beth Clark
Second: Ashley Gilhousen
Ashley Gilhousen - Aye
Beth Clark - Aye
Michele Hanson - Aye
Erin Skipper - Aye
Robert Alvero - Aye

10. Adopt Tentative 2025/2026 – 2029/2030 Educational Facilities Plan

EFP 2025-2030 Tentative 7.22.25 Agenda Backup.pdf

Minutes:

Paul Bement, Supervisor of Planning and Intergovernmental Relations, shared the attached visual presentation highlighting the
following:

Growth, Enrollment, and Student Data Trends
Areas of Growth in Clay County
Projected School Needs

Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent of Operations, shared the attached presentation highlighting the following:

Educational Facilities Plan
Capital Revenue Sources
Projected New Revenue
Capital Outlay Expenditures
Upcoming Planned Projects

Board member discussion included a parcel of land purchased by CCDS for a future school site (to be determined), expansion of
lanes on FL-16, the inadequacy of impact fees to meet needs, certificates of occupancy, land conveyances from builders for school
sites, the high cost of all projects, and the principals' input in the consideration of the Educational Facilities Plan.

Motion
Motion to Adopt the Tentative 2025/2026 - 2029/2030 Educational Facilities Plan

Vote Results ( Approved )
Motion: Beth Clark
Second: Robert Alvero
Ashley Gilhousen - Aye
Beth Clark - Aye
Michele Hanson - Aye
Erin Skipper - Aye
Robert Alvero - Aye

11. Global Settlement Agreement between The School Board of Clay County, Blackwater Construction Services LLC, and Gary Rodgers
Plumbing Company, Inc.

Global Release (Blackwater and Gary Rodgers).pdf

Executed Global Release (Blackwater and Gary Rodgers).pdf

Motion
Motion to Approve Global Settlement Agreement between The School Board of Clay County, Blackwater Construction Services LLC,
and Gary Rodgers Plumbing Company, Inc.

Vote Results ( Approved )
Motion: Ashley Gilhousen
Second: Robert Alvero
Ashley Gilhousen - Aye
Beth Clark - Aye
Michele Hanson - Aye

Page 17 of 2427

DRAFT



Erin Skipper - Aye
Robert Alvero - Aye

Presentations from the Audience  (None)

Superintendent Comments  (None)

School Board Attorney Comments  (None)

School Board Comments  (None)

Adjournment  (6:20 p.m.)

Superintendent of Schools School Board Chair

Page 18 of 2427

DRAFT



Date: Aug 07 2025 (6:00 p.m.)

School Board of Clay County

Teacher Inservice Center, 2233 Village Square Parkway, Fleming Island FL

August 7, 2025 - Regular School Board Meeting

Student Showcase  (None)

Invocation  (Pastor Billy Register, True Life Church, Middleburg)

Pledge of Allegiance

Call to Order  (Present: Erin Skipper, District 1; Robert Alvero, District 2, Beth Clark, District 3; Michele Hanson, District 4; Ashley
Gilhousen, District 5; Superintendent David Broskie)

Recognitions and Awards

1. Recognition of Clay County District Schools' Achievements

Minutes:

Bryan Campbell, District Director for U.S. Congressman Aaron Bean (Florida, 4th District), introduced a video of Congressman Aaron
Bean's floor speech to Congress recognizing the successful "A" rating awarded to Clay County District Schools as a result of
educators, teachers, and families working together to achieve excellence under the leadership of Superintendent David Broskie and a
committed school board.

Superintendent Broskie recognized the following schools/principals who demonstrated exceptional achievement on the Spring 2025
state assessments:

Argyle Elementary - Mary Dorsch
Charles E. Bennett Elementary - Amanda Strickland
Clay Hill Elementary - Adele Reed
Orange Park Elementary - Tyler Wood
Middleburg Elementary - Becky Wilkerson
Paterson Elementary - John O'Brian
Wilkinson Junior High - Nathan Warmouth
Clay Virtual Academy - Amanda Stilianou
Fleming Island High - Thomas Pittman
Oakleaf High School - Justin Fluent

2. Recognition of Employee's Fifty Years of Service

Minutes:

Wilmont Snyder, a small engine mechanic in the maintenance department, was recognized for his 50 years of service to Clay County
District Schools. 

Presenters  (None)

School Showcase  (None)

Presentations from the Audience (Public Comment on Specific Agenda Items)  (None)

Discussion Agenda

Human Resources

Page 19 of 2427

DRAFT



3. D1 - Human Resources Special Action A

Minutes:

There was no Human Resources Special Action A.

4. D2 - Human Resources Special Action B

Minutes:

There was no Human Resources Special Action B.

Consent Agenda

Superintendent

5. C1 - Minutes of School Board Workshop on June 17, 2025 and Regular Meeting on June 26, 2025

2025 Jun 17 Workshop.pdf

2025 Jun 26 Regular Mtg.pdf

Human Resources

6. C2 - Personnel Consent Agenda

Personnel Consent Agenda 8_7_25 - Update.pdf

Instruction-Academic Services

7. C3 - K-12 Academic Services Out of State and Overnight Student Travel

August 2025 Student Travel.pdf

Instruction-Professional Development

8. C4 - 2025-2026 Professional Learning Advisory Council Membership

2025-2026 PDAC Committee Board Approval.pdf

Instruction-Secondary

9. C5 - Agreement between Gaetz Aerospace Career Acad, Embry-Riddle Aero Univ and School Board of Clay County 2025-2028

260005 Embry-Riddle Aeronautical University ERAU Agreement 2025-2028.pdf

Instruction-Climate and Culture

10. C6 - University of Florida Affiliation Agreement- School Psychologist EdS student placement

250185 University of FL Intership MOU.pdf

Executed 250185 University of FL Internship MOU.pdf

11. C7 - Flu Vaccines Agreement with Health Hero/Maxvacs, LLC

250204 Health Hero (1).pdf

Executed 250204 Health Hero.pdf

Business Affairs

12. C8 - Proposed Allocation Changes for 2025-2026

08.07.25 - 25-26 Allocation Summary.pdf

13. C9 - Proposed Allocation Changes for 2024-2025

08.07.25 - 24-25 Allocation Summary.xlsx - 2024-25.pdf

Business Affairs-Property

14. C10 - Deletion of Certain Items Report - July, 2025

DELETION REPORT JULY, 2025.pdf
Page 20 of 2427

DRAFT



DELETION ANALYSIS JULY 2025- 2026 - Sheet1.pdf

Operations

15. C11 - MOU Between Clay County District Schools and the Clay County Sheriff’s Office to provide access to the Chris Hixon,
Coach Aaron Feis, and Coach Scott Beigel Guardian Program.

260006 MOU CCSD and CCSO Guardian Program 3yr 8.7.25.pdf

Operations-Facilities

16. C12 - Change Order #1 (Direct Purchasing) for Fleming Island High School HVAC Repair/Replacement

Change Order #1 FIH HVAC Repair Replacement

17. C13 - Final Completion of Clay High School Roof Repair/Replacement

Certificate of Final Completion for CHS Roof Repair Replacement

18. C14 - Change Order #1 (Direct Purchasing) for Keystone Heights High School Security Lighting Repair/Replacement

Change Order #1 (Direct Purchasing) for KHS Security Lighting

19. C15 - Change Order #1 (Direct Purchasing) for Plantation Oaks Elementary School Fire Alarm Repair/Replacement

Change Order #1 POE Fire Alarm Repair Replacement

20. C16 - Change Order #1 (Direct Purchasing) for Oakleaf Village Elementary School Fire Alarm Repair/Replacement

Change Order #1 OVE Fire Alarm Repair Replacement

21. C17 - Change Order #1 (Direct Purchasing) for Tynes Elementary School Fire Alarm Repair/Replacement

Change Order #1 TES Fire Alarm Repair Replacement

22. C18 - Change Order #2 for Keystone Heights High School Security Lighting Repair/Replacement

Change Order #2 KHS Security Lighting

23. C19 - Change Order #1 for Wilkinson Junior High School Control Access

Change Order #1 WJH Control Access

24. C20 - Change Order #2 for Orange Park High School Gym/Locker Room Renovations

Change Order #2 OPH Gym Locker Room Renovations

25. C21 - Change Order #1 (Direct Purchasing) for Shadowlawn Elementary School HVAC Repair/Replacement

Change Order #1 (Direct Purchasing) SLE HVAC

26. C22 - Lakeside Junior High School HVAC and Roof Repair/Replacement Contract Award

LSJ HVAC & Roof Repair Replacement Contract

27. C23 - Change Order #1 for Green Cove Springs Junior High School CTE Lab Upgrades

Change Order #1 GCJ CTE Lab Upgrades

28. C24 - Change Order #2 (Days Only) for Oakleaf Junior High School Classroom Addition

Change Order #2 (Days Only) OLJ Classroom Addition

29. C25 - Change Order #6 for Lakeside Elementary School Kitchen Renovation

Change Order #6 LSE Kitchen Renovation

30. C26 - Prequalification of Contractors

Table for Board Backup Contractor Prequal, 8.7.2025

31. C27 - Purchase Agreement for the Sale of Two (2) Relocatable Buildings at Oakleaf Junior High

250202_Pinewood_Christian_Academy_Relocatable_Sales_Contract .pdf

Adoption of Consent Agenda

Page 21 of 2427

DRAFT



32. Adoption of Consent Agenda

Motion
Motion to Adopt Consent Agenda

Vote Results ( Approved )
Motion: Michele Hanson
Second: Ashley Gilhousen
Ashley Gilhousen - Aye
Beth Clark - Aye
Michele Hanson - Aye
Erin Skipper - Aye
Robert Alvero - Aye

Presentations from the Audience (Public Comment on Non-Specific Agenda Items)

33. Public Comment on Non-Specific Agenda Items

Minutes:

Public speakers addressing non-specific agenda items:

Dylan Hubbard 
Sylvia McCranie 
Bruce Friedman 
Amber Joseph 
Helena Cormier

CCEA Update  (Victoria Kidwell)

CESPA Update  (None)

Superintendent's Update and Presentations

34. Superintendent's Update

Minutes:

Superintendent Broskie shared the attached visual presentation highlighting the following:

State Assessment Results
ESE Summer Summit
New School Year
Student Transportation
Entry Requirements
Upcoming Events

School Board Attorney Remarks  (None)

35. School Board Attorney Remarks

Minutes:

Jeremiah Blocker, School Board Attorney, advised that he will be scheduling an upcoming shade meeting re pending litigation.

School Board Member Remarks

36. School Board Member Comments

Minutes:

Mrs. Clark extended her appreciation to the transportation department, stating that the director and area managers have been
professional in the midst of challenges.

Mr. Alvero expressed his understanding of the tough decisions faced this year, noting the lack of options and the need to make
decisions to move the district forward to function properly.

Page 22 of 2427

DRAFT



Mrs. Gilhousen also acknowledged the difficult decisions made due to budget constraints that impacted students and families, as well
as the responsibility to maintain a fiscally responsible budget with the required reserves to comply with state statute. She wished all a
safe and happy start to the school year.

Mrs. Hanson appreciated all board members participating in a recent teacher forum, where conversations were largely constructive,
emphasizing the need to talk and listen in order to move forward. She would like the board and CCEA to have conversations about
solutions that would work for teachers and improve the primary goal of academic excellence. She has been contacted by individuals
concerned with parental rights and indicated that, in every policy brought forward, the rights of parents, teachers and staff, and
students, were considered and discussed. She will bring forward SB policy 2411 School Counseling at the next workshop to explore
revisions to the existing policy. She wished a great start to the school year to all parents, students, teachers, and the entire
educational community.

Mrs. Skipper wished all good luck and enjoyment throughout this next year. She cautioned the community to think about students
walking to school and encouraged everyone to slow down, noting the importance of school zones.

Adjournment  (7:14 p.m.)

Superintendent of Schools School Board Chair

Page 23 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

September 4, 2025 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C2 - Approval to Advertise and Notice of Public Hearing to Revise School Board Policy 2411 School Counseling

Description
School board policies outline rules to ensure the efficient operation of the school district, providing the framework to support
educational programs, school finance, staff recruitment, administration of student services, employee-related rules, and the
construction and maintenance of facilities.
The proposed revisions are intended to update and ensure alignment of school board policies with state law, federal law, State
Board of Education Rules, and other applicable rules and regulations.  The Board is authorized to adopt and revise policies under
sections 120.54, 1001.31, and 1001.32 of the Florida Statutes.

Gap Analysis
All board policies are reviewed periodically to ensure they are up to date and compliant with current applicable laws and
regulations.

Previous Outcomes
Revisions to board policies have been adopted by the Board as needed and/or required in the past.

Expected Outcomes
The proposed revisions to board policies will be adopted by the Board and implemented appropriately.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 1: Student Success
Goal 2: Talent Recruitment, Development, and Retention
Goal 3: Family and Community Engagement
Goal 4: Safe and Positive Learning Environment
Goal 5: Fiscal and Operational Efficiency

Recommendation
It is recommended that the board approve the advertisement of the intent to revise proposed policies following a public hearing
scheduled for October 2, 2025

Contact
Erin Skipper, Board Chair, erin.skipper@myoneclay.net
Jeremiah Blocker, School Board Attorney, jeremiah.blocker@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact

Review Comments

Attachments

2411 School Councseling_proposed revisions.pdf

Legal Adv Notice of PH for Revisions to SB Policy 2411 School Counseling.pdf

Page 24 of 2427

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2411-school-councseling_proposed-revisions.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/legal-adv-notice-of-ph-for-revisions-to-sb-policy-2411-school-counseling_1.pdf


Book Policy Manual

Section 2000 Programs

Title Copy of SCHOOL COUNSELING

Code po2411 Revised KNW 8/18/25

Status

Adopted June 5, 2025

2411 - SCHOOL COUNSELING
 
The School Board requires that a planned program of school counseling be an integral part of the educational program of
the schools. In accordance with F.A.C. 6A-5.079, 1002.20 and 1014.04, such a program may:
 

A. assist students in academic advisement and planning to achieve their optimum growth;
 

B. aid students in identifying options and making choices in career/vocational and post-secondary education;
 

C. provide responsive mental health counseling services to students;
 

D. supports the provision of resiliency education, civic and character education, and life skills education.
 
© Neola 2002

Page 25 of 2427

DRAFT



‬


             
    


   
           
 
     

           





         


           


   
         
   


             
              
               


          

           


Page 26 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

September 4, 2025 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C3 - Personnel Consent Agenda

Description
Florida Statutes, State Board Rules and Clay County School Board Policies require Board notification and/or action regarding
decisions and recommendations of the Superintendent related to Personnel matters.  Actions regarding personnel have been
recommended by Supervisors, approved by the Superintendent and are being forwarded to the Board for action or, if appropriate,
for information.  Personnel Actions, Transfer Requests, Pre-employments, Leave Forms or Directives from the Superintendent
are available for review in the Human Resources Division.

Gap Analysis
These personnel actions are necessary for the effective operation of the school district.

Previous Outcomes
The Clay County School Board has approved each month a Personnel Consent Agenda which contains appointments, re-
appointments, transfers, redesignations, retirements, resignations, and conclude employments.

Expected Outcomes
Approval of the Personnel Consent Agenda.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 2:  Enact a highly effective recruitment and professional development plan along with opportunities for growth and career
development to ensure all students have access to a world class education to become life-long learners for success in a global and
competitive workplace and in acquiring applicable life skills.
Strategy 2.1.1 Develop strategic partnerships with organizations and universities to source new talent for a diverse workforce that
is effective and highly-qualified for non-instructional, instructional, and administrative positions throughout CCDS.
Strategy 2.1.3 Expand involvement in community-sponsored career fairs, providing the opportunity to recruit a diverse
population to the multiple career paths within CCDS.
Strategy 2.1.4 Continue to streamline the application and onboarding process to successfully engage and hire quality applicants.
Strategy 2.1.5 Collaborate to strengthen CCDS’ branding and marketing to increase the awareness and presence of career
opportunities.

Recommendation
To approve the Personnel Consent Agenda.

Contact
Brenda G. Troutman, Assistant Superintendent for Human Resources.  (904) 336-6701 Brenda.Troutman@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
Personnel changes involving already-allocated positions will result in salary impact per the current Board-approved Salary
Schedule.  This also includes supplemental positions.  See current backup for allocation changes for impact of new positions.

Review Comments

Attachments

Personnel Consent Agenda - Sept 2025.pdf

Page 27 of 2427

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/personnel-consent-agenda-sept-2025.pdf


Page 28 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 29 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 30 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 31 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 32 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 33 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 34 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 35 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 36 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 37 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 38 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 39 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 40 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 41 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 42 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 43 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 44 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 45 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 46 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 47 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 48 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 49 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 50 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 51 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 52 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 53 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 54 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 55 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 56 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 57 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 58 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 59 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 60 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 61 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 62 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 63 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 64 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 65 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 66 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 67 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 68 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 69 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 70 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 71 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 72 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 73 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 74 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 75 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 76 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 77 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 78 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 79 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 80 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 81 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 82 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 83 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 84 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 85 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 86 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 87 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 88 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 89 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 90 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 91 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 92 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 93 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

September 4, 2025 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C4 -  Required Revisions - 2025-2026 Comprehensive Evidence-Based Reading Plan (CERP)

Description
The 2025-2026 Comprehensive Evidence-Based Reading Plan (CERP) was previously approved by the board on June 26, 2025. 
Pursuant to the July 15, 2025 updates to F.A.C. 6A-6.053 and approval by Just Read Florida,  the district reading department
revised the previously approved plan accordingly.  Specific revisions are reflected in the following sections of the CERP.
4A1:  Intensive Reading monitoring (page8); 
4B3:  Step 4 clarification of verbiage (page 14);
Decision Trees:  Clarification and quantitative data to be used for beginning of the year data and data to prompt tiered supports
(pg.16.)
The addition of multi-sensory strategies utilized by identified curriculum/resources (pg. 25.)  
7:  Removal of New Worlds Reading Scholarship as it was not funded for this year. 

Gap Analysis
Without a district school board approved Comprehensive Evidence-Based Reading Plan, CCDS will not receive its allocation of
appropriated Evidence-Based Reading funds thereby preventing the funding of salaries for the Supervisor of Reading and Early
Literacy, Reading/Literacy Specialists, and Reading/Literacy Coaches. Without the allocation of appropriated Evidence-Based
Reading funds, the ability of the district to purchase evidence-based professional learning, supplemental reading materials, and
interventions would be greatly impacted. Additionally, the District will be limited in supporting K-3 students with substantial
deficiencies in reading in accordance with Section 1008.25(3)(a), F.S.

Previous Outcomes
The total amount of Evidence-Based Reading Funds released to CCDS based on the 2024-2025 FEFP First Calculation
Prekindergarten through Grade 12 funding Summary was $2,314,737.00.  The decrease in the Evidence-Based Reading Funds
for 2025-2026 to $2,239,737.50 is in line with not needing to supplement K-5 curriculum due to the adoption of new curriculum. 
The 2025-2026 CERP reflects we will continue to prioritize areas of need for multiple tiers of support to benefit all students
through instruction aligned to the science of reading as outlined in Section 1008.25(3)(c)(4), F.S.  With the 2024-2025 funding,
the district was able to provide salary funding for the Supervisor of Reading and Early Literacy, four Specialists, and eight
coaches; purchase evidence-based professional learning, supplemental reading materials, and interventions; reimburse teachers
for taking and passing the K-12 Reading Subject Area Exam; reimburse teachers for adding the reading endorsement to their
teaching certificate; provide funding for district reading competency course facilitator pay for the reading endorsement; provide
schools substitute reimbursement for teachers attending district reading/literacy professional learning sessions; and fund other
items relating to evidence-based reading instruction as outlined in the state approved CCDS 2025-2026 CERP. 

Expected Outcomes
With district school board approval of 2025-2026 Comprehensive Evidence-Based Reading Plan (revised), it is expected that
student learning of the B.E.S.T. English Language Arts Standards as provided in Rule 6A-1.09401, F.A.C. will improve based on
the role of administration (both district and school level), professional development, assessment, curriculum, and instruction as
fully depicted in the District CERP. It is also expected that district school board approval of the budget for the Evidence-Based
Reading Instruction Allocation will result in the District receiving its allocation of appropriated funds for salaries and benefits,
professional development, assessment, programs/materials, tutoring, and incentives pursuant to Section 1011.62(8)(d), F.S., and
for supporting K-3 students with substantial deficiencies in reading in accordance with Section 1008.25(3)(a), F.S.

Page 94 of 2427

DRAFT



Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 1: Develop a High Quality & Aligned Instructional System
Strategy 1.1 Provide teachers and students with the tools and resources necessary to meet the demands of the Florida Standards
and students' individual needs.
Strategy 1.2 Provide diagnostic and prescriptive interventions for differentiated instruction in reading
Strategy 1.3 Prepare all students to be full option graduates who are prepared for college, eligible to enlist in military services, or
able to compete in the workforce. 
Goal 5: Develop and support great educators, support personnel, and leaders.   
Strategy 5.2: Provide ongoing training and support for teachers, support staff, and leaders.

Recommendation
That the School Board approve the revisions as stated above to 2025-2026 Comprehensive Evidence-Based Reading Plan.

Contact
Heather Teto,  Chief of Elem. Educ., 904.336.6909  heather.teto@myoneclay.net
Melanie McIver, Reading Supervisor, 904-336-6965 melanie.mciver@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
+$2,239,737.50 with approval, -$2,239,737.50 without approval

Review Comments

Attachments

25_26_CERP_APPROVED JUNE_2025.pdf

REVISED_2025_2026 CERP_AUG.pdf

Page 95 of 2427

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/25_26_cerp_approved-june_2025.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/revised_2025_2026-cerp_aug.pdf


Page 96 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 97 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 98 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 99 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 100 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 101 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 102 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 103 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 104 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 105 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 106 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 107 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 108 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 109 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 110 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 111 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 112 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 113 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 114 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 115 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 116 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 117 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 118 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 119 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 120 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 121 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 122 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 123 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 124 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 125 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 126 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 127 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 128 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 129 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 130 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 131 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 132 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 133 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 134 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 135 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 136 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 137 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 138 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 139 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 140 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 141 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 142 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 143 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 144 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 145 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 146 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 147 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 148 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 149 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 150 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 151 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 152 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 153 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 154 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 155 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 156 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 157 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 158 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 159 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

September 4, 2025 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C5 - Interlocal Agreement Between The School Board of Clay County, Florida and Eagle Harbor Association Regarding Usage
of District Recreational Facilities.

Description
Fleming Island High School would like to enter  into an Interlocal Agreement with Eagle Harbor Association for the purpose of
which is to allow their swim team to use the competition swimming pool facilities at the Eagle Harbor Aquatic Facilities for
practices and swim meets.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
Approval of this item will allow Fleming Island High School  swim team to use the Eagle Harbo Aquatic Facility competition
swimming pool  for practices and for swim meets.

Strategic Plan Goal
N/A

Recommendation
Approve Interlocal Agreement as submitted.

Contact
Travis Cunningham Athletic Director Fleming Island High School ; Matthew Fetzner Swim Coach

Financial Impact
$1,800.00

Review Comments

Attachments

Interlocal Agreement FIHS Swim (2025) - EAGLE HARBOR.docx - Google Docs.docx - Google Docs.pdf

Page 160 of 2427

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/interlocal-agreement-fihs-swim-2025-eagle-harbordocx-google-docsdocx-google-docs.pdf


‭INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY,‬
‭FLORIDA, AND EAGLE HARBOR COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT‬

‭REGARDING USE OF DISTRICT'S AMENITY COMPLEX FACILITIES‬

‭T‬‭HIS‬‭A‬‭GREEMENT‬ ‭(“Agreement”) is effective this‬ ‭day of‬ ‭2025, and is by and between:‬

‭T‬‭HE‬ ‭C‬‭ROSSINGS‬ ‭AT‬ ‭F‬‭LEMING‬ ‭I‬‭SLAND‬ ‭C‬‭OMMUNITY‬ ‭D‬‭EVELOPMENT‬‭D‬‭ISTRICT‬‭,‬‭a‬‭local‬
‭unit‬ ‭of‬‭special-purpose‬‭government‬‭established‬‭pursuant‬‭to‬‭Chapter‬‭190,‬‭Florida‬
‭Statutes‬‭,‬‭with‬‭offices‬‭at‬‭2105‬‭Harbor‬‭Lake‬‭Dr,‬‭Fleming‬‭Island,‬‭Florida‬‭32003‬‭(the‬
‭"District"), and‬

‭T‬‭HE‬‭S‬‭CHOOL‬‭B‬‭OARD‬‭OF‬‭C‬‭LAY‬‭C‬‭OUNTY‬‭, F‬‭LORIDA‬ ‭(“School‬‭Board”)‬‭FOR‬ ‭THE‬ ‭USE‬ ‭AND‬
‭BENEFIT‬ ‭OF‬ ‭THE‬‭F‬‭LEMING‬ ‭I‬‭SLAND‬ ‭H‬‭IGH‬‭S‬‭CHOOL‬‭S‬‭WIM‬ ‭T‬‭EAM‬ ‭(“Swim Team”),‬

‭900‬‭Walnut‬‭Street,‬‭Green‬‭Cove‬‭Springs,‬‭Florida‬‭32043‬‭(the‬‭School‬‭Board‬‭and‬‭the‬
‭Swim Team together with the District, the “Parties”).‬

‭RECITALS‬

‭W‬‭HEREAS‬‭,‬ ‭it‬ ‭is‬ ‭the‬ ‭purpose‬ ‭and‬ ‭intent‬ ‭of‬ ‭this‬ ‭Agreement‬ ‭to‬ ‭permit‬ ‭and‬ ‭authorize‬ ‭the‬
‭School‬ ‭Board‬ ‭and‬ ‭the‬ ‭District‬ ‭to‬ ‭make‬ ‭the‬ ‭most‬ ‭efficient‬ ‭use‬ ‭of‬ ‭their‬ ‭respective‬ ‭resources,‬
‭authority‬‭and‬‭capabilities‬‭by‬‭enabling‬‭them‬‭to‬‭cooperate‬‭on‬‭the‬‭basis‬‭of‬‭mutual‬‭advantage‬‭and‬‭to‬
‭achieve‬ ‭the‬ ‭results‬ ‭provided‬ ‭in‬ ‭this‬ ‭Agreement‬ ‭pursuant‬ ‭to‬ ‭Section‬ ‭163.01,‬ ‭Florida‬ ‭Statutes‬‭,‬
‭known as the Florida Interlocal Cooperation Act of 1969 (“Cooperation Act”); and‬

‭W‬‭HEREAS‬‭,‬ ‭it‬ ‭is‬ ‭the‬ ‭purpose‬ ‭of‬ ‭the‬ ‭Cooperation‬ ‭Act‬ ‭to‬ ‭provide‬ ‭a‬ ‭means‬ ‭by‬ ‭which‬ ‭the‬
‭School‬‭Board‬‭and‬‭the‬‭District‬‭may‬‭exercise‬‭their‬‭respective‬‭privileges‬‭and‬‭authority‬‭which‬‭they‬
‭may‬ ‭have‬ ‭separately,‬ ‭but‬ ‭which‬ ‭pursuant‬ ‭to‬ ‭this‬ ‭Agreement‬ ‭and‬ ‭Cooperation‬ ‭Act‬ ‭they‬ ‭may‬
‭exercise collectively; and‬

‭W‬‭HEREAS‬‭,‬‭the‬‭District‬‭is‬‭a‬‭special-purpose‬‭unit‬‭of‬‭local‬‭government‬‭established‬‭pursuant‬
‭to and governed by Chapter 190,‬‭Florida Statutes‬‭;‬‭and‬

‭W‬‭HEREAS‬‭,‬ ‭the‬ ‭District‬ ‭owns,‬ ‭operates‬ ‭and‬ ‭maintains‬ ‭certain‬ ‭recreational‬ ‭facilities,‬
‭including a competition pool (“Aquatic Facilities”); and‬

‭W‬‭HEREAS‬‭,‬ ‭the‬ ‭School‬ ‭Board,‬ ‭on‬ ‭behalf‬ ‭of‬ ‭the‬‭Swim‬‭Team,‬‭approached‬‭the‬‭District‬‭and‬
‭expressed‬ ‭desires‬ ‭to‬ ‭make‬ ‭use‬ ‭of‬ ‭the‬ ‭Aquatic‬ ‭Facilities‬ ‭for‬ ‭practices‬ ‭and‬ ‭the‬ ‭hosting‬ ‭of‬ ‭swim‬
‭meets; and‬

‭W‬‭HEREAS‬‭,‬ ‭the‬ ‭District‬ ‭is‬ ‭willing‬ ‭to‬ ‭allow‬ ‭the‬ ‭Swim‬ ‭Team‬ ‭to‬ ‭make‬ ‭use‬ ‭of‬ ‭the‬ ‭Aquatic‬
‭Facilities‬‭for‬‭practices‬‭and‬‭swim‬‭meets‬‭provided‬‭that‬‭such‬‭use‬‭does‬‭not‬‭impede‬‭the‬‭operation‬‭of‬
‭the Aquatic Facilities; and‬

‭W‬‭HEREAS‬‭,‬‭the‬‭District‬‭has‬‭determined‬‭that‬‭providing‬‭the‬‭School‬‭Board‬‭with‬‭the‬‭ability‬‭to‬
‭use‬ ‭the‬ ‭competition‬ ‭pool‬ ‭is‬ ‭a‬ ‭benefit‬ ‭to‬ ‭the‬ ‭District,‬ ‭is‬ ‭a‬ ‭proper‬ ‭public‬ ‭purpose,‬ ‭and‬ ‭makes‬
‭appropriate use of the Aquatic Facilities; and‬

Page 161 of 2427

DRAFT



‭W‬‭HEREAS‬‭,‬ ‭the‬ ‭District‬ ‭and‬ ‭the‬ ‭School‬ ‭Board‬ ‭warrant‬‭and‬‭agree‬‭that‬‭they‬‭have‬‭all‬‭right,‬
‭power and authority to enter into and be bound by this Agreement.‬

‭N‬‭OW‬‭,‬ ‭THEREFORE‬‭,‬ ‭in‬ ‭consideration‬ ‭of‬ ‭the‬ ‭recitals,‬ ‭agreements,‬ ‭and‬ ‭mutual‬ ‭covenants‬
‭contained‬‭herein,‬‭and‬‭other‬‭good‬‭and‬‭valuable‬‭consideration,‬‭the‬‭receipt‬‭and‬‭sufficiency‬‭of‬‭which‬
‭are hereby acknowledged by the Parties, the Parties agree as follows:‬

‭S‬‭ECTION‬ ‭1.‬ ‭R‬‭ECITALS‬‭.‬‭The‬‭recitals‬‭so‬‭stated‬‭are‬‭true‬‭and‬‭correct‬‭and‬‭by‬‭this‬‭reference‬‭are‬
‭incorporated into and form a material part of this Agreement.‬

‭S‬‭ECTION‬ ‭2.‬ ‭T‬‭ERM‬‭.‬ ‭This‬ ‭Agreement‬ ‭shall‬ ‭be‬ ‭effective‬ ‭July‬ ‭29,‬‭2025‬‭and‬‭shall‬‭terminate‬
‭September‬ ‭30,‬ ‭2028‬ ‭unless‬ ‭terminated‬‭early‬‭in‬‭accordance‬‭with‬‭Section‬‭8‬‭below.‬‭However,‬‭the‬
‭covenants‬ ‭and‬ ‭obligations‬ ‭of‬ ‭the‬ ‭School‬ ‭Board‬ ‭contained‬ ‭in‬ ‭this‬ ‭Agreement‬ ‭shall‬ ‭survive‬
‭termination for acts and omissions which occurred during the effective term of this Agreement.‬

‭S‬‭ECTION‬‭3.‬ ‭U‬‭SAGE‬ ‭B‬‭Y‬ ‭S‬‭WIM‬‭T‬‭EAM‬‭.‬

‭A.‬ ‭Usage;‬‭Generally‬‭.‬‭The‬‭District‬‭hereby‬‭grants‬‭to‬‭the‬‭Swim‬‭Team‬‭a‬‭license‬‭to‬‭use‬‭the‬
‭Aquatic‬ ‭Facilities‬ ‭for‬ ‭practices‬ ‭and‬ ‭meets‬ ‭in‬ ‭accordance‬ ‭with‬ ‭the‬ ‭schedules‬ ‭attached‬ ‭hereto‬‭as‬
‭Exhibit‬ ‭A‬‭,‬ ‭as‬ ‭coordinated‬ ‭between‬ ‭the‬ ‭District’s‬ ‭representative‬ ‭and‬ ‭the‬ ‭Swim‬ ‭Team‬
‭representative,‬ ‭and‬ ‭with‬ ‭the‬ ‭guidelines‬ ‭provided‬ ‭in‬ ‭Exhibit‬ ‭B‬‭,‬ ‭both‬ ‭of‬ ‭which‬ ‭are‬‭incorporated‬
‭herein‬‭by‬‭this‬‭reference‬‭(“License”).‬‭Swim‬‭Team‬‭shall‬‭hold‬‭no‬‭more‬‭than‬‭six‬‭(6)‬‭“Home”‬‭meets‬
‭as‬ ‭indicated‬ ‭in‬ ‭the‬ ‭schedule‬‭provided‬‭in‬‭Exhibit‬‭A.‬‭The‬‭License‬‭to‬‭use‬‭the‬‭Aquatic‬‭Facilities‬‭is‬
‭limited‬ ‭to‬ ‭the‬ ‭hours‬ ‭provided‬ ‭in‬ ‭such‬ ‭schedules.‬ ‭In‬ ‭consideration‬ ‭of‬ ‭said‬ ‭use‬ ‭of‬ ‭the‬ ‭Aquatic‬
‭Facilities, School Board and Swim Team agree to the following conditions:‬

‭i.‬ ‭Access‬‭to‬‭the‬‭Aquatic‬‭Facilities‬‭is‬‭limited‬‭to‬‭the‬‭competition‬‭pool,‬‭the‬‭pool‬
‭decks,‬‭parking‬‭lot‬‭serving‬‭the‬‭Aquatic‬‭Facilities‬‭and‬‭designated‬‭restrooms‬‭in‬‭case‬
‭of‬‭emergencies.‬‭No‬‭other‬‭use‬‭of,‬‭or‬‭access‬‭to,‬‭the‬‭District’s‬‭recreational‬‭facilities‬
‭is permitted.‬

‭ii.‬ ‭Swim‬ ‭Team‬ ‭understands‬‭and‬‭acknowledges‬‭that‬‭there‬‭are‬‭limited‬‭parking‬
‭spaces‬‭available‬‭at‬‭the‬‭District’s‬‭facilities,‬‭which‬‭is‬‭primarily‬‭available‬‭for‬‭District‬
‭residents‬‭wishing‬‭to‬‭utilize‬‭the‬‭District’s‬‭recreational‬‭facilities.‬‭During‬‭the‬‭meets,‬
‭the‬ ‭Swim‬ ‭Team‬ ‭will‬ ‭leave‬ ‭at‬ ‭least‬ ‭one‬ ‭(1)‬ ‭row‬ ‭of‬ ‭parking‬ ‭spaces‬ ‭closest‬ ‭to‬ ‭the‬
‭Aquatic‬ ‭Facilities‬ ‭open‬ ‭and‬ ‭available‬ ‭to‬ ‭residents‬ ‭who‬ ‭want‬ ‭to‬ ‭use‬ ‭the‬ ‭District‬
‭facilities.‬‭Swim‬‭Team‬‭shall‬‭be‬‭responsible‬‭for‬‭redirecting‬‭the‬‭traffic‬‭to‬‭enforce‬‭the‬
‭same.‬‭No‬‭parking‬‭shall‬‭impede‬‭the‬‭flow‬‭of‬‭traffic‬‭on‬‭the‬‭streets.‬‭Swim‬‭Team‬‭staff‬
‭shall‬‭inform‬‭its‬‭team‬‭members‬‭and‬‭the‬‭visiting‬‭teams‬‭and‬‭spectators‬‭coming‬‭to‬‭the‬
‭meets‬‭of‬‭the‬‭limited‬‭parking‬‭available‬‭at‬‭the‬‭District‬‭facilities‬‭and‬‭shall‬‭encourage‬
‭them‬‭to‬‭carpool‬‭to‬‭the‬‭District‬‭facilities.‬‭Swim‬‭Team‬‭shall,‬‭to‬‭the‬‭maximum‬‭extent‬
‭possible,‬ ‭carpool‬ ‭to‬ ‭the‬ ‭District‬ ‭facilities‬ ‭for‬ ‭practices‬ ‭and‬‭meets,‬‭and‬‭whenever‬
‭feasible,‬‭shall‬‭utilize‬‭a‬‭school‬‭bus‬‭or‬‭similar‬‭mode‬‭of‬‭mass‬‭transportation‬‭to‬‭arrive‬
‭at the District facilities.‬

Page 162 of 2427

DRAFT



‭iii.‬ ‭The‬‭District‬‭hereby‬‭designates‬‭the‬‭District‬‭Manager‬‭or‬‭his‬‭or‬‭her‬‭designee‬
‭as the District’s representative.‬

‭iv.‬ ‭Swim‬‭Team’s‬‭use‬‭of‬‭Aquatic‬‭Facilities‬‭shall‬‭be‬‭in‬‭conjunction‬‭with‬‭the‬‭use‬
‭of‬‭the‬‭Aquatic‬‭Facilities‬‭by‬‭other‬‭members‬‭of‬‭the‬‭public‬‭and‬‭by‬‭other‬‭swim‬‭teams,‬
‭if‬ ‭any,‬ ‭and‬ ‭the‬ ‭Swim‬ ‭Team‬ ‭use‬ ‭shall‬ ‭not‬ ‭interfere‬ ‭with‬ ‭the‬ ‭operation‬ ‭of‬ ‭the‬
‭Aquatic Facilities as a public improvement.‬

‭v.‬ ‭All‬ ‭use‬ ‭of‬ ‭the‬ ‭Aquatic‬ ‭Facilities‬ ‭shall‬ ‭be‬ ‭subject‬ ‭to‬ ‭the‬ ‭policies‬ ‭and‬
‭regulations‬‭of‬‭the‬‭District,‬‭including‬‭but‬‭not‬‭limited‬‭to‬‭the‬‭Eagle‬‭Harbor‬‭Facilities‬
‭and‬ ‭Amenity‬ ‭Policies,‬ ‭the‬ ‭Guidelines‬ ‭for‬ ‭the‬ ‭Swim‬‭Team‬‭Usage‬‭and‬‭Guidelines‬
‭for Swim Team Meets, which are incorporated herein and attached as‬‭Exhibit B‬‭.‬

‭vi.‬ ‭The‬ ‭District‬ ‭shall‬ ‭have‬ ‭the‬ ‭right‬ ‭to‬ ‭take‬ ‭such‬ ‭actions‬‭as‬‭are‬‭necessary‬‭to‬
‭preserve‬ ‭the‬ ‭health,‬ ‭safety‬ ‭and‬ ‭welfare‬ ‭of‬ ‭its‬ ‭residents,‬ ‭landowners,‬ ‭lands‬ ‭and‬
‭facilities.‬

‭vii.‬ ‭Persons‬ ‭identified‬ ‭as‬ ‭Coaches‬ ‭by‬ ‭the‬ ‭Swim‬ ‭Team,‬‭and‬‭any‬‭such‬‭Coach’s‬
‭minor children, may participate on the Swim Team.‬‭.‬

‭viii.‬ ‭The‬ ‭Swim‬ ‭Team‬ ‭shall‬ ‭(i)‬ ‭provide‬ ‭one‬ ‭(1)‬ ‭time‬ ‭payment‬ ‭of‬ ‭eighteen‬
‭hundred‬ ‭dollars‬ ‭and‬ ‭zero‬ ‭cents‬ ‭($1800.00)‬ ‭to‬ ‭the‬ ‭District‬ ‭in‬ ‭year‬ ‭1,‬ ‭nineteen‬
‭hundred‬ ‭dollars‬ ‭and‬ ‭zero‬ ‭cents‬‭$1900.00,‬‭year‬‭2.‬‭Two‬‭thousand‬‭dollars‬‭and‬‭zero‬
‭cents‬ ‭$2000.00‬ ‭year‬ ‭3.‬ ‭1‬ ‭year‬ ‭extension‬ ‭option‬ ‭in‬ ‭the‬ ‭amount‬ ‭of‬ ‭twenty‬ ‭two‬
‭hundred‬‭dollars‬‭and‬‭zero‬‭cents‬‭$2200.00.‬‭If‬‭requested‬‭by‬‭the‬‭District,‬‭Swim‬‭Team‬
‭shall‬‭(ii)‬‭provide‬‭a‬‭minimum‬‭of‬‭five‬‭volunteers‬‭for‬‭one‬‭resident‬‭event‬‭as‬‭arranged‬
‭by‬‭the‬‭District;‬‭and‬‭(iii)‬‭provide‬‭at‬‭least‬‭ten‬‭(10)‬‭volunteer‬‭hours‬‭each‬‭week‬‭during‬
‭the term of this Agreement (which may include resident events referenced above).‬

‭B.‬ ‭Usage‬ ‭During‬ ‭an‬ ‭Endemic‬ ‭or‬ ‭Pandemic‬‭.‬ ‭In‬ ‭the‬ ‭event‬ ‭of‬ ‭a‬ ‭known‬ ‭endemic‬ ‭or‬
‭pandemic‬‭affecting‬‭the‬‭locality‬‭whereupon‬‭the‬‭District‬‭is‬‭located,‬‭the‬‭Parties‬‭agree‬‭that‬‭additional‬
‭procedures‬‭may‬‭apply‬‭to‬‭the‬‭Swim‬‭Team’s‬‭usage‬‭of‬‭the‬‭Aquatic‬‭Facilities,‬‭which‬‭shall‬‭apply‬‭by‬
‭an‬ ‭amendment‬ ‭to‬ ‭this‬‭Agreement‬‭to‬‭be‬‭executed‬‭by‬‭the‬‭Parties‬‭and‬‭Swim‬‭Team‬‭agrees‬‭to‬‭enter‬
‭into same, as necessary.‬

‭S‬‭ECTION‬ ‭4.‬ ‭C‬‭ARE‬ ‭O‬‭F‬ ‭T‬‭HE‬ ‭P‬‭ROPERTY‬‭.‬‭School‬‭Board‬‭agrees‬‭to‬‭use‬‭all‬‭due‬‭care‬‭to‬‭protect‬
‭the‬ ‭property‬‭of‬‭the‬‭District,‬‭its‬‭residents‬‭and‬‭landowners‬‭from‬‭damage,‬‭and‬‭to‬‭require‬‭any‬‭meet‬
‭participants‬ ‭invited‬ ‭to‬ ‭the‬ ‭Aquatic‬ ‭Facilities‬ ‭to‬ ‭do‬ ‭the‬ ‭same.‬ ‭School‬ ‭Board‬ ‭agrees‬ ‭that‬ ‭it‬ ‭shall‬
‭assume‬ ‭responsibility‬ ‭for‬ ‭any‬ ‭and‬ ‭all‬ ‭damage‬ ‭to‬ ‭the‬ ‭District's‬ ‭facilities‬ ‭or‬ ‭lands‬ ‭as‬ ‭a‬ ‭result‬ ‭of‬
‭School‬ ‭Board's‬ ‭use‬ ‭under‬ ‭this‬ ‭Agreement‬ ‭other‬ ‭than‬ ‭damage‬ ‭which‬ ‭may‬ ‭be‬ ‭attributable‬ ‭to‬
‭ordinary wear and tear as determined by the District.  In the event that any damage to the‬

Page 163 of 2427

DRAFT



‭District's‬‭facilities‬‭or‬‭lands‬‭occurs,‬‭the‬‭District‬‭shall‬‭notify‬‭the‬‭School‬‭Board‬‭of‬‭such‬‭damage‬‭and‬
‭shall‬‭allow‬‭the‬‭School‬‭Board’s‬‭agents‬‭or‬‭employees‬‭the‬‭opportunity‬‭to‬‭examine‬‭the‬‭damage‬‭prior‬
‭to‬‭repair.‬‭Swim‬‭Team‬‭agrees‬‭that‬‭the‬‭District‬‭may‬‭make‬‭whatever‬‭arrangements‬‭necessary,‬‭in‬‭its‬
‭sole‬‭discretion,‬‭to‬‭promptly‬‭make‬‭any‬‭such‬‭repairs‬‭as‬‭is‬‭necessary‬‭to‬‭preserve‬‭the‬‭health,‬‭safety‬
‭and‬ ‭welfare‬ ‭of‬ ‭the‬ ‭District's‬ ‭lands,‬ ‭facilities,‬ ‭residents‬ ‭and‬ ‭landowners.‬ ‭Swim‬ ‭Team‬ ‭agrees‬ ‭to‬
‭reimburse‬ ‭the‬ ‭District‬‭for‬‭any‬‭such‬‭repairs‬‭within‬‭thirty‬‭(30)‬‭days‬‭of‬‭receipt‬‭of‬‭an‬‭invoice‬‭from‬
‭the District reflecting the cost of the repairs made under this Section.‬

‭S‬‭ECTION‬‭5.‬‭E‬‭NFORCEMENT‬‭.‬‭A‬‭default‬‭by‬‭either‬‭Party‬‭under‬‭this‬‭Agreement‬‭shall‬‭entitle‬‭the‬
‭other‬ ‭Party‬ ‭to‬ ‭all‬‭remedies‬‭available‬‭at‬‭law‬‭or‬‭in‬‭equity,‬‭which‬‭shall‬‭include,‬‭but‬‭not‬‭be‬‭limited‬
‭to,‬ ‭the‬ ‭right‬ ‭of‬ ‭damages,‬ ‭injunctive‬ ‭relief‬ ‭and‬ ‭specific‬ ‭performance.‬ ‭Notwithstanding‬ ‭this,‬ ‭the‬
‭School‬‭Board’s‬‭right‬‭to‬‭recover‬‭damages‬‭from‬‭the‬‭District‬‭on‬‭any‬‭and‬‭all‬‭claims‬‭of‬‭any‬‭type‬‭shall‬
‭be limited in all instances to no more than five-hundred dollars and zero cents ($500.00).‬

‭S‬‭ECTION‬ ‭6.‬ ‭I‬‭NDEMNIFICATION‬ ‭A‬‭ND‬ ‭I‬‭NSURANCE‬‭.‬ ‭The‬ ‭Swim‬ ‭Team‬‭agrees‬‭to‬‭indemnify‬‭and‬
‭hold‬ ‭harmless‬ ‭the‬ ‭District‬ ‭and‬ ‭its‬ ‭officers,‬ ‭agents‬ ‭and‬ ‭employees‬ ‭from‬ ‭any‬ ‭and‬ ‭all‬ ‭liability,‬
‭claims,‬‭actions,‬‭suits‬‭or‬‭demands‬‭by‬‭any‬‭person,‬‭corporation‬‭or‬‭other‬‭entity‬‭for‬‭injuries,‬‭death‬‭or‬
‭property‬‭damage‬‭of‬‭any‬‭nature,‬‭arising‬‭out‬‭of,‬‭or‬‭in‬‭connection‬‭with,‬‭wholly‬‭or‬‭in‬‭part‬‭by,‬‭the‬‭use‬
‭of‬‭the‬‭District's‬‭facilities‬‭and‬‭lands‬‭by‬‭the‬‭Swim‬‭Team‬‭and‬‭its‬‭guests,‬‭including‬‭litigation‬‭or‬‭any‬
‭appellate‬ ‭proceedings,‬ ‭both‬ ‭in‬ ‭and‬ ‭outside‬ ‭court‬ ‭proceedings,‬ ‭with‬ ‭respect‬ ‭thereto,‬ ‭and‬
‭specifically‬ ‭including‬ ‭but‬ ‭not‬ ‭limited‬ ‭to‬ ‭claims‬ ‭arising‬ ‭out‬‭of‬‭or‬‭connected‬‭to‬‭alleged‬‭or‬‭actual‬
‭exposure to the COVID-19 virus.‬

‭Notwithstanding‬ ‭any‬ ‭terms‬ ‭of‬ ‭this‬ ‭Agreement‬ ‭to‬ ‭the‬ ‭contrary,‬ ‭the‬ ‭Parties‬ ‭agree‬ ‭that‬
‭nothing‬ ‭herein‬ ‭shall‬ ‭be‬ ‭construed‬ ‭as‬ ‭a‬ ‭waiver‬ ‭of‬ ‭either‬ ‭the‬ ‭School‬ ‭Board’s‬ ‭or‬ ‭the‬ ‭District's‬
‭sovereign‬ ‭immunity‬ ‭or‬ ‭limits‬ ‭of‬ ‭liability‬ ‭beyond‬ ‭any‬ ‭statutory‬ ‭limited‬ ‭waiver‬ ‭of‬ ‭immunity‬ ‭or‬
‭limits‬ ‭of‬ ‭liability‬ ‭which‬ ‭may‬ ‭have‬ ‭been‬ ‭adopted‬ ‭by‬ ‭the‬ ‭Florida‬ ‭Legislature‬ ‭in‬ ‭Section‬ ‭768.28,‬
‭Florida‬ ‭Statutes‬‭,‬ ‭or‬ ‭other‬‭statute.‬‭The‬‭School‬‭Board,‬‭subject‬‭to‬‭the‬‭School‬‭Board’s‬‭self-insured‬
‭retention,‬‭agrees‬‭and‬‭covenants‬‭to‬‭provide‬‭liability‬‭insurance‬‭with‬‭limits‬‭of‬‭One‬‭Million‬‭Dollars‬
‭($1,000,000.00)‬ ‭applicable‬ ‭to‬ ‭bodily‬ ‭injury,‬ ‭sickness‬ ‭or‬ ‭death‬ ‭in‬ ‭any‬ ‭one‬ ‭occurrence‬ ‭and‬ ‭One‬
‭Million‬‭Dollars‬‭($1,000,000.00)‬‭for‬‭loss‬‭or‬‭damage‬‭to‬‭property‬‭in‬‭any‬‭one‬‭occurrence‬‭and‬‭shall‬
‭provide‬ ‭evidence‬‭of‬‭such‬‭insurance‬‭in‬‭the‬‭form‬‭of‬‭an‬‭insurance‬‭certificate‬‭prior‬‭to‬‭commencing‬
‭use‬ ‭of‬ ‭the‬ ‭District’s‬ ‭facilities‬‭under‬‭this‬‭Agreement.‬‭Additionally,‬‭the‬‭School‬‭Board‬‭agrees‬‭that‬
‭its‬ ‭policy‬ ‭may‬ ‭not‬ ‭be‬ ‭canceled‬ ‭during‬ ‭the‬ ‭term‬ ‭of‬ ‭this‬ ‭Agreement‬ ‭without‬ ‭at‬ ‭least‬ ‭thirty‬ ‭(30)‬
‭days’ written notice to the District.‬

‭Notwithstanding‬ ‭any‬ ‭language‬ ‭in‬ ‭this‬ ‭section‬ ‭to‬ ‭the‬ ‭contrary,‬ ‭nothing‬ ‭in‬ ‭this‬
‭indemnification‬‭agreement‬‭shall‬‭be‬‭construed‬‭or‬‭interpreted‬‭to‬‭increase‬‭the‬‭scope‬‭or‬‭dollar‬‭limit‬
‭of‬ ‭the‬ ‭Swim‬ ‭Team’s‬ ‭or‬ ‭the‬ ‭School‬ ‭Board’s‬ ‭liability‬ ‭beyond‬ ‭that‬ ‭which‬ ‭is‬ ‭set‬ ‭forth‬ ‭in‬ ‭Section‬
‭768.28,‬ ‭Florida‬ ‭Statutes‬‭,‬ ‭or‬ ‭to‬ ‭otherwise‬ ‭waive‬ ‭the‬ ‭Swim‬ ‭Team’s/School‬ ‭Board’s‬ ‭sovereign‬
‭immunity,‬‭or‬‭to‬‭require‬‭the‬‭Swim‬‭Team/School‬‭Board‬‭to‬‭indemnify‬‭District‬‭or‬‭any‬‭other‬‭person,‬
‭corporation,‬‭or‬‭legal‬‭entity‬‭of‬‭any‬‭kind‬‭or‬‭nature‬‭whatsoever‬‭for‬‭injury‬‭or‬‭loss‬‭resulting‬‭from‬‭any‬
‭acts‬ ‭other‬ ‭than‬ ‭the‬ ‭negligent‬ ‭acts‬ ‭of‬ ‭the‬ ‭Swim‬ ‭Team‬ ‭or‬ ‭the‬ ‭School‬ ‭Board‬ ‭or‬ ‭its‬ ‭agents‬ ‭or‬
‭employees.‬ ‭The‬ ‭Swim‬ ‭Team‬‭and‬‭the‬‭School‬‭Board‬‭shall‬‭not‬‭indemnify‬‭any‬‭party‬‭for‬‭attorney’s‬
‭fees‬ ‭or‬ ‭costs‬‭other‬‭than‬‭those‬‭court‬‭costs‬‭which‬‭are‬‭set‬‭forth‬‭by‬‭Florida‬‭Statute‬‭or‬‭other‬‭Florida‬
‭law as recoverable costs of court.‬

Page 164 of 2427

DRAFT



‭S‬‭ECTION‬ ‭7.‬‭R‬‭ECOVERY‬ ‭OF‬ ‭C‬‭OSTS‬ ‭AND‬ ‭F‬‭EES‬‭.‬‭In‬‭the‬‭event‬‭either‬‭Party‬‭is‬‭required‬‭to‬‭enforce‬
‭this‬‭Agreement‬‭by‬‭court‬‭proceedings‬‭or‬‭otherwise,‬‭then‬‭the‬‭substantially‬‭prevailing‬‭party‬‭shall‬‭be‬
‭entitled to recover from the other party all costs incurred, excluding reasonable attorneys' fees.‬

‭S‬‭ECTION‬ ‭8.‬‭T‬‭ERMINATION‬‭.‬‭Both‬‭Parties‬‭shall‬‭have‬‭the‬‭right‬‭to‬‭terminate‬‭this‬‭Agreement‬‭at‬
‭any‬ ‭time‬ ‭without‬ ‭cause‬ ‭with‬ ‭written‬ ‭notice.‬ ‭However,‬ ‭the‬ ‭covenants‬ ‭and‬ ‭obligations‬ ‭of‬ ‭Swim‬
‭Team‬ ‭contained‬ ‭in‬ ‭this‬ ‭Agreement‬ ‭shall‬ ‭survive‬ ‭termination‬ ‭for‬ ‭acts‬ ‭and‬ ‭omissions‬ ‭which‬
‭occurred during the effective term of the agreement.‬

‭S‬‭ECTION‬ ‭9.‬ ‭E‬‭NTIRE‬ ‭A‬‭GREEMENT‬‭.‬ ‭This‬ ‭instrument,‬ ‭together‬ ‭with‬ ‭the‬ ‭attached‬ ‭Exhibits,‬
‭shall‬ ‭constitute‬ ‭the‬‭final‬‭and‬‭complete‬‭expression‬‭of‬‭the‬‭agreement‬‭between‬‭the‬‭Parties‬‭relating‬
‭to the subject matter of this Agreement.‬

‭S‬‭ECTION‬ ‭10.‬‭A‬‭MENDMENT‬‭.‬‭Amendments‬‭to‬‭and‬‭waivers‬‭of‬‭the‬‭provisions‬‭contained‬‭in‬‭this‬
‭Agreement may be made only by an instrument in writing that is executed by both Parties hereto.‬

‭S‬‭ECTION‬ ‭11.‬‭A‬‭SSIGNMENT‬‭.‬‭Neither‬‭the‬‭District‬‭nor‬‭the‬‭Swim‬‭Team‬‭may‬‭assign‬‭their‬‭rights,‬
‭duties,‬‭or‬‭obligations‬‭under‬‭this‬‭Agreement‬‭or‬‭any‬‭monies‬‭to‬‭become‬‭due‬‭hereunder‬‭without‬‭the‬
‭prior‬ ‭written‬ ‭approval‬ ‭of‬ ‭the‬ ‭other.‬ ‭Any‬ ‭attempted‬ ‭assignment‬ ‭without‬ ‭such‬ ‭written‬ ‭approval‬
‭shall be void.‬

‭S‬‭ECTION‬ ‭12.‬‭A‬‭PPLICABLE‬ ‭L‬‭AW‬‭.‬‭This‬‭Agreement‬‭and‬‭the‬‭provisions‬‭contained‬‭herein‬‭shall‬
‭be‬‭construed,‬‭interpreted‬‭and‬‭controlled‬‭according‬‭to‬‭the‬‭laws‬‭of‬‭the‬‭State‬‭of‬‭Florida.‬‭The‬‭Parties‬
‭consent‬ ‭to‬ ‭and‬ ‭agree‬ ‭that‬ ‭the‬ ‭exclusive‬ ‭venue‬ ‭for‬‭any‬‭litigation‬‭arising‬‭out‬‭of‬‭or‬‭related‬‭to‬‭this‬
‭Agreement shall be in a court of appropriate jurisdiction, in and for Clay County, Florida.‬

‭S‬‭ECTION‬‭13.‬‭N‬‭OTICES‬‭.‬‭All‬‭notices,‬‭requests,‬‭consents‬‭and‬‭other‬‭communications‬‭hereunder‬
‭("Notices")‬ ‭shall‬ ‭be‬ ‭in‬ ‭writing‬ ‭and‬ ‭shall‬ ‭be‬ ‭delivered,‬ ‭mailed‬ ‭by‬ ‭overnight‬ ‭delivery‬ ‭service‬‭or‬
‭First Class Mail, postage prepaid, to the Parties, as follows:‬

‭1.‬ ‭If to Swim Team:‬ ‭Fleming Island High School Swim Team‬
‭2025 Highway 16 West‬
‭Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043‬
‭Attn: Matthew Fetzner, Swim Team Coach‬

‭With a copy to:‬ ‭Jeremiah Blocker‬
‭Attorney to Clay County School Board‬
‭900 Walnut Street‬
‭Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043‬

‭2.‬ ‭If to District:‬
‭The‬ ‭Crossings‬ ‭at‬ ‭Fleming‬
‭Island‬ ‭CDD,‬ ‭2105‬ ‭Harbor‬
‭Lake‬‭Dr‬‭Fleming‬‭Island,‬‭FL‬
‭32003‬
‭Attn: Steve Andersen, District Manager‬

Page 165 of 2427

DRAFT



‭Except‬ ‭as‬ ‭otherwise‬ ‭provided‬ ‭in‬ ‭this‬ ‭Agreement,‬ ‭any‬ ‭Notice‬ ‭shall‬ ‭be‬ ‭deemed‬ ‭received‬
‭only‬‭upon‬‭actual‬‭delivery‬‭at‬‭the‬‭address‬‭set‬‭forth‬‭above.‬‭Notices‬‭delivered‬‭after‬‭5:00‬‭p.m.‬‭(at‬‭the‬
‭place‬‭of‬‭delivery)‬‭or‬‭on‬‭a‬‭non-business‬‭day,‬‭shall‬‭be‬‭deemed‬‭received‬‭on‬‭the‬‭next‬‭business‬‭day.‬‭If‬
‭any‬ ‭time‬ ‭for‬ ‭giving‬ ‭Notice‬ ‭contained‬ ‭in‬ ‭this‬ ‭Agreement‬ ‭would‬ ‭otherwise‬ ‭expire‬ ‭on‬ ‭a‬
‭non-business‬ ‭day,‬ ‭the‬ ‭Notice‬ ‭period‬ ‭shall‬ ‭be‬ ‭extended‬ ‭to‬ ‭the‬ ‭next‬ ‭succeeding‬ ‭business‬ ‭day.‬
‭Saturdays,‬‭Sundays,‬‭and‬‭legal‬‭holidays‬‭recognized‬‭by‬‭the‬‭United‬‭States‬‭government‬‭shall‬‭not‬‭be‬
‭regarded‬‭as‬‭business‬‭days.‬‭Counsel‬‭for‬‭the‬‭District‬‭and‬‭counsel‬‭for‬‭the‬‭School‬‭Board‬‭may‬‭deliver‬
‭Notice‬ ‭on‬ ‭behalf‬ ‭of‬ ‭the‬ ‭District‬ ‭and‬ ‭the‬ ‭School‬ ‭Board.‬ ‭Any‬ ‭party‬ ‭or‬ ‭other‬ ‭person‬ ‭to‬ ‭whom‬
‭Notices‬ ‭are‬ ‭to‬ ‭be‬ ‭sent‬ ‭or‬ ‭copied‬ ‭shall‬ ‭notify‬ ‭the‬ ‭other‬ ‭parties‬ ‭and‬‭addressees‬‭of‬‭any‬‭change‬‭in‬
‭name‬ ‭or‬‭address‬‭to‬‭which‬‭Notices‬‭shall‬‭be‬‭sent‬‭by‬‭providing‬‭the‬‭same‬‭on‬‭five‬‭(5)‬‭days’‬‭written‬
‭notice to the parties and addressees set forth herein.‬

‭S‬‭ECTION‬ ‭14.‬ ‭S‬‭EVERABILITY‬‭.‬ ‭The‬ ‭invalidity‬ ‭or‬ ‭unenforceability‬ ‭of‬ ‭any‬ ‭one‬ ‭or‬ ‭more‬
‭provisions‬ ‭of‬ ‭this‬ ‭Agreement‬ ‭shall‬ ‭not‬ ‭affect‬ ‭the‬ ‭validity‬ ‭or‬ ‭enforceability‬ ‭of‬ ‭the‬ ‭remaining‬
‭portions‬ ‭of‬ ‭this‬ ‭Agreement,‬ ‭or‬ ‭any‬ ‭part‬ ‭of‬ ‭this‬ ‭Agreement‬ ‭not‬ ‭held‬ ‭to‬ ‭be‬ ‭invalid‬ ‭or‬
‭unenforceable.‬

‭S‬‭ECTION‬ ‭15.‬‭A‬‭UTHORIZATION‬‭.‬‭The‬‭execution‬‭of‬‭this‬‭Agreement‬‭has‬‭been‬‭duly‬‭authorized‬
‭by‬‭the‬‭appropriate‬‭body‬‭or‬‭official‬‭of‬‭the‬‭District‬‭and‬‭the‬‭School‬‭Board,‬‭both‬‭the‬‭District‬‭and‬‭the‬
‭School‬ ‭Board‬ ‭have‬ ‭complied‬ ‭with‬ ‭all‬ ‭the‬ ‭requirements‬ ‭of‬ ‭law,‬ ‭and‬ ‭both‬ ‭the‬ ‭District‬ ‭and‬ ‭the‬
‭School‬ ‭Board‬ ‭have‬ ‭full‬ ‭power‬ ‭and‬ ‭authority‬ ‭to‬ ‭comply‬ ‭with‬ ‭the‬ ‭terms‬ ‭and‬ ‭provisions‬ ‭of‬ ‭this‬
‭instrument.‬

‭S‬‭ECTION‬ ‭16.‬ ‭H‬‭EADINGS‬ ‭FOR‬ ‭C‬‭ONVENIENCE‬ ‭O‬‭NLY‬‭.‬ ‭The‬ ‭descriptive‬ ‭headings‬ ‭in‬ ‭this‬
‭Agreement‬ ‭are‬ ‭for‬ ‭convenience‬ ‭only‬ ‭and‬ ‭shall‬ ‭neither‬ ‭control‬ ‭nor‬ ‭affect‬ ‭the‬ ‭meaning‬ ‭or‬
‭construction of any of the provisions of this Agreement.‬

‭S‬‭ECTION‬ ‭17.‬ ‭E‬‭XECUTION‬ ‭IN‬ ‭C‬‭OUNTERPARTS‬‭.‬ ‭This‬ ‭Agreement‬ ‭may‬ ‭be‬ ‭executed‬ ‭in‬ ‭any‬
‭number‬‭of‬‭counterparts,‬‭each‬‭of‬‭which,‬‭when‬‭executed‬‭and‬‭delivered,‬‭shall‬‭constitute‬‭an‬‭original,‬
‭and‬ ‭such‬ ‭counterparts‬ ‭together‬ ‭shall‬ ‭constitute‬ ‭one‬ ‭and‬ ‭the‬ ‭same‬ ‭instrument.‬ ‭Signature‬ ‭and‬
‭acknowledgment‬ ‭pages,‬ ‭if‬ ‭any,‬ ‭may‬ ‭be‬‭detached‬‭from‬‭the‬‭counterparts‬‭and‬‭attached‬‭to‬‭a‬‭single‬
‭copy of this Agreement to physically form one document.‬

‭S‬‭ECTION‬ ‭18.‬‭A‬‭CCESS‬ ‭TO‬‭R‬‭ECORDS‬‭.‬‭The‬‭access‬‭to,‬‭disclosure,‬‭non-disclosure,‬‭or‬‭exemption‬
‭of‬‭records,‬‭data,‬‭documents,‬‭and/or‬‭materials,‬‭associated‬‭with‬‭this‬‭Agreement‬‭shall‬‭be‬‭subject‬‭to‬
‭the‬‭applicable‬‭provisions‬‭of‬‭the‬‭Florida‬‭Public‬‭Records‬‭Law‬‭(Chapter‬‭119,‬‭Florida‬‭Statutes‬‭),‬‭and‬
‭other‬ ‭applicable‬ ‭State‬ ‭or‬ ‭Federal‬ ‭law.‬ ‭Access‬ ‭to‬ ‭such‬ ‭public‬ ‭records‬ ‭may‬ ‭not‬ ‭be‬ ‭blocked,‬
‭thwarted,‬ ‭and/or‬ ‭hindered‬‭by‬‭placing‬‭the‬‭public‬‭records‬‭in‬‭the‬‭possession‬‭of‬‭a‬‭third‬‭party,‬‭or‬‭an‬
‭unaffiliated party.‬

‭S‬‭ECTION‬‭19.‬‭F‬‭ILING‬‭.‬‭After‬‭approval‬‭of‬‭this‬‭Agreement‬‭by‬‭the‬‭respective‬‭governing‬‭bodies‬
‭of‬ ‭the‬ ‭School‬ ‭District‬ ‭and‬ ‭the‬ ‭District,‬ ‭and‬ ‭its‬ ‭execution‬ ‭by‬ ‭the‬ ‭duly‬ ‭qualified‬ ‭and‬ ‭authorized‬
‭officers‬‭of‬‭each‬‭of‬‭the‬‭Parties,‬‭the‬‭District‬‭shall‬‭cause‬‭this‬‭Agreement‬‭to‬‭be‬‭filed‬‭with‬‭the‬‭Clerk‬
‭of‬ ‭the‬ ‭Circuit‬ ‭Court‬ ‭of‬ ‭Clay‬ ‭County,‬ ‭Florida,‬ ‭in‬ ‭accordance‬ ‭with‬ ‭the‬ ‭requirements‬ ‭of‬ ‭Section‬
‭163.01(11),‬‭Florida Statutes‬‭.‬

‭[‬‭Signatures on next page‬‭]‬

Page 166 of 2427

DRAFT



‭I‬‭N‬ ‭WITNESS‬ ‭WHEREOF‬‭,‬‭the Parties hereto have signed‬‭and sealed this Agreement on the day and‬
‭year first written above.‬

‭THE SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY‬
‭COUNTY, FLORIDA‬

‭By:‬
‭Dated:‬
‭Erin Skipper, Chairperson‬

‭Attest:‬

‭By:‬
‭Dated:‬
‭DAVID S. BROSKIE, Superintendent of Schools‬

‭Reviewed for legal sufficiency by:‬

‭By:‬
‭Dated:‬
‭JEREMIAH BLOCKER,‬
‭Attorney for The School Board of Clay‬
‭County, Florida‬

‭THE CROSSINGS AT‬
‭FLEMING ISLAND CDD‬

‭By:‬
‭Dated:‬
‭Steve Andersen, District Manager‬

‭Witness:‬

‭By:‬
‭Dated:‬

‭Exhibit A‬ ‭Swim Team Practice and Meet Schedules‬
‭Exhibit B‬ ‭Guidelines for Swim Team‬

Page 167 of 2427

DRAFT



‭EXHIBIT A‬

‭Mark Mckinney‬ ‭Heather Labbe‬ ‭Brittany Senna‬ ‭Amy Cannon‬
‭Assistant Principal‬ ‭Assistant Principal‬ ‭Assistant Principal‬ ‭Dean of Students‬

‭To whom it may concern,‬

‭Fleming Island High School Swimming and Diving team requests use of the Eagle Harbor Aquatic‬
‭Facilities for practice and competition.‬

‭The Official Swim and DIve season begins July 31st and extends into mid November annually. Fleming‬
‭Island High School requests the competitive swim lanes for 2 hours of practice Monday through Friday‬
‭during this period. Practice times will be coordinated annually with the Eagle Harbor Aquatics Director.‬

‭The primary location for practice and sole location for “home” competitions will be the Eagle Harbor‬
‭Swim Park. Use of Eagle Harbor’s Waterfront facility may be allowed for practice late in the season‬
‭n should low water temperatures occur at Swim Park. Approval/coordination with the Eagle Harbor‬
‭Aquatics director is required prior.‬

‭Competitions, or meets, normally last 3-4 hours and are scheduled on weekdays. Fleming Island‬
‭requests the ability to host a minimum of 4 meets scheduled at Eagle Harbor each season. Fleming‬
‭Island Highschool’s Head Coach will coordinate the meet schedule with the Eagle Harbor Aquatics‬
‭Director. Eagle Harbor will provide a Supervisor and Lifeguard for each meet.‬

‭Fleming Island High will maintain a minimum of 1 lifeguard, usually the coaching staff, on deck during‬
‭practice and meets. Athletes are not permitted to enter Eagle Harbor facilities without coaches present.‬
‭Fleming Island High School is responsible for cleanliness of the facility and for any lost or broken items‬
‭as a result of practice or swim meets.‬

‭Thank you very much for your consideration. We look forward to a continued partnership.‬

‭Matthew Fetzner‬
‭Fleming Island High School‬
‭Swimming and Diving Head Coach‬
‭matthew.fetzner@myoneclay.net‬

Page 168 of 2427

DRAFT



‭EXHIBIT B‬

‭Guidelines for Swim Team Usage‬

‭●‬ ‭Practice beginning August 11th - mid November when States concludes‬
‭approx 3p-5p‬

‭o‬ ‭(Practice cannot be prior to sunrise or after sunset due to license).‬
‭●‬ ‭If Swim Park hours coincide with swim team practice the dive well is not‬

‭available for use.‬
‭●‬ ‭Organized practices are limited to Swim Park only. ‬
‭●‬ ‭Eagle Harbor will provide 1 supervisor and 1 Lifeguard for each meet.‬
‭●‬ ‭High School Swim practice must have a lifeguard (usually the‬

‭coach/assistant coach on deck at all times).‬
‭●‬ ‭Entry into facility is only permitted when Coach is present‬

‭o‬ ‭EH Lifeguards that are also FIHS swimmers are not permitted to open‬
‭the facility prior to arrival of coaches.‬

‭●‬ ‭Meets take place during the week on mutually agreed upon dates when the‬
‭facility is already closed to residents, no weekends or weekdays when the‬
‭pool is still open for residents. ‬

‭●‬ ‭No use of Swim Park for practice on Monday September 1st (Labor Day).‬
‭●‬ ‭Senior night facility rental negotiated outside of the swim team use contract.‬
‭●‬ ‭Cleanup of restrooms, pool and pool deck after practices and meets are the‬

‭responsibility swim team (cleaning supplies will be provided)‬
‭●‬ ‭FIHS is responsible for lost or broken items that occur during practice or‬

‭swim meets. ‬
‭●‬ ‭Umbrellas and stands are not permitted to be moved unless under staff‬

‭supervision. ‬
‭●‬ ‭FIHS swim team coaches are responsible for communicating and enforcing‬

‭rules to guest team coaches, swimmers and spectators.‬

Page 169 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

September 4, 2025 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C6 - School Improvement Plan Approval

Description
According to State Rule 6A-1.099811, School Improvement Plans are fluid plans developed by school leadership and approved
by the SAC and district to guide school improvement planning, problem solving and implementation processes by coordinating
strategies and resources that will lead to increased student achievement.
 
Every school writes a School Improvement Plan each year. Each plan is developed collaboratively with various stakeholders
including teachers, support staff, administration, parents, and community members.  Teams reflect on previous school data and
develop goals to address specific grade levels, subject areas, and/or subgroups.  The plan outlines areas of focus, measurable
outcomes, action steps, evidence-based strategies, and timeline for implementation.

Gap Analysis
These plans are necessary for school improvement efforts.

Previous Outcomes
School improvement plans, while only required to be approved by the district, have previously been reviewed and approved by
the School Board.

Expected Outcomes
Approval of all School Improvement Plans for the 2025-2026 school year

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 1: Student Success
Provide evidence-based academic opportunities with differentiated support for all students.
Goal 4: Safe and Positive Learning Environment
Cultivate and sustain resilience, respect, and positive behavior through the training and implementation of student-centered,
evidence-based practices.

Recommendation
That the School Board approve the School Improvement Plans for the 2025-2026 school year. 

Contact
Roger Dailey,  Chief Academic Officer, 904.336.6904  roger.dailey@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

School Improvement Plans 2025-2026.pdf

Page 170 of 2427

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/school-improvement-plans-2025-2026.pdf


Page 171 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 172 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 173 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 174 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 175 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 176 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 177 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 178 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 179 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 180 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 181 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 182 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 183 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 184 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 185 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 186 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 187 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 188 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 189 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 190 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 191 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 192 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 193 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 194 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 195 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 196 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 197 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 198 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 199 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 200 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 201 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 202 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 203 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 204 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 205 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 206 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 207 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 208 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 209 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 210 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 211 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 212 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 213 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 214 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 215 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 216 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 217 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 218 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 219 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 220 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 221 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 222 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 223 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 224 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 225 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 226 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 227 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 228 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 229 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 230 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 231 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 232 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 233 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 234 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 235 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 236 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 237 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 238 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 239 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 240 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 241 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 242 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 243 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 244 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 245 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 246 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 247 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 248 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 249 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 250 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 251 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 252 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 253 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 254 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 255 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 256 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 257 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 258 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 259 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 260 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 261 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 262 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 263 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 264 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 265 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 266 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 267 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 268 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 269 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 270 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 271 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 272 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 273 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 274 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 275 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 276 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 277 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 278 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 279 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 280 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 281 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 282 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 283 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 284 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 285 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 286 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 287 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 288 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 289 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 290 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 291 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 292 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 293 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 294 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 295 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 296 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 297 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 298 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 299 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 300 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 301 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 302 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 303 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 304 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 305 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 306 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 307 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 308 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 309 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 310 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 311 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 312 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 313 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 314 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 315 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 316 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 317 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 318 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 319 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 320 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 321 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 322 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 323 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 324 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 325 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 326 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 327 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 328 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 329 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 330 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 331 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 332 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 333 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 334 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 335 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 336 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 337 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 338 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 339 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 340 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 341 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 342 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 343 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 344 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 345 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 346 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 347 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 348 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 349 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 350 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 351 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 352 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 353 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 354 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 355 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 356 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 357 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 358 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 359 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 360 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 361 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 362 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 363 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 364 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 365 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 366 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 367 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 368 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 369 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 370 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 371 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 372 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 373 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 374 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 375 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 376 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 377 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 378 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 379 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 380 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 381 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 382 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 383 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 384 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 385 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 386 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 387 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 388 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 389 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 390 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 391 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 392 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 393 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 394 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 395 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 396 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 397 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 398 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 399 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 400 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 401 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 402 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 403 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 404 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 405 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 406 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 407 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 408 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 409 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 410 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 411 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 412 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 413 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 414 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 415 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 416 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 417 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 418 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 419 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 420 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 421 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 422 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 423 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 424 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 425 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 426 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 427 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 428 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 429 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 430 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 431 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 432 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 433 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 434 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 435 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 436 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 437 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 438 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 439 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 440 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 441 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 442 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 443 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 444 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 445 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 446 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 447 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 448 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 449 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 450 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 451 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 452 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 453 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 454 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 455 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 456 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 457 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 458 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 459 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 460 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 461 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 462 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 463 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 464 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 465 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 466 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 467 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 468 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 469 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 470 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 471 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 472 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 473 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 474 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 475 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 476 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 477 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 478 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 479 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 480 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 481 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 482 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 483 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 484 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 485 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 486 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 487 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 488 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 489 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 490 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 491 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 492 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 493 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 494 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 495 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 496 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 497 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 498 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 499 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 500 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 501 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 502 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 503 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 504 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 505 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 506 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 507 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 508 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 509 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 510 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 511 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 512 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 513 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 514 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 515 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 516 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 517 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 518 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 519 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 520 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 521 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 522 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 523 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 524 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 525 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 526 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 527 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 528 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 529 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 530 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 531 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 532 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 533 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 534 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 535 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 536 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 537 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 538 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 539 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 540 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 541 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 542 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 543 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 544 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 545 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 546 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 547 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 548 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 549 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 550 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 551 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 552 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 553 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 554 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 555 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 556 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 557 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 558 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 559 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 560 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 561 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 562 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 563 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 564 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 565 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 566 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 567 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 568 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 569 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 570 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 571 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 572 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 573 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 574 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 575 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 576 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 577 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 578 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 579 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 580 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 581 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 582 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 583 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 584 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 585 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 586 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 587 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 588 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 589 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 590 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 591 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 592 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 593 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 594 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 595 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 596 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 597 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 598 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 599 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 600 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 601 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 602 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 603 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 604 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 605 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 606 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 607 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 608 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 609 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 610 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 611 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 612 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 613 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 614 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 615 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 616 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 617 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 618 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 619 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 620 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 621 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 622 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 623 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 624 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 625 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 626 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 627 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 628 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 629 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 630 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 631 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 632 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 633 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 634 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 635 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 636 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 637 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 638 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 639 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 640 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 641 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 642 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 643 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 644 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 645 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 646 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 647 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 648 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 649 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 650 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 651 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 652 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 653 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 654 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 655 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 656 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 657 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 658 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 659 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 660 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 661 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 662 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 663 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 664 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 665 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 666 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 667 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 668 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 669 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 670 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 671 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 672 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 673 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 674 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 675 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 676 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 677 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 678 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 679 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 680 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 681 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 682 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 683 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 684 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 685 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 686 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 687 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 688 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 689 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 690 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 691 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 692 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 693 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 694 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 695 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 696 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 697 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 698 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 699 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 700 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 701 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 702 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 703 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 704 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 705 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 706 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 707 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 708 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 709 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 710 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 711 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 712 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 713 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 714 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 715 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 716 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 717 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 718 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 719 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 720 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 721 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 722 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 723 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 724 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 725 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 726 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 727 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 728 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 729 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 730 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 731 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 732 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 733 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 734 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 735 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 736 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 737 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 738 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 739 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 740 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 741 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 742 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 743 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 744 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 745 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 746 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 747 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 748 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 749 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 750 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 751 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 752 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 753 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 754 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 755 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 756 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 757 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 758 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 759 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 760 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 761 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 762 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 763 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 764 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 765 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 766 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 767 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 768 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 769 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 770 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 771 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 772 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 773 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 774 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 775 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 776 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 777 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 778 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 779 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 780 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 781 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 782 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 783 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 784 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 785 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 786 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 787 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 788 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 789 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 790 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 791 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 792 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 793 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 794 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 795 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 796 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 797 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 798 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 799 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 800 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 801 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 802 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 803 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 804 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 805 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 806 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 807 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 808 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 809 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 810 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 811 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 812 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 813 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 814 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 815 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 816 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 817 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 818 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 819 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 820 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 821 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 822 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 823 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 824 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 825 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 826 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 827 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 828 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 829 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 830 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 831 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 832 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 833 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 834 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 835 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 836 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 837 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 838 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 839 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 840 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 841 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 842 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 843 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 844 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 845 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 846 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 847 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 848 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 849 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 850 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 851 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 852 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 853 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 854 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 855 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 856 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 857 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 858 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 859 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 860 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 861 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 862 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 863 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 864 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 865 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 866 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 867 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 868 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 869 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 870 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 871 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 872 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 873 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 874 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 875 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 876 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 877 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 878 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 879 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 880 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 881 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 882 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 883 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 884 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 885 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 886 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 887 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 888 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 889 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 890 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 891 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 892 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 893 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 894 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 895 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 896 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 897 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 898 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 899 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 900 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 901 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 902 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 903 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 904 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 905 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 906 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 907 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 908 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 909 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 910 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 911 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 912 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 913 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 914 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 915 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 916 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 917 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 918 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 919 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 920 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 921 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 922 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 923 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 924 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 925 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 926 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 927 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 928 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 929 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 930 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 931 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 932 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 933 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 934 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 935 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 936 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 937 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 938 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 939 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 940 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 941 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 942 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 943 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 944 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 945 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 946 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 947 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 948 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 949 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 950 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 951 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 952 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 953 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 954 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 955 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 956 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 957 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 958 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 959 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 960 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 961 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 962 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 963 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 964 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 965 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 966 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 967 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 968 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 969 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 970 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 971 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 972 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 973 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 974 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 975 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 976 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 977 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 978 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 979 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 980 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 981 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 982 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 983 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 984 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 985 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 986 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 987 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 988 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 989 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 990 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 991 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 992 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 993 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 994 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 995 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 996 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 997 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 998 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 999 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1000 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1001 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1002 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1003 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1004 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1005 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1006 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1007 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1008 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1009 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1010 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1011 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1012 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1013 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1014 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1015 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1016 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1017 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1018 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1019 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1020 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1021 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1022 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1023 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1024 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1025 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1026 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1027 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1028 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1029 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1030 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1031 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1032 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1033 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1034 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1035 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1036 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1037 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1038 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1039 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1040 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1041 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1042 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1043 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1044 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1045 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1046 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1047 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1048 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1049 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1050 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1051 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1052 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1053 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1054 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1055 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1056 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1057 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1058 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1059 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1060 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1061 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1062 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1063 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1064 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1065 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1066 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1067 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1068 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1069 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1070 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1071 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1072 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1073 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1074 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1075 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1076 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1077 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1078 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1079 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1080 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1081 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1082 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1083 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1084 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1085 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1086 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1087 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1088 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1089 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1090 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1091 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1092 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1093 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1094 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1095 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1096 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1097 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1098 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1099 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1100 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1101 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1102 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1103 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1104 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1105 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1106 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1107 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1108 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1109 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1110 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1111 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1112 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1113 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1114 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1115 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1116 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1117 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1118 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1119 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1120 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1121 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1122 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1123 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1124 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1125 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1126 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1127 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1128 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1129 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1130 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1131 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1132 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1133 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1134 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1135 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1136 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1137 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1138 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1139 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1140 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1141 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1142 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1143 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1144 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1145 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1146 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1147 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1148 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1149 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1150 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1151 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1152 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1153 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1154 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1155 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1156 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1157 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1158 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1159 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1160 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1161 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1162 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1163 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1164 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1165 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1166 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1167 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1168 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1169 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1170 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1171 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1172 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1173 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1174 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1175 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1176 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1177 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1178 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1179 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1180 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1181 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1182 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1183 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1184 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1185 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1186 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1187 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1188 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1189 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1190 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1191 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1192 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1193 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1194 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1195 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1196 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1197 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1198 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1199 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1200 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1201 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1202 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1203 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1204 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1205 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1206 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1207 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1208 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1209 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1210 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1211 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1212 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1213 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1214 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1215 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1216 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1217 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1218 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1219 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1220 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1221 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1222 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1223 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1224 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1225 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1226 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1227 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1228 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1229 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1230 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1231 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1232 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1233 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1234 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1235 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1236 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1237 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1238 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1239 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1240 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1241 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1242 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1243 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1244 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1245 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1246 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1247 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1248 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1249 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1250 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1251 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1252 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1253 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1254 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1255 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1256 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1257 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1258 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1259 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1260 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1261 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1262 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1263 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1264 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1265 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1266 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1267 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1268 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1269 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1270 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1271 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1272 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1273 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1274 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1275 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1276 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1277 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1278 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1279 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1280 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1281 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1282 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1283 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1284 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1285 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1286 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1287 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1288 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1289 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1290 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1291 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1292 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1293 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1294 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1295 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1296 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1297 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1298 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1299 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1300 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1301 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1302 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1303 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1304 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1305 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1306 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1307 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1308 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1309 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1310 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1311 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1312 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1313 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1314 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1315 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1316 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1317 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1318 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1319 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1320 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1321 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1322 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1323 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1324 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1325 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1326 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1327 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1328 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1329 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1330 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1331 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1332 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1333 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1334 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1335 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1336 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1337 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1338 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1339 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1340 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1341 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1342 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1343 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1344 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1345 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1346 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1347 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1348 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1349 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1350 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1351 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1352 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1353 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1354 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1355 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1356 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1357 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1358 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1359 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1360 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1361 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1362 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1363 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1364 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1365 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1366 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1367 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1368 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1369 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1370 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1371 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1372 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1373 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1374 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1375 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1376 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1377 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1378 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1379 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1380 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1381 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1382 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1383 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1384 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1385 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1386 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1387 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1388 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1389 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1390 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1391 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1392 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1393 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1394 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1395 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1396 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1397 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1398 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1399 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1400 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1401 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1402 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1403 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1404 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1405 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1406 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1407 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1408 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1409 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1410 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1411 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1412 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1413 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1414 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1415 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1416 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1417 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1418 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1419 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1420 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1421 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1422 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1423 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1424 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1425 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1426 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1427 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1428 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1429 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1430 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1431 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1432 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1433 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1434 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1435 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1436 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1437 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1438 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1439 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1440 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1441 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1442 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1443 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1444 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1445 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1446 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1447 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1448 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1449 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1450 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1451 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1452 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1453 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1454 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1455 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1456 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1457 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1458 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1459 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1460 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1461 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1462 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1463 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1464 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1465 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1466 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1467 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1468 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1469 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1470 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1471 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1472 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1473 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1474 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1475 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1476 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1477 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1478 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1479 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1480 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1481 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1482 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1483 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1484 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1485 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1486 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1487 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1488 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1489 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1490 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1491 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1492 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1493 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1494 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1495 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1496 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1497 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1498 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1499 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1500 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1501 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1502 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1503 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1504 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1505 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1506 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1507 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1508 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1509 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1510 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1511 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1512 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1513 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1514 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1515 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1516 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1517 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1518 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1519 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1520 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1521 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1522 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1523 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1524 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1525 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1526 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1527 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1528 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1529 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1530 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1531 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1532 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1533 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1534 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1535 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1536 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1537 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1538 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1539 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1540 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1541 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1542 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1543 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1544 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1545 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1546 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1547 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1548 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1549 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1550 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1551 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1552 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1553 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1554 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1555 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1556 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1557 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1558 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1559 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1560 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1561 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1562 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1563 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1564 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1565 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1566 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1567 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1568 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1569 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1570 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1571 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1572 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1573 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1574 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1575 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1576 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1577 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1578 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1579 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1580 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1581 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1582 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1583 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1584 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1585 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1586 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1587 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1588 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1589 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1590 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1591 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1592 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1593 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1594 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1595 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1596 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1597 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1598 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1599 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1600 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1601 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1602 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1603 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1604 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1605 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1606 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1607 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1608 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1609 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1610 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1611 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1612 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1613 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1614 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1615 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1616 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1617 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1618 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1619 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1620 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1621 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1622 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1623 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1624 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1625 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1626 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1627 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1628 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1629 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1630 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1631 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1632 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1633 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1634 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1635 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1636 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1637 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1638 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1639 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1640 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1641 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1642 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1643 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1644 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1645 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1646 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1647 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1648 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1649 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1650 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1651 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1652 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1653 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1654 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1655 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1656 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1657 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1658 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1659 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1660 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1661 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1662 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1663 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1664 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1665 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1666 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1667 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1668 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1669 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1670 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1671 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1672 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1673 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1674 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1675 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1676 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1677 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1678 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1679 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1680 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1681 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1682 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1683 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1684 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1685 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1686 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1687 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1688 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1689 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1690 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1691 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1692 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1693 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1694 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1695 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1696 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1697 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1698 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1699 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1700 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1701 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1702 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1703 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1704 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1705 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1706 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1707 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1708 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1709 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1710 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1711 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1712 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1713 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1714 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1715 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1716 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1717 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1718 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1719 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1720 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1721 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1722 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1723 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1724 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1725 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1726 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1727 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1728 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1729 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1730 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1731 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1732 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1733 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1734 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1735 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1736 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1737 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1738 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1739 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1740 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1741 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1742 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1743 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1744 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1745 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1746 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1747 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1748 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1749 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1750 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1751 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1752 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1753 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1754 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1755 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1756 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1757 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1758 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1759 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1760 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1761 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1762 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1763 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1764 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1765 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1766 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1767 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1768 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1769 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1770 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1771 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1772 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1773 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1774 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1775 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1776 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1777 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1778 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1779 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1780 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1781 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1782 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1783 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1784 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1785 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1786 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1787 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1788 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1789 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1790 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1791 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1792 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1793 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1794 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1795 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1796 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1797 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1798 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1799 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1800 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1801 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1802 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1803 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1804 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1805 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1806 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1807 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1808 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1809 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1810 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1811 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1812 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1813 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1814 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1815 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1816 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1817 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1818 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1819 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1820 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1821 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1822 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1823 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1824 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1825 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1826 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1827 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1828 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1829 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1830 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1831 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1832 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1833 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1834 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1835 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1836 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1837 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1838 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1839 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1840 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1841 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1842 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1843 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1844 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1845 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1846 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1847 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1848 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1849 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1850 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1851 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1852 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1853 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1854 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1855 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1856 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1857 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1858 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1859 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1860 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1861 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1862 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1863 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1864 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1865 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1866 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1867 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1868 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1869 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1870 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1871 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1872 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1873 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1874 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1875 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1876 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1877 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1878 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1879 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1880 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1881 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1882 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1883 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1884 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1885 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1886 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1887 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1888 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1889 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1890 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1891 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1892 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1893 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1894 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1895 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1896 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1897 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1898 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1899 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1900 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1901 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1902 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1903 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1904 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1905 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1906 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1907 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1908 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1909 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1910 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1911 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1912 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1913 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1914 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1915 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1916 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1917 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1918 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1919 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1920 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1921 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1922 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1923 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1924 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1925 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1926 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1927 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1928 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1929 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1930 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1931 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1932 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1933 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1934 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1935 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1936 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1937 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1938 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1939 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1940 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1941 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1942 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1943 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1944 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1945 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1946 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1947 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1948 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1949 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1950 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1951 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1952 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1953 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1954 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1955 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1956 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1957 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1958 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1959 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1960 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1961 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1962 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1963 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1964 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1965 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1966 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1967 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1968 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1969 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1970 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1971 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1972 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1973 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1974 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1975 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1976 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1977 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1978 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1979 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1980 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1981 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1982 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1983 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1984 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1985 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1986 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1987 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1988 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1989 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1990 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1991 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1992 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1993 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1994 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1995 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1996 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1997 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1998 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1999 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2000 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2001 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2002 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2003 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2004 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2005 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2006 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2007 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2008 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2009 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2010 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2011 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2012 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2013 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2014 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2015 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2016 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2017 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2018 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2019 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2020 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2021 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2022 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2023 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2024 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2025 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2026 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2027 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2028 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2029 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2030 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2031 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2032 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2033 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2034 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2035 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2036 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2037 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2038 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2039 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2040 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2041 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2042 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2043 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2044 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2045 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2046 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2047 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2048 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2049 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2050 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2051 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2052 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2053 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2054 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2055 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2056 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2057 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2058 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2059 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2060 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2061 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2062 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2063 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2064 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2065 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2066 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2067 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2068 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2069 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2070 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2071 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2072 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2073 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2074 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2075 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2076 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2077 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2078 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2079 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2080 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2081 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2082 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2083 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2084 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2085 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2086 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2087 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2088 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2089 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2090 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2091 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2092 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2093 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2094 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2095 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2096 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2097 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2098 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2099 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2100 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2101 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2102 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2103 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2104 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2105 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2106 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2107 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2108 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2109 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2110 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2111 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2112 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2113 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2114 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2115 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2116 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2117 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2118 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2119 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2120 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2121 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2122 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2123 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2124 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2125 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2126 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2127 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2128 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2129 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2130 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2131 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2132 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2133 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2134 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2135 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2136 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2137 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2138 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2139 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

September 4, 2025 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C7 - K-12 Academic Services Out of State and Overnight Student Travel

Page 2140 of 2427

DRAFT



Description
The School Board recognizes that field trips, when used for teaching and learning integral to the curriculum, are an educationally
sound and important ingredient in the instructional program of the schools. Properly planned and executed field trips supplement
and enrich classroom instruction by providing learning experiences that will enhance mastery of the curriculum standards of the
State of Florida. A field trip is defined as any planned, student-travel activity which is approved as part of the district's
educational program and is under the direct supervision and control of an instructional staff member or any advisor as designated
by the Superintendent.
                                                                                                                                                         Field Trips Details

School Date Destination Group Purpose
Oakleaf Junior
High

12/4 -
12/5/25

Kissimmee,
FL

FFA MIddle School Leadership Conference

Oakleaf Junior
High

1/10 -
2/14/26

Washington,
DC

AICE Soc.
Studies

Visit historical sites relating to Social Studies
Standards

Clay High
8/23 -
8/24/25

Mayport, FL NJROTC Sealift Command Opportunities

Clay High 10/4/25
Blythe Island,
GA

NJROTC NJROTC Competition

Clay High
11/7 -
11/8/25

Cairo, GA NJROTC NJROTC Competition

Clay High
9/12 -
9/14/25

Camp
Blanding, FL

NJROTC Orienteering instruction and practice

Keystone
Heights

11/21 -
11/22/25

Tallahassee,
FL

Girls
Basketball

Basketball competition

Keystone
Heights

11/20 -
11/11/25

Keystone
Heights, FL

Boys
Basketball

North Florida Christian Camp

Middleburg High
9/18 -
9/20/25

Venice, FL Volleyball Volleyball Competition

Middleburg High
10/17-
10/18/25

Tampa, FL NJROTC NJROTC Competition

MIddleburg High
1/9 -
1/10/26

Valdosta, GA NJROTC NJROTC Drill Competition

Middleburg High
11/7 -
11/9/25

Orlando, FL
Marching
Band

Band performances

Orange Park
High

8/22 -
8/23/25

Blount Island,
GA

NJROTC Visit Military Sealift Command

Orange Park
HIgh

10/4/25
Brunswick,
GA

NJROTC NJROTC Orienteering meet

Ridgeview High 2/6 - 2/7/26 Douglas, GA NJROTC Close Order Drill Championship

Ridgeview High
9/12 -
9/14/25

Starke, FL NJROTC Instructional orienteering program

Ridgeview High
10/4 -
10/5/25

Brunswick,
GA

NJROTC Orienteering meet

Ridgeview High 10/25/25 Cairo, GA NJROTC Air Rifle competition

Gap Analysis
Field trips provide students with a window to the real world that they don't get in the classroom, and they can help students
understand real-world applications to abstract concepts.

Previous Outcomes
All out of county activity trips are selected, planned, evaluated, and approved or rejected in conformity with written district
policy.

Expected Outcomes
It is important to recognize that learning outcomes from field trips can range from cognitive to affective outcomes. Exposing
students to new experiences and can increase interest and engagement in academics regardless of prior interests.

Page 2141 of 2427

DRAFT



Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure that every classroom provides a quality and rigorous instructional experience in order to elevate student outcomes.

Recommendation
That the Clay County School Board approve out of county student travel.   

Contact
Roger Dailey, Chief Academic Officer; roger.dailey@myoneclay.net; 904-336-6904
Treasure Pickett, Chief of Secondary Ed; treasure.pickett@myoneclay.net; 904-336-6918

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

September 2025 Student Travel.pdf

Page 2142 of 2427

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/september-2025-student-travel.pdf


Page 2143 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2144 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2145 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2146 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2147 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2148 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2149 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2150 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2151 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2152 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2153 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2154 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2155 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2156 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2157 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2158 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2159 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2160 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2161 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2162 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2163 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2164 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2165 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2166 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2167 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2168 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2169 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2170 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2171 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2172 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2173 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2174 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2175 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2176 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2177 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2178 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2179 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

September 4, 2025 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C8 - Affiliation Agreement between Clay County District Schools and St. Leo University.

Description
This agreement is between Clay County District Schools and St. Leo University for SLU students to participate in internships,
practicums, and observations under the direction of a certified educator in Clay County schools.

Gap Analysis
Without this agreement, interns and pre-interns cannot be placed in Clay County District Schools and would thereby prevent
potential teacher candidates from choosing Clay to begin their career.

Previous Outcomes
Clay County District Schools currently has agreements with 26 Colleges/Universities, and the current agreement with St. Leo
University is expiring.  This agreement is a renewal of the previous contract.

Expected Outcomes
Placement of interns provides teacher candidates with real-world experiences that better prepares them for the rigors of
classroom teaching.  St. Leo University requests the placement of multiple teacher candidates, including those in the Para-to-Pro
Program designed for paraprofessionals employed by CCDS to earn a teaching degree.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 2: Talent Recruitment, Development, and Retention
 
Strategy 1.1: Develop strategic partnerships with organizations and universities to source new talent for a diverse workforce that
is effective and highly-qualified for non-instructional, instructional, and administrative positions throughout CCDS

Recommendation
That the Clay County School Board approve the agreement between Clay County District Schools and St. Leo University

Contact
Roger Dailey,  Chief Academic Officer, 904.336.6904  roger.dailey@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
$0

Review Comments

Attachments

250210 St Leo.pdf

Page 2180 of 2427

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/250210-st-leo.pdf


PUR 1-3501 E. 10/05/2023   Contract Review Process for ALL Contracts, September 2022, SBAO (web) 

FOLLOW ALL PROCEDURES ON BACK OF THIS FORM
  Contract #______________________ 

Number Assigned by Purchasing Dept.   

BOARD MEETING DATE:

WHEN BOARD APPROVAL IS REQUIRED DO  
NOT PLACE ITEM ON AGENDA UNTIL  

REVIEW IS COMPLETED 
 Must Have Board Approval over $100,000.00 

Date Submitted: 
Name of Contract Initiator:      Telephone #: 
School/Dept Submitting Contract:   Cost Center # 
Vendor Name: 
Contract Title: 

Contract Term:    Renewal Option(s): 
Contract Cost: 
 BUDGETED FUNDS – SEND CONTRACT PACKAGE DIRECTLY TO PURCHASING DEPT

  Funding Source:   Budget Line #_________________________________________________________________ 
  Funding Source:   Budget Line #_________________________________________________________________ 

 NO COST MASTER (COUNTY WIDE) CONTRACT  - SEND CONTRACT PACKAGE DIRECTLY TO PURCHASING DEPT

 INTERNAL ACCOUNT -  IF FUNDED FROM SCHOOL IA FUNDS – SEND CONTRACT PACKAGE DIRECTLY TO SBAO
 REQUIRED DOCUMENTS FOR CONTRACT REVIEW PACKAGE  (when applicable): 
______ Completed Contract Review Form 
______ SBAO Template Contract or other Contract (NOT SIGNED by District / School) 
______ SIGNED Addendum A (if not an SBAO Template Contract) - When using the Addendum A, this Statement MUST BE included in the body of the Contract: 
               “The terms and conditions of Addendum A are hereby incorporated into this Agreement and the same shall govern and prevail over any conflicting terms and/or 
                conditions herein stated.” 
______ Certificate of Insurance (COI) for General Liability & Workers’ Compensation that meet these requirements: 
               COI must list the School Board of Clay County, Florida as an Additional Insured and Certificate Holder.  Insurer must be rated as A- or better. 

   General Liability = $1,000,000 Each Occurrence & $2,000,000 General Aggregate. 
   Auto Liability = $1,000,000 Combined Single Limit ($5,000,000 for Charter Buses). 
  Workers’ Compensation = $100,000 Minimum 

[If exempt from Workers’ Compensation Insurance, vendor/contractor must sign a Release and Hold Harmless Form.  If not exempt, vendor/contractor 
must provide Workers’ Compensation coverage]. 

______ State of Florida Workers Comp Exemption (https://apps.fldfs.com/bocexempt/) (If Applicable) 
 
 

______ Release and Hold Harmless (If Applicable) 
 

 **AREA BELOW FOR DISTRICT PERSONNEL ONLY ** 
CONTRACT REVIEWED BY: COMMENTS BELOW BY REVIEWING DEPARTMENT 

Purchasing Department    

Review Date 

_______________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________ 

School Board Attorney   

Review Date 

_______________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________ 

Other Dept. as Necessary 

Review Date 

_______________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________ 
_______________________________________________________________________ 

PENDING STATUS:  YES    NO IF YES, HIGHLIGHTED COMMENTS ABOVE MUST BE CORRECTED BY INITIATOR 

FINAL STATUS  DATE:____Pending Signatures 

CONTRACT REVIEW 

Contract Type:   New □   Renewal □   Amendment □     Extension □      Previous Year Contract # 

06/18/2025
Jennifer Shepard

230004

9043366966
Professional Learning 9009

St Leo Student Affiliation Agreement
SLU Student Teaching Affiliation Agreement

8/4/2025-07/31/2028
$0

Legally sufficient
JPS
8/6/25

250210

No Cost

Page 2181 of 2427

DRAFT



PUR 1-3501 E. 10/05/2023   Contract Review Process for ALL Contracts, September 2022, SBAO (web) 

CONTRACT REVIEW PROCESS FOR “ALL” CONTRACTS 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Step 1: Contract Initiator and Vendor prepare draft contract 
              (School Board Attorney Office (SBAO) Template Contracts available on SBAO webpage are strongly encouraged) 

Step 2: Complete Contract Review Form, attach Required Documents to include the UNSIGNED Contract by the District / School. 
             
 

Step 3: If Funded by Budgeted Funds, submit the Contract Review Package to the Purchasing Department.  
             Purchasing will begin the contract review process and submit the contract to the SBAO for review. SBAO may reach out to                    
             Initiator and/or other Departments (Risk, IT,) with questions or concerns and will assist with contract revisions.  SBAO 
             will send the Contract Review Package back to the Purchasing Department for final processing and the return to Initiator. 
 
             Purchasing will log “District” Contracts (Cost/No Cost) on Contract Review Log and save copy of the Contract Review 
             Package PLUS the Final Signed Contract you’ve return to Purchasing in the Contract Review Team Drive.  

Step 5: The Initiator is responsible for finalizing the Contract which includes:  
             Addressing Comments/Revisions, Obtaining Required Signatures, Send District Final Signed Contract to Purchasing OR  
             Retain Internal Accounts Final Signed Contract at School per School Board Record Policy. 
 

             If there is a Cost associated with Contract, the Initiator must work with their Bookkeeper to finalize the Purchasing Process. 
                      Budgeted Funds require a District Purchase Order.   Internal Accounts require an IA Purchase Order. 

Step 4:  If Funded by Internal Account (IA), submit the Contract Review Package directly to SBAO.  
              Email:  contractreview@myoneclay.net 
             The SBAO will begin the contract review process and return it directly to Initiator  

For Contracts using Budgeted Funds or For No Cost / Master (County Wide) Contracts: 
Initiator submits Contract Review Package to Purchasing Department - See Step 3 

 

For Contracts using Internal Funds Individual to each School: 
 Initiator submits Contract Review Package direct to SBAO - See Step 4 
 

A contract is defined as an agreement between two or more parties that is intended to have legal effect. This may include MOUs, 
Interlocal Agreements, Service Agreements and Contracts.  Contracts document the mutual understanding between the parties as to 
the terms and conditions of their agreement, contain mutual obligations, and clearly state the agreement's consideration. The term 
consideration includes the cost of the services and/or products to be provided by second party (vendor or service provider) and any 
non-monetary performance. No school, department, or other organizational unit has authority to contract in its own name. All Board 
contracts must be made in the legal name of the Board, "The School Board of Clay County, Florida". The School or Department may 
extend this name to include the school or department as follows, "The School Board of Clay County, Florida o/b/o ________________ 
(insert the school or department name)" where o/b/o means "on behalf of". 
 
All contracts shall be reviewed and approved by the School Board Attorney and/or the Supervisor of Purchasing 
to ensure legality, compliance with Board policy, and to ensure the Board interests are protected before the 
authorized signatory may execute the contract. 
 
All contracts having a value of $100,000 or more shall be authorized by the Board at a regular or special meeting and signed by the 
Board Chairman.  All approved contracts having a value of less than $100,000 may be executed by the Superintendent or appropriate 
District administrator based on the value of the contract.  

1. All approved contracts having a value of $50,000 or more, but less than $100,000 shall be signed by the Superintendent, or 
the   person who has been designated, in writing by the Superintendent, as the Superintendent’s Designee at the time of the 
contract signing. All contracts executed pursuant to this subparagraph shall be reported to the School Board in a separate 
entry as part of the monthly financial report. 

2. All approved contracts having a value of $25,000 or more, but less than $50,000, shall be signed by the Superintendent, or     
       the Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs. 
3. All approved contracts having a value of less than $25,000 and contracts of any value described in Board Authorized 

Contracts above that are exempt from the requirement for Board approval, may be signed by the Superintendent, or the 
Assistant Superintendent for their Division, or Chief Officers, or Directors, or Principals. 

4. The Superintendent is authorized to approve contract amendments or change orders for the purchase of commodities and 
services up to the amount of ten (10) percent or $50,000, whichever is less, of the original contract amount that was 
previously approved by the Board. 

 

Employees who enter into agreements without authority may be personally liable for such agreements, whether oral or written. 
 

For assistance with legal-related matters, please visit the School Board Attorney’s Office (“SBAO”) webpage or call 904-336-6507 
For assistance with insurance-related matters, please visit the Business Affairs - Risk Management webpage or call 904-336-6745 
For assistance with District Purchasing, please visit the Business Affairs - Purchasing webpage or call 904-336-6736 

Page 2182 of 2427

DRAFT



STUDENT TEACHING AFFILIATION AGREEMENT

This Student Teaching Affiliation Agreement (“Agreement”) is 
entered into on this 4th day of August, 2025, by and between SAINT LEO 
UNIVERSITY, INCORPORATED, located at 33701 State Road 52, Saint 
Leo, Florida 33574 (“SLU”) and THE SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY 
COUNTY, FLORIDA, located at 900 Walnut Street, Green Cove Springs, 
Florida 32043 (“the District”).

1. Purpose.  The purpose of this Agreement is to establish the terms 
and conditions under which SLU students (“SLU Students”) may participate 
in Student Teaching Internships, Practicums, and Observations at the 
schools located in the District.

2.  SLU Student Placements.  The District shall accept SLU 
students

Placement in Student Teaching Internships, Practicums, and Observations 
on the terms and conditions set forth herein.

3.  Policies Governing SLU Student Placements.
a.  Placements for all clinical field experiences will be arranged by

The designated representatives of the District in collaboration with 
representatives of SLU.  SLU Student applications for final internship will 
be submitted to the District by the appropriate SLU representative 
according to the following dates or as otherwise agreed upon by the 
parties:

April 15 – Submission of applications for final internships for
Fall Semester

October 15 – Submission of applications for final internships for
Spring Semester

b.  Under no circumstances will SLU students be allowed to 
contact

Principals, administrators, or teachers to request a specific preferred 
placement.

Page 2183 of 2427

DRAFT



c.  SLU student applicants for college practicums or final 
internships

cannot be placed in a school in which the applicant has a relative who is an 
employee or a student.

4.  SLU RESPONSIBILITIES.

       a.  SLU will provide a university supervisor for each practicum 
student or final intern placed in a District school.  Each university 
supervisor will meet the minimum qualifications set forth by the Florida 
Department of Education which presently include the following:

i.  Three of more years of K-12 teaching experience

ii. Evidence of Clinical Educator Training or commensurate
clinical training

iii. A Master’s Degree or higher in an appropriate educational
field

5.  Confidentiality.  SLU and the District shall inform each SLU student of 
federal and state laws governing the confidentiality of District student 
information, including FERPA.  The parties agree that any breach of 
confidentiality by an SLU student shall be grounds for immediate 
termination of the student’s clinical experience.

7.  Indemnification and Hold Harmless.  Neither party shall be 
responsible for the other for personal injury or property damage or for other 
loss except that resulting from its own negligence or the negligence of its 
employees or others for whom the party is legally responsibly.  The District 
will provide SLU students with immediate first aid for work-related injuries 
or illnesses, such as blood or bodily fluid exposure.

8.  Insurance.  During the term of this Agreement, SLU shall maintain in 
full force and effect commercial general liability insurance in the minimum 
amount of $1,000,000 per occurrence and $2,000,000 aggregate.

Page 2184 of 2427

DRAFT



9.  Notices.  Notices under this Agreement shall be mailed or delivered to 
the parties as follows:

To the District:

Ms. Jennifer Shepard
THE SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA
900 Walnut Street
Green Cove Springs, Florida  32043

To SLU:

Saint Leo University
Attention:  Chair, Education Department
33701 State Road 52
Saint Leo, Florida  33574

10.  Terms and Termination.  The term of this Agreement begins August 
4, 2025 and ends on July 31, 2028.  Either party may, either with or without 
cause, upon thirty (30) days’ written notice to the other party, terminate this 
Agreement.  Terminating this Agreement as set forth herein shall not 
operate to interrupt the progress of any student who has been assigned to 
a teaching internship, practicum or observation.  A student who is assigned 
to any student teaching or practicum pursuant to this contract shall be 
allowed to complete their assignment.

11.  Assignment.  The provisions of this Agreement shall inure to the 
benefit of and shall be binding upon the successors of the parties hereto.  
Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights or obligations hereunder may 
be transferred or assigned without prior written consent of the other party.

12.  Modification of Agreement.  This Agreement may be modified only 
by written amendment executed by all parties.

13.  Partnership/Joint Venture/Employment.  Nothing herein shall in any 
way be construed or intended to create a partnership or joint venture 
between the parties or to create the relationship of principal and agent 
between or amony any of the parties.

Page 2185 of 2427

DRAFT



14.  Nondiscrimination.  The parties shall comply with Title VI and VII of 
the Civil Rights Act of 1964, Title IS of the Education Amendments of 1972, 
Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, and Americans with 
Disabilities Act of 1990 and the regulations related thereto.  The parties will 
not discriminate against any individual, including but not limited to 
employees or applicants for employment and/or students because of race, 
religion, creed, color, sex, age, disability, veteran status, or national origin.  
This section shall not apply to discrimination in employment on the basis of 
religion that is specifically exempt under the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 
U.S.C. 2000 e).

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to 
be duly executed and delivered by their respective officials thereunto duly 
authorized as of the date first above written.

SAINT LEO UNIVERSITY, THE SCHOOL BOARD OF
INCORPORATED CLAY COUNTY, 
FLORIDA

By:____________________________
By:_______________________

Name: Dr. Susan Kinsella Name: Erin Skipper
Title: Vice President of Academic Affairs Title:  Chairperson

(SLU)    (District)

Approved as to form: Approved as to Form:

_____________________________
___________________________

General Counsel Attorney for the School 
Board

Page 2186 of 2427

DRAFT



H
o

ld
e

r 
Id

e
n

ti
fi

e
r 

: 
77777

77707
07070

00777
61616

04557
11107

76617
11721

54572
07452

00677
25151

12073
65146

61473
31020

73415
55602

76570
00762

70245
66045

57707
60731

40067
22130

07764
33515

23345
74077

65517
60526

64530
76727

24203
57720

00777
77770

70007
07007

 
77777

77707
07070

00735
25677

11545
60007

37115
45617

64421
07761

55407
06221

33074
63772

20216
24510

70232
76206

53314
00712

33263
52073

11107
03333

72431
62010

07132
23635

31730
11071

32337
24216

31110
77756

16335
17655

40777
77770

70007
07007

C
e

rt
if

ic
a

te
 N

o
 :

 5
7

0
11

3
2

6
8

4
6

2
 

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
 DATE(MM/DD/YYYY)        

 06/16/2025

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed. 

If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to   the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on 

this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS 

CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES 

BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED 

REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

PRODUCER

Aon Risk Services, Inc of Florida
4010 W. Boy Scout Boulevard
Suite 200
Tampa FL 33607 USA 

PHONE
(A/C. No. Ext):

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC #

(866) 283-7122

INSURED 0259ALFICURMA, Inc. Self-Insured FundINSURER A:

INSURER B:

INSURER C:

INSURER D:

INSURER E:

INSURER F:

FAX
(A/C. No.): 800-363-0105

CONTACT
NAME:

Saint Leo University
Business Affairs
University Campus - MC2246
P.O. Box 6665
Saint Leo FL 33574-6665 USA 

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: 570113268462 REVISION NUMBER:

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD INDICATED. 
NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY 
PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS, EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY 
HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

Limits shown are as requested
POLICY EXP 

(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EFF 

(MM/DD/YYYY)
SUBR
WVD

INSR 
LTR

ADDL 
INSD POLICY NUMBER  TYPE OF INSURANCE LIMITS

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

POLICY LOC

EACH OCCURRENCE

DAMAGE TO RENTED 
PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

MED EXP (Any one person)

PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

GENERAL AGGREGATE

PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

X

X

X

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: 

$3,000,000

$3,000,000

Excluded

$3,000,000

$6,000,000

$6,000,000

A 12/01/2024 12/01/2025

(Self-Insured Fund)
FGRE624462324

PRO-
JECT

OTHER:

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

ANY AUTO

OWNED 
AUTOS ONLY

SCHEDULED
 AUTOS

HIRED AUTOS 
ONLY

NON-OWNED 
AUTOS ONLY

BODILY INJURY ( Per person)

PROPERTY DAMAGE
(Per accident)

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT
(Ea accident)

EXCESS LIAB

OCCUR 

CLAIMS-MADE AGGREGATE

EACH OCCURRENCE

DED 

UMBRELLA LIAB

RETENTION

E.L. DISEASE-EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. DISEASE-POLICY LIMIT

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT $1,000,000

X OTH-
ER

PER STATUTEA 12/01/2024 12/01/2025

(Self-Insured Fund)

$1,000,000

Y / N

(Mandatory in NH)

ANY PROPRIETOR / PARTNER / EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED? N / AN

WORKERS COMPENSATION AND 
EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

If yes, describe under 
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below

$1,000,000

WC62446232024

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

CANCELLATIONCERTIFICATE HOLDER

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVEClay County District Schools
900 Walnut Street
Green Cove Springs FL 32403 USA 

ACORD 25 (2016/03)

©1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE THE EXPIRATION 
DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

Page 2187 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

September 4, 2025 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C9 - Affiliation Agreement between Clay County District Schools and Florida State College of Jacksonville (FSCJ).

Description
This agreement is between Clay County District Schools and Florida State College of Jacksonville for FSCJ students to
participate in internships, practicums, and observations under the direction of a certified educator in Clay County schools.

Gap Analysis
Without this agreement, interns and pre-interns cannot be placed in Clay County District Schools and would thereby prevent
potential teacher candidates from choosing Clay to begin their career.

Previous Outcomes
Clay County District Schools currently has agreements with 28 Colleges/Universities, and the current agreement with FSCJ is
expiring.  This agreement is a renewal of the previous contract. 

Expected Outcomes
Placement of interns provides teacher candidates with real-world experiences that better prepares them for the rigors of
classroom teaching.  FSCJ requests the placement of multiple teacher candidates each year.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 2: Talent Recruitment, Development, and Retention
 
Strategy 1.1: Develop strategic partnerships with organizations and universities to source new talent for a diverse workforce that
is effective and highly-qualified for non-instructional, instructional, and administrative positions throughout CCDS

Recommendation
That the Clay County School Board approve the agreement between Clay County District Schools and FSCJ.

Contact
Roger Dailey,  Chief Academic Officer, 904.336.6904  roger.dailey@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
$0

Review Comments

Attachments

260001 FSCJ Clinical Exp Early Childhood Prog Agreement 7.8.2025.pdf

Page 2188 of 2427

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/260001-fscj-clinical-exp-early-childhood-prog-agreement-782025.pdf


PUR 1-3501 E. 10/05/2023   Contract Review Process for ALL Contracts, September 2022, SBAO (web) 

FOLLOW ALL PROCEDURES ON BACK OF THIS FORM
  Contract #______________________ 

Number Assigned by Purchasing Dept.   

BOARD MEETING DATE:

WHEN BOARD APPROVAL IS REQUIRED DO  
NOT PLACE ITEM ON AGENDA UNTIL  

REVIEW IS COMPLETED 
 Must Have Board Approval over $100,000.00 

Date Submitted: 
Name of Contract Initiator:      Telephone #: 
School/Dept Submitting Contract:   Cost Center # 
Vendor Name: 
Contract Title: 

Contract Term:    Renewal Option(s): 
Contract Cost: 
 BUDGETED FUNDS – SEND CONTRACT PACKAGE DIRECTLY TO PURCHASING DEPT

  Funding Source:   Budget Line #_________________________________________________________________ 
  Funding Source:   Budget Line #_________________________________________________________________ 

 NO COST MASTER (COUNTY WIDE) CONTRACT  - SEND CONTRACT PACKAGE DIRECTLY TO PURCHASING DEPT

 INTERNAL ACCOUNT -  IF FUNDED FROM SCHOOL IA FUNDS – SEND CONTRACT PACKAGE DIRECTLY TO SBAO
 REQUIRED DOCUMENTS FOR CONTRACT REVIEW PACKAGE  (when applicable): 
______ Completed Contract Review Form 
______ SBAO Template Contract or other Contract (NOT SIGNED by District / School) 
______ SIGNED Addendum A (if not an SBAO Template Contract) - When using the Addendum A, this Statement MUST BE included in the body of the Contract: 
               “The terms and conditions of Addendum A are hereby incorporated into this Agreement and the same shall govern and prevail over any conflicting terms and/or 
                conditions herein stated.” 
______ Certificate of Insurance (COI) for General Liability & Workers’ Compensation that meet these requirements: 
               COI must list the School Board of Clay County, Florida as an Additional Insured and Certificate Holder.  Insurer must be rated as A- or better. 

   General Liability = $1,000,000 Each Occurrence & $2,000,000 General Aggregate. 
   Auto Liability = $1,000,000 Combined Single Limit ($5,000,000 for Charter Buses). 
  Workers’ Compensation = $100,000 Minimum 

[If exempt from Workers’ Compensation Insurance, vendor/contractor must sign a Release and Hold Harmless Form.  If not exempt, vendor/contractor 
must provide Workers’ Compensation coverage]. 

______ State of Florida Workers Comp Exemption (https://apps.fldfs.com/bocexempt/) (If Applicable) 
 
 

______ Release and Hold Harmless (If Applicable) 
 

 **AREA BELOW FOR DISTRICT PERSONNEL ONLY ** 
CONTRACT REVIEWED BY: COMMENTS BELOW BY REVIEWING DEPARTMENT 

Purchasing Department    

Review Date 

_______________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________ 

School Board Attorney   

Review Date 

_______________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________ 

Other Dept. as Necessary 

Review Date 

_______________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________ 
_______________________________________________________________________ 

PENDING STATUS:  YES    NO IF YES, HIGHLIGHTED COMMENTS ABOVE MUST BE CORRECTED BY INITIATOR 

FINAL STATUS  DATE:______________________ 

CONTRACT REVIEW 

Contract Type:   New □   Renewal □   Amendment □     Extension □      Previous Year Contract # 

07/09/2025
Jennifer Shepard 9043366951

Professional Learning 9009
Florida State College at Jacksonville
FSCJ 

5 Years
$0

220090

JPS
7/16

Legally sufficient.

(Clinical Experience-Early Childhood Program)

2025 - 2030

260001

N/A

No Cost

Pending Signatures

Page 2189 of 2427

DRAFT



PUR 1-3501 E. 10/05/2023   Contract Review Process for ALL Contracts, September 2022, SBAO (web) 

CONTRACT REVIEW PROCESS FOR “ALL” CONTRACTS 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Step 1: Contract Initiator and Vendor prepare draft contract 
              (School Board Attorney Office (SBAO) Template Contracts available on SBAO webpage are strongly encouraged) 

Step 2: Complete Contract Review Form, attach Required Documents to include the UNSIGNED Contract by the District / School. 
             
 

Step 3: If Funded by Budgeted Funds, submit the Contract Review Package to the Purchasing Department.  
             Purchasing will begin the contract review process and submit the contract to the SBAO for review. SBAO may reach out to                    
             Initiator and/or other Departments (Risk, IT,) with questions or concerns and will assist with contract revisions.  SBAO 
             will send the Contract Review Package back to the Purchasing Department for final processing and the return to Initiator. 
 
             Purchasing will log “District” Contracts (Cost/No Cost) on Contract Review Log and save copy of the Contract Review 
             Package PLUS the Final Signed Contract you’ve return to Purchasing in the Contract Review Team Drive.  

Step 5: The Initiator is responsible for finalizing the Contract which includes:  
             Addressing Comments/Revisions, Obtaining Required Signatures, Send District Final Signed Contract to Purchasing OR  
             Retain Internal Accounts Final Signed Contract at School per School Board Record Policy. 
 

             If there is a Cost associated with Contract, the Initiator must work with their Bookkeeper to finalize the Purchasing Process. 
                      Budgeted Funds require a District Purchase Order.   Internal Accounts require an IA Purchase Order. 

Step 4:  If Funded by Internal Account (IA), submit the Contract Review Package directly to SBAO.  
              Email:  contractreview@myoneclay.net 
             The SBAO will begin the contract review process and return it directly to Initiator  

For Contracts using Budgeted Funds or For No Cost / Master (County Wide) Contracts: 
Initiator submits Contract Review Package to Purchasing Department - See Step 3 

 

For Contracts using Internal Funds Individual to each School: 
 Initiator submits Contract Review Package direct to SBAO - See Step 4 
 

A contract is defined as an agreement between two or more parties that is intended to have legal effect. This may include MOUs, 
Interlocal Agreements, Service Agreements and Contracts.  Contracts document the mutual understanding between the parties as to 
the terms and conditions of their agreement, contain mutual obligations, and clearly state the agreement's consideration. The term 
consideration includes the cost of the services and/or products to be provided by second party (vendor or service provider) and any 
non-monetary performance. No school, department, or other organizational unit has authority to contract in its own name. All Board 
contracts must be made in the legal name of the Board, "The School Board of Clay County, Florida". The School or Department may 
extend this name to include the school or department as follows, "The School Board of Clay County, Florida o/b/o ________________ 
(insert the school or department name)" where o/b/o means "on behalf of". 
 
All contracts shall be reviewed and approved by the School Board Attorney and/or the Supervisor of Purchasing 
to ensure legality, compliance with Board policy, and to ensure the Board interests are protected before the 
authorized signatory may execute the contract. 
 
All contracts having a value of $100,000 or more shall be authorized by the Board at a regular or special meeting and signed by the 
Board Chairman.  All approved contracts having a value of less than $100,000 may be executed by the Superintendent or appropriate 
District administrator based on the value of the contract.  

1. All approved contracts having a value of $50,000 or more, but less than $100,000 shall be signed by the Superintendent, or 
the   person who has been designated, in writing by the Superintendent, as the Superintendent’s Designee at the time of the 
contract signing. All contracts executed pursuant to this subparagraph shall be reported to the School Board in a separate 
entry as part of the monthly financial report. 

2. All approved contracts having a value of $25,000 or more, but less than $50,000, shall be signed by the Superintendent, or     
       the Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs. 
3. All approved contracts having a value of less than $25,000 and contracts of any value described in Board Authorized 

Contracts above that are exempt from the requirement for Board approval, may be signed by the Superintendent, or the 
Assistant Superintendent for their Division, or Chief Officers, or Directors, or Principals. 

4. The Superintendent is authorized to approve contract amendments or change orders for the purchase of commodities and 
services up to the amount of ten (10) percent or $50,000, whichever is less, of the original contract amount that was 
previously approved by the Board. 

 

Employees who enter into agreements without authority may be personally liable for such agreements, whether oral or written. 
 

For assistance with legal-related matters, please visit the School Board Attorney’s Office (“SBAO”) webpage or call 904-336-6507 
For assistance with insurance-related matters, please visit the Business Affairs - Risk Management webpage or call 904-336-6745 
For assistance with District Purchasing, please visit the Business Affairs - Purchasing webpage or call 904-336-6736 

Page 2190 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 1 of Clinical Experience Agreement 
 

 

CLINICAL EXPERIENCE AGREEMENT BETWEEN  
FLORIDA STATE COLLEGE AT JACKSONVILLE 

AND 
THE SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA 

 
 
 
THIS AGREEMENT is entered into this _7th_ day of _August 2025_, between THE 
SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY, FLORIDA (hereinafter referred to as the "SITE") 
and the DISTRICT BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF FLORIDA STATE COLLEGE AT 
JACKSONVILLE, a public body corporate of the State of Florida, whose address is I0I 
West State Street, Jacksonville, Florida (hereinafter referred to as the "COLLEGE"). 
 
WHEREAS, the COLLEGE provides approved program of study in the field of Initial 
Teacher Preparation-ITP in Early Childhood Education PK-3rd (hereinafter referred to as 
the "Program"), and desires its teacher candidates (hereinafter referred to as "Teacher 
Candidates") in the Program to obtain educational experiences by utilizing appropriate 
facilities and personnel of third parties; 
 
WHEREAS, the SITE has SITEs and personnel for Program Teacher Candidates, and has 
agreed to make such SITEs and personnel available to COLLEGE; 
 
WHEREAS, the SITE and COLLEGE desire to cooperate to establish and implement the 
Program; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the recitals and the respective promises contained 
herein, SITE and COLLEGE agree that the Program described herein be established and 
implemented by the SITE and the COLLEGE pursuant to the following terms and 
conditions ("Agreement"): 

 
I.          PURPOSE 
 
1. The purpose of this Agreement is to provide educational experiences in the form of 
hands-on experimental learning at select SITE locations for selected COLLEGE Teacher 
Candidates which take place at schools within the SITE under the guidance of a fully 
certified professional (hereinafter referred to as "Cooperating Teacher") and a COLLEGE 
assigned supervisor (hereinafter referred to as "Faculty Supervisor"). 
 
2. The following criteria, instituted by the Florida Department of Education are to be 
used in the selection of the SITE Cooperating Teachers who will provide supervision to 
Teacher Candidates during field experience or internship and must have the following. 
  

a. A valid professional educator certificate 
b. At least 3 years of teaching experience in prekindergarten through grade 12 
c. Earned an effective or highly effective rating on the prior year’s performance 

evaluation or be a peer evaluator under the SITE’s evaluation system 

Page 2191 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2 of Clinical Experience Agreement 
 

 

d. Evidence of “clinical educator” training (CET); 
e. a certificate or endorsement in reading. 

 
II.          OBLIGATIONS OF THE COLLEGE 
 
1.    The COLLEGE will offer education programs accredited by appropriate organizations; 
and will determine standards of education, hours of instruction, learning experiences, 
administration, matriculation, promotion, and graduation.  
 
2.    The COLLEGE will keep all records and reports on Teacher Candidate’s experiences in 
accordance with COLLEGE policy and regulatory requirements. 

 
3.    The COLLEGE will plan with the SITE in advance of commencement of the Program, 
its schedule of Teacher Candidates assignments to the designated areas within the SITE. 

 
4.    The COLLEGE agrees to inform Teacher Candidates that Teacher Candidates shall be 
responsible for following the rules and regulations of the SITE school, including 
recognition of the confidential nature of information regarding pupils and their records. 

 
5.    The COLLEGE will provide to the SITE a copy of course objectives for the learning 
experience.  

 
6.    The COLLEGE will assign a Faculty Supervisor who will collaborate with the SITE 
school’s Cooperating Teacher. The Faculty Supervisor is required to have a level 2 (state and 
national/FBI background check and meet the SITE’s reasonable guidelines for clearance. 
For purposes of this Agreement, the term "Cooperating Teacher" shall be defined as the 
SITE school educator who has been assigned by COLLEGE and the SITE to supervise the 
Teacher Candidate. 

 
7.    Teacher Candidates shall not be considered as employees or agents of the COLLEGE or 
SITE and shall not be entitled to any compensation or employee benefits by nature or their 
participation in the Program. 
 
III.          ROLE/SUPERVISION OF COOPERATING TEACHER 
 
1. The COLLEGE will provide a student-teacher handbook/practicum guideline (the 
“handbook”) to each Cooperating Teacher on or before reporting date of the Teacher 
Candidate. The handbook will define the explicit responsibilities of the Cooperating Teacher 
and the Faculty Supervisor relative to instructions, observation, conferencing, licensure 
requirements, and evaluation instruments. 
 
2. Upon a reasonable request by the COLLEGE, the SITE’s Cooperating Teachers shall 
participate in a brief overview of the FLDOE’s state framework for its “State-Approved 
Educator Preparation Programs.”  
 

Page 2192 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 3 of Clinical Experience Agreement 
 

 

3. The COLLEGE will provide Cooperating Teachers training through a Canvas Learning 
Module prior to the start of the semester they will host a Teacher Candidate. 
 
4. During the Teacher Candidate teaching period, the SITE school’s Cooperating 
Teachers shall complete a minimum of four observations of the Teacher Candidate within 
the Program, each for a minimum of 45 minutes. Each observation should include timely 
and meaningful feedback with Teacher Candidate(s). 

 
5. The COLLEGE Faculty Supervisor and the SITE Cooperating Teachers shall use a 
survey instrument provided by the COLLEGE for the assessment of the Teacher 
Candidate(s). 

IV.          OBLIGATIONS OF THE SITE 
 
1.    The SITE shall maintain sole responsibility for the instruction, education, and welfare 
of its pupils.  
 
2.    The SITE agrees that Teacher Candidates assigned to the SITE for counseling, 
administration teaching, and/ or observation experiences are under the supervision, control, 
and responsibility of the SITE. 

 
3.    The SITE shall retain the right, in its sole discretion, to request the removal of any 
individual from any area of the SITE premises. Teacher Candidates shall be instructed by the 
COLLEGE to promptly, and without protest, leave an area within the SITE premises 
whenever they are requested to do so by an authorized SITE representative.  

 
4.    The SITE shall provide qualified site supervision for Teacher Candidates via one or 
more “Cooperating Teacher(s)”. Cooperating Teachers will be the resource person(s) for 
Teacher Candidates and COLLEGE Faculty Supervisor while at SITE location. Cooperating 
Teachers selected by the SITE will: a) assist in orienting Teacher Candidates to the assigned 
SITE location, classroom, and pupils; b) explain  all  SITE  policies,  rules,  and  regulations  
to Teacher Candidates; c) provide prompt and substantive  feedback to Teacher Candidates 
regarding all performance activities and interactions with SITE personnel, pupils, and 
parents; d) complete evaluations of Teacher Candidates' progress and submit them to the 
COLLEGE Faculty Supervisor, after reviewing them with the applicable Teacher Candidate; 
immediately inform the COLLEGE Faculty Supervisor of any concerns regarding a Teacher 
Candidate; f) establish time to meet and discuss with Teacher Candidate their activities, 
impressions, reflections, and suggestions for goals and areas of improvement; g) supervise 
Teacher Candidates on a daily basis. However, if the Cooperating Teacher is absent from 
the Teacher Candidate’s assigned classroom for any reason, a certified substitute must be 
assigned to the classroom. Under no circumstance can a Teacher Candidate serve as the 
substitute of record during the Teacher Candidate teaching experience within the Program 
unless a separate agreement has been negotiated in writing by the SITE and the COLLEGE. 

 
5.    Teacher Candidates must complete a Level 2 (state and national/F.B.I.) background 
check, at their cost, according to the pertinent requirements of the State of Florida. 
Fingerprinting must be done by the SITE. The SITE is responsible for clearing Teacher 

Page 2193 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 4 of Clinical Experience Agreement 
 

 

Candidates based upon SITE guidelines for Teacher Candidates prior to the Teacher 
Candidates entering any classroom of the SITE.  

 
 
V.           INSURANCE 
 
1.    The COLLEGE agrees that Teacher Candidates shall assume responsibility for 
their own medical care and hospitalization. However, the SITE will provide Teacher 
Candidates with emergency care for injuries or illnesses of an acute nature incurred 
while on duty at a SITE location, or provide transportation to the nearest medical 
care facility. Teacher Candidates shall be personally responsible for any costs or 
expenses related to medical treatment and/or transportation to the nearest medical 
facility if an ambulance is required.  
 
2.    The SITE acknowledges that COLLEGE is self-insured for workers' compensation, 
general liability, and other coverage, with said protection being applicable to the 
COLLEGE’s officers, employees, and agents while acting within the scope of their 
employment by the COLLEGE. The COLLEGE’s self-insured fund and various policies are 
authorized pursuant to Florida Statutes and the College's District Board of Trustees. The 
COLLEGE agrees to maintain its self-insurance fund and excess policies for the duration of 
this Agreement. Furthermore, nothing contained herein shall be construed or interpreted 
as: (i) denying to either party any remedy or defense available to such party under the 
laws of the State of Florida; (ii) the consent of the COLLEGE to be sued; or (iii) a 
waiver of sovereign immunity of the College beyond the waiver provided in Section 
768.28. Florida Statutes.  

 
 
VI.            GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
1.    Neither the SITE nor the COLLEGE will discriminate against any person because of 
race, color, religion, sex, veteran or marital status, national origin, or any other federally-
protected class of individual, nor discriminate against any Teacher Candidate or Teacher 
Candidate applicant with a disability pursuant to law as set forth in the Americans With 
Disabilities Act.  
 
2.    This Agreement is not intended and shall not be construed to create the relationship of 
agent, servant, employee, partnership, joint venture, or association between the COLLEGE 
and the SITE and their employees, students, or agents but an Agreement by and between 
two independent contractors. Each Teacher Candidate within the Program is placed in a 
SITE location in order to receive education experience as part of the Program and duties 
performed by a Teacher Candidate are not performed as an employee of the SITE, but rather 
in fulfillment of the academic requirements of the Program and are performed under direct 
supervision by SITE personnel. Neither the SITE nor the COLLEGE shall have the power to 
bind the other party or contract in the name of the other party. All persons employed by the 
SITE or the COLLEGE in connection with this Agreement shall be considered employees of 

Page 2194 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 5 of Clinical Experience Agreement 
 

 

that party. Teacher Candidates shall participate in the Program hereunder for the sole 
consideration of obtaining an educational experience. 

 
3.    The SITE shall timely notify the COLLEGE when any COLLEGE employee or student 
has been involved in a reported incident and the COLLEGE shall have the opportunity to 
participate in any ongoing investigation and shall have access to any oral or written reports 
and any other documentation related to the reported incident. 

 
4.    Neither the SITE nor its employees shall be entitled to compensation from the 
COLLEGE for services or actions which benefit the COLLEGE, but which are part of, or 
are related to the Program or the terms of this Agreement. 
 
5.    This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement as to the rights and obligations of the 
parties hereto and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements and undertaking of 
the parties pertaining to the referenced subject matter referenced herein. Except as may 
otherwise be expressly set forth in this Agreement, neither COLLEGE nor SITE make any 
representations, warranties, covenants, or undertakings of any kind, expressed or implied. 
 
6.    Amendments to this Agreement may be made at any time, provided, however, that any 
amendments, modifications, or alterations to this Agreement shall be effective only if they 
are made in writing and signed by both parties hereto. Further, this Agreement may not be 
assigned by either party without prior written approval of the other party. 

 
7.    No waiver or breach of any term or provision of this Agreement shall be construed to 
be, nor shall be, a waiver of any other breach of this Agreement. No waiver shall be binding 
unless the waiver is in writing and signed by the party alleged to have waived the breach.  

 
8.    In the event that any provision of this Agreement shall be held void, voidable, or 
unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining provisions of this Agreement 
shall remain in full force and effect, disregarding such unenforceable or invalid provision. 

 
9.    This Agreement is not intended to create any rights or interest for any other person or 
entity other than the SITE or the COLLEGE.  
 
10.    This Agreement will be governed by the laws of the State of Florida and shall in all 
respects be interpreted, enforced, and governed by Florida law.  

 
11.    The parties acknowledge that many student educational records are protected by the 
Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act ("FERPA"), and that student permission must be 
obtained before releasing specific Teacher Candidate data to anyone other than the COLLEGE. 
The COLLEGE agrees, upon a reasonable request by the SITE, to provide guidance to the SITE 
with respect to complying with FERPA. 

 
12.    The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that COLLEGE and SITE are each a political 
subdivision of the State of Florida. As such, the COLLEGE’s and SITE's performance under this 
Agreement, and any amendments hereto or attachments herewith, shall at all times be subject to 

Page 2195 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 6 of Clinical Experience Agreement 
 

 

any and all Florida laws, Florida regulations, and the College's Rules which are applicable to the 
COLLEGE'S operations, commitments and/or activities, relevant to this Agreement and SITE’s 
rules applicable to the SITE's operations relevant to this Agreement. The parties acknowledge 
that the COLLEGE's and/or SITE's performance under this Agreement is subject to the 
provisions and limitations of Section 762.28. Florida Statutes, the provisions and limitations of 
which are not waived, altered, or expanded by anything herein. Furthermore, nothing contained 
herein shall be construed or interpreted as: (i) denying to either party any remedy or defense 
available to each party under the laws of the State of Florida, (ii) the consent of the COLLEGE 
and/or SITE to be sued; or (iii) a waiver of sovereign immunity of the COLLEGE and/or SITE 
beyond the waiver provided in Section 768.28. F.S. As COLLEGE and SITE are political 
subdivisions of the State of Florida, this Agreement is subject to the applicable provisions of 
Florida Statutes regarding public access and other issues.  

 
13.    Both parties acknowledge and agree that as political subdivisions of the State of Florida, 
they are subject to the provisions of Chapter 119, Florida Statutes, regarding public access to 
records. The parties agree to comply with the applicable Florida Statutes as it relates the 
maintenance, generation and provision of access to all public records related to this Agreement. 

 
14.    The parties agree to keep a current written record of the specific SITEs where Teacher 
Candidates are actually placed. 

 
 

VII.           DISPUTES RESOLUTION 
 
1.    The parties agree to periodically review and discuss the operation of the Agreement to 
ensure that each party's objectives hereunder are being satisfied. The parties shall confer as 
otherwise necessary to the administration of this Agreement.  
 
2.    In cases of conflict between a Teacher Candidate and a Cooperating Teacher that cannot be 
resolved, an appeal shall be made to the COLLEGE Faculty Supervisor. If resolution is not 
achieved, an appeal shall be made to the SITE principal or his/her designee and the COLLEGE 
administrator. If resolution is still not achieved, an appeal shall be made to the COLLEGE and 
SITE liaisons. Final resolution of conflicts, if necessary, shall be made by the SITE 
superintendent in consultation with the Dean of Education and Human Services or his/her 
designee. 
 
 
VIII.         TERMS; TERMINATION; NOTICE 
 
1.    This Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and shall remain in effect for five (5) 
years, unless sooner terminated by either party in accordance with this section. Either party may 
terminate this Agreement without cause by giving ninety (90) days' prior written notice to the 
other party of its intention to terminate. Notwithstanding any such termination, all Teacher 
Candidates already enrolled in and participating in education experiences at SITE at the time of 
the notice of termination shall be given a period of time not to exceed six (6) months from the 
date of the notice of termination during which to complete their education experiences at SITE.  

Page 2196 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 7 of Clinical Experience Agreement 
 

 

 
 2.    Any notice given under this Agreement may be given by personal delivery, overnight air 
express, or certified United States mail, return receipt requested. Notice shall be deemed to be 
given either (a) upon actual receipt, if notice is by personal delivery or by overnight air express; 
or (b) five (5) business days after mailing, if the notice is by United States mail, return receipt 
requested. Notice under this Agreement shall be given in writing to the parties at the addresses 
stated below, or to such other persons or places as either party may from time to time designate 
by written notice to the other party. 
 
 
 

If to the COLLEGE:       

Name: Dr. Brian Dopson  
Title: Interim Dean of Education and Human Services 
College/Institution: Florida State College at Jacksonville 
Address: 101West State Street 
City, State Zip: Jacksonville, FL 32202 
 

If to the SITE: 

Name: Dr. Jennifer Shepard 
Title: Director 
Site: Clay County District Schools 
Address: 900 Walnut Street 
City, State Zip: Green Cove Springs, FL  32043 
 
 
 
  

Page 2197 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 8 of Clinical Experience Agreement 
 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the Effective 
Date with the full intent to be bound by the provisions hereof. 
 
 
COLLEGE: FLORIDA STATE COLLEGE AT JACKONVILLE    
       
 
By (Signature): ___________________________________ 
 
Name: Dr. Brian Dopson      
 
Title: Interim Dean of Education and Human Services  
 
Date: ___________________________________  
 
 
SITE: The School Board of Clay County, Florida       
   
By (Signature): 
  
Name:  
    
Title: Board Chair 
 
Date: 
 

Page 2198 of 2427

DRAFT



SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

INSURER F :

INSURER E :

INSURER D :

INSURER C :

INSURER B :

INSURER A :

NAIC #

NAME:
CONTACT

(A/C, No):
FAX

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

PRODUCER

(A/C, No, Ext):
PHONE

INSURED

REVISION NUMBER:CERTIFICATE NUMBER:COVERAGES

IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

OTHER:

(Per accident)

(Ea accident)

$

$

N / A

SUBR
WVD

ADDL
INSD

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

$

$

$

$PROPERTY DAMAGE

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

AUTOS ONLY

AUTOSAUTOS ONLY
NON-OWNED

SCHEDULEDOWNED

ANY AUTO

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

Y / N

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory in NH)

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below
If yes, describe under

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE

$

$

$

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

ER
OTH-

STATUTE
PER

LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EXP

(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EFF

POLICY NUMBERTYPE OF INSURANCELTR
INSR

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

EXCESS LIAB

UMBRELLA LIAB $EACH OCCURRENCE

$AGGREGATE

$

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

DED RETENTION $

$PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

$GENERAL AGGREGATE

$PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

$MED EXP (Any one person)

$EACH OCCURRENCE
DAMAGE TO RENTED

$PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

POLICY
PRO-
JECT LOC

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

CANCELLATION

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03)

© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

HIRED
AUTOS ONLY

6/25/2025

Arthur J. Gallagher Risk Management Services, LLC
200 South Orange Avenue
Orlando FL 32801

407-370-2320 407-370-3057

United Educators Ins, a Reciprocal Risk Retention 10020
FLORSTA-02 Midwest Employers Casualty Company 23612

Florida State College at Jacksonville
501 West State Street
Jacksonville FL 32202

674583685

A X 1,000,000
X

3,200,000
X
X $200,000 SIR

L4086W 3/1/2025 3/1/2026

SIR (incl in Limit) 200,000
A 1,000,000

X
X X
X $200,000 SIR

L4086W 3/1/2025 3/1/2026

SIR (Incl in Limit) 200,000

B X

N

EWC010316 3/1/2025 3/1/2027

1,000,000

1,000,000

1,000,000

General Liability and Auto Liability is subject to $200,000 self-insured retention, per occurrence. Workers' Compensation Employers Liability is subject to
$600,000 self-insured retention.
Evidence of Insurance

School Board of Clay County
900 Walnut Street
Green Cove Spring, FL 32043

Page 2199 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

September 4, 2025 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C10 - Affiliation Agreement between Clay County District Schools and St. Johns River State College.

Description
This agreement is between Clay County District Schools and St. Johns River State College for SJRSC students to participate in
internships, practicums, and observations under the direction of a certified educator in Clay County schools.

Gap Analysis
Without this agreement, interns and pre-interns cannot be placed in Clay County District Schools and would thereby prevent
potential teacher candidates from choosing Clay to begin their career.

Previous Outcomes
Clay County District Schools currently has agreements with 28 Colleges/Universities, and the current agreement with SJRSC is
expiring.  This agreement is a renewal of the previous contract.  No changes have been made between the previous contract and
this renewal contract. 

Expected Outcomes
Placement of interns provides teacher candidates with real-world experiences that better prepares them for the rigors of
classroom teaching.  SJRCC requests placement for multiple interns each year.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 2: Talent Recruitment, Development, and Retention
 
Strategy 1.1: Develop strategic partnerships with organizations and universities to source new talent for a diverse workforce that
is effective and highly-qualified for non-instructional, instructional, and administrative positions throughout CCDS

Recommendation
That the Clay County School Board approve the agreement between Clay County District Schools and St. Johns River State
College.

Contact
Roger Dailey,  Chief Academic Officer, 904.336.6904  roger.dailey@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
$0

Review Comments

Attachments

260008 SJR State Student Teaching Affiliation Agreement.pdf

Page 2200 of 2427

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/260008-sjr-state-student-teaching-affiliation-agreement.pdf


PUR 1-3501 E. 10/05/2023   Contract Review Process for ALL Contracts, September 2022, SBAO (web) 

FOLLOW ALL PROCEDURES ON BACK OF THIS FORM
  Contract #______________________ 

Number Assigned by Purchasing Dept.   

BOARD MEETING DATE:

WHEN BOARD APPROVAL IS REQUIRED DO  
NOT PLACE ITEM ON AGENDA UNTIL  

REVIEW IS COMPLETED 
 Must Have Board Approval over $100,000.00 

Date Submitted: 
Name of Contract Initiator:      Telephone #: 
School/Dept Submitting Contract:   Cost Center # 
Vendor Name: 
Contract Title:

Contract Term:    Renewal Option(s): 
Contract Cost: 
 BUDGETED FUNDS – SEND CONTRACT PACKAGE DIRECTLY TO PURCHASING DEPT

  Funding Source:   Budget Line #_________________________________________________________________ 
  Funding Source:   Budget Line #_________________________________________________________________ 

 NO COST MASTER (COUNTY WIDE) CONTRACT  - SEND CONTRACT PACKAGE DIRECTLY TO PURCHASING DEPT

 INTERNAL ACCOUNT -  IF FUNDED FROM SCHOOL IA FUNDS – SEND CONTRACT PACKAGE DIRECTLY TO SBAO
 REQUIRED DOCUMENTS FOR CONTRACT REVIEW PACKAGE  (when applicable): 
______ Completed Contract Review Form 
______ SBAO Template Contract or other Contract (NOT SIGNED by District / School) 
______ SIGNED Addendum A (if not an SBAO Template Contract) - When using the Addendum A, this Statement MUST BE included in the body of the Contract: 
               “The terms and conditions of Addendum A are hereby incorporated into this Agreement and the same shall govern and prevail over any conflicting terms and/or 
                conditions herein stated.” 
______ Certificate of Insurance (COI) for General Liability & Workers’ Compensation that meet these requirements: 
               COI must list the School Board of Clay County, Florida as an Additional Insured and Certificate Holder.  Insurer must be rated as A- or better. 

   General Liability = $1,000,000 Each Occurrence & $2,000,000 General Aggregate. 
   Auto Liability = $1,000,000 Combined Single Limit ($5,000,000 for Charter Buses). 
  Workers’ Compensation = $100,000 Minimum 

[If exempt from Workers’ Compensation Insurance, vendor/contractor must sign a Release and Hold Harmless Form.  If not exempt, vendor/contractor 
must provide Workers’ Compensation coverage]. 

______ State of Florida Workers Comp Exemption (https://apps.fldfs.com/bocexempt/) (If Applicable) 
 
 

______ Release and Hold Harmless (If Applicable) 
 

 **AREA BELOW FOR DISTRICT PERSONNEL ONLY ** 
CONTRACT REVIEWED BY: COMMENTS BELOW BY REVIEWING DEPARTMENT 

Purchasing Department    

Review Date 

_______________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________ 

School Board Attorney   

Review Date 

_______________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________ 

Other Dept. as Necessary 

Review Date 

_______________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________ 
_______________________________________________________________________ 

PENDING STATUS:  YES    NO IF YES, HIGHLIGHTED COMMENTS ABOVE MUST BE CORRECTED BY INITIATOR 

FINAL STATUS  DATE:______________________ 

CONTRACT REVIEW 

Contract Type:   New □   Renewal □   Amendment □     Extension □      Previous Year Contract # 

07/07/2025

9043366951Jennifer Shepard
Professional Learning 9009

St Johns River State College
St Johns River State College Student Teaching Affiliation Agreement 

7/1/2025-7/31/2028
$0

220134

JPS
7/22

Legally sufficient. 

No Cost

260008

Pending Signatures

Page 2201 of 2427

DRAFT



PUR 1-3501 E. 10/05/2023   Contract Review Process for ALL Contracts, September 2022, SBAO (web) 

CONTRACT REVIEW PROCESS FOR “ALL” CONTRACTS 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Step 1: Contract Initiator and Vendor prepare draft contract 
              (School Board Attorney Office (SBAO) Template Contracts available on SBAO webpage are strongly encouraged) 

Step 2: Complete Contract Review Form, attach Required Documents to include the UNSIGNED Contract by the District / School. 
             
 

Step 3: If Funded by Budgeted Funds, submit the Contract Review Package to the Purchasing Department.  
             Purchasing will begin the contract review process and submit the contract to the SBAO for review. SBAO may reach out to                    
             Initiator and/or other Departments (Risk, IT,) with questions or concerns and will assist with contract revisions.  SBAO 
             will send the Contract Review Package back to the Purchasing Department for final processing and the return to Initiator. 
 
             Purchasing will log “District” Contracts (Cost/No Cost) on Contract Review Log and save copy of the Contract Review 
             Package PLUS the Final Signed Contract you’ve return to Purchasing in the Contract Review Team Drive.  

Step 5: The Initiator is responsible for finalizing the Contract which includes:  
             Addressing Comments/Revisions, Obtaining Required Signatures, Send District Final Signed Contract to Purchasing OR  
             Retain Internal Accounts Final Signed Contract at School per School Board Record Policy. 
 

             If there is a Cost associated with Contract, the Initiator must work with their Bookkeeper to finalize the Purchasing Process. 
                      Budgeted Funds require a District Purchase Order.   Internal Accounts require an IA Purchase Order. 

Step 4:  If Funded by Internal Account (IA), submit the Contract Review Package directly to SBAO.  
              Email:  contractreview@myoneclay.net 
             The SBAO will begin the contract review process and return it directly to Initiator  

For Contracts using Budgeted Funds or For No Cost / Master (County Wide) Contracts: 
Initiator submits Contract Review Package to Purchasing Department - See Step 3 

 

For Contracts using Internal Funds Individual to each School: 
 Initiator submits Contract Review Package direct to SBAO - See Step 4 
 

A contract is defined as an agreement between two or more parties that is intended to have legal effect. This may include MOUs, 
Interlocal Agreements, Service Agreements and Contracts.  Contracts document the mutual understanding between the parties as to 
the terms and conditions of their agreement, contain mutual obligations, and clearly state the agreement's consideration. The term 
consideration includes the cost of the services and/or products to be provided by second party (vendor or service provider) and any 
non-monetary performance. No school, department, or other organizational unit has authority to contract in its own name. All Board 
contracts must be made in the legal name of the Board, "The School Board of Clay County, Florida". The School or Department may 
extend this name to include the school or department as follows, "The School Board of Clay County, Florida o/b/o ________________ 
(insert the school or department name)" where o/b/o means "on behalf of". 
 
All contracts shall be reviewed and approved by the School Board Attorney and/or the Supervisor of Purchasing 
to ensure legality, compliance with Board policy, and to ensure the Board interests are protected before the 
authorized signatory may execute the contract. 
 
All contracts having a value of $100,000 or more shall be authorized by the Board at a regular or special meeting and signed by the 
Board Chairman.  All approved contracts having a value of less than $100,000 may be executed by the Superintendent or appropriate 
District administrator based on the value of the contract.  

1. All approved contracts having a value of $50,000 or more, but less than $100,000 shall be signed by the Superintendent, or 
the   person who has been designated, in writing by the Superintendent, as the Superintendent’s Designee at the time of the 
contract signing. All contracts executed pursuant to this subparagraph shall be reported to the School Board in a separate 
entry as part of the monthly financial report. 

2. All approved contracts having a value of $25,000 or more, but less than $50,000, shall be signed by the Superintendent, or     
       the Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs. 
3. All approved contracts having a value of less than $25,000 and contracts of any value described in Board Authorized 

Contracts above that are exempt from the requirement for Board approval, may be signed by the Superintendent, or the 
Assistant Superintendent for their Division, or Chief Officers, or Directors, or Principals. 

4. The Superintendent is authorized to approve contract amendments or change orders for the purchase of commodities and 
services up to the amount of ten (10) percent or $50,000, whichever is less, of the original contract amount that was 
previously approved by the Board. 

 

Employees who enter into agreements without authority may be personally liable for such agreements, whether oral or written. 
 

For assistance with legal-related matters, please visit the School Board Attorney’s Office (“SBAO”) webpage or call 904-336-6507 
For assistance with insurance-related matters, please visit the Business Affairs - Risk Management webpage or call 904-336-6745 
For assistance with District Purchasing, please visit the Business Affairs - Purchasing webpage or call 904-336-6736 

Page 2202 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2203 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2204 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2205 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2206 of 2427

DRAFT



SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

INSURER F :

INSURER E :

INSURER D :

INSURER C :

INSURER B :

INSURER A :

NAIC #

NAME:
CONTACT

(A/C, No):
FAX

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

PRODUCER

(A/C, No, Ext):
PHONE

INSURED

REVISION NUMBER:CERTIFICATE NUMBER:COVERAGES

IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

OTHER:

(Per accident)

(Ea accident)

$

$

N / A

SUBR
WVD

ADDL
INSD

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

$

$

$

$PROPERTY DAMAGE

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

AUTOS ONLY

AUTOSAUTOS ONLY
NON-OWNED

SCHEDULEDOWNED

ANY AUTO

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

Y / N

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory in NH)

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below
If yes, describe under

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE

$

$

$

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

ER
OTH-

STATUTE
PER

LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EXP

(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EFF

POLICY NUMBERTYPE OF INSURANCELTR
INSR

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

EXCESS LIAB

UMBRELLA LIAB $EACH OCCURRENCE

$AGGREGATE

$

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

DED RETENTION $

$PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

$GENERAL AGGREGATE

$PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

$MED EXP (Any one person)

$EACH OCCURRENCE
DAMAGE TO RENTED

$PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

POLICY
PRO-
JECT LOC

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

CANCELLATION

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03)

© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

HIRED
AUTOS ONLY

3/5/2025

Arthur J. Gallagher Risk Management Services, LLC
200 South Orange Avenue
Orlando FL 32801

407-370-2320 407-370-3057

Safety National Casualty Corporation 15105
FLORCOL-01

St. Johns River State College
5001 St. Johns Avenue
Palatka, FL 32177-3897

2019289257

A X 5,000,000
X 50,000

-

Included

10,000,000
X
X $500,000 SIR

XPR4069250 3/1/2025 3/1/2026

10,000,000

A 5,000,000

X
X X
X $500,000 SIR

XPR4069250 3/1/2025 3/1/2026

A XSP4068114 3/1/2025 3/1/2026

2,000,000

2,000,000

2,000,000

WC - Statutory - Excess of $750,000 Self Insured Retention.
Certificate Holder is included as Additional Insured as respects to General Liability coverage, when required by written contract, to the extent of such obligation,
for claims arising out of the Named lnsured's operations, per policy forms.

Internships for our Teacher Education students.

Clay County School Board
900 Walnut Street
Green Cove Springs FL 32043
USA

Page 2207 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

September 4, 2025 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C11 - 2025-2026 Uniform Statewide Assessment Calendar

Description
Per Rule 6A-1.094224, districts must add their district information to the uniform assessment calendar for the school year,
submit the calendar for district school board approval, and then publish the approved, populated uniform assessment calendar on
the district’s website and submit it to the state department of education.

Gap Analysis
Approval of this agenda item will satisfy the district's obligations to approve a uniform assessment calendar to submit to the
state.

Previous Outcomes
The board approved the 2024-2025 Uniform Statewide Assessment Calendar on September 5, 2024.

Expected Outcomes
The district will provide organized and structured implementation of state and local assessments in order to gather actionable
data on which to base instructional decisions tailored to student’s individual needs.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 1: Student Success

Recommendation
That the School Board will approve the 2025-2026 Uniform Assessment Calendar.

Contact
Rodney Ivey, District Assessment Coordinator, 904-336-9639, rodney.ivey@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

K12UniformAssessmentCalendar2526 July 2025.pdf

2025-2026 District Assessment Information.pdf

Page 2208 of 2427

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/k12uniformassessmentcalendar2526-july-2025.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/2025-2026-district-assessment-information.pdf


2025–26 Uniform Statewide Assessment Calendar 

Rule 6A-1.094224, F.A.C. 
Form ARM 001 
Effective August 2025 
Updated July 18, 2025                 1 

According to Section (s.) 1008.22(7)(b), Florida Statutes (F.S.), and State Board of Education Rule 6A-1.094224, Florida Administrative Code (F.A.C.), the uniform assessment 
calendar must be published on the Florida Department of Education (FDOE) website by January of each year for, at a minimum, the following two school years. Prior to posting, 
FDOE will complete sections 1 through 4 with the appropriate information. 

Each school district must then complete the uniform calendar with district-required assessment information, publish the calendar to the district website, and provide it to the 
FDOE by October 1 of each school year. Districts must provide completed calendars to schools and include the calendar in their parent guides. In addition, each school must 
publish the completed calendar on its website. 

The statewide assessment information provided by the Department in sections 1 through 4 should not be altered; however, districts may otherwise modify and populate this 
template to accurately indicate their assessment schedules for the school year. 

1. Glossary of Assessment Terms  
The following glossary includes definitions of assessment terms and explanations of acronyms used throughout this template. The FDOE will populate this section with state-
level terms in addition to those specified in s. 1008.22(7)(i), F.S. Districts may add rows as needed for additional glossary terms that are specific to district-required assessments 
but should not modify any FDOE-provided information.  

Acronym/Term Definition  
WIDA ACCESS  Assessment to measure English language acquisition of English Language Learners (ELLs). 
Accommodation Per Rule 6A-1.0943, F.A.C., “Accommodations are defined as adjustments to the presentation of the statewide, standardized assessment 

questions, methods of recording examinee responses to the questions, scheduling for the administration of a statewide, standardized 
assessment to include amount of time for administration, settings for administration of a statewide, standardized assessment, and the use of 
assistive technology or devices to facilitate the student’s participation in a statewide standardized assessment.” 

ASVAB Armed Services Vocational Aptitude Battery 
B.E.S.T. Benchmarks for Excellent Student Thinking 
CBT Computer-Based Test 
CLT Classic Learning Test 
Concordant and Comparative 
Scores 

Concordant and comparative scores refer to scores that have been determined by establishing a relationship between assessments that 
measure similar (but not identical) constructs, such as the Algebra 1 End-of-Course Assessment and the SAT. In statute, concordant refers to 
scores associated with the ELA assessment and comparative refers to scores associated with the Algebra 1 assessment. A student can meet 
assessment graduation requirements by earning a concordant or comparative score, as specified in Rule 6A-1.09422, F.A.C. 

Diagnostic Assessments that measure students’ understanding of a subject area or skills base, which allow teachers and educators to evaluate student 
learning, focusing on strengths and areas of need. 

District Window The selected dates within the statewide window during which a district will administer a given assessment.  
District-Required Assessments Assessments required by the school district for students in a specific grade or course. 
ELA English Language Arts 
EOC End-of-Course 

Page 2209 of 2427

DRAFT



2025–26 Uniform Statewide Assessment Calendar 

Rule 6A-1.094224, F.A.C. 
Form ARM 001 
Effective August 2025 
Updated July 18, 2025                 2 

Acronym/Term Definition  
Evaluative Assessments that measure student proficiency at selected intervals in order to compare change over time and to compare state-level results. 
FAA Florida Alternate Assessment; The FAA—Datafolio is designed to provide meaningful information about students with the most significant 

cognitive disabilities who typically do not have a formal mode of communication and are working at pre-academic levels. The FAA—
Performance Task is a performance-based assessment for students with the most significant cognitive disabilities aligned to the state’s 
alternate academic achievement standards. 

FAST Florida Assessment of Student Thinking 
FCLE Florida Civic Literacy Exam 
Formative Formative assessments are the formal and informal ways that teachers and students gather and respond to evidence of student learning. 

Formative assessments are part of teaching in the classroom. Formative assessments will not result in a score that will appear on a student's 
report card, but they serve the greater purpose of informing both students and teachers on what changes need to happen in classroom 
instruction to better serve the needs of individual students. 

Interim Interim assessments are administered on a smaller scale (i.e., school or district) with results that can be used at the classroom level or 
aggregated at the school- or district-level. Depending on the design, interim assessments can be used to predict a student’s ability to succeed 
on a summative assessment, to evaluate a program, or to diagnose student learning gaps. 

NAEP National Assessment of Educational Progress 
PBT Paper-Based Test 
PM1 The baseline administration of FAST progress monitoring in the beginning of the school year. 
PM2 The midyear administration of FAST progress monitoring in the middle of the school year. 
PM3 The summative administration of FAST progress monitoring at the end of the school year; the statewide, standardized ELA assessment for 

students in grades 3 through 10 and the statewide, standardized Mathematics assessment for students in grades 3 through 8. 
Progress Monitoring The process used to determine whether a student’s academic performance is improving, at what rate it is improving, and how effective 

instruction has been. In accordance with s. 1008.25(9)(b)1., F.S., the progress monitoring assessments for VPK through grade 2 must be 
administered at least three times within a program year or school year, as applicable, with the first administration occurring no later than the 
first 30 instructional days after a student’s enrollment or the start of the program or school year, the second administration occurring midyear, 
and the third administration occurring within the last 30 days of the program or school year. In accordance with s. 1008.25(9)(b)2., F.S., the 
progress monitoring assessments for grades 3 through 10 must be administered at the beginning, middle, and end of the school year. 

PSAT/NMSQT Preliminary SAT/National Merit Scholarship Qualifying Test 
Summative Assessments that evaluate student mastery of Florida’s state academic standards at or near the conclusion of the course of instruction. 
Statewide, Standardized 
Assessments 

All assessments required by s. 1008.22, F.S. 

Statewide Window The range of dates during which districts and/or schools may choose to administer a given assessment. 
Testing Time The amount of time individual students are each given to respond to test items on each test. 
VPK Florida’s Voluntary Prekindergarten Education Program 
 
 

Page 2210 of 2427

DRAFT



2025–26 Uniform Statewide Assessment Calendar 

Rule 6A-1.094224, F.A.C. 
Form ARM 001 
Effective August 2025 
Updated July 18, 2025                 3 

2. Test, Type, and Purpose/Use 
FDOE will populate this section with information related to state-level tests. Districts may add rows as needed to define district-required tests, test type, and their purpose/use 
in the district, but they should not modify any FDOE-provided information. If additional types are added, define applicable types in the glossary. 

Test Type Purpose/Required Use Statutory Authority/Required Use Citation 

WIDA ACCESS  Diagnostic Measure English language acquisition of ELLs s. 1003.56, F.S. 
Rule 6A-6.0902, F.A.C. 
Rule 6A-6.09021, F.A.C. 
Rule 6A-6.0903, F.A.C. 
Rule 6A-1.09432, F.A.C 

WIDA Alternate ACCESS Diagnostic Measure English language acquisition of ELLs with the most 
significant cognitive disabilities  

ACT Summative Inform course placement; can be used as a concordant or 
comparative score to meet assessment graduation requirements; 
provide postsecondary opportunities 

s. 1008.22, F.S. 
Rule 6A-1.09422, F.A.C. 
Rule 6A-10.0315, F.A.C. 
Rule 6A-20.028, F.A.C. 

ASVAB Evaluative Determine whether a student is qualified to enlist in the military 
and to assign an appropriate military job 

s. 1003.451, F.S. 
s. 1008.34, F.S. 
Rule 6A-1.09981, F.A.C. 

CLT Summative Inform course placement; can be used as a concordant or 
comparative score to meet assessment graduation requirements; 
provide postsecondary opportunities 

s. 1008.22, F.S. 
Rule 6A-1.09422, F.A.C. 
Rule 6A-10.0315, F.A.C. 
Rule 6A-20.028, F.A.C. 

CLT10 Summative Inform course placement; can be used as a concordant or 
comparative score to meet assessment graduation requirements 

s. 1007.35, F.S. 
s. 1008.22, F.S. 
Rule 6A-1.09422, F.A.C. 
Rule 6A-10.0315, F.A.C. 

FAST PM1 and PM2 Diagnostic/Progress Monitoring Provides information in mastering the appropriate grade-level 
standards and provides information on students’ progress to 
parents, teachers, and school and program administrators. Used to 
provide data for accountability of the Voluntary Prekindergarten 
Education Program. 

s. 1002.68, F.S. 
s. 1008.25(9), F.S. 
Rule 6M-8.601, F.A.C. 

FCLE Summative If passed, exempts students from the postsecondary civic literacy 
assessment requirement established by s. 1007.25(5), F.S. 

s. 1003.4282(3)(d), F.S. 
s. 1007.25(5)(b), F.S. 

B.E.S.T. Writing Summative Purpose: statewide, standardized assessments, including FAST 
PM3, measure student achievement of Florida’s state academic 
standards  
Required uses: third grade retention; high school standard 

s. 1002.38, F.S. 
s. 1002.394, F.S. 
s. 1002.395, F.S. 
s. 1002.40, F.S. 

EOC Summative 
FAST PM3 Progress Monitoring/Summative 
FAA—Performance Task Summative 

Page 2211 of 2427

DRAFT



2025–26 Uniform Statewide Assessment Calendar 

Rule 6A-1.094224, F.A.C. 
Form ARM 001 
Effective August 2025 
Updated July 18, 2025                 4 

Test Type Purpose/Required Use Statutory Authority/Required Use Citation 

FAA—Datafolio Portfolio diploma; EOC assessments as 30% of course grade; school grades; 
school improvement ratings; district grades; School Improvement; 
Federal Percent of Points Index (FPPI); Value-Added Model (VAM); 
Scholar designation; Credit Acceleration Program; school 
improvement plans; school, district, state and federal reporting; 
assessment provisions for students in scholarship programs and 
stationed on military bases; New Worlds Reading Initiative; 
Reading Achievement Initiative for Scholastic Excellence (RAISE) 
Program 

s. 1002.45, F.S. 
s. 1002.68, F.S. 
s. 1003.4156, F.S. 
s. 1003.4282, F.S. 
s. 1003.4285, F.S. 
s. 1003.433, F.S. 
s. 1003.485, F.S. 
s. 1004.04, F.S. 
s. 1004.85, F.S. 
s. 1008.212, F.S. 
s. 1008.213, F.S. 
s. 1008.22, F.S. 
s. 1008.25, F.S. 
s. 1008.33, F.S. 
s. 1008.34, F.S. 
s. 1008.341, F.S. 
s. 1008.3415, F.S. 
s. 1008.345, F.S. 
s. 1008.365, F.S. 
s. 1012.34, F.S. 
s. 1012.56, F.S. 
Rule 6A-1.09422, F.A.C. 
Rule 6A-1.094221, F.A.C. 
Rule 6A-1.094222, F.A.C. 
Rule 6A-1.0943, F.A.C. 
Rule 6A-1.09432, F.A.C. 
Rule 6A-1.09981, F.A.C. 
Rule 6A-1.099811, F.A.C. 
Rule 6A-1.099822, F.A.C. 
Rule 6A-1.099828, F.A.C. 
Rule 6A-5.0411, F.A.C. 
Rule 6A-6.0531, F.A.C. 
Rule 6A-6.0532, F.A.C. 

Statewide Science 
Assessment 

Summative 

NAEP Evaluative Measure student performance for comparison among state and 
national populations over time 

s. 1008.22, F.S. 

PreACT Summative Inform course placement; can be used as a concordant or 
comparative score to meet assessment graduation requirements  

s. 1007.35, F.S. 
s. 1008.22, F.S. 

Page 2212 of 2427

DRAFT



2025–26 Uniform Statewide Assessment Calendar 

Rule 6A-1.094224, F.A.C. 
Form ARM 001 
Effective August 2025 
Updated July 18, 2025                 5 

Test Type Purpose/Required Use Statutory Authority/Required Use Citation 

Rule 6A-1.09422, F.A.C. 
Rule 6A-10.0315, F.A.C. 

PSAT/NMSQT Summative Inform course placement; can be used as a concordant or 
comparative score to meet graduation requirements 

s. 1007.35, F.S. 
s. 1008.22, F.S. 
Rule 6A-1.09422, F.A.C. 
Rule 6A-10.0315, F.A.C. 

SAT Summative Inform course placement; can be used as a concordant or 
comparative score to meet assessment graduation requirements; 
provide postsecondary opportunities 

s. 1008.22, F.S. 
Rule 6A-1.09422, F.A.C. 
Rule 6A-10.0315, F.A.C. 
Rule 6A-20.028, F.A.C. 

3. Required Statewide Assessments  
The following assessments are required for students as indicated in the Students to Be Tested column. FDOE will complete this section with the required statewide 
assessments. Districts should then populate the District Window column for each assessment in the table but should not modify any FDOE-provided information.  

When calculating total test time in Section 6, do not include times for assessments indicated by grey rows, which indicate duplicate assessment windows (e.g., EOCs), 
assessments that take the place of another assessment, or assessments that do not have a specified testing time. 

Assessment Students to Be Tested Statewide Window District Window Mode Testing Time Results Expected 

VPK FAST PM1 Students enrolled in 
VPK 

First 30 instructional 
days after a student’s 
enrollment or the start 
of a program year or 
school year 

08/11/2025 – 
09/22/2025 CBT 10–20 minutes Immediately following 

test completion 

FAST PM1 Kindergarten–Grade 1 
ELA Reading1 

August 4–September 26, 
2025 

08/11/2025 – 
09/20/2025 CBT2 10–20 minutes Immediately following 

test completion 

FAST PM1 Grade 2 ELA Reading1 August 4–September 26, 
2025 

08/11/2025 – 
09/20/2025 CBT2 15–20 minutes Immediately following 

test completion 

FAST PM1 Kindergarten–Grade 2 
Mathematics1 

August 4–September 26, 
2025 

08/11/2025 – 
09/20/2025 CBT2 20–30 minutes Immediately following 

test completion 

FAST PM1 Grades 3–10 ELA 
Reading 

August 11–September 
26, 2025 

08/11/2025 – 
09/20/2025 CBT2 90 minutes3 Immediately following 

test completion 

FAST PM1 Grades 3–5 
Mathematics 

August 11–September 
26, 2025 

08/11/2025 – 
09/20/2025 CBT2 80 minutes3 Immediately following 

test completion 

Page 2213 of 2427

DRAFT



2025–26 Uniform Statewide Assessment Calendar 

Rule 6A-1.094224, F.A.C. 
Form ARM 001 
Effective August 2025 
Updated July 18, 2025                 6 

Assessment Students to Be Tested Statewide Window District Window Mode Testing Time Results Expected 

FAST PM1 Grades 6–8 
Mathematics 

August 11–September 
26, 2025 

08/11/2025 – 
09/20/2025 CBT2 100 minutes3 Immediately following 

test completion 

FAA—Datafolio4 

Grades 3–10 ELA 
(Reading and Writing); 
Grades 3–8 
Mathematics; Grades 
5 and 8 Science; and 
Algebra 1, Biology 1, 
Civics, Geometry, and 
U.S. History EOCs 

Collection Period 1: 
September–October 
2025 

09/2025 – 10/2025 PBT Varies/Untimed June 2026 

PSAT/NMSQT7 
Grade 10 students in 
districts that selected 
PSAT/NMSQT 

October 2025  CBT/PBT 134 minutes 4–6 weeks after testing 

PreACT7 
Grade 10 students in 
districts that selected 
PreACT 

October 2025–April 
2026 

 
CBT/PBT 150 minutes Approximately 2 weeks 

after testing 

FAA—Datafolio4 

Grades 3–10 ELA 
(Reading and Writing); 
Grades 3–8 
Mathematics; Grades 
5 and 8 Science; and 
Algebra 1, Biology 1, 
Civics, Geometry, and 
U.S. History EOCs 

Collection Period 2: 
November–December 
2025 

11/2025 – 12/2025 PBT Varies/Untimed June 2026 

FCLE Students enrolled in 
associated courses 

November 3–December 
19, 2025 

11/03/2025 – 
12/19/2025 CBT2 160 minutes5 Immediately following 

test completion 

VPK FAST PM2 Students enrolled in 
VPK Midyear 11/21/2025 – 

02/04/2026 CBT 10–20 minutes Immediately following 
test completion 

FAST PM2 Kindergarten–Grade 1 
ELA Reading 

December 1, 2025–
January 23, 2026 

12/01/2025 – 
01/23/2026 CBT2 10–20 minutes Immediately following 

test completion 

FAST PM2 Grade 2 ELA Reading December 1, 2025–
January 23, 2026 

12/01/2025 – 
01/23/2026 CBT2 15–20 minutes Immediately following 

test completion 

FAST PM2 Kindergarten–Grade 2 
Mathematics 

December 1, 2025–
January 23, 2026 

12/01/2025 – 
01/23/2026 CBT2 20–30 minutes Immediately following 

test completion 

FAST PM2 Grades 3–10 ELA 
Reading 

December 1, 2025–
January 23, 2026 

12/01/2025 – 
01/23/2026 CBT2 90 minutes3 Immediately following 

test completion 

Page 2214 of 2427

DRAFT



2025–26 Uniform Statewide Assessment Calendar 

Rule 6A-1.094224, F.A.C. 
Form ARM 001 
Effective August 2025 
Updated July 18, 2025                 7 

Assessment Students to Be Tested Statewide Window District Window Mode Testing Time Results Expected 

FAST PM2 Grades 3–5 
Mathematics 

December 1, 2025–
January 23, 2026 

12/01/2025 – 
01/23/2026 CBT2 80 minutes3 Immediately following 

test completion 

FAST PM2 Grades 6–8 
Mathematics 

December 1, 2025–
January 23, 2026 

12/01/2025 – 
01/23/2026 CBT2 100 minutes3 Immediately following 

test completion 

FAA—Datafolio4 

Grades 3–10 ELA 
(Reading and Writing); 
Grades 3–8 
Mathematics; Grades 
5 and 8 Science; and 
Algebra 1, Biology 1, 
Civics, Geometry, and 
U.S. History EOCs 

Collection Period 3: 
February–March 2026 02/2026 – 03/2026 PBT Varies/Untimed June 2026 

CLT107 
Grade 10 students in 
districts that selected 
CLT10 

February 3–4, 2026 
April 22–23, 2026  PBT/CBT 120 minutes Within 3 weeks 

FAA—Performance Task6 

Grades 3–8 ELA and 
Mathematics; Grades 
4–8 Writing; Grades 5 
and 8 Science; and 
Civics EOC 

March 2–April 17, 2026 03/02/2026 – 
04/10/2026 PBT Varies/Untimed June 2026 

ACT7 
Grade 11 students in 
districts that selected 
ACT 

March–April 2026  PBT/CBT 175 minutes 3–8 weeks after test 
administration 

CLT7 
Grade 11 students in 
districts that selected 
CLT 

March–April 2026  PBT/CBT 120 minutes Within 3 weeks 

SAT7 
Grade 11 students in 
districts that selected 
SAT 

March–April 2026  CBT 134 minutes 2–4 weeks after test 
administration 

FAA—Performance Task6 

Grades 9 and 10 ELA; 
Grades 9 and 10 
Writing; and Algebra 
1, Biology 1, 
Geometry, and U.S. 
History EOCs 

March 9–April 24, 2026 03/09/2026 – 
04/24/2026 PBT Varies/Untimed June 2026 

Page 2215 of 2427

DRAFT



2025–26 Uniform Statewide Assessment Calendar 

Rule 6A-1.094224, F.A.C. 
Form ARM 001 
Effective August 2025 
Updated July 18, 2025                 8 

Assessment Students to Be Tested Statewide Window District Window Mode Testing Time Results Expected 

B.E.S.T. Writing Grades 4–10 March 30–April 10, 2026 03/30/2026 – 
04/10/2026 CBT2 120 minutes5 June 2026 

FCLE Students enrolled in 
associated courses March 30–May 29, 2026 03/30/2026 – 

05/29/2026 CBT2 160 minutes5 Immediately following 
test completion 

VPK FAST PM3 Students enrolled in 
VPK 

The last 30 days of the 
program or school year 

04/17/2026 – 
05/29/2026 CBT 10–20 minutes Immediately following 

test completion 

FAST PM3 Kindergarten ELA 
Reading8 April 13–May 29, 2026 04/13/2026 – 

05/29/2026 CBT2 10–20 minutes Immediately following 
test completion 

FAST PM3 Grades 1–2 ELA 
Reading8 April 13–May 29, 2026 04/13/2026 – 

05/29/2026 CBT2 15–20 minutes Immediately following 
test completion 

FAST PM3 Kindergarten –Grade 
2 Mathematics8 April 13–May 29, 2026 04/13/2026 – 

05/29/2026 CBT2 20–30 minutes Immediately following 
test completion 

FAST PM3 Grades 3–10 ELA 
Reading May 1–29, 2026 05/01/2026 – 

05/29/2026 CBT2 120 minutes3 Immediately following 
test completion 

FAST PM3 Grades 3–5 
Mathematics May 1–29, 2026 05/01/2026 – 

05/29/2026 CBT2 100 minutes3 Immediately following 
test completion 

FAST PM3 Grades 6–8 
Mathematics May 1–29, 2026 05/01/2026 – 

05/29/2026 CBT2 120 minutes3 Immediately following 
test completion 

Algebra 1, Geometry, 
Biology 1, Civics, and U.S. 
History EOCs 

Students enrolled in 
associated courses May 1–29, 2026 05/01/2026 – 

05/29/2026 CBT2 160 minutes3 Immediately following 
test completion 

Statewide Science  Grades 5 and 8 May 1–29, 2026 05/01/2026 – 
05/29/2026 CBT2 120 minutes3 Immediately following 

test completion 
1 K–2 FAST assessments for PM1 must be administered within the first 30 instructional days of the school year.  
2 Paper-based accommodations (e.g., regular print, large print, braille, one-item-per-page) for computer-based tests are available to eligible students if indicated as an accommodation on an IEP or Section 504 plan. 
3 Any student who has not completed the session by the end of the allotted time may continue working; however, testing must be completed within the same school day. 
4 The FAA―Datafolio is designed for students with the most significant cognitive disabilities for whom participation in the general statewide assessment or the FAA―Performance Task is inappropriate, even with 
accommodations. 
5 Any student who has not completed the test by the end of the allotted time may continue working up to half the length of a typical school day. 
6 The FAA―Performance Task is designed for students with the most significant cognitive disabilities for whom participation in the general statewide assessment is inappropriate, even with accommodations. 
7 Each district must choose to administer the CLT10, PreACT, or PSAT/NMSQT for grade 10 and the ACT, CLT or SAT for grade 11. Complete the row for the assessments chosen by your district and then change the 
background for the assessment not chosen to gray and leave the district window cell blank. 
8 K–2 FAST assessments for PM3 must be administered within the last 30 instructional days of the school year. 

 

Page 2216 of 2427

DRAFT



2025–26 Uniform Statewide Assessment Calendar 

Rule 6A-1.094224, F.A.C. 
Form ARM 001 
Effective August 2025 
Updated July 18, 2025                 9 

4. Statewide Assessments for SELECT Students 
The following assessments are only intended for selected students/students in certain sub-groups. The FDOE will complete this section with the applicable statewide 
assessments. Districts should then populate the District Window column for the assessments in the table below but should not modify any FDOE-provided information. If an 
assessment is not being administered in your district, indicate “N/A” in the District Window column.  

Because the tests included in this section are not administered to all students or, in some cases, are optional for students, the testing time for these tests should not be 
included in the total testing time calculated in Section 6. 

Assessment Students to Be Tested3 Statewide Window District Window Mode Testing Time Results Expected 

ASVAB  August 2025–May 2026  CBT/PBT CBT: 198 minutes 
PBT: 149 minutes 

Approximately 2 weeks 
after testing 

FAST Grade 10 ELA 
Reading Retake  September 8–October 3, 

2025 
09/08/2025 – 
10/03/2025 CBT1 120 minutes2 Immediately following 

test completion 
Algebra 1, Geometry, 
Biology 1, Civics, and U.S. 
History EOCs 

 September 8–October 3, 
2025 

09/08/2025 – 
10/03/2025 CBT1 160 minutes2 Immediately following 

test completion 

FAA—Performance Task4 

Grade 10 ELA and 
Algebra 1 EOC Makeup 

 September 22–October 
10, 2025 

09/22/2025 – 
10/10/2025 PBT Varies/Untimed December 2025 

NAEP Reading and 
Mathematics 

Select grades 4 and 8 
students January–March 2026  CBT 120 minutes Fall 2026 

NAEP Civics and U.S. 
History Select grade 8 students January–March 2026  CBT 120 minutes Spring 2027 

FAST Grade 10 ELA 
Reading Retake  December 1–19, 2025 12/01/2025 – 

12/19/2025 CBT1 120 minutes2 Immediately following 
test completion 

Algebra 1, Geometry, 
Biology 1, Civics, and U.S. 
History EOCs 

 December 1–19, 2025 12/01/2025 – 
12/19/2025 CBT1 160 minutes2 Immediately following 

test completion 

WIDA ACCESS 
Kindergarten students 
currently classified as 
ELL with “LY” code 

January 12–March 13, 
2026 

01/12/2026 – 
03/13/2026 PBT 45 minutes June 2026 

WIDA ACCESS 
Grades 1–12 students 
currently classified as 
ELL with “LY” code 

January 12–March 13, 
2026 

01/12/2026 – 
03/13/2026 CBT 

105–245 minutes1 
(varies by grade-
level/tier) 

June 2026 

Page 2217 of 2427

DRAFT



2025–26 Uniform Statewide Assessment Calendar 

Rule 6A-1.094224, F.A.C. 
Form ARM 001 
Effective August 2025 
Updated July 18, 2025                 10 

Assessment Students to Be Tested3 Statewide Window District Window Mode Testing Time Results Expected 

WIDA Alternate ACCESS 

K–12 students with the 
most significant 
cognitive disabilities 
and currently classified 
as ELL with “LY” code 

January 12–March 13, 
2026 

01/12/2026 – 
03/13/2026 PBT 120 minutes June 2026 

FAST Grade 10 ELA 
Reading Retake  May 1–29, 2026 05/01/2026 – 

05/29/2026 CBT1 120 minutes2 Immediately following 
test completion 

FAST Grade 3 ELA Reading  July 13–24, 2026 07/13/2026 – 
07/24/2026 CBT2 120 minutes2 Immediately following 

test completion 
FAST Grade 10 ELA 
Reading Retake  July 13–24, 2026 07/13/2026 – 

07/24/2026 CBT1 120 minutes2 Immediately following 
test completion 

Algebra 1, Geometry, 
Biology 1, Civics, and U.S. 
History EOCs 

 July 13–24, 2026 07/13/2026 – 
07/24/2026 CBT1 160 minutes2 Immediately following 

test completion 
1 Paper-based accommodations (e.g., regular print, large print, braille, one-item-per-page) for computer-based tests are available to eligible students if indicated as an accommodation on an IEP or Section 504 plan. 
2 Any student who has not completed the session by the end of the allotted time may continue working; however, testing must be completed within the same school day. 
2 If indicated, “applicable students” relates to the sub-group(s) of students who may take that assessment; it does not indicate that all students throughout the state in that sub-group will take that assessment. 

Assessments for which no applicable student group is listed are available to students as needed but are not limited to any specific sub-group. 
4 The FAA—Performance Task is designed for students with the most significant cognitive disabilities for whom participation in the general statewide assessment is inappropriate, even with accommodations. 

 
5. District-Required Assessment Information 
Complete the table below with assessments that are required for all schools in the district.  

Assessment Students to Be Tested District Window Mode Testing Time Results Expected 
District PM 1: Algebra 1, Algebra 
1A, Algebra 1B & Geometry 

Algebra 1, Algebra 1A, 
Algebra 1B, and Geometry 

08/18/2025 - 09/05/2025 CBT 90 minutes Instantly 

ALEKS Initial Knowledge Check Grades 6 - 8 Math,  
Algebra 1, Algebra 1A, 
Algebra 1B, Geometry & 
Foundations 9 - 12 

08/11/2025 - 09/26/2025 CBT 45 minutes Instantly 

Baseline Biology 1, Civics, US 
History 

Content Areas 08/12/2025 – 08/29/2025 CBT 90/50/75 minutes Instantly 

Baseline Science Grades 5 and 8 08/12/2025 – 08/29/2025 CBT 60/100 minutes Instantly 

Page 2218 of 2427

DRAFT



2025–26 Uniform Statewide Assessment Calendar 

Rule 6A-1.094224, F.A.C. 
Form ARM 001 
Effective August 2025 
Updated July 18, 2025                 11 

Assessment Students to Be Tested District Window Mode Testing Time Results Expected 
Clay PM2: Algebra 1, Algebra 
1A, Algebra 1B & Geometry 

Algebra 1, Algebra 1A, 
Algebra 1B and Geometry 

12/01/2025 – 12/19/2025 CBT 90 minutes Instantly 

Midyear Biology 1, Civics, US 
History 

Content Areas 12/01/2025 – 12/19/2025 CBT 90/50/75 minutes Instantly 

Midyear Science Grade 5 and 8 12/01/2025 – 12/19/2025 CBT 60/60 minutes Instantly 

ALEKS Knowledge Check Grades 6 - 8 Math, Algebra 
1, Algebra 1A, Algebra 1B, 
Geometry &  
Foundations 9 – 12 

05/01/2026 – 05/29/2026 CBT 45 minutes Instantly 

End of Year Algebra 1A Algebra 1A 05/01/2026 – 05/29/2026 CBT 45 minutes Instantly 

      

 
6. Estimates of Total Testing Time by Grade Level  
Estimates of average time for administering state-required and district-required assessments (listed in Sections 3 and 5 above) by grade level. Subject-based assessments should 
be included with the grade level to which they are most likely to be administered (e.g., Biology 1 with grade 9). 

 
Grade 
Level 

Statewide 
Assessments 

District 
Assessments 

Approximate Total Testing 
Time (In Minutes) 

VPK 60 0 60 
K 150 0 150 
1 150 0 150 
2 150 0 150 
3 560 0 560 
4 680 0 680 
5 840 120 960 
6 740 90 830 
7 900 190 1090 
8 900 250 1150 
9 740 315 1055 

10 580+120/150/1341 450  

Page 2219 of 2427

DRAFT



2025–26 Uniform Statewide Assessment Calendar 

Rule 6A-1.094224, F.A.C. 
Form ARM 001 
Effective August 2025 
Updated July 18, 2025                 12 

11 160+175/120/1342 240  
12 160 90  

1The amount of time for grade 10 statewide assessments will depend on whether a district selects CLT10, PreACT, or PSAT/NMSQT. If CLT10, use 700 minutes (580 + 120) for the grade 10 Statewide Assessments cell. If 
PreACT, use 730 (580 + 150) for the grade 10 Statewide Assessments cell. If PSAT/PSAT/NMSQT, use 714 (580 + 134) for the grade 10 Statewide Assessments cell. 
2The amount of time for grade 11 statewide assessments will depend on whether a district selects ACT, CLT or SAT. If ACT, use 335 minutes (160 + 175) for the grade 11 Statewide Assessments cell. If CLT, use 280 minutes 
(160 + 120) for the grade 11 Statewide Assessments cell. If SAT, use 294 minutes (160 + 134) for the grade 11 Statewide Assessments cell. 

Page 2220 of 2427

DRAFT



‭-‬

‭2025-2026 District Assessment Information‬

‭2025 - 2026 CCDS Required Assessments‬

‭2025 - 2026 CCDS Optional Assessments‬

‭2025-2026 CCDS Required Assessments‬

‭Dates‬ ‭Assessment‬ ‭Grade Level‬ ‭Local/State‬

‭August/September 2025‬

‭08/11/2025 - 09/22/2025‬ ‭FAST PM 1 Reading‬ ‭VPK‬ ‭State‬

‭08/11/2025 - 09/26/2025‬ ‭FAST PM 1 Reading and Math‬ ‭Grades K - 2‬ ‭State‬

‭08/11/2025 - 09/26/2025‬ ‭FAST PM 1 Reading‬ ‭Grades 3 - 10‬ ‭State‬

‭08/11/2025 - 09/26/2025‬ ‭FAST PM 1 Math‬ ‭Grades 3 - 8‬ ‭State‬

‭08/11/2025 - 09/26/2025‬ ‭Beginning of Year Acadience Reading‬ ‭Grades K - 6‬ ‭Local‬

‭2025-2026 CCDS Assessment Calendar‬
‭Updated 06/04/2025‬

Page 2221 of 2427

DRAFT



‭08/18/2025 - 09/05/2025‬ ‭Beginning of Year Math K Readiness‬
‭Screener‬

‭Grades K‬ ‭Local‬

‭08/11/2025 - 09/26/2025‬ ‭ALEKS Initial Knowledge Check‬

‭Grades 6 - 8 Math,‬
‭Algebra 1, Algebra 1A,‬
‭Algebra 1B, Geometry &‬
‭Foundations 9 - 12‬

‭Local‬

‭08/12/2025 - 08/29/2025‬ ‭Baseline Biology 1, Civics, US History‬ ‭Content Areas‬ ‭Local‬

‭08/12/2025 - 08/29/2025‬ ‭Baseline Science‬ ‭Grades 5 and 8‬ ‭Local‬

‭09/02/2025 - 09/26/2025‬
‭Clay PM 1: Algebra 1, Algebra 1A,‬
‭Algebra 1B & Geometry‬

‭Algebra 1, Algebra 1A,‬
‭Algebra 1B & Geometry‬

‭Local‬

‭09/2025 - 10/2025‬

‭FAA-Datafolio‬
‭Grades 3 - 10 ELA (Reading & Writing)‬
‭Grades 3 - 8 Math‬
‭Grades 5 & 8 Science‬
‭EOC (Algebra 1, Biology, Civics,‬
‭Geometry & US History)‬

‭Collection Period 1‬ ‭State‬

‭09/08/2025 - 10/03/2025‬ ‭FAST Grade 10 Reading Retake‬ ‭Grades 11 and 12‬ ‭State‬

‭09/08/2025 - 10/03/2025‬ ‭EOC Assessments (Algebra 1,‬
‭Geometry, Biology 1, Civics, US History)‬

‭EOC Content Areas‬ ‭State‬

‭09/22/2025 - 10/10/2025‬ ‭FAA Perf Task Gr 10 ELA Makeup‬ ‭Grades 11 and 12‬ ‭State‬

‭09/22/2025 - 10/10/2025‬ ‭FAA Perf Task Algebra 1 Makeup‬ ‭Grades 10 - 12‬ ‭State‬

‭October 2025‬

‭10/27/25-11/7/25‬ ‭K-5 Math District Assessment‬ ‭K-5‬ ‭Local‬

‭2025-2026 CCDS Assessment Calendar‬
‭Updated 06/04/2025‬

Page 2222 of 2427

DRAFT



‭PSAT (Online)‬ ‭Grade 10 and 11‬ ‭State‬

‭SAT (School Day)‬ ‭Grade 12‬ ‭State‬

‭November/December 2025/January 2026‬

‭11/2025 - 12/2025‬ ‭FAA-Datafolio‬
‭Grades 3 - 10 ELA (Reading & Writing)‬
‭Grades 3 - 8 Math‬
‭Grades 5 & 8 Science‬
‭EOC (Algebra 1, Biology, Civics,‬
‭Geometry & US History)‬

‭Collection Period 2‬ ‭State‬

‭11/03/2025 - 12/19/2025‬ ‭Florida Civic Literacy Exam‬ ‭US Government‬ ‭State‬

‭11/21/2025 - 02/04/2026‬ ‭FAST Progress Monitoring 2‬ ‭VPK‬ ‭State‬

‭12/01/2025 - 01/23/2026‬ ‭FAST PM 2 Reading and Math‬ ‭Grades K - 2‬ ‭State‬

‭12/01/2025 - 01/23/2026‬ ‭FAST PM 2 Reading‬ ‭Grades 3 - 10‬ ‭State‬

‭12/01/2025 - 01/23/2026‬ ‭FAST PM 2 Math‬ ‭Grades 3 - 8‬ ‭State‬

‭12/01/2025 - 12/19/2025‬ ‭FAST Grade 10 Reading Retake‬ ‭Grades 11 and 12‬ ‭State‬

‭12/01/2025 - 12/19/2025‬ ‭EOC Assessments (Algebra 1,‬
‭Geometry, Biology 1, Civics, US History)‬

‭EOC Content Areas‬ ‭State‬

‭12/01/2025 - 1/23/2026‬ ‭Middle of Year Acadience Reading‬ ‭Grades K - 6‬ ‭Local‬

‭12/01/2025 - 12/19/2025‬
‭Clay PM2: Algebra 1, Algebra 1A,‬
‭Algebra 1B & Geometry‬

‭Algebra 1, Algebra 1A,‬
‭Algebra 1B & Geometry‬

‭Local‬

‭12/01/2025 - 12/19/2025‬ ‭Midyear Biology 1, Civics, US History‬ ‭Content Areas‬ ‭Local‬

‭12/01/2025 - 12/19/2025‬ ‭Midyear Science‬ ‭Grade 5‬ ‭Local‬

‭2025-2026 CCDS Assessment Calendar‬
‭Updated 06/04/2025‬

Page 2223 of 2427

DRAFT



‭12/01/2025 - 12/19/2025‬ ‭Midyear Science‬ ‭Grade 8‬ ‭Local‬

‭01/12/2026 - 03/13/2026‬ ‭ACCESS for ELLs‬ ‭State‬

‭01/12/2026 - 03/13/2026‬ ‭Alternate ACCESS for ELLs‬ ‭State‬

‭February/March 2026‬

‭03/02/2026 - 04/10/2026‬ ‭FAA Perf Task ELA and Math‬ ‭Grades 3 - 8‬ ‭State‬

‭03/02/2026 - 04/10/2026‬ ‭FAA Perf Task Writing‬ ‭Grades 4 - 8‬ ‭State‬

‭03/02/2026 - 04/10/2026‬ ‭FAA Perf Task Science‬ ‭Grades 5 & 8‬ ‭State‬

‭03/02/2026 - 04/10/2026‬ ‭FAA Perf Task Civics‬ ‭EOC‬ ‭State‬

‭02/2026 - 03/2026‬ ‭FAA-Datafolio‬
‭Grades 3 - 10 ELA (Reading & Writing)‬
‭Grades 3 - 8 Math‬
‭Grades 5 & 8 Science‬
‭EOC (Algebra 1, Biology, Civics,‬
‭Geometry & US History)‬

‭Collection Period 3‬ ‭State‬

‭ACT‬ ‭Grades 11 - 12‬ ‭State‬

‭SAT‬ ‭Grades 11 - 12‬ ‭State‬

‭CLT‬ ‭Grades 11 - 12‬ ‭State‬

‭03/09/2026 - 04/24/2026‬ ‭FAA Perf Task ELA and Writing‬ ‭Grades 9 - 10‬ ‭State‬

‭03/09/2026 - 04/24/2026‬ ‭FAA Perf Task (Algebra 1, Biology,‬
‭Geometry, and US History)‬

‭EOC‬ ‭State‬

‭03/30/2026 - 04/10/2026‬ ‭FAST Writing‬ ‭Grades 4 - 10‬ ‭State‬

‭2025-2026 CCDS Assessment Calendar‬
‭Updated 06/04/2025‬

Page 2224 of 2427

DRAFT



‭03/30/2026 - 05/29/2026‬ ‭Florida Civic Literacy Exam‬ ‭US Government‬ ‭State‬

‭3/2/2026 - 3/13/2026‬ ‭K-5 Math District Assessment‬ ‭K-5‬ ‭Local‬

‭April/May 2026‬

‭04/17/2026 - 05/29/2026‬ ‭FAST Progress Monitoring 3‬
‭(Renaissance - Reading)‬

‭VPK‬ ‭State‬

‭04/13/2026 - 05/29/2026‬ ‭FAST PM 3 Reading and Math‬ ‭Grades K - 2‬ ‭State‬

‭05/01/2026 - 05/29/2026‬ ‭FAST PM 3 Reading‬ ‭Grades 3 - 10‬ ‭State‬

‭05/01/2026 - 05/29/2026‬ ‭FAST PM 3 Math‬ ‭Grades 3 - 8‬ ‭State‬

‭05/01/2026 - 05/29/2026‬ ‭Statewide Science Assessment‬ ‭Grades 5 & 8‬ ‭State‬

‭05/01/2026 - 05/29/2026‬ ‭EOC Assessments (Algebra 1,‬
‭Geometry, Biology 1, Civics, US History)‬

‭EOC Content Areas‬ ‭State‬

‭05/01/2026 - 05/29/2026‬ ‭FAST Grade 10 Reading Retake‬ ‭Grades 11 and 12‬ ‭State‬

‭05/2026‬ ‭AP, AICE, and IB Exams‬ ‭Grades 9 - 12‬ ‭State‬

‭05/01/2026 - 05/29/2026‬ ‭End of Year Acadience Reading‬ ‭Grades K - 6‬ ‭Local‬

‭05/01/2026 - 05/29/2026‬ ‭ALEKS Knowledge Check‬

‭Grades 6 - 8 Math, Algebra 1,‬
‭Algebra 1A, Algebra 1B,‬
‭Geometry &‬
‭Foundations 9 - 12‬

‭Local‬

‭05/01/2026 - 05/29/2026‬ ‭End of Year Algebra 1A‬ ‭Algebra 1A‬ ‭Local‬

‭July 2026‬

‭2025-2026 CCDS Assessment Calendar‬
‭Updated 06/04/2025‬

Page 2225 of 2427

DRAFT



‭07/13/2026 - 07/24/2026‬ ‭FAST Grade 10  ELA Retake‬ ‭Grades 11 - 12‬ ‭State‬

‭07/13/2026 - 07/24/2026‬ ‭EOC Assessments (Algebra 1,‬
‭Geometry, Biology 1, Civics, US History)‬

‭EOC Content Areas‬ ‭State‬

‭2025 - 2026 CCDS Optional Assessments‬

‭Optional ELA Assessments‬

‭Elementary‬

‭Secondary‬

‭03/02/2026 - 04/03/2026‬ ‭6-10 FAST Practice Assessment (Synergy)‬ ‭Grades 6 - 10‬ ‭Local‬

‭Optional Science Assessments‬

‭Elementary Science K-5‬

‭08/12/2025 - 08/29/2025‬ ‭Grade 3 Baseline Assessment‬ ‭Grade 3‬ ‭Local‬

‭08/12/2025 - 08/29/2025‬ ‭Grade 4 Baseline Assessment‬ ‭Grade 4‬ ‭Local‬

‭12/01/2025 - 12/19/2025‬ ‭Grade 3 Mid-Year Assessment‬ ‭Grade 3‬ ‭Local‬

‭12/01/2025 - 12/19/2025‬ ‭Grade 4 Mid-Year Assessment‬ ‭Grade 4‬ ‭Local‬

‭04/06/2026 - 05/01/2026‬ ‭Grade 5 Mock SSA Science Assessment‬ ‭Grade 5‬ ‭Local‬

‭05/04/2026 - 05/29/2026‬ ‭Grade 3 Science EOC Assessment‬ ‭Grade 3‬ ‭Local‬

‭2025-2026 CCDS Assessment Calendar‬
‭Updated 06/04/2025‬

Page 2226 of 2427

DRAFT



‭05/04/2026 - 05/29/2026‬ ‭Grade 4 Science EOC Assessment‬ ‭Grade 4‬ ‭Local‬

‭Secondary Science & Grade 6 Science‬

‭08/12/2025 - 08/29/2025‬ ‭Grade 6 Science Baseline‬ ‭Grade 6‬ ‭Local‬

‭08/12/2025 - 08/29/2025‬ ‭Grade 7 Science Baseline‬ ‭Grade 7‬ ‭Local‬

‭08/12/2025 - 08/29/2025‬ ‭Environmental Science Baseline‬ ‭Grade 9‬ ‭Local‬

‭08/12/2025 - 08/29/2025‬ ‭Physical Science Baseline‬ ‭Grades 10 - 12‬ ‭Local‬

‭08/12/2025 - 08/29/2025‬ ‭Chemistry 1 Baseline‬ ‭Grades 10 - 12‬ ‭Local‬

‭08/12/2025 - 08/29/2025‬ ‭Physics 1 Baseline‬ ‭Grades 10 - 12‬ ‭Local‬

‭12/01/2025 - 12/19/2025‬ ‭Grade 6 Mid-Year Assessment‬ ‭Grade 6‬ ‭Local‬

‭12/01/2025 - 12/19/2025‬ ‭Grade 7 Mid-Year Assessment‬ ‭Grade 7‬ ‭Local‬

‭12/01/2025 - 12/19/2025‬ ‭Environmental Science Mid-Year‬ ‭Grade 9‬ ‭Local‬

‭03/06/2026 - 04/01/2026‬ ‭Grade 8 Mock SSA Science‬ ‭Grade 8‬ ‭Local‬

‭04/06/2026 - 05/01/2026‬ ‭Biology 1 Mock EOC‬ ‭Grades 9 - 10‬ ‭Local‬

‭05/04/2026 - 05/29/2026‬ ‭Grade 6 Science EOC‬ ‭Grade 6‬ ‭Local‬

‭05/04/2026 - 05/29/2026‬ ‭Grade 7 Science EOC‬ ‭Grade 7‬ ‭Local‬

‭05/04/2026 - 05/29/2026‬ ‭Environmental Science EOC‬ ‭Grade 9‬ ‭Local‬

‭05/04/2026 - 05/29/2026‬ ‭Chemistry 1 EOC‬ ‭Grades 10 - 12‬ ‭Local‬

‭05/04/2026 - 05/29/2026‬ ‭Physical Science EOC‬ ‭Grades 10 - 12‬ ‭Local‬

‭05/04/2026 - 05/29/2026‬ ‭Physics 1 EOC‬ ‭Grades 10 - 12‬ ‭Local‬

‭Optional Social Studies Assessments‬

‭08/12/2025 - 08/29/2025‬ ‭M/J US History Baseline Assessment‬ ‭Grades 7 - 8‬ ‭Local‬

‭2025-2026 CCDS Assessment Calendar‬
‭Updated 06/04/2025‬

Page 2227 of 2427

DRAFT



‭10/06/2025 - 10/17/2025‬ ‭Civics Quarter 1 Assessment‬ ‭Grades 7 - 8‬ ‭Local‬

‭10/06/2025 - 10/17/2025‬ ‭M/J US History Quarter 1 Assessment‬ ‭Grade 7 - 8‬ ‭Local‬

‭10/06/2025 - 10/17/2025‬ ‭Grade 11 US History Quarter 1 Assessment‬ ‭Grade 11‬ ‭Local‬

‭12/01/2025 - 12/19/2025‬ ‭M/J US History Mid-Year‬ ‭Grade 7 - 8‬ ‭Local‬

‭03/03/2026 - 03/13/2026‬ ‭Civics Quarter 3 Assessment‬ ‭Grades 7 - 8‬ ‭Local‬

‭03/03/2026 - 03/13/2026‬ ‭M/J US History Quarter 3 Assessment‬ ‭Grade 7 - 8‬ ‭Local‬

‭03/03/2026 - 03/13/2026‬ ‭Grade 11 US History Quarter 3 Assessment‬ ‭Grade 11‬ ‭Local‬

‭04/01/2026 - 04/30/2026‬ ‭Civics Baseline Recheck‬ ‭Grade 7 - 8‬ ‭Local‬

‭04/01/2026 - 04/30/2026‬ ‭11th Grade US History Baseline Recheck‬ ‭Grade 11‬ ‭Local‬

‭05/01/2026 - 05/29/2026‬ ‭M/J US History Final Assessment‬ ‭Grade 7 - 8‬ ‭Local‬

‭2025-2026 CCDS Assessment Calendar‬
‭Updated 06/04/2025‬

Page 2228 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

September 4, 2025 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C12 - Proclamation for September National Attendance Awareness Month

Description
Attendance Awareness Month, held annually in September, serves as a reminder of the importance of prioritizing school
attendance for academic success. By promoting consistent presence in the classroom, we empower students to stay on track with
their coursework and reach their full potential.

Gap Analysis
While attendance tracking remains a key tool for identifying student engagement and potential barriers to learning, high
absenteeism rates indicate a need for increased focus. This proclamation continues to elevate the issue of student absenteeism
and signal its importance to all stakeholders.

Previous Outcomes
Persistent rates of chronic absenteeism within Clay County District Schools are a serious concern and cand negatively impact
student academic performance, graduation rates, and the overall school climate. While current attendance policies and procedures
exist, this proclamation highlights the need for increased awareness and a collaborative approach to address this pressing issue.

Expected Outcomes
The Attendance Awareness Month proclamation will have a significant, positive impact on our schools. We anticipate raising
awareness among students, families, and the community about the crucial connection between attendance and academic success.
This heightened understanding, coupled with increased community engagement, will foster a positive and supportive school
environment. Ultimately, we expect to see a measurable reduction in chronic absenteeism, resulting in higher grades, improved
graduation rates, and enhanced student well-being. This proclamation serves as a public commitment from the District,
promoting shared responsibility and paving the way for ongoing efforts to ensure every student reaches their full potential.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 3: Engage families and the community in the educational process to create robust learning opportunities and partnerships
that support and prepare students to become successful throughout the K-12 educational experiences, leading to graduation and
beyond. Goal 4: Safe and Positive Learning Environment: Strengthen the overall physical and emotional environment to foster an
environment of safety and belonging for students, staff, and all stakeholders.

Recommendation
The Clay County School Board will approve the proclamation to support National Attendance Awareness Month.

Contact
Terri Dennis at terri.dennis@myoneclay.net and Kellie Guilfoyle at pamela.guilfoyle@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
$0

Review Comments

Attachments

Proclamation of September 2025 as Attendance Awareness Month in Clay County District Schools.pdf

Page 2229 of 2427

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/proclamation-of-september-2025-as-attendance-awareness-month-in-clay-county-district-schools.pdf


‬


‬

































____________________________ 

‭David S. Broskie       

‬




‭Superintendent of Schools‬
‭Clay County, Florida‬

Page 2230 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

September 4, 2025 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C13 - RATIFY 260017 LUTHERAN SERVICES FLORIDA (LSF HEALTH SYSTEMS) CONTRACT

Description
SEDNET is an acronym for The Multi-Agency Network for Students With Emotional and Behavioral Disabilities, which agency
is under the supervision and control of Clay County District Schools. Lutheran Services Florida, Inc. d/b/a LSF Health Systems,
LLC ("LSF") has maintained a contractual relationship with the School Board of Clay County, Florida through SEDNET for
several years. The contract allows LSF, a non-profit corporation that obtains funds from both federal sources and pursuant to a
contract with the State of Florida, to then contract with regional SEDNET units, of which the Clay County School District is one,
to provide mental and behavioral health resources to students in need throughout the Northeast Florida region which consists of
Duval, Clay and Nassau counties. SEDNET acts as an independent contractor to LSF and provides the contracted behavioral and
mental health services through its employees, agents, and responsibility, as well as the requirements binding SEDNET are the
subject of the attached contract. The total commitment by LSF, which theoretically should equal the expenditures by SEDNET
for the 2025-2026 fiscal year are $219,333.60. This amount, as well as all terms, are set forth in the attached contract which is in
fact a five (5) year contract, ending with the 2029-2030 fiscal year for a total of $1,096,668.00. There are minor amendments to
this contract submitted periodically as required by LSF. Most amendments increase the total amount of the contract by 5% or
less. It is expected that the School Board will ratify this contract, thereby allowing the Superintendent to execute the minor
amendments to the contract that occur routinely. Without such ratification, each minor amendment to the contract will have to be
brought to the Board, which action will create a lag in the availablity of resources. The Board Attorney, in collaboration with the
Supervisor of SEDNET, the Supervisor of Purchasing, the Assistant Superintendent of Finance, and the Superintendent of
Schools, all occur that it is imperative for the Board to be aware of the existence of this contract and that the Board ratify the
contract in order for the month to month operations of SEDNET and its implementation of the contract with LSF to continue
without interruption. Pusuant to current School Board Policy all future Master contracts between LSF and SEDNET would
require approval by the School Board.

Gap Analysis
The attached contract is  a five (5) year contract, starting with the 2025-2026 school year and ending with the 2029-2030 fiscal
year for a total of $1,096,668.00. The yearly amount is $219,333.60.

Previous Outcomes
These funds have been used to meet the individualized needs of students requiring supportive mental health and behavioral
services.

Expected Outcomes
It is expected that the School Board will ratify this contract, thereby allowing the Superintendent to execute the minor
amendments to the contract that occur routinely.

Strategic Plan Goal
To allow SEDNET to continue to provide the programs and services of the youth-focused group See You At The Top (SYATT).
SEDNET will continue to provide individualized mental health services and devise individualized plans for students with
significant mental health needs.

Recommendation
Approve the attached contract.

Contact
Kathryn Lawrence, SEDNET, kathryn.lawrence@myoneclay.net, (904) 336-4400.

Financial Impact
This contract is a total of $1,096,660.00 for a total of 5 years. The per year amount is $219,333.60.

Review Comments

Page 2231 of 2427

DRAFT



Attachments

NewContract SED-FL023 070125.pdf

081325 Contract Review Form LSF.pdf

Page 2232 of 2427

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/newcontract-sed-fl023-070125.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/081325-contract-review-form-lsf.pdf


Updated 07/01/2025 Contract # FL023  LSF Standard Contract, Page 1 of 25 

LUTHERAN SERVICES FLORIDA STANDARD CONTRACT 

THIS CONTRACT is entered into between Lutheran Services Florida, Inc., d/b/a LSF Health Systems (a Florida 
non-profit corporation), hereinafter referred to as the "Managing Entity” and School District of Clay County - 
SEDNET herein after referred to as the "Network Service Provider.” The Managing Entity and Network Service 
Provider agree as follows: 

1. ENGAGEMENT, TERM AND CONTRACT DOCUMENT

1.1. Purpose and Contract Amount

The Managing Entity is engaging the Network Service Provider for the purpose of behavioral health services,
as further described in Attachment I hereto, thereby providing a comprehensive array of Behavioral Health
Services to individuals, including emergency, acute care, residential, outpatient, recovery support, consumer
support and prevention services, and as further identified in this Contract, with payment as provided in
Section 3, in an amount not to exceed $1,096,668.00 (Contract Amount).

1.2. Effective and End Date

This Contract shall be effective July 1, 2025 or the last party signature date, whichever is later (Effective
Date). The service performance period under this Contract shall commence on July 1, 2025 or the Effective
Date of this Contract, whichever is later, and shall end at midnight, Eastern time, on June 30, 2030 (End
Date), subject to the survival of terms provisions of 7.4. Any earlier termination of this Contract amends the
End Date. This Contract may be renewed in accordance with §287.057(14) or 287.058(1)(g), Florida Statues
(F.S.).

1.3. Official Payee and Party Representatives

The name, address, telephone number and e-mail address of the Managing Entity and the Network Service
Provider’s representatives for this Contract are as follows:

1.3.1.   Network Service Provider: Official Payee 

Name: School District of Clay County - 
SEDNET 

Address: 2306 Kingsley Avenue 

City: Orange Park 

State: FL Zip Code: 32073 

Phone/Ext:(904) 336-4400  

E-mail: kathryn.lawrence@myoneclay.net

1.3.2.  Network Service Provider: Financial & 
Administrative 

Name: Kathy Lawrence 

Address: Refer to 1.3.1. 

City: Refer to 1.3.1. 

State: FL Zip Code: Refer to 1.3.1. 

Phone/Ext: (904) 336-4400 

E-mail: kathryn.lawrence@myoneclay.net

1.3.3. Network Service Provider: Program 
Administrator & Primary Point of Contact 

Name: Kathy Lawrence 

Address: Refer to 1.3.1. 

City: Refer to 1.3.1. 

State: FL Zip Code: Refer to 1.3.1. 

Phone/Ext: (904) 336-4400 

E-mail: kathryn.lawrence@myoneclay.net

1.3.4. Managing Entity: Network Manager & 
Primary Point of Contact: 

Name: Amy Girling 

Address: 9428 Baymeadows Rd; Ste. 320 

City: Jacksonville 

State: FL Zip Code: 32256 

Phone/Ext: (904) 729-6677  

E-mail: amy.girling@lsfnet.org

Page 2233 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         LSF Standard Contract, Page 2 of 25 

 
1.3.5.  Changes to contact information for persons identified in 1.3 can be by Notice. 

1.4. Notices 

Unless stated otherwise, Notices between the Network Service Provider and the Managing Entity and/or 
Department regarding this Contract shall be in writing and directed to the Contract Manager or Network 
Service Provider Representative by certified mail, courier service, email, personal delivery, or as identified 
by the Managing Entity and/or Department. Notices will be deemed received upon actual receipt. 

1.5. Contract Documents 

1.5.1. The headings contained in this Contract are for reference purposes only and shall not affect 
the meaning of this Contract. 

1.5.2. Any telephone numbers and hyperlinks in this Contract are supplied to put the Network 
Service Provider on notice, such telephone numbers and hyperlinks existed at the time of this 
Contract’s entry. It is the Network Service Provider’s duty to stay abreast of any updates to 
such telephone numbers and hyperlinks without amending this Contract. 

1.5.3. In this Contract “business days” refers to those days that are not weekends, do not fall under 
§110.117(1) – (2), F.S., or are administrative closures declared by the Governor. “Days,” 
without modification, are calendar days. 

1.5.4. The terms and conditions set forth in this Contract that conflict with PUR 1000 constitutes 
special Contract conditions as contemplated by Rule 60A-1.002, Florida Administrative Code 
(F.A.C.). 

1.6. Contract Composition 

1.6.1. This Contract is composed of the documents listed in this section. In the event of any conflict 
between the documents, the documents shall be interpreted in the following order of 
precedence:  

1.6.1.1. This Standard Contract; 

1.6.1.2. Attachment I - IV and other attachments, if any;  

1.6.1.3. Appendix A outlines all Exhibits and Incorporated Documents for program specific; 

1.6.1.3.1. All Exhibits and Incorporated Documents, which can be found on the 
LSF Health Systems website: 
https://www.lsfhealthsystems.org/contract-documents;  

1.6.1.4. Appendix B outlines all of the exemptions pertaining to this contract; 

1.6.1.5. Appendix C outlines all special attachments, beyond Attachment IV, pertaining to 
this contract; 

1.6.1.6. Appendix D outlines all negotiated performance measure targets pertaining to this 
contract; 

1.6.1.7. Any documents incorporated into this Contract by reference. 

1.6.2. Notwithstanding the order of precedence indicated, for purchases based on a state term 
Contract or an enterprise alternative Contract source procured for state agency use by the 

  

Page 2234 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         LSF Standard Contract, Page 3 of 25 

Department of Management Services, the terms of the underlying state term Contract or 
Department of Management Services enterprise alternative Contract source agreement shall 
prevail over conflicting terms in other documents in the order of precedence, unless by the 
terms of that underlying state term Contract or alternative Contract source agreement the 
“Customer” is explicitly authorized to vary the terms to the State’s detriment. 

1.7. MyFloridaMarketPlace Transaction Fee 

This Contract is exempt from the MyFloridaMarketPlace transaction fee. 

2. STATEMENT OF WORK 

The Network Service Provider shall perform all tasks and provide units of deliverables, including reports, 
findings, and drafts, as specified in this Contract. Unless otherwise provided in the procurement document 
or governing law, the Managing Entity reserves the right to increase or decrease the volume of services and 
to add tasks incidental or complimentary to the original scope of services. When such increase or decrease 
occurs, except where the method of payment is prescribed by law, compensation under Section 3 will be 
equitably adjusted by the Managing Entity to the extent it prescribes a fixed price payment method or does 
not provide a method of payment for added tasks. 

2.1. Scope of Work 

The Scope of Work is described in Attachment I, Scope of Work. 

2.2. SECTION INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

2.3. Deliverables 

The deliverables are described in Attachment I, Deliverables. 

2.4. Performance Measures 

To avoid Contract termination, the Network Service Provider’s performance must meet the minimum 
acceptable level of performance set forth in Attachment I, Deliverables, regardless of any other performance 
measures in this Contract. During any period in which the Network Service Provider fails to meet these 
measures, regardless of any additional time allowed to correct performance deficiencies, the Managing Entity 
may delay or deny payment for deliverables and also apply financial consequences. 

 
3. PAYMENT, INVOICE AND RELATED TERMS 

The Managing Entity pays for services performed by the Network Service Provider during the service 
performance period of this Contract according to the terms and conditions of this Contract in an amount not 
to exceed this Contract Amount, subject to the availability of funds and satisfactory performance of all terms 
by the Network Service Provider. Except for advances, if any, provided for in this Contract, payment shall be 
made only upon written acceptance of all services by the Managing Entity per 3.1 and shall remain subject 
to subsequent audit or review to confirm Contract compliance. The State of Florida's performance and 
obligation to pay under this Contract is contingent upon an annual appropriation by the Legislature. Any costs 
or services paid for under any other Contract or from any other source are not eligible for payment under this 
Contract. 

3.1. Prompt Payment and Vendor Ombudsman 

Per §215.422, F.S., the Managing Entity has five business days to inspect and approve goods and services 
unless the bid specifications, purchase order, or this Contract elsewhere specifies otherwise. The Managing 
Entity determination of acceptable services shall be conclusive. The Managing Entity receipt of reports and 
other submissions by the Network Service Provider does not constitute acceptance thereof, which occurs 

Page 2235 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         LSF Standard Contract, Page 4 of 25 

only through a separate and express act of the Contract Manager. For any amount that is authorized for 
payment but is not available within 40 days, measured from the latter of the date a properly completed invoice 
is received by the Managing Entity or the goods or services are received, inspected, and approved (or within 
35 days after the date eligibility for payment of a health care provider is determined), a separate interest 
penalty as described in §215.422, F.S., will be due and payable in addition to the amount authorized for 
payment. Interest penalties less than one dollar will not be paid unless the Network Service Provider requests 
payment. A Vendor Ombudsman has been established within the Department of Financial Services and may 
be contacted at (850) 413-5516. 

3.2. Method of Payment 

The Network Service Provider shall be paid in accordance with Attachment I, Method of Payment. 

3.3. Invoices 

3.3.1. The Network Service Provider shall submit invoices for payment, including any permitted 
travel expenses in this Contract, in accordance with §287.058(1)(a) – (b), F.S. 

3.3.2. The Managing Entity will not pay any invoice for payment received more than 30 days 
after this Contract ends or is terminated. Any payment due may be withheld until 
performance of services and a Contract ends or is terminated. Any payment due may be 
withheld until performance of services and all reports due from the Network Service 
Provider and necessary adjustments thereto, have been approved by the Managing Entity. 
Requirements for the Final Invoice are further described in Attachment I, Invoice 
Requirements. 

a. The Network Service Provider shall submit service data for fees or other compensation 
for services or expenses in sufficient detail for proper pre-audit and post-audit. Where 
itemized payment for travel expenses is permitted in this Contract, the Network Service 
Provider shall submit bills for any travel expenses in accordance with §112.061, Fla. Stat., 
or at such lower rates as may be provided in this Contract. The Network Service Provider 
is required to submit monthly service data into the Managing Entity’s data system no later 
than the eighth (8th) of each month following the month of when the services were 
rendered as identified and set forth in Attachment I, Invoice Requirements. 

b. In the event that the Managing Entity has funds remaining after paying the annual contract 
amount outlined in the current year’s Exhibit H – Funding Detail and/or there are available 
funds in the Network, and the Network Service Provider has delivered additional units of 
service in accordance with the terms and conditions of this contract for which the Network 
Service Provider has not been paid, the Managing Entity may, in its sole discretion, pay 
the Network Service Provider for some or all of the additional units of service entered into 
the Managing Entity’s data system by the Network Service Provider. 

3.4. Financial Consequences 

If the Network Service Provider fails to perform in accordance with this Contract or perform the minimum 
level of service required by this Contract, the Managing Entity will apply, at a minimum, financial 
consequences under §§287.058(1)(h) and 215.971(1)(c), F.S., as well as those provided for in 6.1. Other 
financial consequences directly related to the deliverables under this Contract are defined in Attachment I, 
Deliverables. The foregoing does not limit the Managing Entity’s use of additional financial consequences, 
including refusing payment, withholding payments until deficiency is cured, tendering only partial payments, 
applying payment adjustments for additional financial consequences or for liquidated damages to the extent 
that this Contract so provides, or termination of this Contract per 6.2 and requisition of services from an 

Page 2236 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         LSF Standard Contract, Page 5 of 25 

alternate source. Any payment made in reliance on the Provider’s evidence of performance, which evidence 
is subsequently determined erroneous, is immediately due as an overpayment in accordance with 3.5, to the 
extent of such an error. 

3.5. Overpayments and Offsets 

The Network Service Provider shall return erroneous payments, overpayments, or payments disallowed by 
this Contract (including payments made for services subsequently determined by the Managing Entity to not 
be in full compliance with this Contract’s requirements) or law, including interest at a rate established per 
§55.03(1), F.S., within 40 days after discovery by the Network Service Provider, audit, or the Managing Entity. 
The Managing Entity and/or Department may recover against such payments by deduction from subsequent 
payments under this or any other Contract with the Network Service Provider, or any other lawful method. If 
this Contract involves federal or state financial assistance, the following applies: The Network Service 
Provider shall return to the Managing Entity unused funds, accrued interest earned, and unmatched grant 
funds, as detailed in the Final Financial Report, within 60 days of the End Date. 

3.6. Rural Opportunities 

If the Network Service Provider is a county or municipality that is a rural community or rural area of opportunity 
as those terms are defined in §288.0656(2), F.S., the payment of submitted invoices may be issued for 
verified and eligible performance that has been completed in accordance with the terms and conditions set 
forth in this Contract to the extent that federal or state law, rule, or other regulation allows such payments. 
Upon meeting the criteria, the Network Service Provider may elect in writing to exercise this provision as 
defined in §215.971(1)(h), F.S. 

4. GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS GOVERNING PERFORMANCE 

4.1. Legal Compliance 

4.1.1. The Network Service Provider shall comply with, and ensure its subcontractors, 
subgrantees, and others it arranges to provide deliverables comply with:  

4.1.1.1. Applicable laws, rules, ordinances, certifications, and licensing requirements, and 
the Department’s Children and Families Operating Procedures (CFOP); 

4.1.1.2. Department of Financial Services’ (DFS) “Reference Guide for State Expenditures” 
and active DFS Comptroller or Chief Financial Officer Memoranda. If this Contract 
is funded by state financial assistance, those funds may only be used for allowable 
costs between the Effective Date and the End Date. Absent the Managing Entity’s 
authorization, unused state financial assistance funds must be returned to the 
Managing Entity; 

4.1.1.3. Support for individuals with a disability or with limited English proficiency. The 
Network Service Provider and its subcontractors shall comply with CFOP 60-16, 
located at: https://www.myflfamilies.com/resources/policies-procedures/cfop-060-
human-resources, which includes completing the Civil Rights Compliance 
Checklist, (Form CF 946) within 30 days of the Effective Date and annually by the 
date specified in CFOP 60-16, thereafter; 

4.1.1.4. For Nutritional Programs and Activities funded through the Department’s Office of 
Economic Self-Sufficiency, the Network Service Provider and its subcontractors 
shall also comply with USDA Food & Nutrition Service Instruction FNS-113-1 to 
ensure civil rights compliance and prohibit discrimination in nutrition programs and 
activities; 

4.1.1.5. Funds provided under this Contract for the purchase of or improvements to real 
property are contingent upon the Network Service Provider granting the State a 

Page 2237 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         LSF Standard Contract, Page 6 of 25 

security interest in the property at least to the amount of the State funds provided 
for at least five years from the date of purchase or the completion of the 
improvements or as further required by law. As a condition of receipt of funds for 
this purpose, if the Network Service Provider disposes of the property before the 
State’s interest is vacated, the Network Service Provider shall refund the pro-rata 
share of the State's initial investment [(initial investment) x (length of time from 
purchase to disposal/the term of the security interest)]; and 

4.1.1.6. If the Network Service Provider has one or more Contracts for services with the 
Agency for Persons with Disabilities, or the Departments of Health, Elderly Affairs, 
or Veteran’s Affairs, the Network Service Provider shall provide the following by 
Notice on each of those Contracts: 

4.1.1.6.1. The name of the issuing state agency and the applicable office or 
program; 

4.1.1.6.2. Identifying name and number; 

4.1.1.6.3. Starting and ending date; 

4.1.1.6.4. Total dollar amount; 

4.1.1.6.5. Purpose and the types of services provided; and 

4.1.1.6.6. Name and contact information for the state agencies’ Contract 
Manager. 

4.2. Certifications and Attestations 

4.2.1. Common Carrier. If the Network Service Provider is a common carrier or any of its 
subcontractors are a common carrier, the Provider and/or its subcontractors must complete 
an attestation (PUR 1808) as required by §908.111, F.S. and Rule 60A-1.020, F.A.C. A 
violation of the attestation by the Network Service Provider or subcontractor shall be 
grounds for termination with cause. Extensions, amendments, and renewals are subject to 
the requirements of §908.111, F.S. 

4.2.2. Foreign Countries of Concern Prohibition. If the Network Service Provider has access to 
an individual’s Personal Identifying Information as defined in Rule 60A-1.020, F.A.C, and 
§501.171, F.S. the Network Service Provider and/or its subcontractors must complete an 
attestation (PUR 1355) as required by §287.138, F.S. and Rule 60A-1.020, F.A.C. A 
violation by the Network Service Provider or subcontractor shall be grounds for 
consequences as provided in §287.138, F.S. Extensions and renewals are subject to the 
requirements of §287.138, F.S. 

4.2.3. Sudan, Iran, Cuba, Syria, and Israel Certifications. Where applicable, in compliance with 
§287.135(5), F.S., the Network Service Provider certifies the Network Service Provider is 
not on the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in Sudan List or the Scrutinized Companies 
with Activities in Iran Terrorism Sectors List and that it does not have business operations 
in Cuba or Syria, and is not participating in a boycott of Israel. 

4.2.4. Certification Regarding Lobbying. If this Contract contains Federal funding in excess of 
$100,000, the Network Service Provider certifies clauses 4.2.4.1 – 4.2.4.3. If an Amendment 
to this Contract causes the Federal funding to exceed $100,000, the Network Service 
Provider must, prior to amendment execution, complete the Certification Regarding 
Lobbying form, and return it to the Network Manager. 

4.2.4.1. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of 
the undersigned, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer 
or employee of an agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of 
Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the 
awarding of any Federal Contract, the making of any Federal grant, the making of 

Page 2238 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         LSF Standard Contract, Page 7 of 25 

any Federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative agreement, and the 
extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any Federal 
Contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement. 

4.2.4.2. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid 
to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of 
any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an 
employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this Federal Contract, grant, 
loan, or cooperative agreement, the undersigned shall complete and submit 
Standard Form-LLL, “Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying,” in accordance with its 
instructions. 

4.2.4.3. The undersigned shall require that the language of this certification be included in 
the award documents for all subawards at all tiers (including subcontracts, 
subgrants, and Contracts under grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and 
that all subrecipients shall certify and disclose accordingly. This certification is a 
material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this 
transaction was made or entered into. Submission of this certification is a 
prerequisite for making or entering into this transaction imposed by section 1352, 
title 31, U.S. Code. Any person who fails to file the required certification shall be 
subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 for 
each such failure. 

4.3. Use of Funds for Lobbying Prohibited 

Contract funds are not used for lobbying the Legislature, the judicial branch, or a State Agency. §§11.062 
and 216.347, F.S. 

4.4. Use of Funds for Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion Prohibited 

No State funding under this Contract is being provided for, promoting, advocating for, or providing training or 
education on “Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion” (DEI). DEI is any program, activity, or policy that classifies 
individuals on the basis of race, color, sex, national origin, gender identity, or sexual orientation and promotes 
differential or preferential treatment of individuals on the basis of such classification, or promotes the position 
that a group or an individual’s action is inherently, unconsciously, or implicitly biased on the basis of such 
classification. 

4.5. Coercion for Labor or Services Prohibited 

In accordance with §787.06(13), F.S., under penalty of perjury, the Network Service Provider’s duly 
authorized official and signatory hereof, declares the Network Service Provider does not use coercion for 
labor or services as those terms are defined in §787.06(2), F.S. 

4.6. Independent Contractor, Subcontracting, and Assignments. 

4.6.1. In performing its obligations under this Contract, the Network Service Provider is an 
independent Contractor and not an officer, employee, or agent of the Managing Entity or the 
State of Florida, except where the Network Service Provider is a State Agency. The Network 
Service Provider, its agents, employees, subcontractors or assignees shall not represent to 
others they are agents of or have the authority to bind by virtue of this Contract, unless 
specifically authorized in writing to do so. This Contract does not create any right in any 
individual to State retirement, leave benefits or any other benefits of State employees due 
to performing the duties or obligations of this Contract.  

4.6.2. The Managing Entity will not furnish services of support (e.g., office space, office supplies, 
telephone service, secretarial, or clerical support) to the Network Service Provider, or its 
subcontractor or assignee, unless specifically agreed to by the Managing Entity in this 
Contract. All deductions for social security, withholding taxes, income taxes, contributions 
to unemployment compensation funds and all necessary insurance for the Network Service 
Provider, the Network Service Provider’s officers, employees, agents, subcontractors, or 

Page 2239 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         LSF Standard Contract, Page 8 of 25 

assignees are the sole responsibility of the Network Service Provider and its subcontractors. 
No joint employment is intended and regardless of any provision directing the manner of 
provision of services, the Network Service Provider and its subcontractors alone are 
responsible for the supervision, control, hiring and firing, rates of pay and terms and 
conditions of employment of their own employees. 

4.6.3. The Network Service Provider shall not assign its responsibilities under this Contract to 
another party, in whole or in part, without prior written approval of the Managing Entity. Such 
assignment occurring without prior approval of the Managing Entity shall be null and void. 

4.6.4. The State of Florida may assign, in whole or part, its rights, duties, or obligations under this 
Contract to another governmental agency in the State of Florida or to a Network Service 
Provider of the Managing Entity’s selection. 

4.6.5. Additional Terms if Subcontracting is Permitted 

4.6.5.1. The Network Service Provider cannot subcontract for any of the work 
contemplated under this Contract without the Managing Entity’s prior written 
approval. The Network Service Provider shall take all actions necessary to ensure 
each subcontractor of the Network Service Provider is an independent Contractor 
and not an officer, employee, or agent of the Managing Entity or State of Florida. 

4.6.5.2. The Network Service Provider is responsible for all work performed and for all 
commodities produced pursuant to this Contract whether actually furnished by the 
Network Service Provider or by its subcontractors. Any subcontracts shall be 
evidenced by a written document. The Network Service Provider further agrees 
that the Managing Entity and/or Department shall not be liable to the subcontractor 
in any way or for any reason relating to this Contract. 

4.6.5.3. The Network Service Provider shall include the substance of all clauses contained 
in this Contract relevant to subcontractor compliance in all subcontracts and any 
sub-subcontracts.  

4.7. Indemnity 

4.7.1. This is the sole term covering indemnification. No other indemnification clause applies to 
this Contract. The Network Service Provider shall indemnify the Managing Entity and/or 
Department, where indemnification is not limited by law, as follows:  

4.7.1.1. Personal Injury and Damage to Real or Tangible Personal Property. The 
Network Service Provider shall be fully liable, and fully indemnify, defend, and hold 
harmless the Sate, the Department, Managing Entity, and their officers, agents and 
employees, from any suits, actions, damages, attorneys’ fees, and costs of every 
name and description, arising from or relating to personal injury and damage to 
real or personal tangible property allegedly caused in whole or in part by the 
Network Service Provider, provided however, the Network Service Provider need 
not indemnify, defend and hold harmless the State, Department, Managing Entity, 
for that portion of any loss or damages proximately caused by the negligent act or 
omission of the State, Department, Managing Entity, and their officers, agents, and 
employees. However, should conflict arise between the terms of this agreement 
and §§39.011, 394.9085, and 409.993, F.S., these statutory provisions control. 

4.7.1.2. Intellectual Property Liability. The Network Service Provider shall fully 
indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the State, the Department, Managing Entity, 
and their officers, agents, and employees from any suits, actions, damages, 
attorneys’ fees, and costs of every name and description, arising from or relating 
to violation or infringement of a trademark, copyright, patent, trade dress, trade 
secret or other intellectual property right. This intellectual property liability 
indemnification obligation will not apply to the Managing Entity and/or 

Page 2240 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         LSF Standard Contract, Page 9 of 25 

Department’s misuse or modification of the Network Service Provider’s products 
or the Managing Entity and/or Department’s operation or use of the Network 
Service Providers’ products in a manner not contemplated by this Contract. If any 
product is the subject of an infringement suit, or in the Network Service Provider’s 
opinion, is likely to become the subject of such a suit, the Network Service Provider 
shall, at its sole expense, procure for the Managing Entity the right to continue 
using the product or to modify it to become non-infringing, If the Network Service 
Provider is not reasonably able to modify or otherwise secure the Managing Entity 
the right to continue using the product, the Network Service Provider shall remove 
the product and refund the Managing Entity the amounts paid more than a 
reasonable rental for past use. The State, the Department, and Managing Entity 
will not be liable for any royalties, or licensing fees, not including in this Contract.  

4.7.1.3. Actions Related to this Contract. The Network Service Provider shall fully 
indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the State, the Department, Managing Entity, 
and their officers, employees, and agents from any suits, actions, damages, fines, 
claims, assessments, attorney’s fees, and costs of every name and description, 
arising from or relating to any acts, actions, breaches, neglect, or omissions of the 
Network Service Provider related to this Contract, as well as for any determination 
arising out of or relating to this Contract that the Network Service Provider is not 
an independent Contractor vis-à-vis the Managing Entity.  

4.7.2. Subcontracts. The Network Service Provider shall include in all subcontracts and ensure 
all resulting Contracts include the requirement that such resulting Contractors indemnify, 
defend, and hold harmless the State and the Department, Managing Entity and their officers, 
agents, and employees, from suits, actions, damages, and costs of every name and 
description, including any and all attorney’s fees, arising from or relating to any alleged act 
or omission by subcontractors, their officers, employees, agents, partners, subcontractors, 
assignees, or delegees alleged caused in whole or in part by Contracted entities, their 
agents, employees, partners or subcontractors; provided, however, that Contracted entities 
will not indemnify for that portion of any loss or damages proximately caused by the 
negligent acts or omissions of the Managing Entity and/or Department. The Network Service 
Provider shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the Managing Entity, State and the 
Department from the consequences of such a breach. 

4.7.3. The indemnification requirement in 4.7.1 does not apply if the Network Service Provider is 
a governmental entity, prohibited by law, or constrained by lack of legal authority, from 
indemnifying the Managing Entity, the State, the Department, or other party. In such 
instances, the Network Service Provider remains liable for the Network Service Provider’s 
own actions to the extent such liability exists in the absence of the legally impermissible 
indemnification. 

4.7.4. Nothing in this Contract constitutes a waiver of sovereign immunity or consent by the 
Managing Entity, Department, or the State, or its subdivisions to suit by third parties or an 
agreement by the Managing Entity, the Department, the State, or its subdivisions to 
indemnify any person. 

4.8. Insurance.  

4.8.1. Workers’ Compensation Insurance (WCI). To the extent and degree required by law, the 
Network Service Provider shall self-insure or maintain WCI covering its employees 
connected with the services provided hereby. The Network Service Provider shall require 
subcontractors provide WCI for its employees absent coverage by the Network Service 
Provider’s WCI. 

4.8.2. General Liability Insurance. The Network Service Provider shall secure and maintain, and 
ensure subcontractors secure and maintain, Commercial General Liability Insurance, 
including bodily injury, property damage, personal and advertising injury, and products and 

Page 2241 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         LSF Standard Contract, Page 10 of 25 

completed operations. This insurance will provide coverage for all claims that may arise 
from the services completed under this Contract, whether such services are by the Network 
Service Provider or anyone employed by it. Such insurance shall include the State as an 
additional insured for the entire length of this Contract. The Network Service Provider shall 
set the limits of liability necessary to provide reasonable financial protections to the Network 
Service Provider, the Managing Entity, Department, and the State under this Contract. 
Insurance coverage and limits are described in Attachment I, Insurance Requirement. 

4.8.3. Cyber/Network Security and Privacy Liability Insurance. The Network Service Provider 
will, for itself if providing Cyber/Network solutions or handling confidential information, 
secure and maintain, and ensure any subcontractor providing Cyber/Network solutions or 
handling confidential information, secure and maintain liability insurance, written on an 
occurrence basis, covering civil, regulatory, and statutory damages; Contractual damages; 
data breach management exposure; and any loss of income or extra expense as a result of 
actual or alleged breach, violation or infringement of right to privacy, consumer data 
protection law, confidentiality or other legal protection for personal information with minimum 
limits. The Network Service Provider shall set the limits of liability necessary to provide 
reasonable financial protections to the Network Service Provider, the Managing Entity, 
Department and the State under this Contract. 

4.8.4. Authorized Insurers and Documentation. All insurance policies will be with insurers 
authorized, and through insurance agents licensed, to transact business in the State, as 
required by chapter 624, F.S., or upon approval of the Managing Entity with a commercial 
self-insurance trust fund authorized under §624.462, F.S. The Network Service Provider 
shall provide 30 calendar days written notice of cancellation of any insurance required by 
4.8 to the Managing Entity. The Network Service Provider shall submit certificates of 
insurance coverage, or other evidence of insurance coverage acceptable to the Managing 
Entity, prior to this Contract execution, and provide the Managing Entity 10 days prior Notice 
of any cancellation or nonrenewal. 

4.9. Notice of Legal Actions.  

The Network Service Provider shall Notice the Managing Entity within 10 days after becoming aware 
of potential legal upon notice of actual legal actions against the Network Service Provider related to 
services provided by this Contract, that may impact deliverables or the Managing Entity. 

4.10. Intellectual Property  Transition Activities. When services that are the subject of the Contract 
continue through another provider, or the Managing Entity, after the End Date, the Network Service 
Provider shall, without additional compensation, complete all actions necessary to smoothly transition 
service to the new provider. This includes the transfer of relevant data and files, as well as property 
funded or provided pursuant to this Contract. The Network Service Provider shall be required to 
support an orderly transition to the next provider, or the Managing Entity, no later than the End Date 
and shall support the requirements for transition as specified in the Managing Entity approved 
Transition Plan, which shall be develop a consultation with the Managing Entity. Requirements for 
the Transition Plan are further described in Attachment I, Data Collection, Reporting, and 
Analysis. 

4.11. Publicity. 

The Network Service Provider and its employees, agents, and representatives shall not, without prior 
written consent of the Managing Entity in each instance, use in advertising, publicity or any other 
promotional endeavor any State mark, the name of the State’s mark, the name of the State or any 
State agency or affiliate or any officer or employee of the State, or any State program or service, or 
represent, directly or indirectly, that any product or service provided by the Network Service Provider 
has been approved or endorsed by the State, or refer to the existence of this Contract in press 

Page 2242 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         LSF Standard Contract, Page 11 of 25 

releases, advertising or materials distributed to the Network Service Provider’s prospective 
customers. 

4.12. Sponsorship.  

As required by §286.25, Fla. Stat., if the Network Service Provider is a non-governmental organization 
which sponsors a program financed wholly or in part by State funds, including any funds obtained 
through this Contract, it shall, in publicizing, advertising, or describing the sponsorship of the program 
state: “Sponsored by (Network Service Provider's name), LSF Health Systems, and State of Florida, 
Department of Children and Families.” If the sponsorship reference is in written material, the words 
“LSF Health Systems, and State of Florida, Department of Children and Families” shall appear in at 
least the same size letters or type as the name of the organization. 

4.13. Employee Gifts.  

The Network Service Provider agrees it shall not offer to give or give any gift to any Managing Entity 
and/or Department employee during the service performance period of this Contract and or two years 
thereafter. In addition to any other remedies available to the Managing Entity, any violation of this 
provision will result in a referral of the Network Service Provider's name and description of the 
violation of this term to the Department of Management Services for the potential inclusion of the 
Network Service Provider's name on the suspended vendors list for an appropriate period. The 
Network Service Provider shall ensure that its subcontractors comply with these provisions. 

4.14. Mandatory Reporting Requirements.  

The Network Service Provider and any subcontractor must comply with and inform its employees of 
the following mandatory reporting requirements. Each employee of the Network Service Provider, 
and of any subcontractor, providing services in connection with this Contract who has any knowledge 
of a reportable incident shall report such incident as follows: 

4.14.1. A reportable incident is defined in CFOP 180-4. 

4.14.2. Reportable incidents that may involve an immediate or impending impact on the health or 
safety of a client shall be immediately reported to the Department’s Office of Inspector 
General and the Network Manager. 

4.14.3. Other reportable incidents shall be reported to the Department’s Office of Inspector General 
within two business days of discovery through the Internet at: 
https://www.myflfamilies.com/about/additional-services-offices/office-
inspectorgeneral/investigations/inspector-general or by completing a 
Notification/Investigation Request (Form CF 1934) and emailing the request to the Office of 
Inspector General at IG.Complaints@myflfamilies.com. The Network Service Provider and 
subcontractor shall mail or fax the completed forms to the Managing Entity and the 
Department of Children and Families, Office of Inspector General, The Center, 2415 Monroe 
Street, Suite 400 - I, Tallahassee, Florida, 32303-4190; or via fax at (850) 488-1428. 

4.15. Employment Screening.   

4.15.1. As described in CFOP 60-25, Chapter 2 (implementing §110.1127, F.S.), as a condition of 
initial and continued employment, the Network Service Provider shall ensure all staff, 
whether employees or independent Contractors, are screened by the Department in 
accordance with chapter 435, F.S., are of good moral character and meet the Level 2 
Employment Screening standards in §§435.04, 110.1127, and 39.001(2), F.S., including: 

4.15.1.1. Employment history check; 

4.15.1.2. Fingerprinting for all criminal record checks; 

4.15.1.3. Statewide criminal and juvenile delinquency records checks through the Florida 
Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE): 

Page 2243 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         LSF Standard Contract, Page 12 of 25 

4.15.1.4. Federal criminal records checks from the Federal Bureau of Investigations via 
the FDLE; and  

4.15.1.5. Security background investigation, which may include local criminal records 
checks through local law enforcement agencies. 

4.15.1.6. Attestation by each employee, subject to penalty, to meeting the requirements 
for qualifying for employment pursuant to chapter 435, F.S., and agreeing to 
inform the employer immediately if arrested for any of the disqualifying offenses 
while employed by the employer. 

4.15.2. The Network Service Provider shall sign the Florida Department of Children and Families 
Employment Screening Affidavit each State fiscal year (no two such affidavits shall be 
signed more than 13 months apart) for the term of the Contract stating that all required staff 
have been screened or the Network Service Providers is awaiting the results of the 
screening. 

4.15.3. The Managing Entity requires the use of the Office of Inspector General’s Request for 
Reference Check (Form CF 774), stating: “As part of the screening of an applicant being 
considered for appointment to a career service, selected exempt service, senior 
management, or OPS position with the Managing Entity, Department of Children and 
Families (Department) or employed with a Contract or Subcontract Network Service 
Provider, a check with the Office of Inspector General (OIG) is required to determine if the 
individual is or has been the subject of an investigation with the OIG. The request will only 
be made on the individual that is being recommended to be hired for the position, if that 
individual has previously worked for the Managing Entity, Department or a Contract or 
Subcontract Network Service Provider, or if that individual is being promoted transferred, or 
demoted within the Managing Entity and/or Department Contract or Subcontract Network 
Service Provider.” 

a. Additional guidance regarding background screening is incorporated herein by reference 
and may be located at: www.dcf.state.fl.us/programs/backgroundscreening/ 

b. Employment Eligibility Verification (E-Verify) requirements are identified and set for in 
Attachment I, Employment Eligibility Verification (E-Verify).  

4.16. Human Subject Research.   

Any human subject research within this Contract within the scope of 45 Code Federal Regulations 
(CFR), Part 46, and 42 United States Code (U.S.C.) § 289, et seq., and may not commence until 
review and approval by a duly constituted Institutional Review Board. 

5. RECORDS, AUDITS AND DATA SECURITY  

5.1. Records, Retention, Audits, Inspections and Investigations 

5.1.1. The Network Service Provider shall establish and maintain books, records and documents 
(including electronic storage media) sufficient to reflect all income and expenditures of funds 
provided by the Managing Entity under this Contract. Upon demand, at no additional cost to 
the Managing Entity, the Network Service Provider shall facilitate the duplication and 
transfer of any records or documents during the term of this Contract and the required 
retention period in 5.1.2. These records shall be made available at all reasonable times for 
inspection, review, copying, or audit by Federal, State, or other personnel duly authorized 
by the Managing Entity. 

5.1.2. Retention of all client records, financial records, supporting documents, statistical records, 
and any other documents (including electronic storage media) pertinent to this Contract shall 
be maintained by the Network Service Provider during the term of this Contract and retained 
for a period of six (6) years after completion of the Contract or longer when required by law. 
In the event an audit is required under this Contract, records shall be retained for a minimum 
period of six (6) years after the audit report is issued or until resolution of any audit findings 

Page 2244 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         LSF Standard Contract, Page 13 of 25 

or litigation based on the terms of this Contract, at no additional cost to the Managing Entity 
and/or the Department. 

5.1.3. At all reasonable times for as long as records are maintained, persons duly authorized by 
the Managing Entity, the Department, and Federal auditors, pursuant to 2 CFR §200.337, 
shall be allowed full access to and the right to examine any of the Network Service Provider’s 
Contracts and related records and documents, regardless of the form. 

5.1.4. A financial and compliance audit shall be provided to the Managing Entity as specified in 
this Contract and in Attachment III. 

5.1.5. The Network Service Provider shall comply and cooperate immediately with any inspections, 
reviews, investigations, or audits deemed necessary by The Office of the Inspector General 
(§20.055, F.S.). 

5.1.6. The Network Service Provider shall not withhold any record or attempt to limit the scope of 
any of the foregoing inspections, reviews, copying, transfers or audits based on any claim 
that any record is exempt from public inspection or is confidential, proprietary or trade secret 
in nature; provided, however, that this provision does not limit any exemption to public 
inspection or copying to any such record. 

5.2. The Network Service Provider’s Confidential Information 

5.2.1. By executing this Contract, the Network Service Provider acknowledges that, having been 
provided an opportunity to review all provisions hereof, all provisions of this Contract not 
specifically identified in writing by the Network Service Provider prior to execution hereof as 
“confidential” will be posted by the Department on the public website maintained by the 
Department of Financial Services pursuant to §215.985, F.S. The Network Service Provider, 
upon written request of the Managing Entity and/or Department, shall promptly provide a 
written statement of the basis for the exemption applicable to each provision identified by 
the Network Service Provider as “confidential”, including citation to a protection created by 
statute, and state with particularity the reasons the provision is confidential. 

5.2.2. Any claim by the Network Service Provider of trade secret confidentiality for any information 
contained in the Network Service Provider’s documents (reports, deliverables or 
workpapers, etc., in paper or electronic form) submitted to the Managing Entity in connection 
with this Contract will be waived, unless the claimed confidential information is submitted in 
accordance with the following standards: 

5.2.2.1. The Network Service Provider must clearly label any portion of the documents, 
data, or records submitted it considers confidential pursuant to Florida’s Public 
Records Law as trade secret. The labeling will include a justification citing 
specific statutes and facts authorizing exemption of the information from public 
disclosure. If different statutes or facts are claimed applicable to different portions 
of the information, the Network Service Provider shall include information 
correlating the nature of the claims to the particular information. 

5.2.2.2. The Managing Entity, when required to comply with a public records request 
including documents submitted by the Network Service Provider, may require 
the Network Service Provider to expeditiously submit redacted copies of 
documents marked as trade secret, in accordance with 5.2.2.1. Accompanying 
the submission shall be an updated version of the justification under 5.2.2.1, 
corresponding specifically to redacted information, either confirming the statutory 
and factual basis originally asserted remains unchanged or indicating any 
changes affecting the basis for the asserted exemption from public inspection or 
disclosure. The redacted copy must exclude or obliterate only those exact 
portions claimed trade secret. If the Network Service Provider fails to promptly 
submit a redacted copy, the Managing Entity is authorized to produce the records 
sought without any redaction of trade secret information. 

Page 2245 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         LSF Standard Contract, Page 14 of 25 

5.2.3. The Network Service Provider shall be responsible for defending its claims that every portion 
of the redactions of trade secret information are exempt from inspection and copying under 
Florida’s Public Records Law. 

5.3. Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA)  

Should this Contract involve Network Service Provider access to protected health information (PHI) 
the Network Service Provider shall be a “Business Associate” limited to the following permissible uses 
and disclosures. Reference to a section in the HIPAA Rules means the section as in effect or as 
amended. The Network Service Provider shall assist the Managing Entity and/or Department in 
amending this Contract to maintain compliance with HIPAA Rules and any other applicable law 
requirements. Any ambiguity in 5.3 will be interpreted to permit compliance with the HIPAA Rules. 
Within the Department, the Human Resources Manager for Civil Rights has been designated the 
HIPAA Privacy Officer. 

5.3.1. Catch-all Definitions. The following terms as used in 5.3 have the same meaning as those 
terms in the HIPAA Rules: Breach, Data Aggregation, Designated Record Set, Disclosure, 
Health Care Operations, Individual, Minimum Necessary, Notice of Privacy Practices, 
Protected Health Information, Required by Law, Security Incident, Unsecured Protected 
Health Information, and Use. 

5.3.2. Specific Definitions for 5.3 

5.3.2.1. “Business Associate” has the same meaning as the term “business associate” at 
45 CFR §160.103. 

5.3.2.2. “Covered Entity” has the same meaning as the term “covered entity” at 45 CFR 
160.103, and for purposes of this Contract includes the Managing Entity and/or 
Department. 

5.3.2.3. HIPAA Rules” will mean the Privacy, Security, Breach Notification, and 
Enforcement Rules at 45 CFR Parts 160 and 164. 

5.3.2.4. “Subcontractor” has the same meaning as the term “Subcontractor” at 45 CFR 
§160.103 and includes individuals to whom a Business Associate delegates a 
function, activity, or service, other than as a member of the workforce of such 
Business Associate. 

5.3.3. Obligations and Activities of the Network Service Provider 

The Network Service Provider shall: 

5.3.3.1. Not use or disclose PHI except as permitted or required in by 5.3 or law;  

5.3.3.2. Use the appropriate administrative safeguards in 45 CFR §164.308, physical 
safeguards in 45 CFR §164.310, and technical safeguards in 45 CFR §164.312; 
including policies and procedures regarding the protection of PHI in 45 CFR 
§164.316 and the provisions of training on such policies and procedures to 
applicable employees, independent providers, and volunteers, that reasonably 
and appropriately protect the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of the PHI 
Network Service Provider may create, receive, maintain or transmit on the 
Managing Entity and Department’s behalf; 

5.3.3.3. Acknowledge that the foregoing safeguards, policies and procedures 
requirements apply to the Network Service Provider in the same manner as such 
requirements apply to the Managing Entity and Department; and the Network 
Service Provider and Subcontractors are directly liable under the civil and 
criminal enforcement provisions of §§13409 and 13410 of the HITECH Act, 45 
CFR §§164.500 and 164.502(E) of the Privacy Rule (42 U.S.C. 1320d-5 and 
1320d-6), as amended, for failure to comply with the safeguards, policies and 

Page 2246 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         LSF Standard Contract, Page 15 of 25 

procedures requirements and resulting U.S. Health and Human Services (HHS) 
guidance thereon; 

5.3.3.4. Report to the Managing Entity and Department any use or disclosure of PHI not 
permitted by 5.3, including breaches of unsecured PHI as required at 45 CFR 
§164.410, and any security incident; 

5.3.3.5. Notify the Managing Entity and Department’s HIPAA Security Officer, HIPAA 
Privacy Officer, and Contract Notify the Department’s HIPAA Security Officer, 
HIPAA Privacy Officer, and Contract data of the Department; and 

5.3.3.6. Notify the Managing Entity and Department’s HIPAA Privacy Officer and 
Contract Manager within 24 hours of Notify the Department’s HIPAA Privacy 
Officer and Contract Manager within 24 hours of HIPAA; 

5.3.3.7. Provide additional information requested by the Managing Entity and/or the 
Department for investigation of or response to a breach; 

5.3.3.8. Provide at no cost: Notice to affected parties within 30 days of determination of 
any potential breach of personal or confidential data of the Managing Entity 
and/or Department (§501.171, F.S.); implementation of the Managing Entity 
and/or Department’s prescribed measures to avoid or mitigate potential injury to 
any person due to a breach or potential breach of personal and confidential data 
of the Department; and, immediate actions limiting or avoiding recurrence of any 
breach or potential breach and any actions required by applicable federal and 
state laws and regulations regardless of the Managing Entity and/or 
Department’s actions. 

5.3.3.9. In accord with 45 CFR §§164.502(e)(1)(ii) and 164.308(b)(2), as applicable, 
ensure all entities creating, receiving, maintaining, or transmitting PHI on the 
Network Service Provider’s behalf are bound to the same restrictions, conditions, 
and requirements as the Network Service Provider by written Contract or other 
written agreement meeting the applicable requirements of 45 CFR 
§164.504(e)(2) that the entity will appropriately safeguard the PHI. For prior 
Contracts or other arrangements, the Network Service Provider shall provide 
written certification its implementation complies with 45 CFR §164.532(d); 

5.3.3.10. Make PHI available in a designated record set to the Managing Entity and/or 
Department as necessary to satisfy the Managing Entity’s and/or Department’s 
45 CFR §164.524 obligations; 

5.3.3.11. Make any amendment to PHI in a designated record set as directed or agreed 
to by the Managing Entity and/or Department per 45 CFR §164.526, or take other 
measures as necessary to satisfy the Managing Entity’s and/or Department’s 45 
CFR §164.526 obligations;  

5.3.3.12. Maintain and make available the information required to provide an accounting 
of disclosures to a covered entity as needed to satisfy the Managing Entity’s 
and/or Department’s 45 CFR §164.528 obligations; 

5.3.3.13. To the extent the Network Service Provider carries any obligation under 45 CFR 
Subpart E, comply with the requirements of Subpart E that apply to the Managing 
Entity in the performance of that obligation; and  

5.3.3.14. Make internal practices, books, and records available to HHS for determining 
HIPAA rule compliance. 

5.3.4. Network Service Provider and its Subcontractors may only use or disclose PHI as listed below: 

5.3.4.1. To perform obligations under 5.3; 

5.3.4.2. For archival purposes; 

Page 2247 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         LSF Standard Contract, Page 16 of 25 

5.3.4.3. If necessary, for (a) proper management and administration or (b) to carry out 
legal responsibilities; 

5.3.4.4. To disclose only if the disclosure is required by law; or (a) reasonable assurances 
are obtained from the disclose that PHI will be held confidentially and used or 
further disclosed only as required by law or for the purpose for which it was 
disclosed, and (b) the disclose agrees to notify the Network Service Provider of 
any instances in which the confidentiality and security of PHI has been breached; 

5.3.4.5. To aggregate with PHI of other covered entities in its possession through its 
capacity as a Business Associate of such covered entities only to provide 
Managing Entity data analyses relating to Managing Entity health care 
operations (as defined in 45 C.F.R. §164.501); 

5.3.4.6. To conform with 45 CFR §164.514(b) in de-identifying PHI; or 

5.3.4.7. follow marketing, fundraising and research guidance in 45 CFR §164.501, 45 
CFR follow marketing, fundraising and research guidance in 45 CFR §164.501, 
45 CFR. 

5.3.5. Managing Entity and/or Department Notifications Affecting Network Service Provider 
Disclosure of PHI 

The Managing Entity will notify the Network Service Provider, to the extent it may affect Network 
Service Provider’s use or disclosure of PHI: of 45 CFR §164.520 limitations in the Notice of 
Privacy Practices; of changes in, or revocation of, an individual’s permission to use or disclose 
PHI; or of any restriction on the use or disclosure of PHI information the Managing Entity has 
agreed to or is required to abide by under 45 CFR §164.522. 

5.3.6. Termination Regarding PHI 

5.3.6.1. Termination for Cause. Upon the Managing Entity’s knowledge of a material breach 
of the Network Service Provider’s duties under 5.3, the Managing Entity may: (a) 
Provide the Network Service Provider opportunity to cure the breach within the 
Managing Entity and/or Department’s specified timeframe; (b) Immediately terminate 
Contract or discontinue access to PHI; or (c) If termination or cure are not feasible, the 
Managing Entity will report the breach to the Secretary of HHS. 

5.3.6.2. Network Service Provider Obligations Upon Termination. Upon termination, the 
Network Service Provider, with respect to PHI received from the Managing Entity, or 
created, maintained, or received on behalf of the Managing Entity, will: (a) retain only 
PHI necessary to continue proper management and administration or to carry out legal 
responsibilities; (b) return PHI not addressed in (a) to the Managing Entity, or its 
designee; (c) upon the Managing Entity’s permission, destroy PHI the Network Service 
Provider maintains in any form; (d) continue to use appropriate safeguards and comply 
with Subpart C of 45 CFR 164 with respect to electronic PHI to prevent use or 
disclosure of PHI, other than as provided for in (a) for retained PHI; (e) not use or 
disclose retained PHI other than for purposes for which PHI was retained and subject 
to the same conditions which applied prior to termination; and (f) comply with (b) and 
(c) when retained PHI is no longer needed under (a). 

5.3.6.3. Obligations under 5.3.6.2 survive termination. 

a. Training Requirements 

i. The Network Service Provider shall provide the latest Departmental DCF HIPAA 
Basics Training to all persons prior to granting access to the Managing Entity and/or 
Department’s information systems or any client or other confidential information. 

5.4. Information Security 

Page 2248 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         LSF Standard Contract, Page 17 of 25 

The Network Service Provider shall comply, and be responsible for ensuring subcontractor 
compliance as if they were the Network Service Provider, with the following information security 
requirements whenever the Network Service Provider or its subcontractors have access to Managing 
Entity and/or Department information systems or maintain any client or other confidential information 
in electronic form: 

5.4.1. The Network Service Provider shall designate an Information Security Officer competent to 
liaise with the Managing Entity and/or Department on security matters and maintain an 
appropriate level of information security for the Managing Entity and/or Department’s 
information systems, or any client or other confidential information the Network Service 
Provider is collecting or using in the performance of this Contract. An appropriate level of 
security includes approving and tracking all who request or have access, through the 
Network Service Provider’s access, to any Managing Entity and/or Department information 
systems or any client of other confidential information. The Information Security Officer will 
ensure that any access to the Managing Entity and/or Department information systems or 
any client or other confidential information is removed immediately upon such access no 
longer being required for Network Service Provider’s performance under this Contract. 

5.4.2. The Network Service Provider shall provide the latest Departmental Security Awareness 
Training to all persons prior to granting access to the Managing Entity and/or Department’s 
information systems or any client or other confidential information. The Network Service 
Provider shall require all persons granted access to comply with, and be provided a copy of 
CFOP 50-2, and will sign the Department’s Security Agreement (Form CF 0112) annually. 

5.4.3. The Network Service Provider shall prevent unauthorized disclosure or access, from or to 
Managing Entity and/or Department information systems or client or other confidential 
information. Clients of other confidential information on systems and network capable 
devices shall be encrypted per CFOP 50-2. The Network Service Provider shall require 
the same of all subcontractors. 

5.4.4. The Network Service Provider shall notify the Network Manager within 120 hours, following 
the determination of any potential or actual unauthorized disclosure or access to the 
Department’s information systems or to any client or other confidential information. The 
Network Service Provider shall require the same of all subcontractors. 

5.4.5. The Network Service Provider shall, at its own cost, comply with §501.171, F.S. The 
Network Service Provider shall also, at its own cost, implement measures deemed 
appropriate by the Managing Entity to avoid or mitigate potential injury to any person due to 
potential or actual unauthorized disclosure or access to Managing Entity and/or Department 
information systems or to any client or other confidential information. The Network Service 
Provider shall require the same of all subcontractors. 

5.4.6. The Network Service Provider’s confidentiality procedures shall be at least as protective as 
the most recent version of the Department’s security policies and comply with any applicable 
professional confidentiality standards. 

5.5. Public Records 

5.5.1. The Network Service Provider shall allow public access to all documents, papers, letters, or 
other public records as defined in §119.011(12), F.S., made or received by the Network 
Service Provider in conjunction with this Contract except that public records which are made 
confidential by law must be protected from disclosure. Should the Network Service 

Page 2249 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         LSF Standard Contract, Page 18 of 25 

Provider’s fail to comply with this provision the Managing Entity may unilaterally terminate 
the Contract. 

5.5.2. As required be §119.0701., F.S., to the extent the Network Service Provider is acting on 
behalf of the Managing Entity the Network Service Provider shall:  

5.5.2.1. Maintain public records that ordinarily and necessarily would be required by the 
Managing Entity to perform the service. 

5.5.2.2. Upon request from the Managing Entity’s custodian of public records, provide to 
the Managing Entity a copy of requested records or allow the records inspected 
or copied within a reasonable time at a cost that does not exceed the cost 
provided in chapter 119, F.S., or as otherwise provided by law. 

5.5.2.3. Ensure public records exempt or confidential and exempt from public records 
disclosure requirements are not disclosed except as authorized by law during 
this Contract term and following completion of this Contract if the Network 
Service Provider does not transfer the records to the Managing Entity. 

5.5.2.4. Upon completion of this Contract, transfer, at no cost, to the Managing Entity all 
public records in possession of the Network Service Provider or keep and 
maintain public records required by the Managing Entity to perform the service. 
If the Network Service Provider transfers all public records to the Managing Entity 
upon completion of this Contract, the Network Service Provider shall destroy any 
duplicate public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from public 
records disclosure requirements. If the Network Service Provider keeps and 
maintains public records upon completion of this Contract, the Network Service 
Provider shall meet all applicable requirements for retaining public records. All 
records stored electronically must be provided to the Managing Entity, upon 
request from the Managing Entity’s custodian of public records, in a format 
compatible with the information technology systems of the Managing Entity. 

5.5.3. IF THE PROVIDER HAS QUESTIONS REGARDING THE APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 
119, F.S., TO THE PROVIDER’S DUTY TO PROVIDE PUBLIC RECORDS RELATING TO 
THIS CONTRACT, CONTACT THE CUSTODIAN OF PUBLIC RECORDS AT 850-487-
1111, OR BY EMAIL AT DCFCustodian@MYFLFAMILIES.COM, OR BY MAIL AT: 
DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN AND FAMILIES, 2415 NORTH MONROE STREET, 
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32303. 

6.  INSPECTIONS, PENALTIES, AND TERMINATION   

6.1. Financial Penalties for Failure to Take Corrective Action. 

6.1.1. In accordance with the provisions of §402.73(1), F.S., and Rule 65-29.001, F.A.C., should 
the Managing Entity require a corrective action to address noncompliance under this 
Contract, incremental penalties listed in 6.1.2 through 6.1.3 shall be imposed for the Network 
Service Provider’s failure to achieve the corrective action. These penalties are cumulative 
and may be assessed upon each separate failure to comply with instructions from the 
Managing Entity to complete corrective action, but shall not exceed 10% of the total Contract 
payments during the period in which the corrective action plan has not been implemented 
or in which acceptable progress toward implementation has not been made. These penalties 
do not limit or restrict the Managing Entity’s application of any other remedy available to it 
under law or this Contract. 

6.1.2. The increments of penalty imposition that shall apply, unless the Managing Entity 
determines that extenuating circumstances exist, shall be based upon the severity of the 
noncompliance, nonperformance, or unacceptable performance that generated the need for 
corrective action plan, in accordance with the following standards.  

Page 2250 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         LSF Standard Contract, Page 19 of 25 

6.1.2.1. Noncompliance that is determined by the Managing Entity to have a direct effect 
on client health and safety shall result in the imposition of a 10% penalty of the 
total Contract payments during the period in which the corrective action plan has 
not been implemented or in which acceptable progress toward implementation 
has not been made. 

6.1.2.2. Noncompliance involving the provision of service not having a direct effect on 
client health and safety shall result in the imposition of a  
5% penalty.  

6.1.2.3. Noncompliance as a result of unacceptable performance of administrative tasks 
shall result in the imposition of a 2% penalty. 

6.1.3. The deadline for payment shall be as stated in the Managing Entity order imposing financial 
penalties. Financial penalties will be deducted from the Network Service Provider invoice in 
the month following imposition. 

6.2. Termination 

6.2.1. The Managing Entity may terminate this Contract without cause upon no less than 30 days’ 
Notice in writing to the Network Service Provider unless another time is mutually agreed 
upon in writing. 

6.2.2. The Network Service Provider may terminate this Contract upon no less than 120 days’ 
Notice in writing to the Managing Entity unless another time is mutually agreed upon in 
writing. 

6.2.3. In the event funds for payment pursuant to this Contract becomes unavailable, the Managing 
Entity may terminate this Contract upon no less than 24 hours’ Notice in writing to the 
Network Service Provider. The Managing Entity is the final authority as to the availability 
and adequacy of funds. 

6.2.4. In the event the Network Service Provider fails to fully comply with the terms and conditions 
of this Contract, the Managing Entity may terminate the Contract upon no less than 24 hours’ 
Notice to the Provider, excluding Saturday, Sunday, and Holidays. Such Notice may be 
issued without providing an opportunity for cure if it specifies the nature of the 
noncompliance and states that provision for cure would adversely affect the interests of the 
State or is not permitted by law or regulation. Otherwise, Notice of termination will be issued 
after the Network Service Provider’s failure to fully cure such noncompliance within the time 
specified in a Notice of noncompliance issued by the Managing Entity and/or Department 
specifying the nature of the noncompliance and the actions required to cure such 
noncompliance. The Managing Entity’s failure to demand performance of any provision of 
this Contract shall not be deemed a waiver of such performance. The Managing Entity’s 
waiver of any one breach of any provision of this Contract is a waiver of any other breach 
and neither event is a modification of the terms and conditions of this Contract. 6.2 does not 
limit the Managing Entity’s right to legal or equitable remedies. 

6.2.5. Failure to have performed any Contractual obligations under any other Contract with the 
Managing Entity in a manner satisfactory to the Managing Entity shall be sufficient cause 
for termination. Termination shall be upon no less than 24 hours’ Notice to the Network 
Service Provider and only if the Network Service Provider: 

6.2.5.1. Previously failed to satisfactorily perform in a Contract with the Managing Entity, 
was notified by the Managing Entity of the unsatisfactory performance, and failed 
to timely correct the unsatisfactory performance to the satisfaction of the 
Managing Entity; or 

6.2.5.2. Had any other Contract terminated by the Managing Entity for cause. 

Page 2251 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         LSF Standard Contract, Page 20 of 25 

6.2.6. In the event of termination under 6.2.1 or 6.2.3., the Network Service Provider shall be 
compensated for any work satisfactorily completed through the date of termination or an 
earlier date of suspension of work. 

6.2.7. If this Contract is for an amount of $1 million or more, the Managing Entity may terminate 
this Contract at any time the Network Service Provider is found to have falsely certified under 
§287.135, F.S., or been placed on the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in Sudan List 
or the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in the Iran Petroleum Energy Sector List. 
Regardless of the amount of this Contract, the Managing Entity may terminate this Contract 
at any time the Network Service Provider is found to have been placed on the Scrutinized 
Companies that Boycott Israel List or is engaged in a boycott of Israel. 

7.  OTHER TERMS 

7.1. Governing Law and Venue 

This Contract is executed and entered into in the State of Florida, performed and enforced in all 
respects in accordance with Florida law, without regard to Florida provisions for conflict of laws. 
Courts of competent jurisdiction in Florida shall have exclusive jurisdiction in any action regarding this 
Contract and venue shall be in Leon County, Florida. Unless otherwise provided in other provision or 
amendment hereof, any amendment, extension or renewal (when authorized) may be executed in 
counterparts.  

7.2. No Other Terms 

There are no provisions, terms, conditions, or obligations other than those contained herein, and this 
Contract shall supersede all previous communications, representations, or agreements, either verbal 
or written between the parties. This Contract does not include any resulting invoice, website, “click 
through”, online, or other agreement absent specific reference in this Contract and then only the 
version extant the date of the first Contract signature. 

7.3. Interpretation, Severability of Terms 

Contract terms are not more strictly construed against any party. If a term is struck by a court, the 
balance is voidable only by the Managing Entity. 

7.4. Survival of Terms 

Absent a provision expressly stating otherwise, provisions concerning obligations of the Network 
Service Provider and remedies available to the Managing Entity survive the End Date. The Network 
Service Provider’s performance pursuant to such surviving provisions is without further payment. 

7.5. Modifications 

Modifications of provisions of this Contract are valid only when they have been reduced to writing and 
duly signed by both parties. The rate of payment and the total dollar amount may be adjusted 
retroactively to reflect price level increases and changes in the rate of payment when these have 
been established through the appropriations process and subsequently identified in the Managing 
Entity's operating budget and approved by the Department. 

7.6. Anticompetitive Agreements 

The Network Service Provider shall not offer, enter into nor enforce any formal or informal agreement 
with any person, firm or entity under which the parties agree to refrain from competing for any future 
service Contract or limit in any manner the ability of either party to obtain employment by or provide 
services to the Managing Entity or a provider of services to the Managing Entity. 

7.7. SECTION INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

7.8. Unauthorized Aliens.  

Page 2252 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         LSF Standard Contract, Page 21 of 25 

7.8.1. Unauthorized aliens shall not be employed. Employment of unauthorized aliens shall be 
cause for unilateral cancellation of this Contract by the Managing Entity for violation of 
§274A of the Immigration and Nationality Act. The Network Service Provider and its 
subcontractors will enroll in and use the E-Verify system established by the U.S. Department 
of Homeland Security to verify the employment eligibility of its employees and its 
subcontractors’ employees performing under this Contract. Employees assigned to the 
Contract means all persons employed or assigned (including subcontractors) by the 
Network Service Provider or a subcontractor during the Contract term to perform work 
pursuant to this Contract within the United States and its territories. 

7.8.2. The Network Service Provider represents and warrants that no part of the funding under this 
Contract will be used in violation of any federal or state law, including, but not limited to, 8 
U.S.C. §1324 or 8 U.S.C. §1325, or to aid or abet another in violating federal or state law. 
The Managing Entity may terminate this Contract at any time if the Network Service Provider 
violates, or aids or abets another in violating, any state or federal law. 

7.9. Public Entity Crime and Discriminatory Contractors 

Pursuant to §§287.133 and 287.134, F.S., the following restrictions are placed on the ability of 
persons placed on the convicted vendor list or the discriminatory vendor list. When a person or affiliate 
has been placed on the convicted vendor list following a conviction for a public entity crime, or an 
entity or affiliate has been placed on the discriminatory vendor list, such person, entity or affiliate may 
not submit a bid, proposal, or reply on a Contract to provide any goods or services to a public entity; 
may not submit a bid, proposal, or reply on a Contract with a public entity for the construction or the 
repair of a public building or public work; may not submit bids, proposals, or replies on leases of real 
property to a public entity; may not be awarded or perform work as a Contractor, supplier, 
subcontractor, or consultant under a Contract with any public entity; and may not transact business 
with any public entity; provided, however, the prohibition on persons or affiliates placed on the 
convicted vendor list is limited to business in excess of the threshold amount provided in §287.017, 
F.S., for CATEGORY TWO for 36 months from the date of being placed on the convicted vendor list. 

7.10. PRIDE 

It is expressly understood and agreed that any articles which are the subject of, or required to carry 
out, this Contract shall be purchased from the corporation identified under chapter 946, F.S., in the 
same manner and under the same procedures set forth in §§946.515(2) and (4), F.S.; and for 
purposes of this Contract the person, firm, or other business entity carrying out the provisions of this 
Contract shall be deemed to be substituted for this agency insofar as dealings with such corporation 
are concerned. 

7.11. Continuing Oversight Teams 

The Network Service Provider shall comply with the provisions of §287.057(26), F.S., as applicable, 
establishing and governing conduct of Continuing Oversight Teams for Contracts of $5 million or 
more. 

7.12. Major Disasters and Emergencies 

The Stafford Act allows federal assistance for major disasters and emergencies upon a declaration 
by the President. Upon the declaration, the Managing Entity and/or Department is authorized to apply 
for federal reimbursement from the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) to aid in 
response and recovery from a major disaster. The Network Service Provider shall request 
reimbursement for eligible expenses through the Department with payment subject to FEMA approval 
and reimbursement. 

7.13. Executive Compensation Reporting 

7.13.1. Annually on or before May 1 Network Service Provider shall complete and return the 
Executive Compensation Annual Report (Form PCMT-08), located at: 
https://www.myflfamilies.com/generalinformation/Contracted-client-services/library 

Page 2253 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         LSF Standard Contract, Page 22 of 25 

7.13.2. In accordance with §216.1366, F.S., if the Network Service Provider is a nonprofit as defined 
in §215.97(2)(m), F.S., the Network Service Provider must provide documentation to the 
Managing Entity and/or Department that indicates the amount of state funds: 

7.13.2.1. Allocated to be used during the full term of the Contract for remuneration to any 
member of the board of directors or an officer of the Contractor. 

7.13.2.2. Allocated under each payment by the public agency to be used for remuneration 
of any member of the board of directors or an officer of the Contractor. The 
documentation must indicate the amounts and recipients of the remuneration. 

7.13.3. If the Network Service Provider maintains a website, information provided pursuant to 7.13.2 
must be posted on the Network Service Provider’s website. 

7.14. Federal Whistleblower Requirements 

Pursuant to §11(c) of the OSH Act of 1970 (29 USC §660(c)) and the subsequent federal laws 
expanding the act, the Network Service Provider is prohibited from discriminating against employees 
for exercising their rights under the OSH Act. Details of the OSH Act are located at: 
http://www.whistleblowers.gov. 

7.15. Post-Award Notice Dissemination 

If the Network Service Provider receives federal or state financial assistance, the Network Service 
Provider will receive a Post-Award Notice (PAN) from the Managing Entity, which will contain 
information required to meet the Managing Entity’s obligations in accordance with 2 CFR Part 200, 
§215.97 F.S., and Rule 69I-5, F.A.C. Network Service Providers with subrecipients receiving federal 
or state financial assistance are required to derive from the PAN information required by the 
regulations cited in this clause, and properly disseminate to subrecipients of federal and state financial 
assistance funds. This requirement follows federal and state financial assistance to subrecipients at 
every tier. 

7.16. Recycled Products 

The Network Service Provider shall procure any recycled products or materials, which are the subject 
of or are required to carry out this Contract, in accordance with the provisions of §403.7065, F.S. 

8.  FEDERAL FUNDS APPLICABILITY 

8.1. Federal Law 

8.1.1. The Network Service Provider shall comply with Federal law and regulations including, 2 
CFR, Part 200, and other applicable regulations.  

8.1.2. If this Contract contains $10,000 or more of Federal Funds, the Network Service Provider 
shall comply with Executive Order 11246, Equal Employment Opportunity, as amended by 
Executive Order 11375 and others, and as supplemented in 41 CFR, Part 60 if applicable. 

8.1.3. If this Contract contains over $150,000 of Federal Funds, the Network Service Provider shall 
comply with all applicable standards, orders, or regulations issued under §306 of the Clean 
Air Act, as amended (42 U.S.C. §7401 et seq.), §508 of the Federal Water Pollution Control 
Act, as amended (33 U.S.C. §1251 et seq.), Executive Order 11738, as amended and where 
applicable, and Environmental Protection Agency regulations (2 CFR, Part 1500). The 
Network Service Provider shall report any violations of the above to the Managing Entity. 

8.1.4. If this Contract contains federal funds and provides services to children up to age 18, the 
Network Service Provider shall comply with the Pro-Children Act of 1994 (20 U.S.C. §6081 
et seq). Failure to comply with the provisions of the law may result in the imposition of a civil 
monetary penalty of up to $1,000 for each violation or the imposition of an administrative 
compliance order on the responsible entity, or both. 

8.1.5. If the Network Service Provider is a federal subrecipient or pass-through entity, then the 
Network Service Provider and its subcontractors who are federal subrecipients or pass-

Page 2254 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         LSF Standard Contract, Page 23 of 25 

through entities are subject to the following: A Contract award (see 2 CFR §180.220) must 
not be made to parties listed on the government-wide exclusions in the System for Award 
Management (SAM), in accordance with the OMB guidelines in 2 CFR, Part 180 that 
implement Executive Orders 12549 and 12689, “Debarment and Suspension.” SAM 
Exclusions contains the names of parties debarred, suspended, or otherwise excluded by 
agencies, as well as parties declared ineligible under statutory or regulatory authority other 
than Executive Order 12549.  

8.1.6. If the Network Service Provider is a federal subrecipient or pass through entity, the Network 
Service Provider and its subcontractors who are federal subrecipients or pass-through 
entities, must determine whether or not its subcontract are being awarded to a “Contractor” 
or a “subrecipient,” as those terms are defined in 2 CFR, Part 200. If a Network Service 
Provider’s subcontractor is determined to be a subrecipient, the Network Service Provider 
must ensure the subcontractor adheres to all the applicable requirements in 2 CFR, Part 
200. 

8.1.7. Drug Free Workplace. If the Network Service Provider is a subrecipient or pass-through 
entity of federal funds originating from HHS, the Network Service Provider must comply with 
drug-free workplace requirements in Subpart B (or Subpart C, if the recipient is an individual) 
of 2 CFR part 382, which adopts the governmentwide implementation (2 CFR Part 182) of 
sec. 5152-5158 of the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988 (Pub. L. 100-690, Title V, Subtitle 
D; 41 U.S.C. 701-707). 

9. CLIENT SERVICES APPLICABILITY 

9.1. Client Risk Prevention.  

If services to clients are to be provided under this Contract, the Network Service Provider and any 
Subcontractors shall, in accordance with the client risk prevention system, report those reportable 
situations listed in Department of Children and Families Operating Procedure (CFOP) 215-6 in the 
manner prescribed in CFOP 215-6 as identified and set forth in Attachment I, Incident Reporting. 
The Network Service Provider shall immediately report any knowledge or reasonable suspicion of 
abuse, neglect, or exploitation of a child, aged person, or disabled adult to the Florida Abuse Hotline 
on the statewide toll-free telephone number 1-800-96ABUSE (1-800-962-2873). As required by 
Chapters 39 and 415, F.S., this provision is binding upon both the Network Service Provider and its 
employees. 

9.2. Emergency Preparedness Plan 

If the tasks to be performed pursuant to this Contract include the physical care or supervision of 
clients, the Network Service Provider shall, within 30 days of the execution of this Contract, submit to 
the Network Manager an emergency preparedness plan which shall include provisions for records 
protection, alternative accommodations for clients in substitute care, supplies, and a recovery plan 
that shall allow the Network Service Provider to continue functioning in compliance with the executed 
Contract in the event of an actual emergency. For disaster planning, the term “supervision” includes 
a child who is under the jurisdiction of a dependency court. Children may remain in their homes, be 
placed in a non-licensed relative/non-relative home or be placed in a licensed foster care setting. No 
later than twelve (12) months following the Managing Entity’s original acceptance of a plan and every 
twelve (12) months thereafter, the Network Service Provider shall submit a written certification that it 
has reviewed its plan, along with any modifications to the plan, or a statement that no modifications 
were found necessary. The Managing Entity agrees to respond in writing within 30 days of receipt of 
the original or updated plan, accepting, rejecting, or requesting modifications. In the event of an 
emergency, the Managing Entity may exercise oversight authority over such Network Service 
Provider in order to assure implementation of agreed emergency relief provisions. 

9.3. Confidential Client and Other Information 

The Network Service Provider shall maintain the confidentiality of all confidential data, files, and 
records related to deliverables and comply with all state and federal laws, including, §§471(a)(8) of 

Page 2255 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         LSF Standard Contract, Page 24 of 25 

the Social Security Act, 106(b)(2)(B) of the Child Abuse Prevention and Treatment Act, 7 U.S.C. 
§2020(e)(8), 42 U.S.C. §602, 2 CFR §200.303, 2 CFR §200.337, 7 CFR §272.1(c), 42 CFR §§2.1-
2.3, 42 CFR §§431.300-306, and 45 CFR §205. Summaries of Florida Statutes providing for 
confidentiality of this and other information are found in Part II of the Attorney General’s Government 
in the Sunshine Manual. 

10. PROPERTY  

10.1. The following only applies to this Contract if funded by state financial assistance. 

10.2. The word "property" in this section means equipment, fixtures, and other property of a 
nonconsumable and nonexpendable nature, the original acquisition cost or estimated fair market 
value of which is $5,000 or more and the normal expected life of which is one year or more. This 
definition also includes hardback-covered bound books circulated to students or the general public, 
the original acquisition cost or estimated fair market value of which is $25 or more, hardback-
covered bound books, the cost or value of which is $250 or more, and all computers. Each item of 
property which it is practicable to identify by marking will be marked in the manner required by the 
Auditor General. Each custodian will maintain an adequate record of property in his or her custody, 
which record will contain such information as will be required by the Auditor General. Once each 
year, on July 1 or as soon thereafter as is practicable, and whenever there is a change of custodian, 
each custodian will take an inventory of property in his or her custody. The inventory will be 
compared with the property record, and all discrepancies will be traced and reconciled. All publicly 
supported libraries will be exempt from marking hardback-covered bound books, as required by this 
section. The catalog and inventory control records maintained by each publicly supported library is 
the property record of hardback-covered bound books with a value or cost of $25 or more included 
in each publicly supported library collection and is a perpetual inventory in lieu of an annual physical 
inventory. All books identified by these records as missing will be traced and reconciled, and the 
library inventory shall be adjusted accordingly. 

10.3. If any property is purchased by the Network Service Provider with funds provided by this Contract, 
the Network Service Provider will inventory all nonexpendable property including all computers. A 
copy of the inventory will be submitted to the Managing Entity along with the expenditure report for 
the period in which it was purchased. At least annually the Network Service Provider will submit a 
complete inventory of all such property to the Managing Entity whether new purchases have been 
made or not. 

10.4. The inventory will include: the identification number; year and/or model, a description of the 
property, its use and condition; current location; the name of the property custodian; class code 
(use state standard codes for capital assets); if a group, record the number and description of the 
components making up the group; name, make, or manufacturer; serial number(s), if any, and if an 
automobile, the Vehicle Identification Number (VIN) and certificate number; acquisition date; 
original acquisition cost; funding source; and, information needed to calculate the federal and/or 
state share of its cost. 

10.5. The Network Manager must provide disposition instructions to the Network Service Provider prior 
to the End Date. The Network Service Provider cannot dispose of any property reverting to the 
Department without the Network Manager’s approval. The Network Service Provider will furnish a 
closeout inventory no later than 30 days before the completion or termination of this Contract. The 
closeout inventory will include all nonexpendable property including all computers purchased by the 
Network Service Provider. The closeout inventory will contain the same information required by the 
annual inventory. 

10.6. The Network Service Provider hereby agrees all inventories required by this Contract will be current 
and accurate and reflect the date of the inventory. If the original acquisition cost of a property item 
is not available at the time of inventory, an estimated value will be agreed upon by both the Network 
Service Provider and the Managing Entity and will be used in place of the original acquisition cost. 

Page 2256 of 2427

DRAFT



Updated 07/01/2025 Contract # FL023  LSF Standard Contract, Page 25 of 25 

10.7. Title (ownership) to and possession of all property purchased by the Network Service Provider 
pursuant to this Contract vests in the Managing Entity upon completion or termination of this 
Contract. During the term of this Contract, the Network Service Provider is responsible for insuring 
all property purchased by or transferred to the Network Service Provider is in good working order. 
The Network Service Provider hereby agrees to pay the cost of transferring title to and possession 
of any property for which ownership is evidenced by a certificate of title. The Network Service 
Provider is responsible for repaying to the Managing Entity, the replacement cost of any property 
inventoried and not transferred to the Department upon completion or termination of this Contract. 
When property transfers from the Network Service Provider to the Managing Entity, the Network 
Service Provider is responsible for paying for the title transfer. 

10.8. If the Network Service Provider replaces or disposes of property purchased by the Network Service 
Provider pursuant to this Contract, the Network Service Provider is required to provide accurate 
and complete information pertaining to replacement or disposition of the property as required on 
the Network Service Provider’s annual inventory. 

10.9. The Network Service Provider will indemnify the Managing Entity against any claim or loss arising 
out of the operation of any motor vehicle purchased by or transferred to the Provider pursuant to 
this Contract. 

10.10. An amendment is required prior to the purchase of any property item not specifically listed in the 
approved budget. 

11. AMENDMENT IMPACT

Any amendment replacing or deleting this page will not affect the below execution.

Managing Entity Contract with The Department. The Contract between the Managing Entity, LSF Health 
Systems, and The Department is incorporated herein by reference. The Contract is available on the LSF Health 
Systems ’ website : https://www.myflfamilies.com/services/substance-abuse-and-mental-health/samh-
providers/managing-entities. 

By Signing this Contract, the parties agree that they have read and agree to the entire Contract, as 
described in 1.6. 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this eighty-nine page Contract to be executed 
by their undersigned officials as duty authorized. 

NETWORK SERVICE PROVIDER: MANAGING ENTITY: 

Lutheran Services Florida, Inc. d/b/a LSF Health Lutheran Services Florida, Inc. d/b/a LSF Health 
Systems  

Signature: _______________________________  Signature: _______________________________  

Print/Type:  Print/Type: 

Name: ___________________________________  Name: Dr. Christine Cauffield      

Title: ____________________________________  Title: CEO  

Date: ____________________________________  Date: ____________________________________ 

Federal Tax ID# (or SNN): 59-6000552 

Provider Fiscal Year Ending Date: 06/30

School District of Clay County - SEDNET 

Page 2257 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 1 of 35 

 

ATTACHMENT I 

A. Services to Be Provided 

1. Definition of Terms 

a. Program and Service Specific Terms  

Unless specifically defined in this contract, definitions for terms used in this document can be found in 
the Department’s Exhibit A1 - Program and Service Specific Terms, which is incorporated herein by 
reference and may be located using the following link for the appropriate fiscal year: 

https://www.myflfamilies.com/services/substance-abuse-and-mental-health/samh-providers/managing-
entities  

b. Program/Service Specific Terms 

(1) Acute Care Services Utilization Database (ACSU). Defined pursuant to §394.9082(10), Fla. 
Stat. 

(2) Behavioral Health Network (BNet). A statewide network of providers of Behavioral Health 
Services that serve children with mental health or substance use disorders, who are ineligible 
for Medicaid, and are determined eligible for Title XXI of the United States Public Health 
Services Act. 

(3) Behavioral Health Services. Substance Abuse and Mental Health (SAMH) Services defined 
pursuant to §394.9082(2)(a), F.S. 

(4) Bed Count. The Network Service Provider’s daily census, which reflects the number of beds 
occupied and the number of beds vacant. 

(5) Block Grants. The Community Mental Health Services (CMHS) Block Grant, pursuant to 42 
U.S.C. § 300x, et. seq. and the Substance Abuse Prevention and Treatment Recovery Services 
(SUPTRS) block grant, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 300x-21, et. seq. 

(6) Community Prevention. Strategies and activities aimed at changing community conditions 
related to substance abuse. It is aimed at larger universal populations and selected sub-
populations, does not track specific individuals and includes environmental strategies designed 
to change one (1) or more community conditions. 

(7) Completed Treatment Plan/Service Plan. Network Services Providers shall ensure all 
treatment plan/service plans and treatment plan reviews/service plan reviews must be signed 
and dated by the client, legal guardian (as applicable for minors) and the service provider team 
member(s) to be considered complete. Exceptions to the requirement for signature of the client's 
legal guardian are outlined in Chapter 397 and 394 F.S. 

(8) Consumer Satisfaction Survey. The SAMH Community Consumer Satisfaction Survey 
(SCCSS) is the survey instrument to be administered, collected, and submitted by the Network 
Service Provider as defined by the Managing Entity in this contract. The SCCSS meets the 
Federal data requirements of the Consumer-Oriented Mental Health Report Card. 

(9) Continuous Quality Improvement (CQI). An ongoing, systematic process of Internal and 
external improvements in service provision and administrative functions, taking into account 
both in process and end of process indicators, in order to meet the valid requirements of 
Individuals Served. For purposes of this contract, CQI shall include quality assurance functions 
including, but not limited to, periodic internal review activities conducted by the Network Service 
Provider and external review activities conducted by the Managing Entity and the Department 
to assure that the agreed upon level of service is achieved and maintained by the Managing 
Entity and its Network Service Providers. CQI shall also include assessing compliance with 

Page 2258 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 2 of 35 

contract requirements, state and federal law and associated administrative rules, regulations, 
and operating procedures, validating quality improvement systems and findings. 

(10) Co-occurring Disorder. Any combination of mental health and substance abuse in any 
individual, whether or not they have been already diagnosed.   

(11) Coordinated System of Care. As defined by § 394.9082(2)(b), F.S. 

(12) Crisis-Diversion Respite Services.  A short-term residential alternative to inpatient psychiatric 
hospitalization for individuals experiencing an acute psychiatric episode. 

(13) Cultural and Linguistic Competence. A set of congruent behaviors and policies that come 
together in a system, agency, or amongst professionals that enable effective work in cross-
cultural situations that provide services that are respectful and responsive to both cultural and 
linguistic needs. 

(14) DCF Data System Guidelines. A document promulgated by the Department that contains 
required data-reporting elements for substance abuse and mental health services, and which 
can be found at the DCF website. 

(15) Department. Florida Department of Children and Families, unless otherwise stated. 

(16) Electronic Health Record (EHR). Defined pursuant to § 408.051(2)(a), F.S. 

(17) Electronic Vault. An information technology system designed to store, manage, and track 
electronic versions of original and scanned documents, and to provide remote document access 
to Department staff. 

(18) Evidence-Based Practice (EBP). As defined by Incorporated Document 2 - Evidence-Based 
Practice Guidelines, which is incorporated herein by reference, and is available online. 

(19) Incorporated Document. A document used to expand or more fully explain the terms and/or 
conditions of a contract which is incorporated as part of the original contract. Not all incorporated 
documents are directly applicable to all Network Service Providers, but are provided as 
reference and guidance. 

(20) Indigent Psychiatric Medication Program, also known as the Indigent Drug Program (IDP). 
Behavioral Health Services provided pursuant to § 394.676, F.S. 

(21) Individual(s) Served. An individual who receives substance abuse or mental health services, 
the cost of which is paid, either in part or whole, by the Managing Entity with Department 
appropriated funds or local match (matching). 

(22) Juvenile Incompetent to Proceed (JITP). "Child," "juvenile", or "youth" as defined in § 
985.03(7), F.S., deemed incompetent to proceed for accused crimes as specified in § 985.19, 
F.S. 

(23) Local Match (Matching). Pursuant to § 394.74(2)(b), F.S., and § 394.76, F.S. 

(24) Managing Entity. As defined pursuant to § 394.9082(2)(e), F.S.  

(25) Mental Health Services. As defined pursuant to § 394.67(16), F.S. 

(26) Mental Health Treatment Facilities. Civil and forensic state Mental Health Treatment Facilities 
serving adults who have been committed for intensive inpatient treatment by a circuit court and 
pursuant to Chapter 394, or Chapter 916, Fla. Stat. 

(27) Network Service Provider. A direct service agency providing Substance Abuse or Mental 
Health Services that is under contract with the Managing Entity and referred to collectively as 
the “Network.” The Network shall consist of a comprehensive array of Behavioral Health 
Services and programs that are designed to meet the local need, are accessible and responsive 
to the needs of Individuals Served, their families, and community stakeholders and include the 
essential elements of a coordinated system of care specified in § 394.4573(2), F.S. 

Page 2259 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 3 of 35 

(28) Operational Costs. The allowable direct expenses incurred by a Network Service Provider in 
performing its contracted functions and delivering its contracted services. 

(29) Opioid Settlement Trust Fund. The purpose of the State Opioid Settlement Trust Fund within 
the Department is to abate the opioid epidemic in accordance with settlement agreements 
reached in opioid-related litigation and bankruptcy, as specified in General Appropriations Acts, 
pursuant to § 20.195, F.S. 

(30) Payor Class. Defined pursuant to §394.461(4)(b), Fla. Stat.  

(31) Prevention. A process involving strategies aimed at the individual or the environment which 
preclude, forestall, or impede the development of substance abuse problems and promote 
healthy development of individuals, families, and communities. 

(32) Program Description. The document the Network Service Provider prepares and submits to 
the Managing Entity for approval prior to the start of the contract period, which provides a 
detailed description of the services to be provided under the contract pursuant to Rule 65E-
14.021, F.A.C. It includes, but is not limited to, a detailed description of each program and 
covered service funded in the contract, the geographic service area, service capacity, staffing 
information, and client and target population to be served. 

(33) Projects for Assistance in Transition from Homelessness (PATH). A federal grant 
established under 42 U.S.C. ss. 290cc-21 – 290cc-35 to support homeless individuals who are 
homeless or at risk of homelessness with mental illnesses, who may also have co-occurring 
substance abuse and mental health treatment needs. 

(34) Protected Health Information (PHI). Any information whether oral or recorded in any form or 
medium that is created or received by a health care Network Service Provider, health plan, 
public health authority, employer, life insurer, school or university, or health care clearinghouse; 
and relates to the past, present, or future physical or mental health or condition of an individual; 
the provision of health care to an individual; or the past, present, or future payment for the 
provision of health care to an individual. 

(35) Risk Assessment. A process for evaluating the threat of damage, loss, liability, or other 
negative occurrence caused by external or internal vulnerabilities that may be avoided through 
pre-emptive action. An effective Risk Assessment prioritizes the extent and degree of 
appropriate monitoring activities conducted by the Managing Entity of Network Service 
Providers. Risk Assessment results shall guide annual monitoring plans including decisions 
regarding type (desk review, on-site), frequency (annual, quarterly, or monthly), and level of 
detail (aggregate or client level data). The Managing Entity’s Risk Assessment for the SOC shall 
evaluate each Network Service provider on factors identified by an internal risk assessment 
committee in compliance with contractual and regulatory requirements. 

(36) Safety Net. The publicly funded Behavioral Health Services and providers that have either 
historically received or currently receive funding appropriated to the Department by the General 
Appropriations Act (GAA). The Safety Net is intended to provide funding to Network Service 
Providers for expenditures that would otherwise be uncompensated costs for services provided 
to individuals in need of services. 

(37) Stakeholders. Individuals or groups with an interest in the provision of treatment services for 
individuals with substance use, mental health, and co-occurring disorders in the county(ies) 
outlined in Attachment I, Scope of Work. This includes, but is not limited to, the key community 
constituents included in § 394.9082(5)., F.S. 

(38) State Mental Health Treatment Facilities. State Mental Health Treatment Facilities serve 
adults who have voluntarily admitted, or court ordered for intensive inpatient treatment by a 
circuit court and pursuant to Chapter 394, F.S. or Chapter 916, F.S. 

(39) Statewide Inpatient Psychiatric Programs (SIPP). Medicaid-funded services to children 
under age 18 provided in a residential treatment center or hospital, licensed by the Agency for 

Page 2260 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 4 of 35 

Health Care Administration (AHCA), which provides diagnostic and active treatment services in 
a secure setting. SIPP providers must be under contract with AHCA and provide these services 
in accordance with Chapter 394, F.S., Chapter 408, F.S., Chapter 409, F.S., and Rule 65E-
9.008(4), F.A.C. 

(40) Submission of Information.  The Submission of Information form is the tool through which the 
Network Service Provider shall make a formal request of the Managing Entity to modify the 
terms under this contract including changes related to funding and programming.   

(41) Submit. Unless otherwise specified, the term “Submit” as used in this Contract shall be 
construed to mean submission of a contractual requirement to the Managing Entity Network 
Manager. 

(42) Substance Abuse and Mental Health Data System (SAMH Data System). Collectively, the 
Department’s web-based data systems for reporting substance abuse and mental health 
services, including the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Information System (SAMHIS), the 
Performance Based Prevention System (PBPS), the Financial and Service Accountability 
Management System (FASAMS) or any replacement systems identified by the Department for 
the reporting of data by the Managing Entity and all Network Service Providers in accordance 
with this Contract.  

(43) Substance Abuse Services. Any of the substance abuse prevention, treatment and clinical 
services defined in § 397.311(26), F.S. 

(44) Supplemental Security Income (SSI) and Social Security Disability Insurance (SSDI) 
Outreach, Access, and Recovery (SOAR). A Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services 
Administration (SAMHSA) technical assistance initiative designed to help individuals increase 
earlier access to SSI and SSDI through improved approval rates on initial Social Security 
applications by providing training, technical assistance, and strategic planning to Network 
Service Providers. 

(45) Temporary Assistance to Needy Families (TANF). As defined by 42 U.S.C. ss. 601, et seq., 
and Chapter 414, F.S.  

(46) Treatment Plan/Service Plan. The individualized treatment plan and/or service plan is an 
individual document developed by treatment staff and the client, which depicts goals and 
objectives for the provision of services within specific treatment environments. 

(47) Treatment Plan/Service Plan Review. The treatment plan/service plan review is a process 
conducted to ensure that treatment goals, objectives and services continue to be appropriate to 
the client’s needs and to assess the client’s progress and continued need for services. The 
treatment plan/service plan review requires the participation of the client and legal guardian (as 
required) and the treatment team identified in the client’s individualized treatment plan as 
responsible for addressing the treatment needs of the client. This must be completed in the 
timelines outlined in State and Federal Laws, Rules and Regulations. All efforts to meet 
timeframes shall be documented in progress notes (i.e. documentation of client session 
cancellations, client no-shows to appointments, etc.). 

(48) Wait List. The Network Service Provider’s requirement to track and provide wait list information 
in the manner provided by Management Entity. A master list for the Network, maintained by a 
Managing Entity and shows: 

(1) The number of individuals waiting for access to the recommended service or program;  

(2) The length of time each individual has been on the waiting list; and 

(3) The interim services provided to the individual.  

2. General Description 

a. General Statement 

Page 2261 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 5 of 35 

(1) The Managing Entity is contracting with School District of Clay County - SEDNET as a Network 
Service Provider, to provide publicly funded Behavioral Health Services, as specified in this contract 
and in the approved program descriptions, pursuant to § 394.9082, Fla. Stat. The services and 
programs specified in this contract shall be available in the following county(ies) Duval, Clay, 
Nassau. The Network Service Provider understands, however, that Individuals who reside in any of 
the counties of the State of Florida can be served by this contract as required by law. 
Funding appropriated through the Department of Children and Families for behavioral health services 
is for the benefit of the state of Florida as a whole.  The county of residence of a person seeking 
behavioral health services shall not be a component of a determination of eligibility for reimbursement 
by the Managing Entity.  Eligibility for behavioral health services funded by this contract is determined 
by §394.674, Fla. Stat., which does not include provision to take into account where the person 
seeking service resides. Therefore, the Network Service Provider understands that it is important that 
there is no wrong door to a person accessing services and the imposition of any residency 
requirement is inconsistent with this.  The Department considers this to be an essential element of 
the behavioral health safety net, referred to in §394.9082(5)(c), Fla. Stat. 

(2) The Managing Entity contracts with qualified service providers to establish a network to provide 
Behavioral Health Services to children, adolescents, adults, and elders, in accordance with Chapters 
394, 397, 916, and §985.03, Fla. Stat., and that is consistent with the State Substance Abuse and 
Mental Health Services Plan dated January 2013, or the latest version thereof. 

b. Authority 

Sections 20.19, 39.001(2), 39.001(4), 394.457(3), 394.74, 394.9082, 397.305(2), 397.305(3), 
397.321(4), Fla. Stat., and Chapter 916, Fla. Stat., provide the Managing Entity with the authority to 
contract for these services.  Additional details regarding the statutory and regulatory framework 
applicable to this contract are provided in Incorporated Document 3 - SAMH Programmatic State and 
Federal Laws, Rules, and Regulations, incorporated herein by reference. 

c. Scope of Work 

(1) Scope of Service 

The Network Service Provider is responsible for the administration and delivery of a comprehensive 
array of Behavioral Health Services including emergency, acute care, residential, outpatient, recovery 
support, consumer support and prevention services, to the target population(s) identified in Section 
A.3. “Individuals to be Served” and in accordance with the outcome measures outlined in Exhibit 
B - Performance Outcome Measures of this contract, pursuant to §394.674, F.S., and in compliance 
with federal requirements.  

(2) The Network Service Provider shall comply with all applicable federal and state laws and 
regulations and all policies, directives and guidelines published by the Managing Entity and the 
Department. In the event the Managing Entity and/or the amends any policies, directives, or 
guidelines after contract execution, the Managing Entity and/or the Department shall provide 
electronic notice to the Network Service Provider.  

(3) Incorporated Document 3 – SAMH Programmatic State and Federal Laws, Rules, and 
Regulations contains additional state and federal laws, rules, and regulations applicable to 
performance under this Contract. 

(4) If receiving Substance Use Prevention, Treatment, and Recovery Services (SUPTRS) and 
the Community Mental Health Services (CMHS) block grant, the Network Service Provider shall 
be responsible for compliance with the applicable requirements. The Managing Entity shall provide 
technical assistance to the Network Services Provider. The Network Services Provider agrees that 

Page 2262 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 6 of 35 

failure to comply with the requirements of these federal block grants represents a material breach of 
this contract, and shall subject the Network Service Provider to performance deficiencies. 

d. Major Contract Goals 

The Managing Entity is contracting with the Network Service Provider, pursuant to § 394.9082, F.S., to plan, 
coordinate, and subcontract for the delivery of community mental health and substance abuse services; to 
improve access to care and promote service continuity; and to support efficient and effective delivery of 
services. 

3. Individuals to be Served 

a. General Description 

(1) The Network Service Provider shall provide Behavioral Health Services to eligible individuals of 
the target population(s) checked below as detailed in Section A.3.b., and, where applicable as per 
this contract, to individuals residing in civil and forensic state Mental Health Treatment Facilities 
pursuant to §394.4573, Fla. Stat., and Rule 65E-15.031 and 65E-15.071, F.A.C. 

(2) The Network Service Provider shall serve the following Minimum Number of Individuals within 
the activities listed in Exhibit L - Covered Service Rates by Program: 

Individuals to be Served 

Table 6 – Network Service Provider Output Measures  
Persons Served for Fiscal Year 2025-2026 

Program Service Category FY Target 

Adult Mental Health 

Residential Care Refer to Exhibit B – Minimum Performance 

Outpatient Care  Refer to Exhibit B – Minimum Performance 

Crisis Care  Refer to Exhibit B – Minimum Performance 

State Hospital Discharges Refer to Exhibit B – Minimum Performance 

Peer Support Services Refer to Exhibit B – Minimum Performance 

Children's Mental Health 

Residential Care Refer to Exhibit B – Minimum Performance 

Outpatient Care Refer to Exhibit B – Minimum Performance 

Crisis Care Refer to Exhibit B – Minimum Performance 

Adult Substance Abuse 

Residential Care Refer to Exhibit B – Minimum Performance 

Outpatient Care Refer to Exhibit B – Minimum Performance 

Detoxification Refer to Exhibit B – Minimum Performance 

Women’s Specific Services Refer to Exhibit B – Minimum Performance 

Injecting Drug Users Refer to Exhibit B – Minimum Performance 

Peer Support Services Refer to Exhibit B – Minimum Performance 

Children's Substance 
Abuse 

Residential Care Refer to Exhibit B – Minimum Performance 

Outpatient Care Refer to Exhibit B – Minimum Performance 

Detoxification Refer to Exhibit B – Minimum Performance 

Prevention Refer to Exhibit B – Minimum Performance 

b. Client Eligibility  

(1) The Network Service Provider shall deliver Behavioral Health services to persons pursuant to 

Page 2263 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 7 of 35 

§394.674, F.S., including those individuals who have been identified as requiring priority by state or 
federal law. These identified priorities include, but are not limited to, the categories in sections (a) 
through (i), below.  Persons in categories (a) and (b) are specifically identified as persons to be given 
immediate priority over those in any other categories. 

(a) Pursuant to 45 C.F.R. §96.131, Network Service Providers shall prioritize admissions with  
pregnant women that inject drugs first, pregnant women second, all other individuals that inject 
drugs third, followed by all other individuals; 

(b) Pursuant to 45 C.F.R. §96.126, compliance with interim services, for injection drug users, by 
Network Service Providers receiving SUPTRS block grant funding and treating injection drug 
users; 

(c) Priority for services to families with children that have been determined to require substance 
abuse and/or mental health services by child protective investigators and also meet the target 
populations in subsections (i) or (ii), below.  Such priority shall be limited to individuals that are 
not enrolled in Medicaid or another insurance program, or require services that are not paid by 
another payor source; 

i. Parents or caregivers in need of adult mental health services pursuant to 
§394.674(1)(a)2., F.S., based upon the emotional crisis experienced from the potential 
removal of children; and 

ii. Parents or caregivers in need of adult substance abuse services pursuant to 
§394.674(1)(c)3., F.S., based on the risk to the children due to a substance use disorder. 

(d) Individuals who reside in civil and forensic State Mental Health Treatment Facilities and 
individuals who are at risk of being admitted into a civil or forensic state Mental Health Treatment 
Facility; 

(e) Individuals who are voluntarily admitted, involuntarily examined or placed under Part I, 
Chapter 394, F.S.; 

(f) Individuals who are involuntarily admitted under Part V, Chapter 397, F.S.; 

(g) Residents of assisted living facilities as required in §394.4574 and §429.075, F.S.; 

(h) Children referred for residential placement in compliance with Chapter 65E-9.008, F.A.C.;  

(i) Inmates approaching the Expiration of Sentence pursuant to Children and Families Operating 
Procedure (CFOP) 155-47: “Processing Referrals from the Department of Corrections;” and 

(j) In the event of a Presidential Major Disaster Declaration, Crisis Counseling Program (CCP) 
services shall be contracted for according to the terms and conditions of any CCP grant award 
approved by representatives of the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) and the 
Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA). 

(2) The Network Service Provider must adopt the American Society of Addiction Medicine (ASAM) 
level of care determination criteria for serving all persons with substance use disorders. The ASAM 
criteria are published at https://www.asam.org/asam-criteria/about-the-asam-criteria. 

c. Client Determination  

(1) The Network Service Provider must comply with the Department’s eligibility requirements for 
Individuals Served, as specified in the Incorporated Document 3 - SAMH Programmatic State and 
Federal Laws, Rules, and Regulations, which is incorporated herein by reference. 

(2) The Managing Entity may delegate determinations to the Network Service Providers, subject to 
the provisions of Section c.(5). 

(3) In no circumstance shall an individual’s county of residence be a factor that denies access to 
services. 

(4) The Network Service Provider shall submit a monthly attestation attached to an invoice to the 

Page 2264 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 8 of 35 

Managing Entity, declaring that, at the time of submission, no other funding source was known for the 
invoiced services. 

(5) The Department, in accordance with state law, is exclusively responsible for defining eligibility of 
Individuals Served for services provided through this Contract. In the event of a dispute, the 
determination made by the Managing Entity in accordance with the Department is final and binding 
on all parties.  

d. Contract Limits 

(1) The Network Service Provider may not seek reimbursement from the Managing Entity for services 
not specified in this contract, or for services provided in excess of the funding amount specified in 
Exhibit C - Projected Operating and Capital Budget. 

(2) The Managing Entity’s obligation to pay for services provided under this contract is expressly 
limited by the availability of funds and subject to annual appropriations by the Department and the 
Legislature. 

(3) The Network Service Provider is expressly prohibited from authorizing or incurring indebtedness 
on behalf of the Managing Entity or Department. 

(4) The Network Service Provider is expressly prohibited from utilizing accounting practices or 
redirecting funds to circumvent legislative intent. 

(5) Services paid for under this contract shall only be provided to eligible children and adults as 
outlined in Section A.3.a. and A.3.b., receiving authorized services within the service area outlined 
in Section A.2.a.(1). 

(6) Pursuant to 45 CFR §96.135(a)(5), the Network Service Provider may not enter into subcontracts 
with a for-profit entity using Block Grant funds unless the for-profit entity subcontract is solely for 
providing goods and services for the Network Service Provider’s own use in meeting its obligations 
under this Contract. A subcontract with a for-profit entity may not provide for services meeting the 
definition of a “subaward” as defined in 2 CFR §200.92, using Block Grant funds. Restriction on the 
use of funds may be obtained from the Exhibit K - Federal Block Grant Requirements, which is 
incorporated herein by reference and may be located on the Managing Entity’s website.  

(7) The Network Service Provider shall not subcontract development, implementation, administrative, 
or monitoring responsibilities without prior written approval from the Managing Entity.  

B. Manner of Service Provision 

1. Service Tasks 

a. The Network Service Provider shall perform all functions necessary for the proper delivery of services 
including, but not limited to, the following: 

(1) Participation in the SOC 

(a) As per this contract, the Network Service Provider is part of an integrated network that promotes 
recovery and resiliency, and meets the Behavioral Health Service needs for the community. As part 
of the SOC, the Network Service Providers services and programs shall be accessible and responsive 
to individuals, families, and community Stakeholders, including, as applicable by this contract: 

a. Residents of assisted living facilities as required in §394.4574 and §429.075, Fla. Stat.; 

b. Persons ordered into involuntary outpatient placement in accordance with §394.4655, Fla. 
Stat.; 

c. Eligible children referred for residential placement in compliance with the guidance 
provided in Rule 65E-9.008(4), F.A.C. and the guidance document Incorporated Document 
6 - Residential Placements Using Statewide Inpatient Psychiatric Programs (SIPP) 
Funding and Referral Process which is incorporated herein by reference; 

Page 2265 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 9 of 35 

d. Inmates approaching the End of Sentence pursuant to Children and Families Operating 
Procedure (CFOP) 155-47; 

e. Forensic-involved individuals pursuant to CFOP 155-18 and the guidance document 
Incorporated Document 7 - Outpatient Forensic Mental Health Services which is 
incorporated herein by reference; 

f. Individuals that are currently in civil and forensic state Mental Health Treatment Facilities, 
committed pursuant to Chapter 394, or 916, Fla. Stat. The guidance document Incorporated 
Document 8 - State Mental Health Treatment Facility Admission and Discharge 
Processes is incorporated herein by reference.  

g. Individuals who are at risk of being admitted into a civil or forensic state Mental Health 
Treatment Facility. This shall include diversionary community treatment and services prior to 
admission. 

(b) As part of the SOC, the Network Service Provider shall collaborate with the Managing Entity to 
provide an adequate and reasonable network of services and programs in terms of geographic 
distribution to meet the service needs of consumers without excessive time and travel requirements. 

(c) The Network Service Provider shall collaborate with the Managing Entity and diverse Stakeholder 
groups to develop and administer community-focused Behavioral Health Services with community 
input. 

(d) Any Network Service Provider delivering substance abuse and/or mental health treatment, 
prevention, and supportive services shall ensure the administration and delivery of appropriate EBPs. 

(e) If applicable per this contract, the Network Service Provider shall coordinate the transition of 
individuals identified as discharge ready from the civil state Mental Health Treatment Facilities back 
to the community.   

(f) If the Network Service Provider is a crisis stabilization unit (CSU) or hospital, they shall participate 
in the Agency for Health Care Administration’s Event Notification System (ENS) by July 1, 2026. 

(g) If the Network Service Provider is a Designated Receiving Facility, they must enter data into the 
Department’s Baker Act data portal. 

(2) Utilization Management 

(a) The Network Service Provider shall develop and implement utilization management strategies 
that shall, at minimum, address the following areas: 

a. Delivery of quality, clinically necessary services to eligible individuals in a timely fashion; 

b. Improvement of clinical outcomes; 

c. Guidelines, standards, and criteria set by regulatory and accrediting agencies are adhered 
to, as appropriate, for the client population; 

d. Clinical evidence is used to make utilization management decisions, taking into account 
the local SOC and the individual’s circumstances; and 

e. The utilization management strategies are integrated with the Network Service Provider’s 
Continuous Quality Improvement (CQI) activities. 

(3) Inspections and Corrective Action  

In addition to the terms of Section 5.1, the following requirements shall apply to this Contract. 

(a) The Network Service Provider shall be monitored in accordance with §402.7305, F.S. and CFOP 
75-8, Policies and Procedures of Contract Oversight. The Network Service Provider shall comply with 
any requests made by the Managing Entity as part of the conduct of such monitoring. At no cost to 
the Managing Entity, the Network Service Provider shall provide complete access to all programmatic, 
administrative, management, budget and financial information related to services provided under this 

Page 2266 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 10 of 35 

contract.  

(b) The Managing Entity will provide a written report to the Network Service Provider within 30 days 
of the monitoring team’s exit. If the report indicates corrective action is necessary, the Network 
Service Provider shall provide a proposed corrective action plan for the Managing Entity’s approval, 
except in the case of threat to life or safety of Individuals Served, in which case the Network Service 
Provider shall take immediate action to ameliorate the threat and associated causes. 

(c) The Network Service Provider shall cooperate at all times with the Managing Entity to conduct 
these reviews and shall provide all documentation requested by the reviewers in a timely manner at 
its administrative office or other location, as determined by the Managing Entity.  

(d) The Network Service Provider shall comply with the Managing Entity and its authorized 
representatives contracted to conduct operational and financial audits in accordance with § 
394.9082(3), F.S. At no cost to the Managing Entity or its authorized representatives, the Network 
Service Provider shall provide the right of access to all programmatic, administrative, management, 
budget, and financial information deemed necessary by the Managing Entity or its authorized 
representatives to complete the required operational and financial audits. This right also includes 
timely and reasonable access to the Network Service Provider’s personnel for the purpose of 
interview and discussion related to such documents or this Contract in general. The Network Service 
Provider shall provide any data or information requested by the Managing Entity or its authorized 
representatives as part of these audits within one business day, unless a later submission date is 
expressly authorized by the Managing Entity. The operational and financial audits of the Network 
Service Provider shall consist of a review of business practices, personnel, financial records, related 
parties, compensation, and other areas as determined by the Managing Entity and shall include the 
following: 

(i) The services administered, the method of provider payment, expenditures, outcomes, 
and other information as determined by the Managing Entity. 

(ii) Referral patterns, including the Network Service Provider’s referral volume; provider 
referral assignments; services referred; length of time to obtain services; and key referral 
performance measures. 

(iii) Provider network adequacy and provider network participation in the Managing Entity's 
available bed platform, the Opioid Data Management System, the Agency for Health 
Care Administration Event Notification Service, and other Department required provider 
data submissions. 

(iv) Audits of the Managing Entity's expenditures and claims that include the following: 

a. Comparison of services administered through the Managing Entity, the outcomes of 
the Managing Entity's expenditures, the Managing Entity's expenditures for 
behavioral health services, and any other information as determined by the 
Department. 

b. Analysis of services funded by the Managing Entity rendered to individuals who are 
also Medicaid beneficiaries to, at a minimum, assess the extent to which the 
Managing Entity is funding services that are also available as covered services under 
the Medicaid program. 

(v) The Managing Entity's and its authorized representatives’ rights of access shall last as 
long as the records are retained. 

(e) The Managing Entity shall perform Risk Assessments to develop an annual monitoring schedule 
of its networked service providers. The monitoring schedule shall distinguish between onsite 
monitoring and desk reviews. The Network Service Provider acknowledges that the Managing Entity 
reserves the right to monitor the Network Service Provider at any time during the contract period. 
Where applicable as per this contract, the Managing Entity shall review a sample of case 
management records to verify that services identified in the community living support plan for 

Page 2267 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 11 of 35 

individuals residing in Assisted Living Facilities with Limited Mental Health Licenses are provided 
pursuant to §394.4574, Fla. Stat. 

(f) The Network Service Provider shall notify the Managing Entity within 24 hours of conditions 
related to the Network Service Provider’s performance that may interrupt the continuity of service 
delivery or involve media coverage. 

(g) The Network Service Provider shall use the results of their compliance monitoring, quality 
improvement reviews, and achievement of performance outcomes measures to improve the quality 
of services they provide. 

(h) The Network Service Provider shall develop a written fraud and abuse prevention policy and 
procedure within 60 days of execution that complies with all state and federal requirements to this 
contract. This protocol shall be approved by the Managing Entity prior to implementation. This policy 
and procedure shall be made available to the Managing Entity upon request. 

(i) The Network Service Provider must maintain compliance with background screening for all staff 
and volunteers in accordance with the Lutheran Services Florida Standard Contract. 

(j) The Network Service Provider is required to: 

1. Afford access to services based on the needs of the Individuals Served; 

2. Possess all licenses and credentials necessary to legally render the services being 
provided; and 

3. Facilitate the execution of a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with the appropriate 
Federally Qualified Health Center (FQHC), County Health Department (CHD), publicly funded 
medical clinic, or tax-assisted hospital, with the exception of those Network Service Providers 
that only provide non-client specific services. 

(4) Continuous Quality Improvement (CQI) 

(a) The Network Service Provider shall maintain CQI activities that ensure the provision of quality 
Behavioral Health Services and consistently achieves positive outcomes. The Network Service 
Provider shall incorporate trending data from incidents and complaints into the quality 
improvement process to mitigate risk and improve quality of services. 

(b) The Network Service Provider acknowledges that Managing Entity shall communicate any 
identified performance issues and/or trends to the Network Service Provider and the Department. 

(c) The Network Service Provider shall actively participate in the Managing Entity and the 
Department’s local and statewide processes for quality assurance and quality improvement. 

(d) The Managing Entity and the Network Service Provider shall cooperate with the Department 
when investigations are conducted regarding a regulatory complaint relevant to a licensed facility 
operated by one of the Managing Entity’s Network Service Providers. 

(e) The Managing Entity and the Network Service Provider shall integrate the Department’s 
current initiatives, new state and federal requirements, and policy initiatives into its operations. 

(5) Training 

(a) The Network Service Provider will attend all trainings and technical assistant events required 
by the Managing Entity. 

(b) The Network Service Provider shall implement training of its staff which incorporates best 
practices identified by nationally recognized organizations in behavioral health, EBPs, and 
findings from monitoring, clinical supervision, and CQI. 

(c) The Network Service Provider is required to promote the implementation of EBPs through: 

1. Sub-contracting requirements; 

2. Program development and design; 

Page 2268 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 12 of 35 

3. Staff Development and Training; and 

4. A quality improvement process that includes internal monitoring of the implementation 
of EBPs. 

(d) Documentation of the Network Service Provider’s staff development and training must be 
maintained by the Network Service Provider and be available for review by the Managing Entity 
upon request. 

(6) Data Collection, Reporting, and Analysis 

(a) The Network Service Provider shall develop and implement policies and procedures that 
protect and maintain the confidentiality of sensitive information of Individuals Served, relative to 
paper and computer-based file system (mainframes, servers and laptops). 

(b) The Network Service Provider shall comply with the Health Insurance Portability and 
Accountability Act (HIPAA) of 1996, 42 U.S.C. and 45 C.F.R. Part 164, and require that all 
subcontractors that come into contact with protected health information comply with HIPAA. 

(c) The Network Service Provider shall develop and submit within 30 days prior to termination or 
transition of program services or 90 days prior to contract expiration, a record transition plan to 
be implemented in the case of contract termination or non-renewal by either party, in accordance 
with the Incorporated Document 11 - Managing Entity Expiration/Termination Transition 
Planning Requirements, which is incorporated herein by reference.  The plan shall comply with 
HIPAA and 42 C.F.R. requirements. The Lutheran Services Florida Standard Contract sets forth 
and outlines the termination provisions and transition activities of this contract. 

(d) The Network Service Provider must maintain accurate and timely data entry required for 
performance outcomes measurement, in accordance with established business requirements for 
data submission, and §394.74(3)(e), F.S. The data must: 

i. Enable expenditures to be tracked by program, fund type, and service; 

ii. Capture service utilization by type and recipient; and  

iii. Document quality of care, access to services, and outcomes for each individual served 
within the Network. 

iv. Capture client-specific data, such as: 

1. Client demographics; 

2. Procedure codes; 

3. Primary and secondary diagnoses;; 

4. Any relevant Z code(s); and 

5. Provider type. 

(e) The Network Service Provider shall electronically submit all data, as specified in DCF Data 
System Guidelines, to the Managing Entity in the manner provided by Managing Entity by the 
eighth (8th) of each month and ad hoc requests in adherence to the identified deadline. The 
Managing Entity may require alternative reporting due dates for certain programs through the 
incorporated programmatic guidance documents. The Managing Entity reserves the right to 
require certain data that is needed for specified ad hoc, federal discretionary grants, or other 
needs prior to the eighth (8th) of each month. 

(f) If a data reporting system is down, inaccessible, or otherwise unusable, all data required for 
submission under this Contract must be submitted to the Department as soon as the system is 
available, or alternative solutions will be provided. 

(g) The Network Service Provider is responsible for notifying the Network Manager within five (5) 
business days of any changes to personnel access to all Managing Entity reporting systems; 

Page 2269 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 13 of 35 

Department web portal accounts, including access to IRAS and the Department of Corrections 
(DOC) Aftercare Referral System; so that the Management Entity can terminate access to 
accounts, as applicable. 

(h) The Network Service Provider’s data officer or designee shall participate in the Managing 
Entity’s Datae conference calls, meetings, and training events. 

(i) The Network Service Provider is responsible for the fidelity and validity of submitted data 
provided to the Managing Entity. 

(j) The Network Service Provider shall correct any erroneous/rejected records for resubmission 
to the Managing Entity in the manner provided by the Managing Entity within ten (10) business 
days of receipt of error/rejection message.  In the event that correction is not possible, the Network 
Service Provider will collaborate with the Managing Entity to correct the error as quickly as 
possible.  

(k) In the event the Network Service Provider’s total monthly submission per data set results in a 
rejection rate greater than five percent for two consecutive months, the Network Service Provider 
shall submit a Corrective Action Plan (CAP) within ten (10) business days of the second deficient 
month that includes a timeline for correcting all prior data rejections and outlines a solution to 
correctly submit the required records.  

(l) The Managing Entity will provide a monthly data acceptance rate report to the Network Service 
Provider. The Network Service Provider shall maintain a minimum 95% data acceptance rate. In 
the event the Network Service Provider’s total monthly submission per data set results in an 
acceptance rate less than 95% for two consecutive months, the Network Service Provider shall 
submit a Corrective Action Plan (CAP) within ten (10) business days of the second deficient month 
that includes a timeline for correcting all prior data deficiencies and outlines a solution to correctly 
submit the required records.  

(m) Pursuant to §394.461(4)(a)-(c), Fla. Stat., any Network Service Provider that has a facility 
designated as a public receiving facility, and is a part of the Managing Entity’s SOC, shall report 
the appropriate SAMH-related Payor Class data. The Network Service Provider shall submit 
Payor Class data for the fiscal year ending June 30th, in the format and directions provided by the 
Managing Entity, no later than sixty (60) days following the end of the state fiscal year. 

(n) The Network Service Provider is required to collect and submit all data required as a result of 
this contract, including Federal and State grant awards. Data shall be submitted accurately and 
completely within the specified timeframes as established by the Managing Entity. 

(o) The Network Service Provider must discharge client records in the Managing Entity’s reporting 
system after six months of inactivity. 
(p) If the Network Service Provider is a public receiving facility, detoxification facility, and/or an 
addictions receiving facility, the Network Service Provider must collect and submit the acute care 
service utilization data specified in § 394.9082(10), F.S., according to the timeframes established 
therein, using a file transfer protocol process or a web portal developed by the Managing Entity. 

(7) Fiscal Responsibility Function 

(a) The Network Service Provider shall comply with Incorporated Document 19 – Federal Grant 
Financial Management Requirements. 

(b) The Network Service Provider and entities the Network Service Provider subcontracts with 
shall be fiscally sound, and can adequately ensure the accountability of public funds. 

(c) The Network Service Provider’s financial management and accounting system must have the 
capability to generate financial reports by fund source, individual service recipient utilization, and 
cost, which, at minimum, will meet federal requirements for the Block Grants. 

(d) The Network Service Provider shall ensure that it budgets and accounts for revenues and 
expenditures are in accordance with Chapter 65E-14, F.A.C. 

Page 2270 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 14 of 35 

(e) The Network Service Provider shall ensure that all accounting systems and accounting 
procedures and practices conform to generally accepted accounting principles and standards. 

(8) Incident Reporting 

(a)  The Network Service Provider is required to notify the Managing Entity of all possible critical 
incidents, as defined in the Department CFOP 215-6 Incident Reporting and Client Risk 
Prevention (dated April 1, 2013 or most recent version), which is incorporated herein by reference. 
This requirement is met through the Network Service Provider’s direct reporting into the 
Department’s Incident Reporting and Analysis System (IRAS), within twenty-four (24) hours of the 
incident occurring. 

(b) The Network Service Provider must have written policies and procedures in place to ensure 
the timely and accurate reporting of critical incidents to the Managing Entity. 

(c)  The Network Service Provider shall designate at least one (1) staff person to be the Incident 
Coordinator, or similar title, for the provider/agency. This person shall manage the Network 
Service Provider’s incident notification process, and shall be the identified single point of contact 
for the Managing Entity regarding incident reporting. Additional staff may be designated to enter 
incident information into the IRAS at the discretion of the Network Service Provider.  

(d) The Network Service Provider shall notify the Managing Entity’s CQI Specialist in writing of 
the name and contact information of the designated Incident Coordinator(s). 

(e) The Network Service Provider shall, within five (5) business days, submit written notification 
to the Managing Entity’s CQI Specialist of any change in the Incident Coordinator position, 
identifying the name and contact information of the successor. 

(f) The Network Service Provider is required to notify the Managing Entity of all possible critical 
incidents, via direct data entry into IRAS within 24 hours of the incident occurring. This includes 
weekends and holidays. 

(g) In the event of a death of an individual served which occurs on any of the Network Service 
Provider’s service delivery sites, the Network Service Provider is required to provide an electronic 
submission into IRAS and notify the Managing Entity via telephone of the death within 24 hours 
of the occurrence. Calling the Managing Entity, in addition to IRAS submission, also applies to 
elopement of a child or court-ordered adult and any incident involving active media involvement. 
Network Service Providers may call the Managing Entity’s Access to Care Line, requesting to 
speak to a member of the Clinical Department at (877) 229-9098. 

(h) When information is found to be missing from an incident report, a request by the Managing 
Entity shall be sent to the Network Service Provider for completion. Network Service Providers 
have 24 hours from the date/time of the request to submit missing information back to the 
Managing Entity, as well as update the incident report in the IRAS system. 

(i) The Network Service Provider shall cooperate with the Managing Entity and Department when 
investigations are conducted regarding a regulatory complaint relevant to a licensed facility 
operated by one of the Managing Entity's Network Service Providers. 

(9) SAMH Community Consumer Satisfaction Survey (SCCSS) 

(a)  The Substance Abuse and Mental Health (SAMH) Community Consumer Satisfaction Survey 
(SCCSS) is based on a survey instrument for adults and children originally developed by the 
Mental Health Statistics Improvement Project (MHSIP) Task Force sponsored by the SAMHSA, 
Center for Mental Health Services (CMHS), to meet the Federal data requirements of the 
Consumer-Oriented Mental Health Report Card. 

Page 2271 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 15 of 35 

(b) The Network Service Provider is responsible for collecting and submitting survey data as specified 
in this contract, and per DCF  
Data System Guidelines. The Managing Entity has developed a collection and reporting system 
in which the required survey data is measured each quarter and reviewed on an ongoing timeline 
throughout the year. The Department requires that the content of the survey instrument remain 
the same. The core questions and domains for these questions cannot be modified, but additional 
questions may be incorporated if the Managing Entity has cause to add items.  

(c) The Network Service Provider shall: 

1. Have written policies and procedures in place for the collection and ongoing submission 
of consumer satisfaction survey data to the Managing Entity in the manner provided by 
Management Entity. 

2. Meet each quarterly survey submission quota by the quarterly deadline as defined by the 
Managing Entity for each program area the Network Service Provider serves. Failure to meet 
quarterly compliance and/or end-of-year compliance may result in a CAP.  

3. Collect and report survey data for Individuals Served in each of the following four program 
areas, as specified in this contract:  

a. Group 1: Adult Mental Health (AMH)  

b. Group 2: Adult Substance Abuse (ASA)  

c. Group 3: Children’s Mental Health (CMH)  

d. Group 4: Children’s Substance Abuse (CSA) 

DIRECTION TO PROVIDERS ON HOW TO CALCULATE QUARTERLY SURVEY SUBMISSION TOTALS 

 AMH CMH ASA CSA 

 

Prior 
FY 

Served 

Sample 
Size 

Prior 
FY 

Served 

Sample 
Size 

Prior 
FY 

Served 

Sample 
Size 

Prior 
FY 

Served 

Sample 
Size 

Provider  

See DCF  
Data 

System 
Guidelines 

 

See DCF  
Data 

System 
Guidelines 

 

See DCF  
Data 

System 
Guidelines 

 

See DCF  
Data 

System 
Guidelines 

Quarterly Quota for (PROVIDER NAME HERE): _______  ANNUAL QUOTA: _______ 

To calculate quarterly quota: take the annual minimum sample size total and divide by 4 to identify quarterly 
target for surveys, repeat for each program area. 

Per DCF Data System Guidelines:  
Short-term programs with less than 30 days length of stay are exempt from the survey guidelines. These 
programs include, but may not be limited to, the following: detoxification-only, CSU-only, assessment-only 
services or non-client specific services (e.g., prevention). 

4. The Network Service Provider shall submit electronically all consumer survey responses 
to the Managing Entity in the manner provided by Management Entity. 

(10) Wait List 

Page 2272 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 16 of 35 

Wait list information may be used by the Managing Entity as part of the utilization management and 
continuous quality improvement plans to identify needs and gaps in services across the SOC. 

(a) The Network Service Provider shall: 

1. Have written procedures in place to accurately track and ensure the maintenance of a 
complete wait list, by program or service type, for their agency. Procedures should include 
reference to the submission of data to the Managing Entity in the manner provided by the 
Managing Entity.  

2. Only Prevention and Non-Client Specific services are exempt from maintaining a wait list. 
All other program services must track access and availability of care via maintenance of a 
wait list. 

3. Count those individuals who have been screened and meet criteria and are deemed in 
need of substance abuse or mental health treatment services from the Network Service 
Provider. 

4. When an individual is receiving interim services while awaiting admission into the 
recommended treatment service, that individual is reported on the wait list as waiting for the 
recommended service. 

5. The provider is required to identify and note any interim services being provided to the 
consumer while on the wait list. 

6. The Network Service Provider is required to enter consumers on a wait list in accordance 
with the DCF  
Data System Guidelines and via the manner provided by the Managing Entity. 

7. The provider may be subject to a CAP as a result of identified reporting issues or 
deficiencies. 

(b) General Policies and Considerations 

The following time frames shall be used for placing an individual on the wait list:  

1. Any individual waiting longer than four (4) days for a residential bed for either mental health 
or substance abuse shall go on a wait list.  

2. Any individual waiting longer than four (4) days for a bed in Detox shall go on a wait list. 

3. Any individual waiting longer than fourteen (14) days for outpatient services (both mental 
health and substance abuse), intervention (substance abuse only), or methadone services, 
shall go on a wait list. 

4. Any individual waiting longer than fourteen (14) days for a non-mental health funded 
service shall go on a wait list.  

5. Any individual referred to a state treatment facility shall go on a wait list once the packet 
is considered complete. 

Guidelines for maintaining a wait list specific to Substance Abuse Services: 

1. Any individual who has been screened and is in need of substance abuse treatment shall 
go on a wait list. This applies only to an in-person screening for services. 

2.  In order for the individual to remain on the wait list, an in-person meeting, telephone 
contact or other documented contact must have taken place at least within 30 days of the 
initial contact and at least every 30 days thereafter. The contacts should be more frequent 
than every 30 days, however, the individual must be contacted within the 30-day time period. 

3.  Individuals in treatment, but waiting for the appropriate level of service, should be counted 
as waiting for the appropriate level of service. For example, an individual receiving one hour 

Page 2273 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 17 of 35 

of outpatient treatment once a week while waiting to enter a residential program should be 
counted on a wait list for residential treatment. 

4. Each individual counted on a wait list must have supporting documentation, i.e., the Wait 
List Documentation Form, maintained in a file separate from the client’s clinical record. The 
information on this form shall be used to verify what is reported on the wait list. 

5.  Wait list information must be updated on a monthly basis. Any individual who has not had 
an in-person, telephone or other documented contact in the last 30 days should be removed 
from the wait list. 

6. Incarcerated individuals are not counted as waiting for treatment. Exceptions apply when 
an incarcerated individual’s only condition for being released is admission into a substance 
abuse treatment program. In this case, the incarcerated individual shall be counted on a wait 
list. 

(11) Bed Count 

(a) The Managing Entity must have the ability to immediately provide accurate and real time data on 
current bed status information to Department. This information includes, but may not be limited 
to, the number of available beds by payor source and program type across the SOC.   

(b) All Network Service Providers with licensed bed capacity shall report daily bed count data in the 
manner provided by Management Entity. 

(c) Additionally, the Managing Entity shall systematically review bed count information to identify 
trends in utilization and potential opportunities to improve access to care within the SOC.   

(d) All Network Service Providers with licensed bed capacity shall: 

1. Maintain 100% compliance with entering and updating bed count information for the 
following: 

a. Residential (all levels) and Room and Board (all levels): for each program and bed 
type daily. 

b. ACSU Facilities (Crisis Stabilization, Hospital licensed as Public Receiving Facility, 
and Substance Abuse Detoxification and Addiction Receiving Facility): for each 
program, bed type and payor source daily. 

2. Have written policies and procedures in place to ensure the maintenance of an accurately 
completed daily bed count. Procedures shall include reference to the data entry of bed count in 
the manner provided by Managing Entity. 

3. Provide the Managing Entity with the name and contact information of the designated point 
of contact for bed count compliance within 30 days of contract execution. 

4. Respond to requests from the Managing Entity for additional information regarding bed 
count within twenty-four (24) hours of receipt of the request. 

(12) Eligibility to be a Network Service Provider 

(a) Exclusionary Criteria. The Network Service Provider acknowledges that any of the following 
would prohibit a contract with the Managing Entity: 

1. Is barred, suspended, or otherwise prohibited from doing business with any government 
entity, or has been barred, suspended, or otherwise prohibited from doing business with 
any government entity in accordance with  
s. 287.133, F.S.; 

2. Is under investigation or indictment for criminal conduct, or has been convicted of any 
crime which would adversely reflect on its ability to provide services, or which adversely 
reflects its ability to properly handle public funds; 

Page 2274 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 18 of 35 

3. Has had a contract terminated by the Department for failure to satisfactorily perform or 
for cause; 

4. Has failed to implement a corrective action plan approved by the Department or any 
other governmental entity, after having received due notice; or 

5. Is ineligible for contracting pursuant to the standards in § 215.473(2), F.S. 

6. Regardless of the amount of the subcontract, the Managing Entity shall immediately 
terminate a subcontract for cause, if at any time during the lifetime of the subcontract, a 
Network Service Provider is:  

a. Found to have submitted a false certification under § 287.135, F.S., or 

b. Is placed on the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in Sudan List or 

c. Is placed on the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in the Iran Petroleum 
Energy Sector List, or 

d. Is placed on the Scrutinized Companies that Boycott Israel List or is engaged 
in a boycott of Israel. 

7. The Network Service Provider agrees that services funded by this Contract other than 
those set out in this Contract, will be provided only upon receipt of a written authorization 
from the Network Manager. The Managing Entity and Department have final authority to 
make any and all determinations that affect the health, safety, and well-being of the people 
of the State of Florida. 

(b) Provisions for Compliance. The Network Service Provider and any of its subcontractors shall 
comply with: 

1. OMB Circular A-87, Cost Principles for State, Local, and Indian Tribal Governments; 

2. OMB Circular A-122, Cost Principles for Non-profit Organizations; 

3. OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments and Non-Profit 
Organizations; 

4. The Reference Guide for State Expenditures, which is incorporated herein by 
reference and may be located at: https://www.myfloridacfo.com/docs-sf/accounting-
and-auditing-libraries/state-agencies/reference-guide-for-state-expenditures.pdf;   

5. Chapter 65E-14, F.A.C.; 

6. Block Grant requirements, including maintenance of effort; 

7. State and federal grant requirements; 

8. TANF requirements, if applicable;  

9. Chapter 427, Fla. Stat., Part I, Transportation Services, and Chapter 41-2, F.A.C., 
Commission for the Transportation Disadvantaged, if funds under this contract will 
be used to transport individuals served; and 

10. Department or Managing Entity policies related to the delivery of service. 

(c) Task Limits. The Network Service Provider shall perform only Managing Entity approved 
tasks and services with Managing Entity funding. With the exception of individuals served from 
statewide Mental Health Treatment Facilities, services shall only be provided in the following 
county(ies): Duval, Clay, Nassau; however, Individuals who reside in any of the counties of Florida 
can be served by this contract in accordance with §394.674, Fla. Stat. 

(13) Bed Hold 

Page 2275 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 19 of 35 

(a) For SAMH-funded individuals admitted to and being treated in a residential setting (Detox, 
Res 1-4, etc.) who require a leave of absence or transfer from the facility due to: 

a. Psychiatric emergency; 

b. Medical emergency; or 

c. When the leave of absence is an explicit part of the treatment plan of the Individual 
Served and is clearly documented in the clinical record; 

the Managing Entity shall continue to pay the contracted rate to hold the bed during the leave of 
absence for a period not to exceed seventy-two (72) hours from the date of transfer/leave of 
absence. For absences that continue in excess of seventy-two (72) hours, the Network Service 
Provider shall submit Exhibit M - Bed Hold Request Form, to the Managing Entity to request 
continued authorization for payment. 

The Managing Entity will authorize bed hold requests for no more than seven (7) days at a time. If 
a bed hold request exceeds seven (7) days, the Network Service Provider submitting the request 
should resubmit an additional Exhibit M - Bed Hold Request Form and participate in a staffing 
held by the Managing Entity. 

(b) Regarding leave of absence due to elopement or leaving treatment against medical advice, 
in most circumstances, the Managing Entity will not pay for bed days when an Individual Served is 
not physically present to receive the services, except as outlined above. Therefore, the Managing 
Entity can be invoiced for the date the Individual Served eloped as well as the date they return to 
treatment, if they return to the Network Service Provider’s facility. 

(14) Reporting to the Office of Inspector General 

Network Service Providers and their subcontracted agencies shall comply with the provisions of CFOP 
180-4 with respect to reporting requirements to the Office of the Inspector General. 

(15) Requests for Modification 

Network Service Providers shall utilize the Exhibit G - Submission of Information Form to request 
changes from the Managing Entity as it relates to the programs operated under this agreement.  This 
form shall encompass changes to programs, funding and allocations.   

(16) The Network Service Provider must participate in any Managing Entity and Department-sponsored 
Network Service Provider satisfaction surveys. 

2. Staffing Changes 

a. The Network Service Provider shall comply with their staffing plan contained in the Managing Entity-
approved Exhibit C - Projected Operating and Capital Budget, Exhibit D - Personnel Detail Record, 
and Exhibit E - Agency Capacity Report, in accordance with Rule 65E-14.021, F.A.C. 

b. The Network Service Provider shall, within five business days, submit written notification to the 
Network Manager if any of the following positions are to be changed and identify the individual and 
qualifications of the successor: 

(1) Chief Executive Officer (CEO); 

(2) Chief Operations Officer (COO); 

(3) Chief Financial Officer (CFO); 

(4) Chief Information Technology Officer (CITO); or 

(5) Any other equivalent position within the Network Service Provider’s organizational chart. 

3. Network Service Provider Subcontracts 

Page 2276 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 20 of 35 

a. This contract allows the Network Service Provider to subcontract for the provision of all services, 
subject to the provisions of the Lutheran Services Florida Standard Contract. Written requests by the 
Network Service Provider to subcontract for the provision of services under this contract shall be routed 
through the Managing Entity’s Network Manager for this contract. Prior written approval by the Managing 
Entity for any subcontracting of services is required. Subsequent changes to any approved subcontract 
agreement must also receive prior approval from the Managing Entity. The act of subcontracting shall 
not in any way relieve the Network Service Provider of any responsibility for the contractual obligations 
of this contract. 
b. If this contract allows for the subcontract of services, as defined above, the Network Service Provider 
shall not subcontract for Behavioral Health Services with any person or entity which: 

(1) Is barred, suspended, or otherwise prohibited from doing business with any government entity, or 
has been barred, suspended, or otherwise prohibited from doing business with any government entity 
in accordance with §287.133, Fla. Stat.; 
(2) Is under investigation or indictment for criminal conduct, or has been convicted of any crime which 
would adversely reflect on its ability to provide services, or which adversely reflects its ability to 
properly handle public funds; 
(3) Has had a contract terminated by the Managing Entity or the Department for failure to satisfactorily 
perform or for cause; 
(4) Has failed to implement a corrective action plan approved by the Managing Entity or the 
Department or any other governmental entity, after having received due notice; or 
(5) Is ineligible for contracting pursuant to the standards in § 215.473(2), F.S. 
(6) Regardless of the amount of the subcontract, the Network Service Provider shall immediately 
terminate a subcontract for cause, if at any time during the lifetime of the subcontract, the 
subcontractor is: 

a. Found to have submitted a false certification Found to have submitted a false certification 
under § 287.135, F.S., or 

b. Is placed on the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in Sudan List or  

c. Is placed on the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in the Iran Petroleum Energy 
Sector List, or  

d. Is placed on the Scrutinized Companies that Boycott Israel List or is engaged in a boycott 
of Israel List. 

(7) The Managing Entity agrees that services funded by this Contract other than those set out in this 
Contract, will be provided only upon receipt of a written authorization from the Network Manager. The 
Department has final authority to make any and all determinations that affect the health, safety, and 
well-being of the people of the State of Florida. 

4. Service Location and Equipment 

a. Service Delivery Location 

The location of services shall be as specified and described in the program description which is to be 
submitted by the Network Service Provider in the manner provided by the Managing Entity.   

b. Changes in Location 

(1) The Network Service Provider shall notify the Managing Entity’s Network Manager, in writing, at 
least 10 calendar days prior to any changes in locations where services are being provided. Changes 
must continue to meet the service needs of consumers without excessive time and travel 
requirements.  

(2) The Network Service Provider shall notify the Managing Entity’s Network Manager, in writing, a 
minimum of 30 days prior to making any changes in location that will affect the Managing Entity’s 

Page 2277 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 21 of 35 

ability to contact the Network Service Provider. 

c. Equipment 

(1) The Network Service Provider shall supply all equipment necessary to provide services and fulfill 
the terms and conditions of this contract, including but not limited to; computers, telephones, copier, 
and fax machines, supplies and maintenance, and necessary office supplies. 

(2) The Network Service Provider shall comply with requirements in the Incorporated Document 13 
- Tangible Property Requirements and document compliance through the submission of DCF’s 
Template 1 – Provider Tangible Property Inventory Form, which is incorporated herein by 
reference. 

5. Deliverables 

a. Services 

The Network Service Provider shall deliver the services specified in and described in the Program 
Description submitted by the Network Service Provider and as set forth in Exhibit H - Funding Detail.  
Changes to the services offered under this contract are subject to approval of the Managing Entity in 
advance of implementation. 

b. Records and Documentation 

(1) The Network Service Provider shall protect the confidentiality of all records in its possession from 
disclosure and protect confidential records from disclosure and protect the confidentiality of Individuals 
Served in accordance with federal and state law, including but not limited to: §§394.455(3), 394.4615, 
397.501(7), 414.295, Fla. Stat.; 42 C.F.R. §2, and 45 C.F.R. Part 164. 

(2) The Network Service Provider shall notify the Managing Entity of any requests made for public 
records within 10 business days of receipt of the request and shall assume all financial responsibility 
for records requests, records storage, and retrieval costs. 

(3) The Network Service Provider shall maintain adequate documentation of the provision of all tasks, 
deliverables, expenditures related to its operations, including but not limited to:  

(a) Total number of Individuals Served; 

(b) Names (or unique identifiers) of individuals to whom services were provided; and 

(c) Date(s) that the services were provided, so that an audit trail documenting both the provision 
of service, and expenditure can be maintained. 

(4) The Managing Entity shall monitor the maintenance of Network Service Providers documentation 
of the provision of all services, sufficient to provide an audit trail. 

c. Reports 

(1) The Network Service Provider shall submit all required documentation specified in Exhibit A - 
Required Reports, by the dates specified therein. 

(2) The Network Service Provider shall ensure that its independent financial audit report is completed 
in compliance with and shall include the standard schedules that are outlined in Rule 65E-14.003, 
F.A.C. 

(3) The Network Service Provider shall submit service data to the Managing Entity as required in 
§394.74(3) (e), Fla. Stat., and Rule 65E-14.022, F.A.C., and the Network Service Provider shall 
submit the data electronically by the eighth (8th) of each month for the previous month’s services, as 
specified by this contract and in accordance with the DCF Data System Guidelines.  

(4) The Network Service Provider shall: 

(a) Ensure that the data submitted clearly documents all Individuals Served admissions and 
discharges which occurred under this contract; 

Page 2278 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 22 of 35 

(b) Ensure that all data is submitted electronically to the Managing Entity is consistent with the 
data maintained in the Network Service Provider’s Individuals Served files; 

(c) Review File Upload History and error reports to determine number of records accepted, 
updated, and/or rejected. It is the responsibility of the Network Service Provider to download any 
associated error files to determine which records were rejected and to ensure that rejected 
records are corrected and resubmitted within specified timeframes. 

(d) Resubmit corrected records no later than the next monthly submission deadline. In the event 
that the Network Service Provider’s total monthly submission per data set results in a rejection 
rate greater than five percent (5%) for two consecutive months, the Network Service Provider 
shall submit a CAP within 30 days of the second deficient month that includes timeframe for 
correcting all prior data rejections; and 

(e) In accordance with the provisions of §402.73(1), Fla. Stat., and Rule 65-29.001 F.A.C., CAPs 
may be required for noncompliance, nonperformance, or unacceptable performance under this 
contract. Penalties may be imposed for failures to implement or to make acceptable progress on 
such CAPs. 

(5) The Network Service Provider shall make all requested documentation available electronically. 
The Network Service Provider shall ensure that all documents are clearly legible and are sent in the 
original format. All reports and plans or changes to existing reports and plans shall be uploaded within 
five (5) business days of the change or Managing Entity’s approval, when approval of a plan is 
required. 

(6) Prior to the start the Network Service Provider’s contract period, the Network Service Provider 
shall submit, for the Managing Entity review and approval the Exhibit C - Projected Operating and 
Capital Budget, Exhibit D - Personnel Detail Record, and Exhibit E - Agency Capacity Report 
pursuant to Rule 65E-14.021, F.A.C. The Managing Entity shall re-approve the Projected Operating 
and Capital Budget prior to any change to a Network Service Provider’s unit rates. 

(7) Following the fiscal year, the Network Service Provider must submit the Exhibit C-1 - Statement 
of Revenue and Expense and Exhibit D-1 – Statement of Revenue and Expense Personnel 
Detail to reconcile LSF Health System payments with Network Service Provider actual expenditures 
per CFDA/CSFA numbers. 

(8) For all client non-specific services where unit rates are set pursuant to Rule 65E-14.021, F.A.C., 
the budgeted SAMH funding per covered service shall be updated to reflect the utilization pattern 
established in the previous fiscal year(s) of the contract period. 

(9) Where this contract requires the delivery of reports to the Managing Entity, mere receipt by the 
Managing Entity shall not be construed to mean or imply acceptance of those reports. The Managing 
Entity reserves the right to reject reports as incomplete, inadequate, or unacceptable according to the 
parameters set forth in this contract, and must notice the Network Service Provider electronically 
within fifteen (15) days of receipt of the report by the Managing Entity. The Managing Entity, at its 
option, may allow additional time within which the Network Service Provider may remedy the 
objections noted by the Managing Entity or the Managing Entity may, after having given the Network 
Service Provider a reasonable opportunity to complete, make adequate, or acceptable, such reports, 
declare the contract to be in default. 

(10) The Network Service Provider is required to comply with Attachment III to the Lutheran Services 
Standard Contract. 

d.  General Performance Specifications 

The Network Service Provider shall be solely and uniquely responsible for the satisfactory 
performance of the tasks described in this Contract and its Incorporated Documents and Exhibits. By 
execution of this Contract, the Network Service Provider assumes responsibility for the tasks, 

Page 2279 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 23 of 35 

activities, and deliverables described herein; and warrants that it fully understands all relevant factors 
affecting accomplishment of the tasks, activities, and deliverables and agrees to be fully accountable 
for the performance thereof whether performed by the Network Service Provider or its 
Subcontractor(s). 

e. Performance Measures for Acceptance of Deliverables 

(1) In addition to any criteria for approval of deliverables and services for payment, the Network 
Service Provider must meet the performance outcomes measures specified in Exhibit B - 
Performance Outcome Measures and document monthly progress toward compliance with the 
targets. 

(2) Performance outcome measures shall be evaluated monthly and during each annual monitoring 
of the Network Service Provider. The Network Service Provider is responsible and accountable for 
meeting all performance outcomes measure targets, as specified in this contract.  

(3) The performance outcome measures targets are subject to periodic review by the Managing Entity 
or the Department and adjustments to the targets or the measures may be made by mutual 
agreement between the Managing Entity and the Department. 

(4) The Network Service Provider agrees that the SAMH data system shall be the source for all data 
used to determine compliance with performance outcomes measures, understanding that the 
Network Service Provider submits all data in the manner provided by Management Entity, and once 
validated by the Managing Entity, the Managing Entity then submits that data to FASAMS. 
Performance of the Network Service Provider shall be monitored and tracked by the Managing Entity. 
The Managing Entity shall provide applicable technical assistance to Network Service Provider and 
initiate corrective actions, as required, and will report to the Department. 

(5) Department performance measure compliance determinations are final. Once performance 
measures have been calculated using the data submitted in the SAMH Data System, performance 
data may not be altered or amended. Subsequent performance data submission will not impact the 
initial performance measure compliance determination. 

(6) The Network Service Provider shall submit all service related data for Individuals Served that are 
funded in whole or in part by SAMH funds and local match. 

f. Performance Measure Terms 

PAM 155-2 provides the definitions of the data elements used for various performance outcomes 
measures and contains policies and procedures for submitting the required data into the Managing 
Entity’s Data System in the manner provided by the Management Entity.  

g. Performance Measure Methodology 

The methodology and algorithms to be used in assessing the Network Service Provider’s 
performance are outlined in the guidance document Incorporated Document 14 - Performance 
Outcomes Measurement Manual, which is incorporated herein and may be located on the Managing 
Entity’s website. 

h. Performance Standards Statement 

By execution of this contract, the Network Service Provider hereby acknowledges and agrees that its 
performance under the contract must meet the standards set forth above and shall be bound by the 
conditions set forth in this contract. If the Network Service Provider fails to meet these standards, the 
Managing Entity, at its exclusive option, may allow a reasonable period, not to exceed three months, 
for the Network Service Provider to correct performance deficiencies. If performance deficiencies are 
not resolved to the satisfaction of the Managing Entity within the prescribed time, and if no extenuating 
circumstances can be documented by the Network Service Provider to the Managing Entity’s 
satisfaction, the Managing Entity may terminate the contract. The Managing Entity has the exclusive 

Page 2280 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 24 of 35 

authority to determine whether there are extenuating or mitigating circumstances. The Network 
Service Provider further acknowledges and agrees that during any period in which the Network 
Service Provider fails to meet these measures,  regardless of any additional time allowed to correct 
performance deficiencies, payment for deliverables may be delayed or denied and financial 
consequences may apply. 

i. Failure to Perform 

If the Network Service Provider fails to perform in accordance with this contract, or fails to perform 
the minimum level of service required by this contract, the Managing Entity will apply financial 
consequences provided for in the Lutheran Services Florida Standard Contract, Paragraph 21. The 
parties agree that the financial consequences provided for under this section constitute financial 
consequences under §§287.058(1)(h); and 215.871(1)(c), Fla. Stat. The foregoing does not limit 
additional financial consequences, which may include, but are not limited to, refusing payment, 
withholding payment until deficiency is cured, tendering partial payments, applying payment 
adjustments for additional financial consequences to the extent that this contract so provides, or 
termination pursuant to the terms of the Lutheran Services Florida Standard Contract, and requisition 
of services from an alternate source. Any payment made in reliance on the Network Service 
Provider’s evidence of performance, which evidence is subsequently determined to be erroneous, 
will be immediately due as an overpayment in accordance with the Lutheran Services Standard 
Contract, to the extent of such error. 

j. Corrective Action Plan for Performance Deficiencies  

By execution of this contract, the Network Service Provider hereby acknowledges and agrees that its 
performance under the contract must meet the standards set forth above and will be bound by the 
conditions set forth in this contract. If performance deficiencies are not resolved to the satisfaction of 
the Managing Entity within the prescribed time, and if no extenuating circumstances can be 
documented by the Network Service Provider to the Managing Entity’s satisfaction, the Managing 
Entity may terminate the contract. The Managing Entity has the exclusive authority to determine 
whether there are extenuating or mitigating circumstances.   

Corrective action may be required for noncompliance, nonperformance, or unacceptable performance 
under this contract. Financial consequences may be imposed for failure to implement or to make 
acceptable progress on such corrective action as identified and set forth in the Lutheran Services 
Standard Contract, Financial Penalties for Failure to Take Corrective Action.  

6. Network Service Provider Responsibilities 

The Network Service Provider shall: 

(1) Collaborate with the Managing Entity to amend into this contract all applicable requirements of 
any appropriations, awards, initiatives, or Federal grants received by the Managing Entity and the 
Department; 

(2) Cooperate with the Managing Entity and the Department when investigations are conducted 
regarding a regulatory complaint; 

(3) Integrate the Managing Entity’s and the Department’s current initiatives, new state and federal 
requirements, and policy initiatives into its operations; 

(4) The Network Service Provider shall coordinate with the Community Based Care lead agency, or 
agencies, as appropriate, to further the child welfare role of the Department, pursuant to 
§409.996(12), Fla. Stat.  Such coordination shall be in accordance with Incorporated Documents 
6, 16, 28, and 30, which are incorporated herein by reference; 

Page 2281 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 25 of 35 

(5) The Network Service Provider shall coordinate with the judicial system, the criminal justice system, 
and the local law enforcement agencies in the geographic area, to develop strategies and alternatives 
for diverting individuals from the criminal justice system to the civil system.  Such diversion shall be 
as provided under pt. I of ch. 397, Fla. Stat., and §394.9082, Fla. Stat., and apply to persons with 
substance use and mental health disorders who are included in the priority population pursuant to 
§394.674, Fla. Stat., who are arrested for a misdemeanor; 

(6) The NSP shall coordinate with the judicial system to provide services covered through this contract 
that address the substance abuse and mental health needs of children and parents in the child welfare 
system and the juvenile justice system;  

(7) The NSP shall integrate the Managing Entity’s current initiatives, new state and federal 
requirements, and policy initiatives into its operations and 

(8) Comply with 45 C.F.R. Section 164.504(e)(2)(ii). 

7. Managing Entity Responsibilities 

a. Managing Entity Obligations 

(1) The Managing Entity shall provide technical assistance and support to the Network Service 
Provider as necessary, concerning the terms and conditions of this contract. 

(2) The Managing Entity shall collaborate with the Community Based Care lead agencies to integrate 
other services with the substance abuse and mental health treatment and supports, and shall require 
Network Service Providers to participate on family or clinical teams, pursuant to §409.996(12), Fla. 
Stat. 

(3) The Managing Entity shall coordinate with the judicial system to provide services covered through 
its contract that address the substance abuse and mental health needs of children and parents in the 
child welfare system and the juvenile justice system in collaboration with Network Service Providers; 
and 

(4) The Managing Entity shall participate in the interagency team meetings created as a result of the 
Interagency Agreement for child-serving agencies, in collaboration with Network Service Providers 
where appropriate. 

b. Determinations 

The Network Service Provider agrees that services funded by this contract other than those set out 
in this contract, shall be provided only upon receipt of a written authorization from the Managing Entity 
Network Manager. The Department has final authority to make any and all determinations that affect 
the health, safety, and well-being of the people of the State of Florida. 

c. Monitoring Requirements 

(1) The Network Service Provider shall be monitored in accordance with §394.741, Fla. Stat., 
§402.7305, Fla. Stat., CFOP 75-8, Contract Monitoring Operating Procedures, and shall be monitored 
on its performance of any and/or all requirements and conditions of this contract. The Network Service 
Provider shall comply with any requests made by the Managing Entity’s evaluator(s) as part of the 
conduct of such monitoring. At no cost to the Managing Entity, the Network Service Provider shall 
provide complete access to all programmatic, administrative, management, budget and financial 
information related to services provided under this contract. 

(2) The Managing Entity shall provide a written report to the Network Service Provider within 30 days 
of the monitoring team’s exit. If the report indicates corrective action is necessary, the Network 
Service Provider shall provide a proposed corrective action plan for the Managing Entity’s approval, 
except in the case of threat to life or safety of Individuals Served, in which case the Network Service 
Provider shall take immediate action to ameliorate the threat and associated causes. The Network 
Service Provider’s Corrective Action Plan is to be completed and returned to the Managing Entity for 
approval within fifteen (15) days of receipt of the monitoring report. 

Page 2282 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 26 of 35 

(3) In addition to the monitoring outlined above, the Managing Entity shall assess the overall 
performance of the Network Service Provider. 

(4) Assessment shall include, but may not be limited to, reviews of procedures, data systems, 
program service delivery, accounting records, financial management policies and procedures and 
support documentation, internal quality improvement reviews, and documentation of service of 
Individuals Served. The Network Service Provider shall cooperate at all times with the Managing 
Entity to conduct these reviews and shall provide all documentation requested by the reviewers in a 
timely manner at its administrative office or other location, as determined by the Managing Entity. 

C. Method of Payment 

1. Payment Clause 

This Contract is comprised of federal and state funds, subject to reconciliation. The Exhibit H - Funding 
Detail identifies the type and amount of funding provided. At the beginning of each fiscal year, the Exhibit 
H - Funding Detail shall be amended into this Contract, and the total contract amount shall be adjusted 
accordingly, on an annual basis.  

The Contract total dollar amount shall not exceed $1,096,668.00, subject to the availability of funds from 
the Department. The Managing Entity shall pay the Network Service Provider a prorated amount not to 
exceed one-twelfth of the contracted amount each month. 

a. The Managing Entity shall pay the Network Service Provider for the delivery of services provided in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of the fee-for-service payment methodology.  

(1) If the Network Service Provider has special funding with varying method of payments, the special 
funding Attachment will outline the method of payment for that program.  

(2) For all special funding paid using a fixed rate payment methodology: 

(a) The total monthly payment amount shall not exceed one-twelfth of the fixed rate portion of the 
contract amount. The payment amount shall be included as a line item in the Network Service 
Provider’s Exhibit I Invoice under the regular contract with the following documentation provided 
as support. 

(b) The Network Service Provider shall submit the Exhibit O – Expenditure Reconciliation 
Report which will outline expenses incurred.  This report shall be submitted on or before the 8th 
of the month following the end of each quarter. The Managing Entity reserves the right to request 
monthly Expenditure Reconciliation reports, depending on the Network Service Providers rate of 
spending, to perform an invoice reconciliation at any point within a fiscal year.  

(c) All funds paid under the fixed rate methodology must be accounted for through this 
reconciliation process and any funding not accounted for is subject to repayment to LSF Health 
Systems. 

(d) LSF Health Systems reserves the right to request substantiating documentation to support 
the line items submitted by the Network Service Provider in the Expenditure Reconciliation 
Report. 

(e) LSF Health Systems will audit substantiating documentation outlined on the Expenditure 
Reconciliation Report as part of its monitoring and oversight process. 

(f) Network Service Provider shall return to LSF Health Systems any unused funds and 
unmatched grant funds, as documented in the final Expenditure Reconciliation Report, no later 
than 60 days following the ending date of the subcontract.  

(g) The Department of Children and Families CFOP 75-02 and Uniform Guidance govern fixed 
rate under this contract.  The provisions therein are incorporated herein by reference.  

(h) Reimbursement shall be made for actual, allowable expenditures within the limits of the latest 
version of the approved budget at the time that the invoice is processed. 

Page 2283 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 27 of 35 

(i) Mileage for travel will be reimbursed at a rate not to exceed $0.445 per mile, the current rate 
established by the State of Florida. 

(3) For all special funding paid using a cost reimbursement payment methodology: 

(a) The total monthly payment amount shall not exceed one-twelfth of the contract amount. The 
payment amount shall be included as a line item in the Network Service Provider’s Exhibit I Invoice 
under the regular contract with the following documentation provided as support. 

(b) The Network Service Provider shall submit the Exhibit P - Cost Reimbursement Report - 
Part 1 and Part 2 which will outline expenses incurred.  This report shall be submitted on or 
before the 8th of the month following the month for which payment is being requested along with 
all substantiating documentation and/or receipts. 

(c) All funds paid under the cost reimbursement methodology must be accounted for through the 
Cost Reimbursement Report and any funding not accounted for is subject to repayment to LSF 
Health Systems. 

(d) LSF Health Systems reserves the right to request substantiating documentation to support 
the line items submitted by the Network Service Provider in the Cost Reimbursement Report. 

(e) LSF Health Systems will audit substantiating documentation outlined on the Cost 
Reimbursement Report as part of its monitoring and oversight process. 

(f) Network Service Provider shall return to LSF Health Systems any unused funds, as 
documented in the final Cost Reimbursement Report, no later than 60 days following the ending 
date of the subcontract.  

(g) The Department of Children and Families CFOP 75-02 and Uniform Guidance govern cost 
reimbursement under this contract.  The provisions therein are incorporated herein by reference.  

(h) Reimbursement shall be made for actual, allowable expenditures within the limits of the latest 
version of the approved budget at the time that the invoice is processed. 

(i) Mileage for travel will be reimbursed at a rate not to exceed $0.445 per mile, the current rate 
established by the State of Florida. 

2. Invoice Requirements 

a. In accordance with the terms and conditions of this contract, the Network Service Provider shall 
submit monthly data to generate an invoice no later than 5pm on the 8th calendar day following the month 
for which payment is being requested, in the form of person and non-person specific data with adequate 
supporting documentation and appropriate data on service utilization and individuals served, in 
accordance with the DCF  
Data System Guidelines; 

(1) The Network Service Provider shall attest and certify as to each monthly data submission for 
invoicing that, at the time of submission, no other funding source was known for the included services.  
This attestation shall be contained in the body of the electronic message when submitting the invoice 
by 5pm on the 8th. 

(2) Allowable covered services within a bundled rate, as defined by the FASAMS Pamphlet 155-2, 
must be reported as the actual covered service (i.e. Case Management, Medical Services, etc.). This 
is also known as “encounter data”. 

b. Failure to submit properly complete and accurate invoice data shall prevent the authorization of 
payment;   

c. Within ten (10) business days of receipt of  properly completed invoice data from the Network Service 
Provider, the Network Manager shall either approve the invoice for payment or notify the Network Service 
Provider of any deficiencies that must be corrected by the Network Service Provider; 

d. Failure to submit the required documentation shall cause payment to be delayed until such 

Page 2284 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 28 of 35 

documentation is received; 

e. The Managing Entity shall make payment not more than thirty-five (35) days from the date eligibility 
for payment is determined, subject to the availability of funds from the Department; 

f. When the Managing Entity fully implements the electronic invoice process, the Network Service 
Provider will be paid based upon the accepted data entered into the Managing Entity’s reporting system. 

g. Following the conclusion of each state fiscal year, the Network Service Provider shall submit invoice 
data for the final invoice to the Managing Entity no later than July 31st. 

h. The Managing Entity reserves the right to request additional documentation to support the payment 
of an invoice at any time. 

3. Local Match Calculation 

a. The Network Service Provider shall maintain, at minimum, an accounting of local match, and report 
local match to the Managing Entity upon request.  The Exhibit J - Local Match Calculation Form shall 
be submitted upon request of the Managing Entity. 

4. Allowable Costs 

a. All costs associated with performance of the services contemplated by this Contract must be both 
reasonable and necessary and in compliance with the Cost Principles pursuant to 2 CFR Part 200 - 
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, 2 
CFR Part 300.1 – Adoption of 2 CFR Part 200, 45 CFR Part 75 - Uniform Administrative Requirements, 
Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards Requirements for HHS Awards - Subpart E, 
The Reference Guide for State Expenditures, and Ch. 65E-14, F.A.C. 

b. Unless otherwise specified in writing by the federal grant issuing agency, none of the funds provided 
under any federal grants may be used to pay the salary of an individual at a rate in excess of Level II of 
the Executive Schedule, published but the U.S. Office of Personnel Management at: 
https://www.opm.gov/policy-data-oversight/pay-leave/salaries-wages/  

c. Any compensation paid for an expenditure subsequently disallowed as a result of the Network Service 
Provider’s non-compliance with state or federal funding regulations shall be repaid to the Managing Entity 
upon discovery. 

d. Invoices must be dated, signed by an authorized representative of the Network Service Provider and 
submitted in accordance with the submission schedule in this contract, with appropriate service utilization 
and Individuals Served data accepted into the Managing Entity’s Data System, in accordance with PAM 
155-2. 

e. The Network Service Provider is required to submit a new Form W-9 through the DFS website at 
http://flvendor.myfloridacfo.com. This website provides a new substitute Form W-9 that is unique to 
Florida and collects and integrates the information with other electronic data to facilitate payment. 
Consequently, all Network Service Providers, regardless of their business type, size, or tax status, who 
have not already completed this requirement must use this website and complete the required 
information. The DFS W-9 system includes a verification of the data submitted with the Internal Revenue 
Service (IRS). Mismatches shall be identified and returned to the grant recipients for resolution. DFS shall 
reject invoices from grant recipients who have not submitted a new substitute W-9 that has been validated 
by the IRS. 

5. Third Party Billing 

a. The Managing Entity and the Department are intended to be Payors of last resort. The Network 
Service Provider shall adhere to the following guidelines for payment of services billed: 

(1) The Network Service Provider shall not bill the Managing Entity for services provided to: 

(a) Individuals who have third party insurance coverage when the services provided are paid 
under the insurance plan; or 

Page 2285 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 29 of 35 

(b)  Medicaid enrollees or recipients or another publicly funded health benefits assistance 
program, when the services provided are paid by said program. 

(2) The Network Service Provider shall comply with the terms and conditions of 65E-14, F.A.C. in 
determining which individuals to bill to the Managing Entity.   

b. The Network Service Provider shall report Medicaid earnings and earnings from other publicly funded 
health benefits assistance programs separately from all other fees.  

c. For all Medicaid-enrolled Network Service Providers, prior to invoicing the Managing Entity for any 
services provided to any Medicaid-enrolled recipients, the agency must document that they have: 

(1) Submitted a prior authorization request for any Medicaid-covered services provided. 

(2) Appealed any denied prior authorizations. 

(3) Provided assistance to appeal a denial of eligibility or coverage. 

(4) Verified the provided service is not a covered service under Florida Medicaid, as defined in 
Chapter 59G-4, F.A.C., or is not available through the individual’s MMA Plan. 

(5) In cases where the individuals Medicaid-covered service limit has been exhausted for mental 
health services, an appropriately licensed mental health professional has issued a written clinical 
determination that the individual continues to need the specific mental health treatment service 
provided. 

(6) In cases where the individual’s Medicaid-covered service limit has been exhausted for substance 
use disorder treatment services a qualified professional as defined in § 397.311(35), F.S., has issued 
a written clinical determination that the individual continues to need the specific service provided. 

6. Temporary Assistance to Needy Families (TANF) Billing 

The Network Service Provider must comply with the applicable obligations under Part A or Title IV of the 
Social Security Act. The Network Service Provider agrees that TANF funds shall be expended for TANF 
participants as outlined in the guidance document TANF – Incorporated Document 21, which is 
incorporated herein by reference and Temporary Assistance to Needy Families (TANF) Guidelines, which 
is incorporated herein by reference and may be located at: 

https://www.myflfamilies.com/services/substance-abuse-and-mental-health/samh-providers/managing-
entities    

7. Payments from Medicaid Health Maintenance Organizations, Prepaid Mental Health Plans, or 
Provider Services Networks 

Unless waived in Section D (Special Provisions) of this contract, the Network Service Provider agrees that 
sub-capitated rates from a Medicaid health maintenance organization, prepaid mental health plan, or 
provider services network are considered to be “third party payor” contractual fees as defined in Rule 65E-
14.001, F.A.C. Services that are covered by the sub-capitated contracts and provided to persons covered 
by these sub-capitated contracts must not be billed to the Managing Entity. The Network Service Provider 
shall ensure that Medicaid funds shall be accounted for separately from funds for this contract, and reported 
to the Managing Entity as per Section C (Method of Payment) 5b. (Third Party Billing.)  

8. Information and Referral and Crisis Support Emergency 

Network Service Providers who are contracted for the Information and Referral and Crisis Support 
Emergency covered services will receive reimbursement up to an agreed percentage of the total payment 
due for each applicable OCA on the monthly invoice. 

Page 2286 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 30 of 35 

D. Special Provisions 

1. Termination 

The provisions of Section 6.2.1 and Section 6.2.2 are hereby modified and superseded as follows. The 
remaining clauses of Section 6 remain in effect. 

a. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 6.2.1, in accordance with Section 22 of PUR 1000 Form, 
this Contract may be terminated by the Managing Entity without cause upon no less than 180 calendar 
days’ notice in writing to the Network Service Provider unless a sooner time is mutually agreed upon in 
writing. 

b. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 6.2.2, this Contract may be terminated by the Network 
Service Provider upon no less than 180 calendar days’ notice in writing to the Managing Entity unless a 
sooner time is mutually agreed upon in writing. 

2. Dispute Resolution 

The following Dispute Resolution terms shall apply to this Contract: 

a. The parties agree to cooperate in resolving any differences in interpreting the Contract. Within five 
working days of the execution of this contract, each party shall designate one person, with the requisite 
authority, to act as its representative for dispute resolution purposes. Each party shall notify the other 
party of the person’s name and business address and telephone number. Within five working days from 
delivery to the designated representative of the other party of a written request for dispute resolution, the 
representatives shall conduct a face-to-face meeting to resolve the disagreement amicably. If the 
representatives are unable to reach a mutually satisfactory resolution, either representative may request 
referral of the issue to the Network Service Provider’s Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and the Managing 
Entity’s Chief Executive Officer (CEO). Upon referral to this second step, the respective parties shall 
confer in an attempt to resolve the issue. 

b. If the CEOs are unable to resolve the issue within 10 days, the parties’ appointed representatives 
shall meet within 10 working days and select a third representative. These three representatives shall 
meet within 10 working days to seek resolution of the dispute. If the representatives’ good faith efforts to 
resolve the dispute fail, the representatives shall make written recommendations to the Department’s 
Secretary who shall work with both parties to resolve the dispute. The parties reserve all their rights and 
remedies under Florida law. Venue for any court action shall be in Leon County, Florida. 

3. MyFloridaMarketPlace Transaction Fee 

This contract is exempt from the MyFloridaMarketPlace Transaction Fee in accordance with Rule 60A-
1.032(1) (d), F.A.C. 

4. Contract Renewal 

This contract may be renewed for a term not to exceed three years or for the term of the original contract, 
whichever period is longer. Such renewal shall be made by mutual agreement and shall be contingent upon 
satisfactory performance evaluations as determined by the Managing Entity and shall be subject to the 
availability of funds. Any renewal shall be in writing and shall be subject to the same terms and conditions 
as set forth in the initial contract and any subsequent amendments. 

5. Insurance Requirements 

In addition to the provisions of Section 4.8, the following Special Insurance Provisions shall apply to this 
Contract. In the event of any inconsistency between the requirements of this section and the requirements 
of Section 4.8, the provisions of this section shall prevail and control. 

a. The Network Service Provider shall notify the Network Manager within 30 calendar days if there is a 
modification to the terms of insurance, including but not limited to, cancellation or modification to policy 
limits. 

Page 2287 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 31 of 35 

b. The Network Service Provider acknowledges that as an independent contractor, the Network Service 
Provider at all tiers are not covered by the State of Florida Risk Management Trust Fund for liability 
created by §284.30, F.S. 

c. The Network Service Provider shall obtain and provide proof to the Managing Entity and the 
Department of comprehensive general liability insurance coverage (broad form coverage), specifically 
including premises, fire and legal liability to cover managing the Network Service Provider and all of its 
employees. The limits of Network Service Provider’s coverage shall be no less than $300,000 per 
occurrence with a minimal annual aggregate of no less than $1,000,000.  

d. With the exception of any state agency or subdivision as defined by § 768.28(2), F.S., the Managing 
Entity shall cause all Network Service Providers, at all tiers, who the Managing Entity reasonably 
determines to present a risk of significant loss to the Managing Entity or the Department, to obtain and 
provide proof to the Managing Entity and the Department a comprehensive general liability insurance 
coverage (broad form coverage), specifically including premises, fire and legal liability covering the 
Network Service Provider and all its employees. The limits of coverage for the Managing Entity’s Network 
Service Providers, at all tiers, shall be in such amounts as the Managing Entity reasonably determines to 
be sufficient to cover the risk of loss. 

e. If any officer, employee, or agent of the Network Service Provider, at all tiers, operates a motor vehicle 
in the course of the performance of its duties under this contract, the Network Service Provider shall 
obtain and provide proof to the Managing Entity and the Department of comprehensive automobile liability 
insurance coverage. The limits of the Network Service Provider’s coverage shall be no less than $300,000 
per occurrence with a minimal annual aggregate of no less than $1,000,000. 

f. If any officer, employee, or agent of the Network Service Provider, at all tiers, provides operates a 
motor vehicle in the course of the performance of the duties of the Network Service Provider, the 
Managing Entity shall cause the Network Service Provider to obtain and provide proof to the Managing 
Entity and the Department of comprehensive automobile liability insurance coverage with the same limits.  

g. The Managing Entity and the Department shall be exempt from, and in no way liable for, any sums 
of money that may represent a deductible or self-insured retention under any such insurance. The 
payment of any deductible on any policy shall be the sole responsibility of the Network Service Provider 
purchasing the insurance. 

h. The Network Service Provider shall obtain and provide proof to the Managing Entity of professional 
liability insurance coverage, including errors and omissions coverage, to cover the Managing Entity and 
all its employees. If any officer, employee, or agent of the Network Service Provider administers any 
prescription drug or medication or controlled substance in the course of the performance of the duties of 
the Network Service Provider under this contract, the professional liability coverage shall include medical 
malpractice liability and errors and omissions coverage, to cover the Network Service Provider and all its 
employees. The limits of the coverage shall be no less than $300,000 per occurrence with a minimal 
annual aggregate of no less than $1,000,000. 

i. If any officer, employee, or agent of the Network Service Provider, at all tiers, provides any 
professional services or provides or administers any prescription drug or medication or controlled 
substance in the course of the performance of the duties of the Network Service Provider, the Managing 
Entity shall cause the Network Service Provider, at all tiers, to obtain and provide proof to the Managing 
Entity and the Department of professional liability insurance coverage, including medical malpractice 
liability and errors and omissions coverage, to cover all Network Service Provider employees with the 
same limits. 

j. The Managing Entity and Department shall be exempt from, and in no way liable for, any sums of 
money that may represent a deductible or self-insured retention under any such insurance. The payment 
of any deductible on any policy shall be the sole responsibility of the Network Service Provider purchasing 
the insurance. 

k. All such insurance policies of the Network Service Provider, at all tiers, shall be provided by insurers 
licensed or eligible to do and that are doing business in the State of Florida. Each insurer must have a 

Page 2288 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 32 of 35 

minimum rating of “A” by A.M. Best or an equivalent rating by a similar insurance rating firm, and shall 
name the Managing Entity and the Department as an additional insured under the policy(ies). The 
Network Service Provider shall use its best good faith efforts to cause the insurers issuing all such 
general, automobile, and professional liability insurance to use a policy form with additional insured 
provisions naming the Managing Entity and the Department as an additional insured or a form of 
additional insured endorsement that is acceptable to the Managing Entity and Department in the 
reasonable exercise of its judgment. 

(1) The Network Service Provider will provide the Managing Entity, at the time of the execution of this 
contract, a Certificate of Insurance indicating general, automobile, and professional liability coverage. 
The Certificate of Insurance must contain an endorsement naming “Lutheran Services Florida, Inc., 
d/b/a LSF Health Systems” and “Florida Department of Children and Families” along with the 
respective facility address as additional insured and certificate holder. The Certificate of Insurance 
must also contain a waiver of subrogation in favor of “Lutheran Services Florida, Inc., d/b/a LSF 
Health Systems” and “Florida Department of Children and Families”.  The Network Service Provider 
also agrees to indemnify the Managing Entity and the Department from and against any and all costs, 
claims, judgments suits or liabilities including attorney’s fees related to or arising from the Network 
Service Provider and their performance of services under this contract. This indemnification obligation 
will survive the termination of this contract as applicable. 

l. All such insurance obtained by the Network Service Provider shall be submitted to and confirmed by 
the Network Manager on an annual basis. 

m. In addition to the requirements of Section 4.8, the Network Service Provider shall comply with the 
publicity requirements mandated in § 394.9082(5)(u), F.S.  

6. Employment Eligibility Verification (E-Verify) 

a. Definitions as used in this clause: 

(1) “Employee assigned to the contract” means all persons employed during the contract term by 
the Network Service Provider to perform work pursuant to this contract within the United States and 
its territories, and all persons (including subcontractors of the Network Service Provider) assigned by 
the Network Service Provider to perform work pursuant to this contract with the Managing Entity. 

(2) “Subcontract” means any contract entered into by a Network Service Provider to furnish 
supplies or services for performance of a prime contract or a subcontract. It includes but is not limited 
to purchase orders, and changes and modifications to purchase orders. 

(3) “Subcontractor” means any supplier, distributor, vendor, or firm that furnishes supplies or 
services to or for a prime provider or another Network Service Provider.  

b. Enrollment and Verification Requirements 

(1) The Network Service Provider shall: 

(a) Enroll as a provider in the E-Verify program within 30 calendar days of contract award or 
amendment. 

(b) Within 90 calendar days of enrollment in the E-Verify program, begin to use E-Verify to initiate 
verification of employment eligibility. All new employees assigned by the Network Service 
Provider or a Subcontractor to perform work pursuant to the contract with the Managing Entity 
shall be verified as employment eligible within three business days after the date of hire.  

(2) The Network Service Provider shall comply, for the period of performance of this contract, with 
the requirement of the E-Verify program enrollment. 

(a) The Department of Homeland Security (DHS) or the Social Security Administration (SSA) may 
terminate the Network Service Provider’s enrollment and deny access to the E-Verify system in 
accordance with the terms of the enrollment. In such case, the Network Service Provider shall be 

Page 2289 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 33 of 35 

referred to a DHS or SSA suspension or debarment official. 

(b) During the period between termination of the enrollment and a decision by the suspension or 
debarment official whether to suspend or debar, the Network Service Provider is excused from its 
obligations under paragraph (b) of this clause. If the suspension or debarment official determines 
not to suspend or debar the Network Service Provider, then the Network Service Provider must 
re-enroll in E-Verify. 

(c) Information on registration for and use of the E-Verify program can be obtained via the Internet 
at the Department of Homeland Security Web site: http://www.dhs.gov/E-Verify.  

(d) The Network Service Provider is not required by this clause to perform additional employment 
verification using E-Verify for any employee whose employment eligibility was previously verified 
by the Network Service Provider through the E-Verify program. 

(e) Evidence of the use of the E-Verify system shall be maintained in the employee’s personnel 
file. 

(f) A photocopy of the employee’s driver’s license used to complete the I-9 Form must be 
maintained in the personnel file. 

(g) The Network Service Provider shall include the requirements of this section, including this 
paragraph (f) (appropriately modified for identification of the parties), in each subcontract. 

(h) The Subcontractor at any tier level must comply with the E-Verify clause as subject to the 
same requirements as the Network Service Provider. 

(3) The Network Service Provider shall comply with the provisions of § 448.095, F.S. 

7. Preference to Florida-Based Businesses 

The Network Service Provider shall maximize the use of state residents, state products, and other Florida-
based businesses in fulfilling its contractual duties under this contract. 

8. Financial Attestations 

The Network Service Provider shall ensure compliance with Rule 65E-14.018, F.A.C., by obtaining a 
financial attestation from each consumer to validate their due diligence for fiscal stewardship of State 
funding.  The financial attestation must include the annual household income, family size, client name, 
client identification number, a client signature, date of signature, staff signature and date staff signed the 
attestation.  Financial eligibility will be determined based off of Health and Human Services Poverty 
Guidelines that are updated and released annually and where the household income is at 150% above 
Federal poverty level or less.  Once a consumer reaches 151% above the Federal poverty level, the 
Network Service Provider shall enact their sliding fee scale to all services delivered. 

9. Sliding Fee Scale 

A copy of the Network Service Provider’s sliding fee scale that reflects the uniform schedule of discounts 
referenced in Rule 65E-14.018, F.A.C., shall be kept in the Network Service Provider’s contract file. The 
Network Service Provider shall submit to the Network Manager, within 15 days of the execution of this 
contract, a copy of the Network Service Provider’s sliding fee scale. 

10. Trust Funds for Individual Served  

a. The Network Service Provider shall comply with 20 C.F.R. Section 416 and 31 C.F.R. Section 240, 
as well as all other applicable federal laws, regarding the establishment and management of individual 
client trust accounts when the Network Service Provider is the representative payee, as defined as, the 
entity who is legally authorized to receive Supplemental Security Income, Social Security Income, 
Veterans Administration benefits, or other federal benefits on behalf of Individuals Served. 

b.  The Network Service Provider assuming responsibility for administration of the personal property 
and funds of clients shall follow the Department’s Accounting Procedures Manual AMP 7, Volume 6, 
incorporated herein by reference (7APM6). The Managing Entity and the Department personnel or their 

Page 2290 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 34 of 35 

designees, upon request, may review all records relating to this section. Any shortages of client funds 
that are attributable to the Network Service Provider shall be repaid, plus applicable interest, within one 
week of the determination. 

c. Notwithstanding 7APM6 Section 15, the Network Service Provider shall maintain all reconciliation 
records on-site for review. 

11. National Provider Identifier (NPI) 

a. All health care providers, including the Network Service Provider, are eligible to be assigned a Health 
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) National Provider Identifiers (NPIs). However, 
Network Service Providers who are covered entities meeting the requirements of 45 CFR Part 162 must 
obtain and use NPIs. 

b. An application for an NPI may be submitted online at: 

https://hmsa.com/portal/provider/zav_pel.ph.NAT.500.htm    

c. Additional information can be obtained from one of the following websites: 

(1) The National Plan and Provider Enumeration System (NPPES):  

https://nppes.cms.hhs.gov/NPPES   

(2) The CMS NPI:  

https://www.cms.gov/Regulations-and-Guidance/Administrative-
Simplification/NationalProvIdentStand/ 

12. Files of Individuals Served 

The Network Service Provider is required to maintain all current and subsequent medical records and 
clinical files of Individuals Served. In the event a Network Service Provider program closes, the Network 
Service Provider shall:  

(1) Maintain all inactive records documenting services provided with SAMH funds incompliance with 
the records retention requirements of Section 5; and  

(2) Coordinate the transition of active records documenting services provided with SAMH funds to a 
successor Network Service Provider for the program, as identified by the Managing Entity, in 
compliance with any service transition requirements in the terminated subcontract or a transition 
plan developed in coordination with the successor Network Service Provider. 

13. Community Persons Served Satisfaction Survey  

The Network Service Provider shall conduct satisfaction surveys of Individuals Served pursuant to PAM 
155-2. 

14. Notification of Adverse Findings 

The Network Service Provider shall report any adverse finding or report by any regulatory or law 
enforcement entity to the Managing Entity within 48 hours. 

15. Medicaid Enrollment 

The Network Service Provider shall enroll as a Medicaid provider.  Exceptions to this requirement include 
instances where the Network Service Provider presents evidence that the services it renders under this 
contract are not payable by Medicaid or other circumstances approved by the Managing Entity. 

16. Mobile Response Teams (MRTs) 

The Network Service Provider must provide contact information for its local Mobile Response Teams to 
parents and caregivers of children, adolescents, and young adults between ages 18 and 25, inclusive, who 
receive behavioral health services. 

Page 2291 of 2427

DRAFT



 
Updated 07/01/2025    Contract # FL023         Attachment I, Page 35 of 35 

E. Program Specific Requirements  

The Network Service Provider shall incorporate any additional program-specific funds appropriated by the 
Legislature or contracted for Behavioral Health Services. Any increases shall be documented through an 
amendment to this contract, resulting in a current fiscal year funding and corresponding service increase. 
Such increase in services must be supported by additional deliverables as outlined in the amendment.  

The Network Service Provider shall adhere to the Exhibits and Incorporated Documents for program 
specific funds as outlined in Appendix A of this contract. 

All Exhibits and Incorporated Documents can be found on the LSF Health Systems website: 
https://www.lsfhealthsystems.org/contract-documents/.   

Appendix B outlines all of the exemptions pertaining to this contract. 

Appendix C outlines all special attachments, beyond Attachment IV, pertaining to this contract. 

Appendix D outlines all negotiated performance measure targets pertaining to this contract.  

   

Page 2292 of 2427

DRAFT



Updated 07/01/2025 ATTACHMENT II, Page 1 of 1 

ATTACHMENT II 

CERTIFICATION REGARDING LOBBYING 

CERTIFICATION FOR CONTRACTS, GRANTS, LOANS AND 

COOPERATIVE AGREEMENTS 

The undersigned certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that: 

(1) No federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the
undersigned, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or an employee
of any agency, a member of congress, an officer or employee of congress, or an employee of a
member of congress in connection with the awarding of any federal contract, the making of any
federal grant, the making of any federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative agreement,
and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any federal contract,
grant, loan, or cooperative agreement.

(2) If any funds other than federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any
person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a
member of congress, an officer or employee of congress, or an employee of a member of
congress in connection with this federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the
undersigned shall complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, “Disclosure Form to Report
Lobbying,” in accordance with its instructions.

(3) The undersigned shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award
documents for all subawards at all tiers (including subcontracts, subgrants, and contracts under
grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all subrecipients shall certify and disclose
accordingly.  This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was
placed when this transaction was made or entered into. Submission of this certification is a
prerequisite for making or entering into this transaction imposed by section 1352, Title 31, U.S.
Code. Any person who fails to file the required certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of
not less than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 for each such failure.

________________________________________________  ___________________ 
Signature  Date 

________________________________________________  ___________________ 
Name of Authorized Individual Application or Contract Number 

________________________________________________ 
Name of Organization 

________________________________________________________________________ 
Address of Organization 

Page 2293 of 2427

DRAFT



 

Updated 07/01/2025      ATTACHMENT III, Page 1 of 3 

ATTACHMENT III 
FINANCIAL COMPLIANCE 

The administration of resources awarded by the Department of Children and Families to the Managing 
Entity to the Network Service Provider may be subject to audits as described in this Attachment. 

1. MONITORING 

1.1. In addition to reviews of audits conducted in accordance 2 CFR 200.521-200.521 and §215.97, 
F.S., as revised, the Department or Managing Entity may monitor or conduct oversight reviews to 
evaluate compliance with contract, management, and programmatic requirements. Monitoring or 
oversight reviews include on-site visits by the Department or Managing Entity staff, agreed-upon-
procedures engagements as described in 2 CFR §200.425, or other procedures. By entering into this 
agreement, the Provider shall comply and cooperate with any monitoring or oversight reviews deemed 
appropriate by the Department or the Managing Entity. In the event the Department or the Managing 
Entity determines that a limited scope audit of the Provider is appropriate, the Provider shall comply with 
any additional instructions provided by the Department or the Managing Entity regarding such audit. The 
Provider shall comply and cooperate with any inspections, reviews, investigations, or audits deemed 
necessary by the Department’s Inspector General, the state’s Chief Financial Officer or the Auditor 
General.  

2. AUDITS 

2.1. Part I: Federal Requirements  

2.1.1. This part is applicable if the Provider is a state or local government, or a nonprofit organization as 
defined in 2 CFR §§200.500-200.521.   

2.1.2. In the event the Provider expends $750,000 ($1,000,000 for fiscal years beginning on or after 
October 1, 2024) or more in federal awards during its fiscal year, the Provider must have a single or 
program-specific audit conducted in accordance with the provisions of 2 CFR §§200.500 - 200.521. The 
Provider shall provide a copy of the single audit to the Department’s Single Audit Unit and LSF Health 
Systems Contract Manager. In the event the Provider expends less than $750,000 ($1,000,000 for fiscal 
years beginning on or after October 1, 2024) in federal awards during its fiscal year, the Provider shall 
provide certification to the Department’s Single Audit Unit and its LSF Health Systems Contract Manager 
that a single audit was not required. If the Provider elects to have an audit that is not required by these 
provisions, the cost of the audit must be paid from non-federal resources. In determining the federal 
awards expended during its fiscal year, the Provider shall consider all sources of federal awards, including 
federal resources received from the Department of Children and Families, federal government (direct), 
other state agencies, and other non-state entities. The determination of amounts of federal awards 
expended shall be in accordance with guidelines established by 2 CFR §§200.500 - 200.521. An audit of 
the Provider conducted by the Auditor General in accordance with the provisions of 2 CFR Part 
§§200.500-200.521, will meet the requirements of this part. In connection with the above audit 
requirements, the Provider shall fulfill the requirements relative to auditee responsibilities as provided in 
2 CFR §200.508. 

2.1.3. The audit’s schedule of expenditures shall disclose the expenditures by contract number for each 
contract with the Department in effect during the audit period. The audit’s financial statements shall 
disclose whether or not the matching requirement was met for each applicable contract. All questioned 
costs and liabilities due the Department shall be fully disclosed in the audit report package with reference 
to the specific contract number. 

Page 2294 of 2427

DRAFT



 

Updated 07/01/2025      ATTACHMENT III, Page 2 of 3 

2.2. Part II: State Requirements 

2.2.1. This part is applicable if the Provider is a non-state entity as defined by §215.97(2), F.S. 

2.2.2. In the event the Provider expends $750,000 or more in state financial assistance during its fiscal 
year, the Provider must have a state single or project-specific audit conducted in accordance with 
§215.97, F.S.; applicable rules of the Department of Financial Services; and Chapters 10.550 (local 
governmental entities) or 10.650 (non-profit and for-profit organizations), Rules of the Auditor General. 
The Provider shall provide a copy of the single audit to the Department’s Single Audit Unit and its LSF 
Health Systems Contract Manager. In the event the Provider expends less than $750,000 in state 
financial assistance during its fiscal year, the Provider shall provide certification to the Department’s 
Single Audit Unit and its LSF Health Systems Contract Manager that a single audit was not required. If 
the Provider elects to have an audit that is not required by these provisions, the cost of the audit must be 
paid from non-state resources. In determining the state financial assistance expended during its fiscal 
year, the Provider shall consider all sources of state financial assistance, including state financial 
assistance received from the Department of Children and Families, other state agencies, and other non-
state entities. State financial assistance does not include federal direct or pass-through awards and 
resources received by a non-state entity for federal program matching requirements. 

2.2.3. In connection with the audit requirements addressed in the preceding paragraph, the Provider 
shall ensure that the audit complies with the requirements of §215.97(8), F.S. This includes submission 
of a financial reporting package as defined by §215.97(2), F.S., and Chapters 10.550 or 10.650, Rules 
of the Auditor General. 

2.2.4. The audit’s schedule of expenditures shall disclose the expenditures by contract number for each 
contract with the Department in effect during the audit period. The audit’s financial statements shall 
disclose whether or not the matching requirement was met for each applicable contract. All questioned 
costs and liabilities due the Department shall be fully disclosed in the audit report package with reference 
to the specific contract number. 

2.3. Part III: Report Submission 

2.3.1. Audit reporting packages (including management letters, if issued) required pursuant to this 
agreement shall be submitted to the Managing Entity within thirty 30 (federal) or 40 (state) days of the 
Provider’s receipt of the audit report or within nine months after the end of the Provider’s audit period, 
whichever occurs first, directly to each of the following unless otherwise required by Florida Statutes: 

2.3.1.1. LSF Health Systems 

LSF Health Systems Data System – Carisk Partners 

2.3.1.2. Department of Children & Families, Office of the Inspector General, Single Audit Unit 
HQW.IG.Single.Audit@myflfamilies.com.  

2.3.1.3. Reporting packages required by Part I of this attachment shall be submitted, when 
required by 2 CFR §200.521(d), by or on behalf of the Provider directly to the Federal 
Audit Clearinghouse using the Federal Audit Clearinghouse’s Internet Data Entry System, 
located at: https://www.fac.gov/, and other federal agencies and pass-through entities in 
accordance with 2 CFR §200.512.  

2.3.1.4. Reporting packages required by Part II of this agreement shall be submitted by or on 
behalf of the Provider directly to the state Auditor General (one paper copy and one 
electronic copy) at: 

Page 2295 of 2427

DRAFT



 

Updated 07/01/2025      ATTACHMENT III, Page 3 of 3 

Auditor General  
Local Government Audits/251 
Claude Pepper Building, Room 401 
111 West Madison Street 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1450 
flaudg-en_localgovt@aud.state.fl.us  

The Auditor General’s website (https://flauditor.gov) provides instructions for filing an electronic copy 
of a financial reporting package.  

2.3.2. When submitting reporting packages to the Department and Managing Entity for audits done in 
accordance with 2 CFR §§200.500 - 200.521 or Chapters 10.550 (local governmental entities) or 10.650 
(non-profit or for-profit organizations), Rules of the Auditor General, the Provider shall include 
correspondence from the auditor indicating the date the audit report package was delivered to Provider. 
When such correspondence is not available, the date that the audit report package was delivered by the 
auditor to the Provider must be indicated in correspondence submitted to the Department and Managing 
Entity in accordance with Chapter 10.558(3) or Chapter 10.657(2), Rules of the Auditor General. 

2.3.3. Certifications that audits were not required shall be submitted within 90 days of the end of the 
Provider’s audit period. 

2.3.4. Any other reports and information required to be submitted to the Department pursuant to this 
attachment shall be done so timely. 

2.4. Part IV: Record Retention 

The Provider shall retain sufficient records demonstrating its compliance with the terms of this agreement 
for a period of six years from the date the audit report is issued and shall allow the Department or the 
Managing Entity or its designee, Chief Financial Officer or Auditor General access to such records upon 
request. The Provider shall ensure that audit working papers are made available to the Department or 
the Managing Entity or its designee, Chief Financial Officer, or Auditor General upon request for a period 
of three years from the date the audit report is issued, unless extended in writing by the Department or 
the Managing Entity. 

Page 2296 of 2427

DRAFT



 
 

Updated 07/01/2025  ATTACHMENT IV, Page 1 of 1 
 

ATTACHMENT IV 

The purpose of this Attachment was to outline the terms and conditions governing the Network 
Service Provider’s access to and use of Protected Health Information and provides the 
permissible uses and disclosures of protected health information by the Network Service Provider, 
but this is now referenced in the Standard Contract in 5.3. 

 

REMAINDER OF THIS ATTACHMENT INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

 

  

Page 2297 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County - SEDNET   FL023 

Attachment V 
Page 1 of 7  Revised 07/01/2025 

ATTACHMENT V 

This Attachment contains the terms and conditions governing the See You at the Top (SYATT) program which 
School Board of Clay County – SEDNET, hereinafter referred to as “Network Service Provider,” will administer 
in Duval, Clay, and Nassau counties. The terms of this Attachment shall be effective July 1, 2025 and shall 
continue through expiration of the Standard Contract to which this document is attached. 

Section 1. Financial Consideration 

1.1. Award Amount 

School Board of Clay County – SEDNET has been awarded an amount for costs associated with 
administration of the See You at the Top (SYATT) program at its agency, not to exceed the specified 
program funding as set forth in the Exhibit H - Funding Detail, for both current fiscal year and carry 
forward funds from previous fiscal years, if applicable.  This award is subject to availability of funds from 
the Department of Children and Families. 

1.2. Payment 

This award shall be paid using a fee-for-service methodology, subject to the availability of funds. The 
Network Service Provider shall comply with the terms of such methodology, including documentation and 
data reporting, as outlined in the body of the contract to which this document is attached. 

Section 2. Program Administration 

2.1. Program Objectives and Goals 

2.1.1. See You at the Top (SYATT) Program: a youth-guided transitional program developed to address 
the unique needs of transition-aged youth who are at risk of substance abuse and mental health 
disorders. The group is made up of 10-12 children with a DSM diagnosis who have been referred 
by a school, mental health agency and are having difficulty within the community/school. 

2.2. Admissions and Discharge 

2.2.1. Refer clients from Family Service Planning Team (FSPT).  

2.2.2. Referrals from community mental health agencies, schools, DJJ, churches, community advocacy 
groups, parents, local CBC’s, Baker Act Facilities, and DCF.  

2.2.1.1 SEDNET shall review all applications and meet with the parents to determine 
appropriateness of the referral. 

2.2.3. Child has an IQ above 70, whose primary diagnosis is not Autism or intellectually disabled and is 
a community child. 

2.2.4. All admissions are voluntary and require consent and participation. 

2.2.5. Length of stay in the SYATT program is based on individual need.  

2.3. Staffing and Professional Qualifications 

Page 2298 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County - SEDNET   FL023 

Attachment V 
Page 2 of 7  Revised 07/01/2025 

2.3.1 The Network Service Provider shall maintain an adequate administrative organizational structure 
and support staff sufficient to perform its contractual responsibilities. 

2.3.2 The Network Service Provider shall maintain the following minimum programmatic Full-Time 
Equivalent (FTE) staff for the provision of the services described herein. 

2.3.2.1 1.0 FTE Project Manager 

a.  This position shall, at minimum, possess: 

i.  A Masters degree in Health Services, and 

ii.  A minimum of ten years of experience working with children or adolescents 
with behavioral health needs. 

b. The Network Service Provider shall ensure staff in this position have received 
supplemental topic-specific training in family systems, crisis intervention, teenager 
or young adult suicide prevention and trauma-informed care. 

c. The Network Service Provider shall ensure staff in this position have received 
supplemental topic-specific training in co-occurring substance abuse and mental 
health disorders and treatment. 

2.3.2.2. 1.0 FTE Support Specialist 

a. This position shall, at minimum, possess: 

i. A Bachelors degree in Health Services; or 

ii. A minimum of four to five years of experience working with children or 
adolescents with behavioral health needs. 

b.  The Network Service Provider shall ensure staff in this position have received 
supplemental topic-specific training in family systems, crisis intervention, teenager 
or young adult suicide prevention and trauma-informed care. 

c.  The Network Service Provider shall ensure staff in this position have received 
supplemental topic-specific training in co-occurring substance abuse and mental 
health disorders and treatment. 

2.3.2.3. 0.5 FTE Therapist 

a. This position shall, at minimum, possess: 

i. A Bachelors degree in Health Services; or 

ii.   A minimum of two years of experience working with children or adolescents 
with behavioral health needs. 

Page 2299 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County - SEDNET   FL023 

Attachment V 
Page 3 of 7  Revised 07/01/2025 

b. The Network Service Provider shall ensure staff in this position have received 
supplemental topic-specific training in family systems, crisis intervention, teenager 
or young adult suicide prevention and trauma-informed care. 

c. The Network Service Provider shall ensure staff in this position have received 
supplemental topic-specific training in co-occurring substance abuse and mental 
health disorders and treatment. 

2.3.2.4. 0.5 FTE Teacher 

a. This position shall, at minimum, possess: 

i. A Bachelors degree in Health Services; or 

ii.  A minimum of two years of experience working with children or adolescents 
with behavioral health needs. 

b.  The Network Service Provider shall ensure staff in this position have received 
supplemental topic-specific training in family systems, crisis intervention, teenager 
or young adult suicide prevention and trauma-informed care. 

c.  The Network Service Provider shall ensure staff in this position have received 
supplemental topic-specific training in co-occurring substance abuse and mental 
health disorders and treatment. 

2.3.3. The Network Service Provider must have these staff as part of the team; however, the number of 
staff and the functions they perform may vary in response to local needs and as approved by LSF 
Health Systems. 

2.3.4. The Network Service Provider shall document that staff has adequate education and all other 
training necessary to perform the duties for which they are assigned and meet all applicable 
licensing or certification requirements for their respective disciplines. 

2.3.5. The Network Service Provider must inform the Network Manager when positions become vacant. 

2.4. The Network Service Provider shall maintain the following clinical documentation for individuals served 
in the program.  

2.4.1. Intake/Assessment Documentation Requirements 

2.4.1.1. The file contains basic demographic information, which includes; Name, address, 
telephone number, date of birth, names and addresses of guardian. 

2.4.1.2. The file contains Release of Contact Information signed and dated by the student or 
guardian, which authorizes SEDNET to share contact information amongst the students 
and parent of the SYATT, and other agencies and/or providers involved with the student 
(i.e., Martial Arts program, school, or therapist). 

2.4.1.3. The file contains Risk and Protective factors of client. 

Page 2300 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County - SEDNET   FL023 

Attachment V 
Page 4 of 7  Revised 07/01/2025 

2.4.1.4. The file contains Consent for Treatment explaining goals of counseling, risks/benefits of 
counseling, confidentiality and agreement signed and dated by the student, guardian, 
and therapist/coach. 

2.4.2. Treatment Services Requirements 

2.4.2.1. The file contains documentation that an individual intervention plan was completed 
within 45 days of admission. 

24.2.2. The individual intervention plan includes goals and objectives designed to reduce the 
severity and intensity of factors associated with substance abuse. 

24.2.3. The individual intervention plan goals and objectives were derived from the initial 
assessment of the resident’s needs and strengths. 

24.2.4. The individual intervention plan goals and objectives are: Achievable; Reasonable 
timeframes; and stated in terms of measurable and observable changes. 

24.2.5. For each goal or objective in the intervention plan the actions needed to attain that goal 
and the responsible individual(s) are listed. 

24.2.6. The file contains documentation that the intervention plan was developed with and 
signed by the student or guardian and the staff who developed the plan. If the student 
or guardian refuses to sign, the reason for this, if determinable, is documented in the 
file. 

24.2.7. New intervention plans shall be created once goals are reached and/or change. 

24.2.8. The file contains documentation that the intervention plan was reviewed and updated 
every 60 days and signed by student and the staff who developed the plan. 

Section 3. Documentation 

3.1. Description of Services as described in 65E-14.021, F.A.C 

3.1.1. Intervention (Individual and Group) focus on reducing risk factors generally associated with the 
progression of substance abuse and mental health problems. Intervention is accomplished 
through early identification of persons at risk, performing basic individual assessments, and 
providing supportive services, which emphasize short-term counseling and referral. This covered 
service shall include clinical supervision provided to a service provider’s personnel by a 
professional qualified by degree, licensure, certification, or specialized training in the 
implementation of this service. 

3.1.1.1. Examples of services include travel to and from SYATT groups, preparing chart/notes 
for group and facilitating group. Network Service Provider may bill LSFHS up to 3 
people (Project Manager, Therapist, and/or Teacher) per child in the SYATT group for 
facilitating. Total hours for travel and chart/notes shall be divided equally by the 
number of children in the SYATT group. 

3.1.2. Incidental Expenses are temporary expenses incurred to facilitate continuing treatment and 
community stabilization when no other resources are available. Allowable uses of this Covered 
Service include: transportation, childcare, housing assistance clothing, educational services, 

Page 2301 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County - SEDNET   FL023 

Attachment V 
Page 5 of 7  Revised 07/01/2025 

vocational services, medical care, housing subsidies, pharmaceuticals and other incidentals as 
approved by the department or Managing Entity. 

3.1.2.1. Examples of expenses include purchase of Alhambra tickets for a group of SYATT 
children that promotes social skills or tutoring lessons. All incidentals must to be tied 
back to a child and his/her goals. 

3.1.2.2. When billing for incidental expenses, the Network Service Provider shall follow F.A.C. 
65E-14.021(4)(k)4.b.(V). 

3.2. Costs 

3.2.1. Professional Services Rendered: Invoices for professional services must include a general 
statement of the services provided, the time period covered by the invoice, the hourly rate, the 
number of hours worked, and the total payment required.  Evidence of payment of the invoice 
must also be included. 

3.2.2. Postage and Reproduction Expenses:  Outside vendors purchases must include invoices with 
evidence of payments made or receipts with itemization.  In-house postage and reproduction must 
be supported by usage logs or similar reports. 

3.2.3. Travel: Travel reimbursements shall be made in accordance with the Department’s CFOP 40-1, 
§ 287.058(1)(b), Fla. Stat. and §112.061, Fla. Stat.  Receipts for direct expenses (e.g., airfare, 
car rental, parking, tolls) shall be provided in support of such expenses.  For mileage 
reimbursements, submissions shall include date(s) of travel, amount of mileage (support of 
mileage may include either map routes or odometer readings), purpose of travel, origin and 
destination. 

3.2.4. General Expenses not otherwise specified:  Receipts or invoices with evidence of payment should 
be provided. 

3.3. Services Rendered 

3.3.1. The Network Service Provider shall maintain records documenting the total number of clients 
and names/unique identifiers of clients to whom services were rendered and the date(s) on which 
services were provided.  The Network Service Provider shall make such information available to 
LSF Health Systems upon request and during monitoring of the program administration. 

3.4. Client Charts 

3.4.1. Client Charts shall be maintained in accordance with the applicable parameters established by 
65D-30, F.A.C.  Audit documentation shall be in accordance with 65E-14.021, F.A.C. 

3.5. Reporting 

3.5.1. Appendix A – Persons Served and Performance Measures: A monthly report persons served 
and performance measures for the reporting month. This report is due to the Network Manager 
and Children’s System Care Manager by the 8th of every month. The template for this report is 
incorporated herein. 

3.5.2. Ad Hoc and additional reporting may be required as determined necessary by LSF Health 
Systems or the Florida Department of Children and Families. 

Page 2302 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County - SEDNET   FL023 

Attachment V 
Page 6 of 7  Revised 07/01/2025 

3.6. Performance Measures 

3.6.1. Individuals receiving services shall attend an average of 80% percent of school days. 

3.6.1.1. The numerator is the number of school days attended by youth receiving services. 

3.6.1.2. The denominator is the total number of school days available. 

3.6.2. Youth in the program will receive 40% or less disciplinary actions (i.e., discipline referrals, 
suspensions, etc.) in their educational setting. 

3.6.2.1. The numerator is the number of youth who received disciplinary actions (i.e., discipline 
referrals, suspensions, etc.) during the reporting period. 

3.6.2.2. The denominator is the total number of youth receiving services. 

3.6.3. 70% percent of individuals receiving services shall improve their GPA between admission to 
discharge. 

3.6.3.1. The numerator is the number of individuals whose discharge GPA is greater than their 
admission GPA.  Measure improvement is based on the change between the admission 
and discharge GPA.  A higher GPA score from admission to discharge indicates that 
the GPA improved. 

3.6.3.2. The denominator is the total number of individuals discharged during the reporting 
period. 

3.6.4. 80% of youth will earn their High School Diploma or GED. 

3.6.4.1. The numerator is the number of youth who earned their High School Diploma or GED. 

3.6.4.2. The denominator is the total number of youth eligibility to obtain their High School 
Diploma or GED. 

3.6.5. 40% of less youth will be Baker Acted during the reporting period. 

3.6.5.1. The numerator is the number of youth Baker Acted during the reporting period. 

3.6.5.2. The denominator is the total number of youth enrolled in the program. 

3.6.6. 80% of youth will be actively engaged in the program. 

3.6.6.1. The numerator is the number of youth engaged with the SYATT provider (attending 
appointments, following recommendations, participation in assessments, etc.) during 
the reporting period. 

3.6.6.2. The denominator is the total number of youth enrolled in the program. 

3.6.7. A total of 96 individuals will be served annually. 

Page 2303 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County - SEDNET   FL023 

Attachment V 
Page 7 of 7  Revised 07/01/2025 

Section 4. Miscellaneous 

4.1. Other contractual requirements in effect under the remaining portions of this contract apply to the 
administration of the program described herein. 

4.2. Renewal of the provisions of this Attachment and the program it governs are contingent on performance 
under the terms and subject to availability of funding from the Department. 

4.3. The provisions of this Attachment are subject to revision and amendment by LSF Health Systems. 

4.4. Any ambiguity in this Attachment shall be interpreted to permit compliance with laws, regulations and 
codes in effect within the State of Florida. 

Page 2304 of 2427

DRAFT



SED-FL023 Minimum Performance Measures  EXHIBIT B 
Amendment: N/A 

 

Update 07/01/2025                            EXHIBIT B, Page 1 of 3 

B.1. The Network Service Provider shall meet the performance measures in Table 3, as appropriate to the 
services and target populations in its Contract, listed in Exhibit L – Covered Service Rates by Program.  

Table 3 – Network Service Provider Performance Measures 

Measure Description 

The Network Service Provider shall increase diversions from acute care services. The readmission rate is 
equal to or less than 20% the first year and increases 1% thereafter. 
Numerator: Number of readmissions. 
Denominator: number of discharges all multiplied by 100. 

Travel time for 50% or fewer individuals residing in the Region in urban counties and seeking services is 
within 30 miles and takes less than 60 minutes.  The readmission rate is equal to or less than 20% the first 
year and increases 1% thereafter. 
Numerator: Number of readmissions. 
Denominator: number of discharges all multiplied by 100. 

Travel time for 50% or fewer individuals residing in the Region in rural counties and seeking services is 
within 50 miles and takes less than 120 minutes. This shall increase 10% per year thereafter, up to 70%. 
Numerator: Number of individuals who traveled a maximum of 120 minutes and 50 miles to access care. 
Denominator: Total number of individuals seen multiplied by 100. 

Network Service Providers shall demonstrate progress by reducing the average number of days individuals 
remain on the on the Forensic and Priority Population Wait List. 

B.2. The Network Service Provider shall meet the targets in Table 4, as appropriate to the services and target 
populations in its Contract, listed in Exhibit L – Covered Service Rates by Program.  

Table 4 – Network Service Provider Measures Target 

Adults Community Mental Health 

MH003 
Average annual days worked for pay for adults with severe and persistent 
mental illness  

40 

MH703 Percent of adults with serious mental illness who are competitively employed  24% 

MH742 
Percent of adults with severe and persistent mental illnesses who live in stable 
housing environment  

90% 

MH743 
Percent of adults in forensic involvement who live in stable housing 
environment 

67% 

MH744 Percent of adults in mental health crisis who live in stable housing environment  86% 

Adult Substance Abuse 

SA753 Percentage change in clients who are employed from admission to discharge  10% 

SA754 
Percent change in the number of adults arrested 30 days prior to admission 
versus 30 days prior to discharge 

15% 

SA755 
Percent of adults who successfully complete substance abuse treatment 
services   

51% 

SA756 
Percent of adults with substance abuse who live in a stable housing 
environment at the time of discharge  

94% 

Children Mental Health 

MH012 
Percent of school days Seriously Emotionally Disturbed (SED) children 
attended  

86% 

Page 2305 of 2427

DRAFT



SED-FL023 Minimum Performance Measures  EXHIBIT B 
Amendment: N/A 

 

Update 07/01/2025                            EXHIBIT B, Page 2 of 3 

MH377 
Percent of children with Emotional Disturbances (ED) who improve their level 
of functioning 

64% 

MH378 Percent of children with SED who improve their level of functioning 65% 

MH778 Percent of children with ED who live in a stable housing environment  95% 

MH779 Percent of children with SED who live in a stable housing environment  93% 

MH780 Percent of children at risk of ED who live in a stable housing environment  96% 

Children Substance Abuse 

SA725 
Percent of children who successfully complete substance abuse treatment 
services  

48% 

SA751 
Percent change in the number of children arrested 30 days prior to admission 
versus 30 days prior to discharge   

20% 

SA752 
Percent of children with substance abuse who live in a stable housing 
environment at the time of discharge 

93% 

B.3. The Network Service Provider shall provide timely access measures in Table 5, as appropriate to the 
services and target populations in its Contract, listed in Exhibit L – Covered Service Rates by Program.  

Table 5 – Network Service Provider Timely Access Measures 

Measure Description 
Minimum Acceptable Network Service Provider 

Performance 

 
Effective 
7/1/2025 

Effective 
7/1/2027 

Effective 
7/1/2029 

Appointments for urgent services (services needed 
to preclude a crisis) provided within 48 hours of a 
request. 

70% 80% 90% 

Appointments for rapid intervention for children, 
families, or individuals in distress or at risk for entry 
into foster care, justice systems or more intensive 
services within 72 hours from the date of a referral 
or request for assistance. 

70% 80% 90% 

Appointments for outpatient follow-up services 
provided within 7 days after discharge from an 
inpatient or residential setting 

70% 80% 90% 

Appointments for initial assessment are provided 
within 14 days of a request for treatment. 

70% 80% 90% 

B.4. The Network Service provider shall ensure they cumulatively reach the annual output measures in Table 6. 

Table 6 – Network Service Provider Output Measures  
Persons Served for Fiscal Year 2025-2026 

Program Service Category FY Target 

Adult Mental Health 
 

Residential Care N/A 

Outpatient Care  N/A 

Crisis Care  N/A 

Page 2306 of 2427

DRAFT



SED-FL023 Minimum Performance Measures  EXHIBIT B 
Amendment: N/A 

 

Update 07/01/2025                            EXHIBIT B, Page 3 of 3 

State Hospital Discharges N/A 

Peer Support Services N/A 

Children's Mental Health 

Residential Care N/A 

Outpatient Care 114 

Crisis Care N/A 

Adult Substance Abuse 

Residential Care N/A 

Outpatient Care N/A 

Detoxification N/A 

Women’s Specific Services N/A 

Injecting Drug Users N/A 

Peer Support Services N/A 

Children's Substance Abuse 

Residential Care N/A 

Outpatient Care N/A 

Detoxification N/A 

Prevention N/A 

** Table 6 is unique for each Network Service Provider and will be distributed separately. 

B.5. If the Network Service Provider fails to perform in accordance with this Contract or fails to perform the 
minimum level of service required by this Contract, the Managing Entity will apply financial consequences as 
stated herein. The parties agree that the financial consequences provided for under Exhibit B constitute financial 
consequences under § 287.058(1)(h); and § 215.971(1)(c), F.S. The foregoing does not limit additional financial 
consequences, which may include but are not limited to refusing payment, withholding payment until deficiency 
is cured, tendering partial payments, applying payment adjustments for additional financial consequences to the 
extent that this Contract so provides, or termination pursuant to the terms of Section 6.2, and requisition of 
services from an alternate source. Any payment made in reliance on the Network Service Provider’s evidence 
of performance, which evidence is subsequently determined to be erroneous, will be immediately due as an 
overpayment in accordance with Section 3.5, to the extent of such error.  

B.6. Corrective Action for Performance Deficiencies 

B.6.1. By execution of this Contract, the Network Service Provider hereby acknowledges and agrees that 
its performance under the Contract must meet the standards set forth above and will be bound by the 
conditions set forth in this Contract. If performance deficiencies are not resolved to the satisfaction of the 
Managing Entity within the prescribed time, and if no extenuating circumstances can be documented by the 
Network Service Provider to the Managing Entity’s satisfaction, the Managing Entity may terminate the 
Contract. The Managing Entity has the exclusive authority to determine whether there are extenuating or 
mitigating circumstances. 

B.6.2. In accordance with the provisions of § 402.73(1), F.S., and Rule 65-29.001, F.A.C., corrective action 
plans shall be required for noncompliance, nonperformance, or unacceptable performance under this 
Contract, and penalties shall be imposed for failure to comply with a Managing Entity’s approved corrective 
action plan unless the Managing Entity determines that extenuating circumstances exist. 

Page 2307 of 2427

DRAFT



Fiscal Year 2025-2026 LSF HEALTH SYSTEMS
MENTAL HEALTH AND SUBSTANCE ABUSE

FUNDING DETAIL

EXHIBIT H

Provider Name: School District of Clay County - SEDNET Effective: 7/1/2025 Amend. #: N/A
Contract #: FL023 Retroactive to:

Other Cost Accumulators Title Line # GAA Category Program Age Group Program Code Parent Other Cost 
Accumulators (OCA)

Other Cost 
Accumulators (OCA)

Carry 
Forward  Total 

The Amount of 
Non-Recurring 

Funds included in 
Total Amount

Mental Health - Budget Entity - 60910506
Mental Health Core Services Funding

ME Mental Health Services & Support - Adult
373/374/3

77/378
100610/100611/
100777/100778 Mental Health Adult AMH MH000 MHA00 -                            -                                 

ME Mental Health Services & Support - Adult - Carry Forward
373/374/3

77/378
100610/100611/
100777/100778 Mental Health Adult AMH MH000 MHA00-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 

ME Mental Health Services & Support - Child
373/374/3

77/378
100610/100611/
100777/100778 Mental Health Child CMH MH000 MHC00 219,333                  -                                 

ME Mental Health Services & Support - Child - Carry Forward
373/374/3

77/378
100610/100611/
100777/100778 Mental Health Child CMH MH000 MHC00-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 

ME Early Intervention Services-Psychotic Disorders 367 100610 Mental Health Adult AMH MH026 MH026 -                            -                                 
ME BSCA Early Intervention SVC-Psychotic Disorders 373 100610 Mental Health Adult AMH MH26B MH26B -                            -                                 
ME MH BSCA 988 Suicide and Crisis Lifeline 373 100610 Mental Health Adult AMH MHCBS MHCBS -                            -                                 
ME MH Forensic Transitional Beds 373 100610 Mental Health Adult AMH MHFMH MHFMH -                            -                                 
ME MH Forensic Transitional Beds - Carry Forward 373 100610 Mental Health Adult AMH MHFMH MHFMH-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 
ME MH State Funded Federal Excluded Services 373/374 100610/100611 Mental Health Adult AMH MHSFP MHSFP -                            -                                 
ME MH State Funded Federal Excluded Services - Carry Forward 373/374 100610/100611 Mental Health Adult AMH MHSFP MHSFP-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 
ME MH Transitional Beds for MH Institution 373 100610 Mental Health Adult AMH MHTMH MHTMH -                            -                                 
Total Mental Health Core Services Funding 219,333             -                        
Mental Health Discretionary Grants Funding
ME MH 988 State and Territory Improvement Grant-Year 2 372 100610 Mental Health Adult AMH MH982 MH982 -                            -                                 
ME MH 988 State and Territory Improvement Grant-Year 3 Mental Health Adult AMH MH983 MH983 -                            -                                 
Total Mental Health Discretionary Grants Funding -                    -                        
Mental Health Proviso Projects Funding 
ME Stewart-Marchman Behavioral Healthcare 387 108850 Mental Health Adult AMH MH011 MH011 -                            -                                 
ME Stewart-Marchman Behavioral Healthcare - Carry Forward 387 108850 Mental Health Adult AMH MH011 MH011-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 
ME MH LifeStream Central Receiving System-Citrus County 378 100778 Mental Health Adult AMH MH035 MH035 -                            -                                 
ME Clay Behavioral Health-Crisis Prevention 378 100778 Mental Health Adult AMH MH089 MH089 -                            -                                 
ME Clay Behavioral Health Center - Crisis Prevention - Carry Forward 378 100778 Mental Health Adult AMH MH089 MH089-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 
ME MH Academy at Glengary Workforce Jobs 378 100778 Mental Health Adult AMH MH100 MH100 -                            -                                 
ME MH Forensic Residential Stepdown - Carry Forward 378 100778 Mental Health Adult AMH MH100 MH100-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 
ME MH Flagler Brave Program 378 100778 Mental Health Child CMH MHBRV MHBRV -                            -                                 
ME MH Flagler Brave Program - Carry Forward 378 100778 Mental Health Child CMH MHBRV MHBRV-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 
ME MH Flagler Health Center Receiving System–St. John - Adult - Carry Forward 372 100778 Mental Health Adult AMH MHFHR MHFHR-A-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 
ME MH Flagler Health Center Receiving System–St. John - Child - Carry Forward 372 100778 Mental Health Child CMH MHFHR MHFHR-C-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 
ME MH Here Tomorrow Outpatient MH Services 378 100778 Mental Health Adult AMH MHHTO MHHTO -                            -                                 
ME LifeStream Center 378 100778 Mental Health Adult AMH MHS50 MHS50 -                            -                                 
ME LifeStream Center - Carry Forward 378 100778 Mental Health Adult AMH MHS50 MHS50-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 
ME MH El-Beth-El Development Center Youth Crime 378 100778 Mental Health Child CMH MH111 MH111 -                            -                                 
ME MH El-Beth-El Development Center Youth Crime 378 100778 Mental Health Child CMH MH111 MH111-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 
ME MH LJD Jewish Family & Community Services - Mental Health 378 100778 Mental Health Child CMH MH117 MH117 -                            -                                 
Marion County Law Enforcement Co-Responder Program 378 100778 Mental Health Adult AMH MH069 MH069 -                            -                                 
ME MH NAMI Jacksonville - Family and Peer Support 378 100778 Mental Health Child CMH MH120 MH120 -                            -                                 
ME NW Behavioral Health Services - Training Trauma Now 378 100778 Mental Health Adult AMH MH048 MH048 -                            -                                 
Total Mental Health Proviso Projects Funding -                            -                                 
Mental Health Targeted Services Funding 
ME MH Purchase of Residential Treatment Services for Emotionally Disturbed 
Children and Youth 381 102780 Mental Health Child CMH MH071 MH071 -                            -                                 
ME MH Community Forensic Beds 373 100610 Mental Health Adult AMH MH072 MH072 -                            -                                 
ME MH Community Forensic Beds - Carry Forward 373 100610 Mental Health Adult AMH MH072 MH072-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 
ME MH Indigent Psychiatric Medication Program 380 101350 Mental Health Adult AMH MH076 MH076 -                            -                                 
ME MH Indigent Psychiatric Medication Program - Carry Forward 380 101350 Mental Health Adult AMH MH076 MH076-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 

Updated 07/01/2025 EXHIBIT H, Page 1 of 4
Page 2308 of 2427

DRAFT



Fiscal Year 2025-2026 LSF HEALTH SYSTEMS
MENTAL HEALTH AND SUBSTANCE ABUSE

FUNDING DETAIL

EXHIBIT H

Provider Name: School District of Clay County - SEDNET Effective: 7/1/2025 Amend. #: N/A
Contract #: FL023 Retroactive to:

Other Cost Accumulators Title Line # GAA Category Program Age Group Program Code Parent Other Cost 
Accumulators (OCA)

Other Cost 
Accumulators (OCA)

Carry 
Forward  Total 

The Amount of 
Non-Recurring 

Funds included in 
Total Amount

ME MH BNET (Behavioral Health Network) 373 100610 Mental Health Child CMH MH0BN MH0BN -                            -                                 
ME MH Care Coordination Direct Client Services - Adult 373 100610 Mental Health Adult AMH MH0CN MHACN -                            -                                 
ME MH Care Coordination Direct Client Services - Adult - Carry Forward 373 100610 Mental Health Adult AMH MH0CN MHACN-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 
ME MH Care Coordination Direct Client Services - Child 373 100610 Mental Health Child CMH MH0CN MHCCN -                            -                                 
ME SA Care Coordination Direct Client Services - Child - Carry Forward 373 100610 Mental Health Child CMH MH0CN MHCCN-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 
ME Community Forensic Multidisciplinary Teams 373 100610 Mental Health Adult AMH MH0FH MH0FH -                            -                                 
ME Community Forensic Multidisciplinary Teams - Carry Forward 373 100610 Mental Health Adult AMH MH0FH MH0FH-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 
ME FACT Medicaid Ineligible 387 108850 Mental Health Adult AMH MH0FT MH0FT -                            -                                 
ME FACT Medicaid Ineligible - Carry Forward 387 108850 Mental Health Adult AMH MH0FT MH0FT-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 
ME MH PATH Grant 373 100610 Mental Health Adult AMH MH0PG MH0PG -                            -                                 
ME MH Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF) 373 100610 Mental Health Adult AMH MH0TB MH0TB -                            -                                 
ME Expanding 211 Call Vol & Coordination Initiative 373 100610 Mental Health Adult AMH MH211 MH211 -                            -                                 
ME Expanding 211 Call Vol & Coordination Initiative - Carry Forward 373 100610 Mental Health Adult AMH MH211 MH211-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 
ME MH Community Action Treatment (CAT) Teams 372/373 100425/100610 Mental Health Child CMH MHCAT MHCAT -                            -                                 
ME MH Community Action Treatment (CAT) Teams - Carry Forward 372/373 100425/100610 Mental Health Child CMH MHCAT MHCAT-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 
ME Disability Rights Florida Mental Health 373 100610 Mental Health Adult AMH MHDRF MHDRF -                            -                                 
ME Disability Rights Florida Mental Health - Carry Forward 373 100610 Mental Health Adult AMH MHDRF MHDRF-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 
ME MH Evidence Based Practice Team 373 100610 Mental Health Child CMH MHEBP MHEBP -                            -                                 
ME MH Evidence Based Practice Team - Carry Forward 373 100610 Mental Health Child CMH MHEBP MHEBP-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 
ME MH Early Diversion of Forensic Individuals 373 100610 Mental Health Adult AMH MHEDT MHEDT -                            -                                 
ME MH Early Diversion of Forensic Individuals - Carry Forward 373 100610 Mental Health Adult AMH MHEDT MHEDT-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 
ME MH Supported Employment Services 373 100610 Mental Health Adult AMH MHEMP MHEMP -                            -                                 
ME MH Behavioral Health Clinic 377 100778 Mental Health Adult AMH MHIBH MHIBH -                            -                                 
ME MH Mobile Crisis Teams 373 100610 Mental Health Child CMH MHMCT MHMCT -                            -                                 
ME MH Mobile Crisis Teams  - Carry Forward 373 100610 Mental Health Child CMH MHMCT MHMCT-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 
MH ME Other Multidisciplinary Team 373 100610 Mental Health Adult AMH MHMDT MHMDT -                            -                                 
MH ME Other Multidisciplinary Team - Carry Forward 373 100610 Mental Health Adult AMH MHMDT MHMDT-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 
ME Mental Health Crisis Beds 372 100610 Mental Health Child CMH MHOCB MHOCB -                            -                                 
ME MH 988 Suicide and Crisis Lifeline Sustainment 372 100610 Mental Health Adult AMH MHSCL MHSCL -                            -                                 
ME Centralized Receiving Systems 376 100621 Mental Health Adult AMH MHSCR MHSCR -                            -                                 
ME Centralized Receiving Systems - Carry Forward 370/364B 100621 Mental Health Adult AMH MHSCR MHSCR-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 
ME Sunrise / Sunset Beds Pilot 378 100610 Mental Health Adult AMH MHSUN MHSUN -                            -                                 
ME Sunrise / Sunset Beds Pilot - Carry Forward 378 100610 Mental Health Adult AMH MHSUN MHSUN-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 
ME MH Telehealth Behavioral Health Services 378 100778 Mental Health Child CMH MHTLH MHTLH -                            -                                 
ME MH Telehealth Behavioral Health Services - Carry Forward 378 100778 Mental Health Child CMH MHTLH MHTLH-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 
ME Transitions Vouchers Mental Health 373 100610 Mental Health Adult AMH MHTRV MHTRV -                            -                                 
ME Transitions Vouchers Mental Health - Carry Forward 373 100610 Mental Health Adult AMH MHTRV MHTRV-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 
Total Mental Health Targeted Services Funding -                    -                        
Subtotal Mental Health 219,333             -                        
Substance Abuse - Budget Entity - 60910604
Substance Abuse Core Services

ME Substance Abuse Services and Support - Adult 375/377 100618/100777 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MS000 MSA00 -                            -                                 

ME Substance Abuse Services and Support - Adult - Carry Forward 375/377 100618/100777 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MS000 MSA00-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 

ME Substance Abuse Services and Support - Child 375/377 100618/100777 Substance Abuse Child CSA MS000 MSC00 -                            -                                 

ME Substance Abuse Services and Support - Child - Carry Forward 375/377 100618/100777 Substance Abuse Child CSA MS000 MSC00-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 

ME SA HIV Services - Adult 375 100618 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MS023 MSA23 -                            -                                 

Updated 07/01/2025 EXHIBIT H, Page 2 of 4
Page 2309 of 2427

DRAFT



Fiscal Year 2025-2026 LSF HEALTH SYSTEMS
MENTAL HEALTH AND SUBSTANCE ABUSE

FUNDING DETAIL

EXHIBIT H

Provider Name: School District of Clay County - SEDNET Effective: 7/1/2025 Amend. #: N/A
Contract #: FL023 Retroactive to:

Other Cost Accumulators Title Line # GAA Category Program Age Group Program Code Parent Other Cost 
Accumulators (OCA)

Other Cost 
Accumulators (OCA)

Carry 
Forward  Total 

The Amount of 
Non-Recurring 

Funds included in 
Total Amount

ME SA HIV Services - Child 375 100618 Substance Abuse Child CSA MS023 MSC23 -                            -                                 

ME SA Prevention Services - Adult 375 100618 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MS025 MSA25 -                            -                                 

ME SA Prevention Services - Child 375 100618 Substance Abuse Child CSA MS025 MSC25 -                            -                                 

ME SA St. Johns County Sheriff's Office-Detox Program 375 100618 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MS907 MS907 -                            -                                 

ME SA State Funded Federal Excluded Services 375 100618 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MSSFP MSSFP -                            -                                 
Total Core Services Funding -                            -                                 
Substance Abuse Discretionary Grants

ME SA Prevention Partnership Program 375 100618 Substance Abuse Child CSA MS0PP MS0PP -                            -                                 

ME State Opioid Response Grant - Rec Comm - Year 6 NCE 374 100618 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MSCN6 MSCN6 -                            -                                 

ME State Opioid Response Disc - Rec Comm Org - Year 7 374 100618 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MSRC7 MSRC7 -                            -                                 

ME State Opioid Response Disc - Rec Comm Org - Year 8 374 100618 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MSRC8 MSRC8 -                            -                                 
ME State Opioid Response Grant - MAT - Year 6 NCE 374 100618 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MSMN6 MSMN6 -                            -                                 
ME State Opioid Response SVCS-MAT - Year 7 374 100618 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MSSM7 MSSM7 -                            -                                 
ME State Opioid Response SVCS-MAT - Year 8 374 100618 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MSSM8 MSSM8 -                            -                                 

ME State Opioid Response Grant - Prevent - Year 6 NCE 374 100618 Substance Abuse Child CSA MSPN6 MSPN6 -                            -                                 

ME State Opioid Response Disc Grant SVCS-Prevention - Year 7 374 100618 Substance Abuse Child CSA MSSP7 MSSP7 -                            -                                 

ME State Opioid Response Disc Grant SVCS-Prevention - Year 8 374 100618 Substance Abuse Child CSA MSSP8 MSSP8 -                            -                                 
Total Discretionary Grants Funding -                    -                        
Substance Abuse Proviso Projects

ME SA Gateway Community Services-Saving Lives Project 378 100778 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MS916 MS916 -                            -                                 

ME SA St. Johns Epic Recovery Center-Women's Residential Bed 378 100778 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MS918 MS918 -                            -                                 

Aware Recovery Care - Rural Florida Substance Use Disorder Initiative 378 100778 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MS100 MS100 -                            -                                 

ME SA SMA Healthcare - Residential SA Re-Entry Program 377 100778 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MS110 MS110 -                            -                                 

ME SA SMA Healthcare - Residential SA Re-Entry Program - Carry Forward 377 100778 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MS110 MS110-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 
Total Proviso Projects Funding -                    -                        
Substance Abuse Targeted Services

ME Expanded SA Services for Pregnant Women, Mothers and Their Families 375 100618 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MS081 MS081 -                            -                                 

ME SA Family Intensive Treatment (FIT) 375 100618 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MS091 MS091 -                            -                                 

ME SA Family Intensive Treatment (FIT) - Carry Forward 375 100618 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MS091 MS091-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 

ME SA Family Intensive Treatment (FIT) - Expansion 375 100618 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MS091 MS091-X -                            -                                 

ME SA Care Coordination Direct Client Services - Adult 375 100618 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MS0CN MSACN -                            -                                 

ME SA Care Coordination Direct Client Services - Adult - Carry Forward 375 100618 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MS0CN MSACN-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 

ME SA Care Coordination Direct Client Services - Child 375 100618 Substance Abuse Child CSA MS0CN MSCCN -                            -                                 

Updated 07/01/2025 EXHIBIT H, Page 3 of 4
Page 2310 of 2427

DRAFT



Fiscal Year 2025-2026 LSF HEALTH SYSTEMS
MENTAL HEALTH AND SUBSTANCE ABUSE

FUNDING DETAIL

EXHIBIT H

Provider Name: School District of Clay County - SEDNET Effective: 7/1/2025 Amend. #: N/A
Contract #: FL023 Retroactive to:

Other Cost Accumulators Title Line # GAA Category Program Age Group Program Code Parent Other Cost 
Accumulators (OCA)

Other Cost 
Accumulators (OCA)

Carry 
Forward  Total 

The Amount of 
Non-Recurring 

Funds included in 
Total Amount

ME SA Care Coordination Direct Client Services - Child - Carry Forward 375 100618 Substance Abuse Child CSA MS0CN MSCCN-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 

ME SA Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF) - Adult 375 100618 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MS0TB MSATB -                            -                                 

ME SA Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF) - Child 375 100618 Substance Abuse Child CSA MS0TB MSCTB -                            -                                 

ME SA Community Based Services 375 100618 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MSCBS MSCBS -                            -                                 

ME SA Community Based Services - Carry Forward 375 100618 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MSCBS MSCBS-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 

ME Opioid TF Coord Opioid Recovery Care 375 100618 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MSOCR MSOCR -                            -                                 

ME Opioid TF Hospital Bridge Programs 375 100618 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MSOHB MSOHB -                            -                                 

ME Opioid TF Non-Qualified Counties 375 100618 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MSONQ MSONQ -                            -                                 

ME Opioid TF Peer Supports and Recovery Comm Org 375 100618 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MSOPR MSOPR -                            -                                 

ME Opioid TF Recovery Housing 374 100618 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MSORH MSORH -                            -                                 

ME Opioid TF Treatment and Recovery 375 100618 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MSOTR MSOTR -                            -                                 

ME SA 988 Suicide and Crisis Lifeline Sustainment 374 100618 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MSSCL MSSCL -                            

ME Transitions Vouchers Substance Abuse 375 100618 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MSTRV MSTRV -                            -                                 

ME Transitions Vouchers Substance Abuse - Carry Forward 375 100618 Substance Abuse Adult ASA MSTRV MSTRV-CF Carry Forward -                            -                                 
Total Targeted Services Funding -                    -                        
Subtotal Substance Abuse -                    -                        

Total All Fund Sources 219,333             -                        
*The provider may utilize funds between Adult and Child programs for eligible OCAs, at the approval of LSFHS.

Updated 07/01/2025 EXHIBIT H, Page 4 of 4
Page 2311 of 2427

DRAFT



Fiscal Year 2025-2026 LSF HEALTH SYSTEMS
MENTAL HEALTH AND SUBSTANCE ABUSE
COVERED SERVICE RATES BY PROGRAM

Exhibit L

Provider Name: School District of Clay County - SEDNET Effective: 7/1/2025 Amend. #: N/A

Contract No.: FL023 Retroactive to:

Covered Service/Project Code Unit of Measurement

C
o
l
u
m

Program 1 - 
Adult Mental 

Health

C
o
l
u
m

Program 2 - 
Adult 

Substance 
Abuse

C
o
l
u
m

Program 3 - 
Children's 

Mental Health

C
o
l
u
m

Program 4 - 
Children's 
Substance 

Abuse

01 Assessment Direct Staff Hour

02 Case Management Direct Staff Hour

02 Case Management [Forensic] Forensic Direct Staff Hour

03 Crisis Stabilization Bed-Day

04 Crisis Support/Emergency Direct Staff Hour

05 Day Care Direct Staff Hour (4 hour)

06 Day Treatment Direct Staff Hour (4 hour)

07 Drop-In/Self Help Ctr. Non-Direct Staff Hour

08 In-Home & Onsite Direct Staff Hour

09 Inpatient Day (24 hour)

10 Intensive Case Mgmt. Direct Staff Hour

11 Intervention (Indiv.) Direct Staff Hour $77.74

11 Intervention (Indiv.) [FSPT] FSPT Direct Staff Hour

12 Medical Services Direct Staff Hour

13 Medication-Assisted Tx; Dosage

14 Outpatient (Indiv.) Direct Staff Hour

15 Outreach Non-Direct Staff Hour $54.59

18 Residential I Day (24 hour)

18 Residential I [Forensic] Forensic Day (24 hour)

19 Residential II Day (24 hour)

19 Residential II [Forensic] Forensic Day (24 hour)

19 Residential II [PIL] PIL Day (24 hour)

19 Residential II [STGC] STGC Day (24 hour)

20 Residential III Day (24 hour)

20 Residential III [Forensic] Forensic Day (24 hour)

21 Residential IV Day (24 hour)

21 Residential IV [Forensic] forensic Day (24 hour)

22 Respite Services Direct Staff Hour

24 Inpatient Detoxification Bed-Day

25 Supported Employment Direct Staff Hour

26 Supportive Housing/Living Direct Staff Hour

27 TASC Direct Staff Hour

28 Incidental Expenses Dollar Spent $1.00

Updated 07/01/2025 EXHIBIT L, Page 1 of 4Page 2312 of 2427

DRAFT



Fiscal Year 2025-2026 LSF HEALTH SYSTEMS
MENTAL HEALTH AND SUBSTANCE ABUSE
COVERED SERVICE RATES BY PROGRAM

Exhibit L

Provider Name: School District of Clay County - SEDNET Effective: 7/1/2025 Amend. #: N/A

Contract No.: FL023 Retroactive to:

Covered Service/Project Code Unit of Measurement

C
o
l
u
m

Program 1 - 
Adult Mental 

Health

C
o
l
u
m

Program 2 - 
Adult 

Substance 
Abuse

C
o
l
u
m

Program 3 - 
Children's 

Mental Health

C
o
l
u
m

Program 4 - 
Children's 
Substance 

Abuse

28 Incidental Expenses [FSPT] FSPT Dollar Spent

28 Incidental Expenses [Uncontracted] Dollar Spent

29 Aftercare (Indiv.) Direct Staff Hour

30 Information and Referral Direct Staff Hour $41.07

30 Information and Referral [FSPT] FSPT Direct Staff Hour

32 Outpatient Detoxification Direct Staff Hour (4 hour)

35 Outpatient (Group) Direct Staff Hour

36 R&B with Sup. I Day (24 hour)

37 R&B with Sup. II Day (24 hour)

37 R&B with Sup. II [PIL] PIL Day (24 hour)

37 R&B with Sup. II [PIL - Enhanced Rate] PIL Enhanced Day (24 hour)

37 R&B with Sup. II [STGC] STGC Day (24 hour)

37 R&B with Sup. II [STGC - B] STGC - B Day (24 hour)

37 R&B with Sup. II [STGC - B Enhanced Rate] STGC - B Enhanced Day (24 hour)

37 R&B with Sup. II [STGC - L] STGC - L Day (24 hour)

37 R&B with Sup. II [STGC - L Enhanced Rate] STGC - L Enhanced Day (24 hour)

37 R&B with Sup. II [STGC - N] STGC - N Day (24 hour)

37 R&B with Sup. II [STGC - N Enhanced Rate] STGC - N Enhanced Day (24 hour)

37 R&B with Sup. II [OTPR] OTPR Day (24 hour)

38 R&B with Sup. III Day (24 hour)

39 Short-term Residential Bed-Day

40 MH Clubhouse Direct Staff Hour

42 Intervention (Group) Direct Staff Hour $18.12

42 Intervention (Group) [FSPT] FSPT Direct Staff Hour

43 Aftercare (Group) Direct Staff Hour

44 Comprehensive Community Service Team (Indiv.) Direct Staff Hour

45 Comprehensive Community Service Team (Group) Direct Staff Hour

46 Recovery Support (Indiv.) Direct Staff Hour $41.00

47 Recovery Support (Group) Direct Staff Hour $10.89

48 Prevention – Indicated Direct Staff Hour

49 Prevention – Selective Non-Direct Staff Hour

50 Prevention – Universal Direct Non-Direct Staff Hour

51 Prevention – Universal Indirect Non-Direct Staff Hour

Updated 07/01/2025 EXHIBIT L, Page 2 of 4Page 2313 of 2427

DRAFT



Fiscal Year 2025-2026 LSF HEALTH SYSTEMS
MENTAL HEALTH AND SUBSTANCE ABUSE
COVERED SERVICE RATES BY PROGRAM

Exhibit L

Provider Name: School District of Clay County - SEDNET Effective: 7/1/2025 Amend. #: N/A

Contract No.: FL023 Retroactive to:

Covered Service/Project Code Unit of Measurement

C
o
l
u
m

Program 1 - 
Adult Mental 

Health

C
o
l
u
m

Program 2 - 
Adult 

Substance 
Abuse

C
o
l
u
m

Program 3 - 
Children's 

Mental Health

C
o
l
u
m

Program 4 - 
Children's 
Substance 

Abuse

52 Care Coordination Direct Staff Hour

53 HIV Early Intervention Services Direct Staff Hour

54 Room and Board with Supervision Level IV Day (24 hour)

A0 Forensic Multidisciplinary Team [Weekly] Weekly Census Rate per client

A1 BNET Monthly Census Rate per client

A2 FIT Team Monthly Census Rate per client

A3 Central Receiving System [Assessment - Enhanced Rate] Direct Staff Hour

A3 Central Receiving System [Medical Services - Enhanced Rate] Direct Staff Hour

A3 Central Receiving System [Outpatient Indv. - Enhanced Rate] Direct Staff Hour

A4 Care Coordination [Supportive Housing/Living - Monthly] Monthly Census Rate per client

A5 First Episode Team Monthly Census Rate per client

A6 Self-Directed Care Monthly Census Rate per client

A7 Federal Project Grant Monthly Fixed Rate

A7 Federal Project Grant [MAT - Buprenorphine] Dosage

A7 Federal Project Grant [MAT - Weekly Methadone] Weekly Census Rate per client

A7 Federal Project Grant [MAT - Weekly] Weekly Census Rate per client

A7 Federal Project Grant [MAT - Weekly Buprenorphine] Weekly Census Rate per client

A7 Federal Project Grant [MAT - Multiple Tablets Dispensed] Dosage

A7 Federal Project Grant [MAT - Sublocade] Sublocade Dosage

A7 Federal Project Grant [MAT - Brixadi - Weekly] Brixadi Dosage

A7 Federal Project Grant [MAT - Brixadi - Monthly] Brixadi Dosage

A8 Local Diversion Forensic Project Daily Bed Availability Rate

A9 Disaster Behavioral Health Monthly Fixed Rate

B1 Network Eval. & Dvlpmt. Dollar Spent

B2 Transition Voucher [Supportive Housing/Living - Monthly] Monthly Census Rate per client

B3 Cost Reimbursement Dollar Spent

B4 CAT Team Monthly Census Rate per client

B5 FACT Team Weekly Census Rate per client

B6 Provider Proviso Projects Monthly Fixed Rate

B6 Provider Proviso Projects [Transitional Beds] Daily Bed Availability Rate

B7 Wraparound Monthly Fixed Rate

B7 Wraparound Projects [Case Management - Wraparound Clients] Daily Rate per client served

B8 FFPSA Training Projects Monthly Fixed Rate

Updated 07/01/2025 EXHIBIT L, Page 3 of 4Page 2314 of 2427

DRAFT



Fiscal Year 2025-2026 LSF HEALTH SYSTEMS
MENTAL HEALTH AND SUBSTANCE ABUSE
COVERED SERVICE RATES BY PROGRAM

Exhibit L

Provider Name: School District of Clay County - SEDNET Effective: 7/1/2025 Amend. #: N/A

Contract No.: FL023 Retroactive to:

Covered Service/Project Code Unit of Measurement

C
o
l
u
m

Program 1 - 
Adult Mental 

Health

C
o
l
u
m

Program 2 - 
Adult 

Substance 
Abuse

C
o
l
u
m

Program 3 - 
Children's 

Mental Health

C
o
l
u
m

Program 4 - 
Children's 
Substance 

Abuse

B9 Intermediate Level FACT (FACT-I) Teams Weekly Census Rate per client

C0 Other Bundled Projects Monthly Fixed Rate

C0 Other Bundled Projects [MAT - Weekly] Weekly Census Rate per client

C0 Other Bundled Projects [Drop-In/Self Help Centers - Daily] Day (24 hour)

C0 Other Bundled Projects [RTH] Daily Bed Availability Rate

C0 Other Bundled Projects [Residential Enhanced Rate] Day (24 hour)

C0 Other Bundled Projects [MAT - Brixadi - Weekly] Brixadi Dosage

C0 Other Bundled Projects [MAT - Brixadi - Monthly] Brixadi Dosage

C0 Other Bundled Projects [MAT - Duval] Dosage

C0 Other Bundled Projects [MAT - Multiple Tablets Dispensed] Dosage

C0 Other Bundled Projects [MAT – Sublocade] Sublocade Dosage

C0 Other Bundled Projects [MAT - Buprenorphine] Dosage

C1 Sustainability Payment for Emergency Response Monthly Fixed Rate

Updated 07/01/2025 EXHIBIT L, Page 4 of 4Page 2315 of 2427

DRAFT



SED - FL023
Amendment: N/A

EXHIBITS and INCORPORATED DOCUMENTS APPENDIX A

Document # Title

Exhibit A Required Reports
Exhibit B Performance Outcome Measures
Exhibit C Projected Operating and Capital Budget 
Exhibit D Personnel Detail Record
Exhibit E Agency Capacity Report
Exhibit F Program Descriptions
Exhibit G Submission of Information Form
Exhibit H Funding Detail
Exhibit I Invoice
Exhibit J Local Match Calculation Form 
Exhibit K Federal Block Grant Requirements
Exhibit L Covered Service Rates by Program
Exhibit N Incidental Expenses Request/Approval Form
Incorporated Document 1 LSF Glossary of Contract Terms
Incorporated Document 2 Evidence-Based Practice Guidelines
Incorporated Document 3 State and Federal Laws, Rules, and Regulations
Incorporated Document 5 Substance Abuse and Mental Health (SAMH) Funding Resource Guide

Incorporated Document 6
Residential Placements using Statewide Inpatient Psychiatric Programs (SIPP) Funding and 
Referral Process

Incorporated Document 11 Expiration/Termination Transition Planning Requirements
Incorporated Document 13 Tangible Property Requirements and Contract Provider Property Inventory Form
Incorporated Document 14 Performance Outcomes Measurement Manual
Incorporated Document 19 Financial Management Requirements
Incorporated Document 27 National Voter’s Registration Act Guidelines
Incorporated Document 32 Suicide Prevention Best Practices
Incorporated Document 36 Recovery Management Practices

All Exhibits and Incorporated Documents can be found on the LSF Health Systems website: 
https://www.lsfhealthsystems.org/contract-documents/

Updated 07/01/2025
APPENDIX A, Page 1 of 2Page 2316 of 2427

DRAFT



SED - FL023
Amendment: N/A

EXHIBITS and INCORPORATED DOCUMENTS APPENDIX A

Incorporated Document 57 Incident Reporting and Analysis System (IRAS) and Continuous Quality Improvement

*All Exhibits and Incorporated Documents are subject to revision.  The Managing Entity may update the Exhibits and/or 
Incorporated Documents without drafting an Amendment to the Network Service Provider’s Contract. The Managing Entity shall 
publish revised documents to its website and announce revisions via electronic mail to the Network Service Provider’s 
designated point of contact.

Updated 07/01/2025
APPENDIX A, Page 2 of 2Page 2317 of 2427

DRAFT



SED-FL023
Amendment: N/A

CONTRACT EXEMPTIONS APPENDIX B

Requirement Primary Contract Component Reference

Civil Rights Compliance Checklist LSF Standard Contract 4.1.1.3.
Outpatient Forensic Mental Health Services Attachment I B.1.a.(1).e.
Forensic and Civil Treatment Facility Admission and 
Discharge Processes 

Attachment I B.1.a.(1).f.

Bed Count Attachment I B.1.a.(11) 
Bed Hold Attachment I B.1.a.(13) 
FQHC-MOU Attachment I B.1.a.(3)(j)3.
Temporary Assistance to Needy Families (TANF) Attachment I C.6.
Sliding Fee Scale Attachment I D.9.

Updated 07/01/2025 APPENDIX B, Page 1 of 1Page 2318 of 2427

DRAFT



SED-FL023
Amendment: N/A

Negotiated Performance Measure Targets APPENDIX D

Type of Contract 
Document

# Description Performance Measure

Minimum Annual 
Number of 

Unduplicated 
Persons Served

Minimum Number 
of Client Specific 

Services

Minimum 
Annual Number 

of Positions

Attachment V See You at The Top (SYATT) As referenced in the Attachment
As referenced in the 
Attachment

N/A N/A

All Special Attachments can be found on the LSF Health Systems website: https://www.lsfhealthsystems.org/contract-documents/

*All Performance Measures are subject to revision.  The Managing Entity may update this document without drafting an Amendment to the Network Service Provider’s Contract. The Managing Entity shall publish 
revised documents to its website and announce revisions via electronic mail to the Network Service Provider’s designated point of contact.

Updated 07/01/2025; Retroactive to XX/XX/20XX APPENDIX D, Page 1 of 1Page 2319 of 2427

DRAFT



SED - FL023
Amendment: N/A

Special Attachments APPENDIX C

Title Network Service 
Provider Attachment #

See You at The Top (SYATT) V

All Special Attachments can be found on the LSF Health Systems website: https://www.lsfhealthsystems.org/contract-
documents/

*All Special Attachments are subject to revision.  The Managing Entity may update the Attachments without drafting an 
Amendment to the Network Service Provider’s Contract. The Managing Entity shall publish revised documents to its website 
and announce revisions via electronic mail to the Network Service Provider’s designated point of contact.

Updated 07/01/2025 APPENDIX C, Page 1 of 1Page 2320 of 2427

DRAFT



SED-FL023
Amendment: N/A

Negotiated Performance Measure Targets APPENDIX D

Type of Contract 
Document

# Description Performance Measure

Minimum Annual 
Number of 

Unduplicated 
Persons Served

Minimum Number 
of Client Specific 

Services

Minimum 
Annual Number 

of Positions

Attachment V See You at The Top (SYATT) As referenced in the Attachment
As referenced in the 
Attachment

N/A N/A

All Special Attachments can be found on the LSF Health Systems website: https://www.lsfhealthsystems.org/contract-documents/

*All Performance Measures are subject to revision.  The Managing Entity may update this document without drafting an Amendment to the Network Service Provider’s Contract. The Managing Entity shall publish 
revised documents to its website and announce revisions via electronic mail to the Network Service Provider’s designated point of contact.

Updated 07/01/2025 APPENDIX D, Page 1 of 1Page 2321 of 2427

DRAFT



PUR 1-3501 E. 10/05/2023   Contract Review Process for ALL Contracts, September 2022, SBAO (web) 

FOLLOW ALL PROCEDURES ON BACK OF THIS FORM
  Contract #______________________ 

Number Assigned by Purchasing Dept.   

BOARD MEETING DATE:

WHEN BOARD APPROVAL IS REQUIRED DO  
NOT PLACE ITEM ON AGENDA UNTIL  

REVIEW IS COMPLETED 
 Must Have Board Approval over $100,000.00 

Date Submitted: 
Name of Contract Initiator:      Telephone #: 
School/Dept Submitting Contract:   Cost Center # 
Vendor Name: 
Contract Title: 

Contract Term:    Renewal Option(s): 
Contract Cost: 
 BUDGETED FUNDS – SEND CONTRACT PACKAGE DIRECTLY TO PURCHASING DEPT

  Funding Source:   Budget Line #_________________________________________________________________ 
  Funding Source:   Budget Line #_________________________________________________________________ 

 NO COST MASTER (COUNTY WIDE) CONTRACT  - SEND CONTRACT PACKAGE DIRECTLY TO PURCHASING DEPT

 INTERNAL ACCOUNT -  IF FUNDED FROM SCHOOL IA FUNDS – SEND CONTRACT PACKAGE DIRECTLY TO SBAO
 REQUIRED DOCUMENTS FOR CONTRACT REVIEW PACKAGE  (when applicable): 
______ Completed Contract Review Form 
______ SBAO Template Contract or other Contract (NOT SIGNED by District / School) 
______ SIGNED Addendum A (if not an SBAO Template Contract) - When using the Addendum A, this Statement MUST BE included in the body of the Contract: 
               “The terms and conditions of Addendum A are hereby incorporated into this Agreement and the same shall govern and prevail over any conflicting terms and/or 
                conditions herein stated.” 
______ Certificate of Insurance (COI) for General Liability & Workers’ Compensation that meet these requirements: 
               COI must list the School Board of Clay County, Florida as an Additional Insured and Certificate Holder.  Insurer must be rated as A- or better. 

   General Liability = $1,000,000 Each Occurrence & $2,000,000 General Aggregate. 
   Auto Liability = $1,000,000 Combined Single Limit ($5,000,000 for Charter Buses). 
  Workers’ Compensation = $100,000 Minimum 

[If exempt from Workers’ Compensation Insurance, vendor/contractor must sign a Release and Hold Harmless Form.  If not exempt, vendor/contractor 
must provide Workers’ Compensation coverage]. 

______ State of Florida Workers Comp Exemption (https://apps.fldfs.com/bocexempt/) (If Applicable) 
 
 

______ Release and Hold Harmless (If Applicable) 
 

 **AREA BELOW FOR DISTRICT PERSONNEL ONLY ** 
CONTRACT REVIEWED BY: COMMENTS BELOW BY REVIEWING DEPARTMENT 

Purchasing Department    

Review Date 

_______________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________ 

School Board Attorney   

Review Date 

_______________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________ 

Other Dept. as Necessary 

Review Date 

_______________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________ 
_______________________________________________________________________ 

PENDING STATUS:  YES    NO IF YES, HIGHLIGHTED COMMENTS ABOVE MUST BE CORRECTED BY INITIATOR 

FINAL STATUS  DATE:______________________ 

CONTRACT REVIEW 

Contract Type:   New □   Renewal □   Amendment □     Extension □      Previous Year Contract # 

8/13/2025
904-336-4400Kathryn Lawrence
9252SEDNET

Lutheran Services Florida, Inc.
Lutheran Services Florida Standard Contract

7/1/2025-6/30/2030

$1,096,668.00

100-5200510-9252-0000-1220-000-6

Page 2322 of 2427

DRAFT



PUR 1-3501 E. 10/05/2023   Contract Review Process for ALL Contracts, September 2022, SBAO (web) 

CONTRACT REVIEW PROCESS FOR “ALL” CONTRACTS 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Step 1: Contract Initiator and Vendor prepare draft contract 
              (School Board Attorney Office (SBAO) Template Contracts available on SBAO webpage are strongly encouraged) 

Step 2: Complete Contract Review Form, attach Required Documents to include the UNSIGNED Contract by the District / School. 
             
 

Step 3: If Funded by Budgeted Funds, submit the Contract Review Package to the Purchasing Department.  
             Purchasing will begin the contract review process and submit the contract to the SBAO for review. SBAO may reach out to                    
             Initiator and/or other Departments (Risk, IT,) with questions or concerns and will assist with contract revisions.  SBAO 
             will send the Contract Review Package back to the Purchasing Department for final processing and the return to Initiator. 
 
             Purchasing will log “District” Contracts (Cost/No Cost) on Contract Review Log and save copy of the Contract Review 
             Package PLUS the Final Signed Contract you’ve return to Purchasing in the Contract Review Team Drive.  

Step 5: The Initiator is responsible for finalizing the Contract which includes:  
             Addressing Comments/Revisions, Obtaining Required Signatures, Send District Final Signed Contract to Purchasing OR  
             Retain Internal Accounts Final Signed Contract at School per School Board Record Policy. 
 

             If there is a Cost associated with Contract, the Initiator must work with their Bookkeeper to finalize the Purchasing Process. 
                      Budgeted Funds require a District Purchase Order.   Internal Accounts require an IA Purchase Order. 

Step 4:  If Funded by Internal Account (IA), submit the Contract Review Package directly to SBAO.  
              Email:  contractreview@myoneclay.net 
             The SBAO will begin the contract review process and return it directly to Initiator  

For Contracts using Budgeted Funds or For No Cost / Master (County Wide) Contracts: 
Initiator submits Contract Review Package to Purchasing Department - See Step 3 

 

For Contracts using Internal Funds Individual to each School: 
 Initiator submits Contract Review Package direct to SBAO - See Step 4 
 

A contract is defined as an agreement between two or more parties that is intended to have legal effect. This may include MOUs, 
Interlocal Agreements, Service Agreements and Contracts.  Contracts document the mutual understanding between the parties as to 
the terms and conditions of their agreement, contain mutual obligations, and clearly state the agreement's consideration. The term 
consideration includes the cost of the services and/or products to be provided by second party (vendor or service provider) and any 
non-monetary performance. No school, department, or other organizational unit has authority to contract in its own name. All Board 
contracts must be made in the legal name of the Board, "The School Board of Clay County, Florida". The School or Department may 
extend this name to include the school or department as follows, "The School Board of Clay County, Florida o/b/o ________________ 
(insert the school or department name)" where o/b/o means "on behalf of". 
 
All contracts shall be reviewed and approved by the School Board Attorney and/or the Supervisor of Purchasing 
to ensure legality, compliance with Board policy, and to ensure the Board interests are protected before the 
authorized signatory may execute the contract. 
 
All contracts having a value of $100,000 or more shall be authorized by the Board at a regular or special meeting and signed by the 
Board Chairman.  All approved contracts having a value of less than $100,000 may be executed by the Superintendent or appropriate 
District administrator based on the value of the contract.  

1. All approved contracts having a value of $50,000 or more, but less than $100,000 shall be signed by the Superintendent, or 
the   person who has been designated, in writing by the Superintendent, as the Superintendent’s Designee at the time of the 
contract signing. All contracts executed pursuant to this subparagraph shall be reported to the School Board in a separate 
entry as part of the monthly financial report. 

2. All approved contracts having a value of $25,000 or more, but less than $50,000, shall be signed by the Superintendent, or     
       the Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs. 
3. All approved contracts having a value of less than $25,000 and contracts of any value described in Board Authorized 

Contracts above that are exempt from the requirement for Board approval, may be signed by the Superintendent, or the 
Assistant Superintendent for their Division, or Chief Officers, or Directors, or Principals. 

4. The Superintendent is authorized to approve contract amendments or change orders for the purchase of commodities and 
services up to the amount of ten (10) percent or $50,000, whichever is less, of the original contract amount that was 
previously approved by the Board. 

 

Employees who enter into agreements without authority may be personally liable for such agreements, whether oral or written. 
 

For assistance with legal-related matters, please visit the School Board Attorney’s Office (“SBAO”) webpage or call 904-336-6507 
For assistance with insurance-related matters, please visit the Business Affairs - Risk Management webpage or call 904-336-6745 
For assistance with District Purchasing, please visit the Business Affairs - Purchasing webpage or call 904-336-6736 

Page 2323 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

September 4, 2025 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C14 - Proposed Allocation Changes for 2025-2026

Description
Staff allocation documents clarify how each school, district department and division is staffed for the 2025-2026 school year.
The School Board is required to take action on all staff allocation changes.

Gap Analysis
These allocation changes are required to ensure the adequate staffing of the district and schools.

Previous Outcomes
The district and schools are adequately staffed.

Expected Outcomes
Staffing will be sufficient to meet the needs of the various schools and district departments.

Strategic Plan Goal
The district ensures fiscal responsibility and equitable distribution of resources.

Recommendation
Approve staff allocation plan as submitted.

Contact
Ms. Dawn Posey, CPA, Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs, (904) 336-6721, dawn.posey@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
Reflected in attachment.

Review Comments

Attachments

09.04.25 - 25-26 Allocation Summary.pdf

Page 2324 of 2427

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/090425-25-26-allocation-summary_1.pdf


PROPOSED CHANGES TO STAFF ALLOCATIONS  2025-2026 SUMMARY  Board Meeting, September 04, 2025

Pending Board Approval 09/04/2025

School Add Delete Allocation Comment Salary Benefits Total Cost

2025-2026 ACTIONS

General Funds

SLE - 0631 (1.0) Registered Nurse
Align allocation with current 
position. ($33,369) ($11,716) ($45,085)

SLE - 0631 1.0 Licensed Practical Nurse
Align allocation with current 
position. $29,753) $10,446) $40,199)

Climate & Culture 
-9004 2.0 Educational Evaluator 12 Mth

Support school psychologist 
shortage. $135,735) $47,656) $183,391)

TOTAL: $132,119) $46,387) $178,506)

Federal Funds
Title I - 9106 3.0 Title I Assistant Increase support to Title I 

aschools on an as-needed 
basis.

$67,470) $23,689) $91,158)
TOTAL: $67,470) $23,689) $91,158)

Athletic Supplement 

OLJ - 0611 1.0 Head Cross Counrty JH Coach

Align supplements for 
increased JH enrollment. 6th 
grade moved from elementary 
to junior high. $2,220) $779) $2,999)

LAJ - 0481 1.0 Head Cross Counrty JH Coach

Align supplements for 
increased JH enrollment. 6th 
grade moved from elementary 
to junior high. $2,220) $779) $2,999)

TOTAL: $4,440) $1,559) $5,999)
Instructional Supplement 

CGE - 0601 (1.0) Dept Head, 6th-grade

Align supplements for 
increased JH enrollment. 6th 
grade moved from elementary 
to junior high. ($2,220) ($779) ($2,999)

ROE - 0541 (1.0) Dept Head, 6th-grade

Align supplements for 
increased JH enrollment. 6th 
grade moved from elementary 
to junior high. ($2,220) ($779) ($2,999)

TOTAL: ($4,440) ($1,559) ($5,999)

Page 2325 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

September 4, 2025 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C15 - Deletion of Certain Items Report - August, 2025

Description
The items listed have been surveyed by the Coordinator of Property Control, at the request of the Cost Center Property Manager,
and the recommended disposition is noted.  These items are either obsolete, unusable or beyond economical repair.  These items
should be removed from active inventory and disposed of in the manner indicated.  Deletions are for property items received in
the month of July, 2025.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
Property Records followed State mandate on trackable assets, Chapter 274.05.

Expected Outcomes
Tangible Personal Property shall be controlled and supervised from acquisition through transfer or disposal.  Disposal of property
shall be in accordance with Section 274.05, Florida Statutes.  All deletions of items with a value of $1,000.00 or more will be
approved by the School Board of Clay County prior to disposition.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 5: Strategy 5.4; Enhance fiscal practices that enable the district to maximize effectiveness and efficiency.

Recommendation
Approve Deletion of Certain Items Report -  August, 2025 as submitted.

Contact
Dawn Posey,
Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs
(904)-336-6721
dawn.posey@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
Provides additional storage space and eliminates the need to account for unusable property.  Reduces the dollar value of Tangible
Personal Property.

Review Comments

Attachments

DELETION REPORT AUGUST, 2025.pdf

DELETION ANALYSIS August 2025-2026.pdf.pdf

Page 2326 of 2427

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/deletion-report-august-2025.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/deletion-analysis-august-2025-2026pdf.pdf


Depreciation

08/31/2025

Acquisition PurchaseDisposalDisposal
ValueDate AmountDateDescriptionTag

Monthly Deletion Report
For Month Ending:

Clay County Public Schools

Method
LCTN 0111 BANNERMAN LEARNING CENTER

4,075.60 0.00DESK:LIBRARY CIRCULATION Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 07/27/200000074565
0.004,075.60

LCTN 0252 ORANGE PARK HIGH
1,180.00 0.00KEYBOARD: CLAVINOVA W/BENCH - Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  08/04/2025 11/20/200700093757
1,180.00 0.00KEYBOARD: CLAVINOVA W/BENCH - Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  08/04/2025 11/20/200700093759
1,180.00 0.00PIANO:DIGITAL CLAVINOVA W/BENC Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  08/04/2025 04/24/200800093806
1,180.00 0.00PIANO:DIGITAL CLAVINOVA W/BENC Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  08/04/2025 04/24/200800093809
1,180.00 0.00PIANO:DIGITAL CLAVINOVA W/BENC Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  08/04/2025 04/24/200800093811
1,180.00 0.00PIANO:DIGITAL CLAVINOVA W/BENC Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  08/04/2025 04/24/200800093812
1,180.00 0.00PIANO:DIGITAL CLAVINOVA W/BENC Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  08/04/2025 04/24/200800093813
1,180.00 0.00PIANO:DIGITAL CLAVINOVA W/BENC Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  08/04/2025 04/24/200800093814

0.009,440.00

LCTN 0271 MIDDLEBURG ELEMENTARY
3,921.00 0.00DUPLICATOR: W/DOC FEEDER-RICOH Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 02/25/201616000513

0.003,921.00

LCTN 0331 S BRYAN JENNINGS ELEMENTARY
3,960.00 0.00DESK:CHECKOUT UNIT W/COMPUTER Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 05/11/200000067619
1,373.56 0.00DESK:32 " MED. OAK W/END PANEL Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 09/28/200000067642
1,959.13 0.00CASE:PREMIUM DISPLAY W/MIRRORE Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  08/04/2025 06/14/200100076307
1,825.70 0.00TABLE:LARGE COMPUTER PARAGON 1 Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  08/04/2025 05/13/200400080822
1,937.25 0.00MIXER: VIDEO 8 CHANNEL EDIROL Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 12/20/201213000377

0.0011,055.64

LCTN 0381 MONTCLAIR ELEMENTARY
5,745.15 0.00REFRIGERATOR: TRAULSEN REACH-I Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  08/04/2025 09/22/200500086970

0.005,745.15

LCTN 0431 RIDGEVIEW HIGH SCHOOL
3,980.00 0.00COPIER: DIGITAL W/CABINET- RIC Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 07/24/200800096154

31,414.00 4,487.71PRINTER: SOLJET PRO 4 XR-640 Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 10/01/201920000089
4,487.7135,394.00

08/31/202508/01/2025Date Range 110:36:5708/05/2025

Page 2327 of 2427

DRAFT



Depreciation

08/31/2025

Acquisition PurchaseDisposalDisposal
ValueDate AmountDateDescriptionTag

Monthly Deletion Report
For Month Ending:

Clay County Public Schools

Method
LCTN 0551 FLEMING ISLAND HIGH SCHOOL

3,138.80 0.00GOALS:GAME WITH NETS Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/28/200300079385
4,800.00 0.00VEHICLE: GATOR 2008 JOHN DEERE Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  08/04/2025 06/12/200800092092
1,196.00 0.00COPIER: DIGITAL - RICOH MP201S Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 11/30/201112000166
3,400.00 485.71VEHICLE: GATOR 2020 JOHN DEERE Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  08/04/2025 05/20/202020000228

485.7112,534.80

LCTN 0611 OAKLEAF JUNIOR HIGH
1,195.00 0.00INTELLISCALE:MONEY COUNTER INT Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 03/25/201010001271
1,592.00 0.00SCANNER: CURRENCY - JETSCAN 40 Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 01/12/201212000389

0.002,787.00

LCTN 9010 TRANSPORTATION
12,043.00 0.00TRACTOR: MASSEY FERGUSON 4WD Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  08/04/2025 05/22/2003T0000032

0.0012,043.00

LCTN 9021 MAINTENANCE DEPARTMENT
4,465.00 0.00CART:MOBILE MILK REFRIGERATED Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  08/04/2025 07/24/200300079229
7,168.70 0.00REFRIGERATOR: REACH-IN - TRAUL Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  08/04/2025 04/26/200700086997
6,004.00 0.00CABINET: HEATED PASS THRU - TR Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  08/04/2025 01/09/200700091227

0.0017,637.70

LCTN 9022 SAFETY AND SECURITY
5,203.00 681.35COPIER: COLOR RICOH MPC4504 Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 05/25/201717000513
2,217.40 0.00LAPTOP: DELL LATITUDE 5420 RUG Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 09/19/201920100033

681.357,420.40

LCTN 9040 INFORMATION AND TECH SERVICES
7,097.00 0.00AUTOLOADER:3 TAPE W/CONTROLLER Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 09/14/200600089097

168,540.62 0.00IBM AS/400 PRODUCTION SERVER S Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 05/14/200909000696
3,295.00 0.00FILTER: WEB - IBOSS 1WF-14500- Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/12/201011000156
2,995.00 0.00FILTER: WEB - IBOSS IWF-14600- Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 09/25/201415000403
6,678.70 0.00SERVER - DELL POWEREDGE R730 Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 03/12/201515000807
6,678.70 0.00SERVER - DELL POWEREDGE R730 Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 03/12/201515000810
1,130.90 0.00SWITCH: NETWORKING DELL N2048P Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 04/28/201616000573
1,130.90 0.00SWITCH: NETWORKING DELL N2048P Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 04/28/201616000575

08/31/202508/01/2025Date Range 210:36:5708/05/2025

Page 2328 of 2427

DRAFT



Depreciation

08/31/2025

Acquisition PurchaseDisposalDisposal
ValueDate AmountDateDescriptionTag

Monthly Deletion Report
For Month Ending:

Clay County Public Schools

Method
1,130.90 0.00SWITCH: NETWORKING DELL N2048P Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 04/28/201616000576
1,130.90 0.00SWITCH: NETWORKING DELL N2048P Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 04/28/201616000577
1,130.90 26.93SWITCH: NETWORKING DELL N2048P Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 09/08/201617000017
1,130.90 40.39SWITCH: NETWORKING DELL N2048P Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 10/13/201617000019
1,130.90 40.39SWITCH: NETWORKING DELL N2048P Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 10/13/201617000020
1,130.90 40.39SWITCH: NETWORKING DELL N2048P Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 10/13/201617000021
1,130.90 40.39SWITCH: NETWORKING DELL N2048P Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 10/13/201617000022
1,130.90 40.39SWITCH: NETWORKING DELL N2048P Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 10/13/201617000023
1,130.90 40.39SWITCH: NETWORKING DELL N2048P Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 10/13/201617000025
1,130.90 40.39SWITCH: NETWORKING DELL N2048P Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 10/13/201617000028
1,130.90 26.93SWITCH: NETWORKING DELL N2048P Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 09/08/201617000041
1,130.90 40.39SWITCH: NETWORKING DELL N2048P Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 10/13/201617000062
7,000.00 0.00FILTER: WEB LIGHTSPEED ROCKET Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/25/201617000166

17,500.00 0.00FILTER: WEB LIGHTSPEED ROCKET Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/25/201617000167
17,500.00 0.00FILTER: WEB LIGHTSPEED ROCKET Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/25/201617000168
1,856.00 0.00LAPTOP: DELL PRECISION 5520 1T Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 06/09/201717000591
1,532.00 0.00LAPTOP: DELL PRECISION 5520 Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 06/09/201717000598
1,532.00 0.00LAPTOP: DELL PRECISION 5520 Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 06/09/201717000601
1,532.00 0.00LAPTOP: DELL PRECISION 5520 Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 06/09/201717000602
1,532.00 0.00LAPTOP: DELL PRECISION 5520 Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 06/09/201717000604
1,603.45 0.00LAPTOP: DELL PRECISION M5520 Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 09/07/201718000054
1,603.45 0.00LAPTOP: DELL PRECISION M5520 Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 09/07/201718000056

1,603.45 0.00LAPTOP: DELL PRECISION M5520 Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 09/07/201718000060
1,603.45 0.00LAPTOP: DELL PRECISION M5520 Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 09/07/201718000074
7,000.00 0.00FILTER: WEB LIGHTSPEED ROCKET Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 09/21/201718000096
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000427
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000428
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000429
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000430
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000431
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000432
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000433
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000434

08/31/202508/01/2025Date Range 310:36:5708/05/2025

Page 2329 of 2427

DRAFT



Depreciation

08/31/2025

Acquisition PurchaseDisposalDisposal
ValueDate AmountDateDescriptionTag

Monthly Deletion Report
For Month Ending:

Clay County Public Schools

Method
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000435
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000436
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000437
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000438
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000439
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000440
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000441
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000442
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000443
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000444
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000446
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000471
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000447
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000448
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000449
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000450
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000451
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000452
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000453
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000454
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000455
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000456

1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000457
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000458
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000459
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000460
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000463
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000464
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000465
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000468
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000469
1,355.75 193.68ENCODER: HD MANTIS 1200-ENMT-H Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/08/201818000470
1,114.18 371.39LAPTOP: DELL LATITUDE 5520 Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 07/21/202222100150

08/31/202508/01/2025Date Range 410:36:5708/05/2025

Page 2330 of 2427

DRAFT



Depreciation

08/31/2025

Acquisition PurchaseDisposalDisposal
ValueDate AmountDateDescriptionTag

Monthly Deletion Report
For Month Ending:

Clay County Public Schools

Method
8,495.57329,859.60

LCTN 9110 FOOD & NUTRITION SERVICES
2,260.99 0.00COOLER: MILK - FUEL UP MCSC-12 Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentSurplus Sale  08/04/2025 10/22/201516000041

0.002,260.99

LCTN 9252 SEDNET
1,399.95 199.99LAMINATOR: ROLL USI CSL2700 Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/05/201920000078
1,399.95 199.99LAMINATOR: ROLL USI CSL2700 Furniture,Fixtures & EquipmentJunk/Parts  08/04/2025 08/05/201920000079

399.982,799.90

456,974.78
Totals for Deletion Report

14,550.32

Note:
Disposal Method Descriptions:

JUNK/PARTS - Part(s) of an asset are used and remainder of part(s) are sold, recycled or disposed

TRADE-IN - Vendor issues a credit towards a new purchase

THEFT/VANDALISM - Items stolen or broken (police report attached)

MISSING - Items lost and are not found during property inventory (Annually)

SURPLUS SALE - Items that are outdated, not working or obsolete.  Items are either sold, recycled or disposed

ENTERED IN ERROR- Not used

TRANSFER/DONATION - From Clay County District to an Outside Agency (Approved by Board or Superintendent)

DESTROYED - Fire/Natural Disaster, etc.

Total Software
0.00

Total Audio Visual
0.00

Total Vehicles
0.00

Total Furniture
456,974.78

THRESHOLD (ex. $750 TO $1000)

08/31/202508/01/2025Date Range 510:36:5708/05/2025

Page 2331 of 2427

DRAFT



Monthly Deletion Analysis / AUGUST 2025 2026
Cost Center Asset Item, Reason for Deletion Type of Deletion
BLC - 0111 74565 LIBRARY CIRCULATION DESK/ BROKEN D1

OPH - 0252 93757 KEY BOARD / BROKEN D5
93759 KEY BOARD / BROKEN D5
93806 PIANO / BROKEN D5
93809 PIANO / BROKEN D5
93811 PIANO / BROKEN D5
93812 PIANO / BROKEN D5
93813 PIANO / BROKEN D5
93814 PIANO / BROKEN D5

MBE - 0271 16000513 COPIER / BROKEN D1

SBJ - 0331 76307 DISPLAY CASE / OBSOLETE D5
67619 LIBRARY CHECK OUT DESK / BROKEN D1
67642 DESK / BROKEN D1
80822 TABLE / OBOLSETE D5

13000377 MIXER / OBSOLETE D1

MCE - 0381 86970 2 DOOR REFRIGERATOR / BROKEN D5

RHS - 0431 96154 COPIER / BROKEN D1
20000089 PRINTER / BROKEN D1

FIH  - 0551 12000166 COPIER / BROKEN D1
79385 GOAL / BROKEN D1

20000228 EHICLE: GATOR 2020 JOHN DEERE / BROKEN D5
92092 VEHICLE: GATOR 2008 JOHN DEERE D5

OLJ - 0611 10001271 MONEY COUNTER / BROKEN D1
12000389 CURRENCY SCANNER / BROKEN D1

TRANSPORTATION - 9010 T0000032 TRACTOR / BROKEN D5

MAINTENANCE DEPT - 9021 86997 2 DOOR REFRIGERATOR / BROKEN D5
79229 MILK BOX / BROKEN D5
91227 2 DOOR REFRIGERATOR / BROKEN D5

SAFETY & SECURITY - 9022 17000513 COPIER / BROKEN D1
20100033 LAPTOP / BROKEN D1

IT - 9040 17000167 WEB FILTER / OBOSOLETE D1
18000096 WEB FILTER / OBOSOLETE D1

89097 TAPE AUTO LOADER / OBSOLETE D1
09000696 IBM 40 / OBSOLETE D1
11000156 WEB FILTER / OBOSOLETE D1
15000403 WEB FILTER / OBOSOLETE D1
17000166 WEB FILTER / OBOSOLETE D1
17000168 WEB FILTER / OBOSOLETE D1
16000575 SWITCH  / OBSOLETE D1
16000577 SWITCH  / OBSOLETE D1
16000573 SWITCH  / OBSOLETE D1
15000807 SERVER / OBSOLETE D1

Page 2332 of 2427

DRAFT



Monthly Deletion Analysis / AUGUST 2025 2026
Cost Center Asset Item, Reason for Deletion Type of Deletion

15000810 SERVER / OBSOLETE D1
16000576 SWITCH  / OBSOLETE D1
17000017 SWITCH  / OBSOLETE D1
17000019 SWITCH  / OBSOLETE D1
17000020 SWITCH  / OBSOLETE D1
17000021 SWITCH  / OBSOLETE D1
17000022 SWITCH  / OBSOLETE D1
17000023 SWITCH  / OBSOLETE D1
17000025 SWITCH  / OBSOLETE D1
17000028 SWITCH  / OBSOLETE D1
17000041 SWITCH  / OBSOLETE D1
17000062 SWITCH  / OBSOLETE D1
17000591 LAPTOP / BROKEN D1
18000060 LAPTOP / BROKEN D1
18000054 LAPTOP / BROKEN D1
17000598 LAPTOP / BROKEN D1
17000601 LAPTOP / BROKEN D1
17000602 LAPTOP / BROKEN D1
17000604 LAPTOP / BROKEN D1
22100150 LAPTOP / BROKEN D1
18000056 LAPTOP / BROKEN D1
18000074 LAPTOP / BROKEN D1
18000427 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000428 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000429 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000430 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000431 ENCODER / OBSOLETE
18000432 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000433 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000434 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000435 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000436 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000437 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000438 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000439 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000440 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000441 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000442 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000443 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000444 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000446 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000447 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000448 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000449 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000450 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000451 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000452 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000453 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000454 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000455 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000456 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000457 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000458 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1

Page 2333 of 2427

DRAFT



Monthly Deletion Analysis / AUGUST 2025 2026
Cost Center Asset Item, Reason for Deletion Type of Deletion

18000459 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000460 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000463 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000464 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000465 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000468 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000469 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000470 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1
18000471 ENCODER / OBSOLETE D1

FOOD SERVICE - 9110 16000041 MILK BOX / BROKEN D5

SEDNET - 9252 20000078 LAMINATOR / BROKEN D1
20000079 LAMINATOR / BROKEN D1

D1 = PARTED OUT/JUNK
D5 = SURPLUS SALES

Page 2334 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

September 4, 2025 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C16 - Contract Renewal - County-Wide Professional Mechanical/Electrical Engineering Services Architect/Engineer Agreement

Description
Renew Contract as required per FS 287, DOE 6A-1.012 and School Board Policy
County-Wide Mechanical/Electrical Engineering Services Architect/Engineer Agreement:  Contract Period is October 5, 2025
through October 4, 2026. The contract period is for one (1) year and is the final renewal option.

Gap Analysis
The District requires contractors to provide services to ensure our ??facilities and equipment are maintained and functional. The
District requires vendors to provide products and/or services to ensure our students and staff receive the products and/or services
to meet their needs.

Previous Outcomes
Original Contract was Board approved and has been used successfully during the past term to provide quality services and
products to the district.

Expected Outcomes
Upon approval by the Board; we expect the contractors and vendors? to continue providing quality services and products at the
same terms and conditions as when the original Bid were awarded.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 5; Strategy 5.4; Enhance fiscal practices that enable the district to maximize effectiveness and efficiency.

Recommendation
Extend renewal as follows:
County-Wide Mechanical/Electrical Engineering Services Architect/Engineer Agreement: 

H2 Engineering, 2246 NW 40th Terrace Suite B, Gainesville, Florida 32605-
Haddad Engineering, Inc., 3030 Hartley Rd Suite 290, Jacksonville, Florida 32257-
Mitchell Gulledge Engineering, Inc., 204 SW 4th Ave, Gainesville, Florida 32601-

Contact
Ms. Dawn Posey, Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs, Phone: (904)336-6721, Email: dawn.posey@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
All funding necessary for the Mechanical/Electrical fees resulting from this contract are budgeted within the Educational
Facilities Plan. Fiscal impact will be based on the budget of the individual projects.

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 2335 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

September 4, 2025 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C17 - BID Renewal

Description
Renew BID as required per FS 287, DOE 6A-1.012 and School Board Policy
Unleaded Gasoline, #2 Undyed Diesel and Dyed Diesel Fuel Bid #22-BA-128. Contract Period is for a three (3) year period from
December 1, 2025 through November 30, 2028. The contract period is for three (3) years and is the final renewal options. The
Cooperative Bid was established for the purchase and delivery of Unleaded Gasoline, #2 Undyed Diesel and Dyed Diesel Fuel
needs for The School Board of Clay County, Clay County Board of County Commissioners, The City of Green Cove Springs and
The Town of Orange Park.

Gap Analysis
Participating Agencies require vendors to provide products and services to ensure uninterrupted operations throughout the
County.

Previous Outcomes
Prior Board approved Bid will expire, but was used successfully during the past terms to provide quality services and products to
Clay County.

Expected Outcomes
Upon approval by the Board, we expect the vendor to provide quality services and products at the terms and conditions listed in
the Cooperative Bid.

Strategic Plan Goal
Goal 5; Strategy 5.4; Enhance fiscal practices that enable the district to maximize effectiveness and efficiency.

Recommendation
Extend renewal as follows:
Unleaded Gasoline, #2 Undyed Diesel and Dyed Diesel Fuel Bid #22-BA-128:

Gate Fuel Services, Inc., PO Box 23627, Jacksonville, FL 32241-

Contact
Ms. Dawn Posey, Assistant Superintendent for Business Affairs, Phone: (904)336-6721, Email: dawn.posey@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
Unleaded Gasoline, #2 Undyed Diesel and Dyed Diesel Fuel Bid #22-BA-128: Total estimated expenditure for the three (3) year
contract will vary based on individual agency usage. The School Board of Clay County estimates $5,500,000 from General
Revenue

Review Comments

Attachments

Page 2336 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

September 4, 2025 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C18 - Supplemental Spot Survey to the Current Educational Plant Survey to Finalize Moving All or a Portion of Sixth Grade
Students from Ten Elementary Schools to Two Junior High Schools

Description
A spot survey is required by the Department of Education when any change/addition or deletion is made to a school facility.  The
school board must approve the spot survey.
The shift of sixth grade students from ten elementary schools to two junior high schools required a supplemental spot survey to
the current educational plant survey.  That survey recommends that the junior high schools be redesignated as follows:

Lake Asbury Junior High grades 6, 7 and 81.
Oakleaf Junior High grades 6, 7 and 82.

These seven elementary schools be redesignated as PK-5 schools because all of sixth grade was moved:
Coppergate Elementary1.
Discovery Oaks Elementary2.
Lake Asbury Elementary3.
Oakleaf Village Elementary4.
Plantation Oaks Elementary5.
Rideout Elementary6.
Shadowlawn Elementary7.

These three elementary schools will keep the designation of PK-6 schools because only a portion of the sixth-grade population
was moved:

Doctors Inlet Elementary School8.
Middleburg Elementary School9.

Tynes Elementary School10.
This recommended date of this change to the educational plant survey is July 28, 2025.

Gap Analysis
Not approving the spot survey will result in a gap in reliable facilities data about the student population for the facilities in
scope.  As a result, future decisions would not be based on factual data regarding student enrollment and projections.

Previous Outcomes
The School Board has approved educational plant supplemental spot surveys in the past.

Expected Outcomes
It is expected the School Board will approve the supplemental spot survey for the two junior high schools: Lake Asbury Junior
High (6-8) and Oakleaf Junior High (6-8) as well as the ten elementary schools: Coppergate Elementary (PK-5), Discovery Oaks
Elementary (PK-5), Lake Asbury Elementary (PK-5), Oakleaf Village Elementary (PK-5), Plantation Oaks Elementary (PK-5),
Rideout Elementary (PK-5), Shadowlawn Elementary (PK-5), Doctors Inlet Elementary (PK-6), Middleburg Elementary (PK-6)
and Tynes Elementary (PK-6).

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure fiscal responsibility through the effective management of district operations in an effort to maximize available resources
necessary to provide an environment that is safe, efficient, and conducive to learning.

Page 2337 of 2427

DRAFT



Recommendation
Approve the supplemental spot survey for the two junior high schools: Lake Asbury Junior High (6-8) and Oakleaf Junior High
(6-8) as well as the ten elementary schools: Coppergate Elementary (PK-5), Discovery Oaks Elementary (PK-5), Lake Asbury
Elementary (PK-5), Oakleaf Village Elementary (PK-5), Plantation Oaks Elementary (PK-5), Rideout Elementary (PK-5),
Shadowlawn Elementary (PK-5), Doctors Inlet Elementary (PK-6), Middleburg Elementary (PK-6) and Tynes Elementary (PK-
6).

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904)336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net,
Lance Addison, Director of Facility Planning & Construction, (904)336-6852, lance.addison@myoneclay.net,
Paul Bement, Supervisor of Planning and Intergovernmental Relations, (904)336-6829, paul.bement@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None

Review Comments

Attachments

Spot Survey 7.4 Recommendations.pdf

Page 2338 of 2427

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/spot-survey-74-recommendations.pdf


District Name: CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

Survey: Number 7 - Version 4

Facility Name: COPPERGATE ELEMENTARY

Address: 3460 Copper Colts Court, MIDDLEBURG

Existing Recommended

Capital Outlay 
Classification

1 - SCHOOL RECOMMENDED FOR 
CONTINUED USE

1 - SCHOOL RECOMMENDED FOR 
CONTINUED USE

Facility Use ELEMENTARY ELEMENTARY

Low Grade PRE-K E S E PRE-K E S E

High Grade GRADE 6 GRADE 5

Comments

Existing
Student Stations 

Added/Reduced(+ or -) Recommended

Perm. Stations 659 0 659

Reloc. Stations 66 0 66

Mod. Stations 0 0 0

Total Stations 725 0 725

Utilization Factor 100% 100%

School Capacity 725 725

COFTE Student 
Membership 516 548

Survey Annotation

Spot Survey 7.4:
*Remove 100% of 6th grade students.  Sending 28% of them to Oakleaf Junior High and 
72% to Lake Asbury Junior High.
*Coppergate Elementary will now serve grades PK-ESE – 5.

Previous Survey Recommendations:
Correct Site Drainage Problems. 
Construct PE Covered Play Area. 
Construct Additional Covered Walkways Where Needed.  
(Other) - District-Wide Recommendations for this facility are: Improve Security Fencing and 
Lighting.

New Site Cost Site 
Expansion

Site 
Development

Site 
Improvement

Remodeling 
Cost

Renovation 
Cost

New 
Construction 

Cost

$0 $0 $0 $45,000 $0 $0 $720,360

Estimated Total Project Cost $765,360

FIVE YEAR SURVEY

Recommendation Report

Page 2339 of 2427

DRAFT



COPPERGATE 
ELEMENTARY

Parcel Building Description Total NSF Change In 
Station Count

Calculated 
Cost

Cost Per 
NSF

Cost Per 
Station

New Construction 2026 New Construction: Adding 1 unit of 
ELEMENTARY COVERED PLAY 
AREA (2610 NSF)

2,610 0 $720,360 $276 $0

Page 2340 of 2427

DRAFT



District Name: CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

Survey: Number 7 - Version 4

Facility Name: DISCOVERY OAKS ELEMENTARY

Address: 950 OAKLEAF PLANTATION PARKWAY, ORANGE PARK

Existing Recommended

Capital Outlay 
Classification

1 - SCHOOL RECOMMENDED FOR 
CONTINUED USE

1 - SCHOOL RECOMMENDED FOR 
CONTINUED USE

Facility Use ELEMENTARY ELEMENTARY

Low Grade PRE-K E S E PRE-K E S E

High Grade GRADE 6 GRADE 5

Comments

Existing
Student Stations 

Added/Reduced(+ or -) Recommended

Perm. Stations 852 0 852

Reloc. Stations 0 0 0

Mod. Stations 0 0 0

Total Stations 852 0 852

Utilization Factor 100% 100%

School Capacity 852 852

COFTE Student 
Membership 838 637

Survey Annotation

Spot Survey 7.4:
*Remove 100% of 6th grade students and sending them to Oakleaf Junior High.
*Discovery Oaks Elementary will now serve grades PK-ESE – 5.

Previous Survey Recommendations:
(Other) - District-Wide Recommendations for this facility are: Improve Security Fencing and 
Lighting.

New Site Cost Site 
Expansion

Site 
Development

Site 
Improvement

Remodeling 
Cost

Renovation 
Cost

New 
Construction 

Cost

$0 $0 $0 $15,000 $0 $0 $0

Estimated Total Project Cost $15,000

DISCOVERY OAKS 
ELEMENTARY

Parcel Building Description Total NSF Change In 
Station Count

Calculated 
Cost

Cost Per 
NSF

Cost Per 
Station

 

Page 2341 of 2427

DRAFT



District Name: CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

Survey: Number 7 - Version 4

Facility Name: DOCTORS INLET ELEMENTARY

Address: 2634 STATE ROAD 220, DOCTORS INLET

Existing Recommended

Capital Outlay 
Classification

1 - SCHOOL RECOMMENDED FOR 
CONTINUED USE

1 - SCHOOL RECOMMENDED FOR 
CONTINUED USE

Facility Use ELEMENTARY ELEMENTARY

Low Grade PRE-K E S E PRE-K E S E

High Grade GRADE 6 GRADE 6

Comments

Existing
Student Stations 

Added/Reduced(+ or -) Recommended

Perm. Stations 401 0 401

Reloc. Stations 318 0 318

Mod. Stations 0 0 0

Total Stations 719 0 719

Utilization Factor 100% 100%

School Capacity 719 719

COFTE Student 
Membership 640 461

Survey Annotation

Spot Survey 7.4:
*Remove 22% of 6th grade students and sending to Lake Asbury Junior High.
*Doctors Inlet Elementary will remain serving grades PK-ESE – 6.

Previous Survey Recommendations:
Correct Site Drainage Problems.                                
Construct Additional Covered Walkways Where Needed. 
Renovate Building 4.                                                                    
Remove 14 portables in excess of 20 years of age.            
(Other) - District-Wide Recommendations for this facility are:  Improve Security Fencing and 
Lighting.

New Site Cost Site 
Expansion

Site 
Development

Site 
Improvement

Remodeling 
Cost

Renovation 
Cost

New 
Construction 

Cost

$0 $0 $0 $45,000 $0 $533,082 $0

Estimated Total Project Cost $578,082

Page 2342 of 2427

DRAFT



DOCTORS INLET 
ELEMENTARY

Parcel Building Description Total NSF Change In 
Station Count

Calculated 
Cost

Cost Per 
NSF

Cost Per 
Station

Renovation 2026 11 4 Renovating: Apply Painting, Floor 
Cover, Electrical, Plumbing, 
Windows, Lighting, Restrooms, 
HVAC Systems, Bell/Fire Alarm 
Systems, Retrofit for Technology to 
Room 101 (206 NSF), Room 102 
(281 NSF), Room 103 (35 NSF), 
Room 104 (35 NSF), Room 105 (112 
NSF), Room 105B (36 NSF), Room 
106 (115 NSF), Room 107 (128 
NSF), Room 108 (382 NSF), Room 
109 (180 NSF), Room 110 (193 
NSF), Room 111 (70 NSF), Room 
112 (193 NSF), Room 113 (59 NSF), 
Room 114 (114 NSF), Room 115 (66 
NSF), Room 116 (194 NSF), Room 
117 (211 NSF), Room 118 (214 
NSF), Room 119 (162 NSF), Room 
120 (141 NSF), Room 121 (67 NSF), 
Room 122 (382 NSF), Room 123 
(286 NSF), Room 124 (2639 NSF)

6,501 0 $533,082 $82 $0

Page 2343 of 2427

DRAFT



District Name: CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

Survey: Number 7 - Version 4

Facility Name: LAKE ASBURY ELEMENTARY

Address: 2901 SANDRIDGE ROAD, GREEN COVE SPRINGS

Existing Recommended

Capital Outlay 
Classification

1 - SCHOOL RECOMMENDED FOR 
CONTINUED USE

1 - SCHOOL RECOMMENDED FOR 
CONTINUED USE

Facility Use ELEMENTARY ELEMENTARY

Low Grade PRE-K E S E PRE-K E S E

High Grade GRADE 6 GRADE 5

Comments

Existing
Student Stations 

Added/Reduced(+ or -) Recommended

Perm. Stations 388 37 425

Reloc. Stations 582 0 582

Mod. Stations 0 0 0

Total Stations 970 37 1007

Utilization Factor 100% 100%

School Capacity 970 1007

COFTE Student 
Membership 853 328

Survey Annotation

Spot Survey 7.4:
*Remove 100% of 6th grade students and sending them to Lake Asbury Junior High.
*Lake Asbury will now serve grades PK-ESE – 5.

Previous Survey Recommendations:
Correct Site Drainage Problems.                                            
Re-design and Construct Parent and Bus Pick Up and Drop Off Areas.                                     
                                    
Construct Additional Covered Walkways Where Needed. 
Renovate Buildings 1, 2, 5 and 6.
Construct (1) Intermediate Classrooms, (1) Primary Skills Lab, (1) Elem Art, (1) Elem Music, 
(1) ESE PT  and (1) ESE FT.                                       
Remove 8 portables in excess of 20 years of age.          
 (Other) - District-Wide Recommendations for this facility are: Improve Security Fencing and 
Lighting. The District is working in conjunction with DOT on road changes which leads to an 
added cost for this facility.

New Site Cost Site 
Expansion

Site 
Development

Site 
Improvement

Remodeling 
Cost

Renovation 
Cost

New 
Construction 

Cost

$0 $0 $0 $455,000 $0 $3,763,144 $940,503

Estimated Total Project Cost $5,158,647

Page 2344 of 2427

DRAFT



LAKE ASBURY 
ELEMENTARY

Parcel Building Description Total NSF Change In 
Station Count

Calculated 
Cost

Cost Per 
NSF

Cost Per 
Station

New Construction 2026 New Construction: Adding 1 unit of 
PRIMARY SKILLS LAB (K-3) (882 
NSF), 1 unit of ART - ELEMENTARY 
(1110 NSF), 1 unit of MUSIC - 
ELEMENTARY (1560 NSF), 1 unit of 
E S E PRE-K (475 NSF), 1 unit of E 
S E FULL-TIME (950 NSF), 1 unit of 
INTERMEDIATE/MIDDLE 
CLASSROOM (4-8) (858 NSF)

7,345 37 $940,503 $128 $25,419

Renovation 2026 26 1 Renovating: Apply Painting, Floor 
Cover, Electrical, Plumbing, 
Windows, Lighting, Restrooms, 
HVAC Systems, Bell/Fire Alarm 
Systems, Retrofit for Technology to 
Room 101 (327 NSF), Room 102 
(41 NSF), Room 103 (148 NSF), 
Room 103A (103 NSF), Room 104 
(126 NSF), Room 105 (120 NSF), 
Room 105A (107 NSF), Room 106 
(312 NSF), Room 107 (53 NSF), 
Room 108 (80 NSF), Room 109 
(189 NSF), Room 110 (148 NSF), 
Room 111 (264 NSF), Room 112 (29 
NSF), Room 113 (241 NSF), Room 
114 (203 NSF), Room 115 (241 
NSF), Room 116 (185 NSF), Room 
117 (250 NSF), Room 118 (253 
NSF), Room 119 (27 NSF), Room 
120 (27 NSF), Room 121 (67 NSF), 
Room 122 (45 NSF), Room 123 (47 
NSF), Room 124 (69 NSF), Room 
125 (450 NSF), Room 126 (411 
NSF), Room 127 (82 NSF), Room 
128 (247 NSF), Room 129 (52 NSF), 
Room 130 (126 NSF), Room 131 
(447 NSF), Room 132A (194 NSF), 
Room 132B (193 NSF), Room 133 
(303 NSF), Room 134 (213 NSF), 
Room 135 (418 NSF), Room 136 
(2957 NSF), Room 137 (124 NSF), 
Room 138 (304 NSF)

10,223 0 $838,286 $82 $0

Renovation 2026 26 2 Renovating: Apply Painting, Floor 
Cover, Electrical, Plumbing, 
Windows, Lighting, Restrooms, 
HVAC Systems, Bell/Fire Alarm 
Systems, Retrofit for Technology to 
Room 201 (3780 NSF), Room 201A 
(50 NSF), Room 201B (45 NSF), 
Room 201C (556 NSF), Room 202 
(859 NSF), Room 202A (15 NSF), 
Room 203 (40 NSF), Room 204 
(161 NSF), Room 205 (169 NSF), 
Room 206 (479 NSF), Room 207 
(220 NSF), Room 208 (165 NSF), 
Room 209 (157 NSF), Room 210 
(46 NSF), Room 211 (362 NSF), 
Room 212 (33 NSF), Room 213 (10 
NSF), Room 214 (63 NSF), Room 
215 (54 NSF), Room 216 (93 NSF), 
Room 217 (153 NSF), Room 218 
(127 NSF), Room 219A (102 NSF), 
Room 219B (72 NSF), Room 220 
(117 NSF), Room 221 (701 NSF), 
Room 222 (39 NSF), Room 223 
(105 NSF), Room 224 (193 NSF), 
Room 225 (1199 NSF), Room 226 
(90 NSF), Room 227 (597 NSF), 
Room 228 (185 NSF)

11,037 0 $905,034 $82 $0

Page 2345 of 2427

DRAFT



LAKE ASBURY 
ELEMENTARY

Parcel Building Description Total NSF Change In 
Station Count

Calculated 
Cost

Cost Per 
NSF

Cost Per 
Station

Renovation 2026 26 5 Renovating: Apply Painting, Floor 
Cover, Electrical, Plumbing, 
Windows, Lighting, Restrooms, 
HVAC Systems, Bell/Fire Alarm 
Systems, Retrofit for Technology to 
Room 501 (1008 NSF), Room 502 
(152 NSF), Room 503 (52 NSF), 
Room 504 (44 NSF), Room 505 (44 
NSF), Room 506 (62 NSF), Room 
507 (1008 NSF), Room 508 (1008 
NSF), Room 509 (152 NSF), Room 
510 (52 NSF), Room 511 (44 NSF), 
Room 512 (44 NSF), Room 513 (52 
NSF), Room 514 (1008 NSF), Room 
515 (1640 NSF), Room 516 (1008 
NSF), Room 517 (152 NSF), Room 
518 (52 NSF), Room 519 (44 NSF), 
Room 520 (44 NSF), Room 521 (52 
NSF), Room 522 (1008 NSF), Room 
523 (1008 NSF), Room 524 (152 
NSF), Room 525 (52 NSF), Room 
526 (44 NSF), Room 527 (44 NSF), 
Room 528 (52 NSF), Room 529 
(1008 NSF), Room 530 (124 NSF), 
Room 531 (340 NSF), Room 532 
(181 NSF), Room 533 (68 NSF), 
Room 534 (42 NSF), Room 535 
(194 NSF), Room 536 (194 NSF), 
Room 537 (42 NSF), Room 538 (44 
NSF)

12,319 0 $1,010,158 $82 $0

Renovation 2026 26 6 Renovating: Apply Painting, Floor 
Cover, Electrical, Plumbing, 
Windows, Lighting, Restrooms, 
HVAC Systems, Bell/Fire Alarm 
Systems, Retrofit for Technology to 
Room 601 (1008 NSF), Room 602 
(152 NSF), Room 603 (96 NSF), 
Room 605 (44 NSF), Room 606 (52 
NSF), Room 607 (1008 NSF), Room 
608 (1008 NSF), Room 609 (152 
NSF), Room 610 (52 NSF), Room 
611 (44 NSF), Room 612 (44 NSF), 
Room 613 (52 NSF), Room 614 
(1008 NSF), Room 615 (1626 NSF), 
Room 616 (1008 NSF), Room 617 
(152 NSF), Room 618 (52 NSF), 
Room 619 (44 NSF), Room 620 (44 
NSF), Room 621 (52 NSF), Room 
622 (1004 NSF), Room 623 (1004 
NSF), Room 624 (152 NSF), Room 
625 (52 NSF), Room 626 (44 NSF), 
Room 628 (96 NSF), Room 629 
(1008 NSF), Room 630 (124 NSF), 
Room 631 (358 NSF), Room 632 
(181 NSF), Room 633 (68 NSF), 
Room 634 (42 NSF), Room 635 
(200 NSF), Room 636 (196 NSF), 
Room 637 (42 NSF), Room 638 (44 
NSF)

12,313 0 $1,009,666 $82 $0

Page 2346 of 2427

DRAFT



District Name: CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

Survey: Number 7 - Version 4

Facility Name: LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR HIGH

Address: 2851 SANDRIDGE ROAD, GREEN COVE SPRINGS

Existing Recommended

Capital Outlay 
Classification

1 - SCHOOL RECOMMENDED FOR 
CONTINUED USE

1 - SCHOOL RECOMMENDED FOR 
CONTINUED USE

Facility Use MIDDLE JUNIOR HIGH

Low Grade GRADE 7 GRADE 6

High Grade GRADE 8 GRADE 8

Comments

Existing
Student Stations 

Added/Reduced(+ or -) Recommended

Perm. Stations 1,753 0 1753

Reloc. Stations 440 -44 396

Mod. Stations 0 0 0

Total Stations 2,193 -44 2149

Utilization Factor 90% 90%

School Capacity 1,973 1934

COFTE Student 
Membership 1,137 1,605

Survey Annotation

Spot Survey 7.4:
*Receiving 6th grade students from Coppergate Elementary, Lake Asbury Elementary, 
Rideout Elementary, Shadowlawn Elementary, Middleburg Elementary, and Doctors Inlet 
Elementary.
*Lake Asbury Junior High will now serve grades 6-8.

Previous Survey Recommendations:
Correct site drainage problems.
Construct additional Covered Walkways where needed. 
Remove 2 portables in excess of 20 years of age.
(Other) - District-Wide Recommendations for this facility are: Improve security fencing and 
lighting.

New Site Cost Site 
Expansion

Site 
Development

Site 
Improvement

Remodeling 
Cost

Renovation 
Cost

New 
Construction 

Cost

$0 $0 $0 $45,000 $18,828 $0 $0

Estimated Total Project Cost $63,828

LAKE ASBURY JUNIOR 
HIGH

Parcel Building Description Total NSF Change In 
Station Count

Calculated 
Cost

Cost Per 
NSF

Cost Per 
Station

Remodeling 2026 28 92 Removed NSF (1569), Added NSF 
(0), Difference NSF (1569), Percent 
(100%), Removed Stations (44), 
Added Stations (0) Remodeling: 
Adding  and Removing Room 423 
(754 NSF), Room 423A (25 NSF), 
Room 424 (790 NSF)

-1,569 -44 $18,828 $12 $0

Page 2347 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2348 of 2427

DRAFT



District Name: CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

Survey: Number 7 - Version 4

Facility Name: MIDDLEBURG ELEMENTARY

Address: 3958 MAIN STREET, MIDDLEBURG

Existing Recommended

Capital Outlay 
Classification

1 - SCHOOL RECOMMENDED FOR 
CONTINUED USE

1 - SCHOOL RECOMMENDED FOR 
CONTINUED USE

Facility Use ELEMENTARY ELEMENTARY

Low Grade PRE-K E S E PRE-K E S E

High Grade GRADE 6 GRADE 6

Comments

Existing
Student Stations 

Added/Reduced(+ or -) Recommended

Perm. Stations 518 0 518

Reloc. Stations 132 -46 86

Mod. Stations 0 0 0

Total Stations 650 -46 604

Utilization Factor 100% 100%

School Capacity 650 604

COFTE Student 
Membership 537 556

Survey Annotation

Spot Survey 7.4:
*Remove 7% of 6th grade students and sending to Lake Asbury Junior High.
*Middleburg Elementary will remain serving grades PK-ESE – 6.

Previous Survey Recommendations:
Remove 3 portables in excess of 20 years of age.               
 Renovate Buildings 2, 4, & 9.                                                 
Construct additional parking. (20 spaces)                                 
 Construct Elementary Covered Play.                             
 Correct site drainage problems.
Construct additional Covered Walkways where needed. 
(Other) - District-Wide Recommendations for this facility are: Improve security fencing and 
lighting.

New Site Cost Site 
Expansion

Site 
Development

Site 
Improvement

Remodeling 
Cost

Renovation 
Cost

New 
Construction 

Cost

$0 $0 $0 $195,000 $28,884 $1,602,824 $645,840

Estimated Total Project Cost $2,472,548

MIDDLEBURG 
ELEMENTARY

Parcel Building Description Total NSF Change In 
Station Count

Calculated 
Cost

Cost Per 
NSF

Cost Per 
Station

New Construction 2026 New Construction: Adding 1 unit of 
ELEMENTARY COVERED PLAY 
AREA (2340 NSF)

2,340 0 $645,840 $276 $0

Page 2349 of 2427

DRAFT



MIDDLEBURG 
ELEMENTARY

Parcel Building Description Total NSF Change In 
Station Count

Calculated 
Cost

Cost Per 
NSF

Cost Per 
Station

Remodeling 2026 12 92 Removed NSF (2407), Added NSF 
(0), Difference NSF (2407), Percent 
(100%), Removed Stations (46), 
Added Stations (0) Remodeling: 
Adding  and Removing Room 024 
(738 NSF), Room 024A (25 NSF), 
Room 025 (839 NSF), Room 025A 
(25 NSF), Room 037 (755 NSF), 
Room 037A (25 NSF)

-2,407 -46 $28,884 $12 $0

Renovation 2026 12 2 Renovating: Apply Painting, Floor 
Cover, Electrical, Plumbing, 
Windows, Lighting, Restrooms, 
HVAC Systems, Bell/Fire Alarm 
Systems, Retrofit for Technology to 
Room 001 (820 NSF), Room 002 
(16 NSF), Room 003 (1101 NSF), 
Room 004 (314 NSF), Room 005 
(71 NSF), Room 006 (84 NSF), 
Room 007 (82 NSF), Room 008 (23 
NSF), Room 010 (15 NSF)

2,526 0 $232,392 $92 $0

Renovation 2026 12 4 Renovating: Apply Painting, Floor 
Cover, Electrical, Plumbing, 
Windows, Lighting, Restrooms, 
HVAC Systems, Bell/Fire Alarm 
Systems, Retrofit for Technology to 
Room 017 (749 NSF), Room 018 
(749 NSF), Room 019 (749 NSF), 
Room 020 (749 NSF), Room 021 
(749 NSF), Room 022 (749 NSF), 
Room 023 (826 NSF), Room 026 
(168 NSF), Room 027 (168 NSF), 
Room 029 (54 NSF), Room 030 
(171 NSF), Room 031 (171 NSF), 
Room 042 (593 NSF), Room 043 
(593 NSF)

7,238 0 $665,896 $92 $0

Renovation 2026 12 9 Renovating: Apply Painting, Floor 
Cover, Electrical, Plumbing, 
Windows, Lighting, Restrooms, 
HVAC Systems, Bell/Fire Alarm 
Systems, Retrofit for Technology to 
Room 101 (3312 NSF), Room 102 
(174 NSF), Room 103 (336 NSF), 
Room 104 (353 NSF), Room 105 
(122 NSF), Room 106 (283 NSF), 
Room 107 (243 NSF), Room 108 
(139 NSF), Room 109 (40 NSF), 
Room 110 (40 NSF), Room 111 (100 
NSF), Room 112 (148 NSF), Room 
113 (199 NSF), Room 114 (65 NSF), 
Room 115 (550 NSF), Room 116 
(650 NSF), Room 117 (426 NSF), 
Room 117A (96 NSF), Room 118 
(191 NSF), Room 119 (191 NSF)

7,658 0 $704,536 $92 $0

Page 2350 of 2427

DRAFT



District Name: CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

Survey: Number 7 - Version 4

Facility Name: OAKLEAF SCHOOL

Address: 4085 PLANTATION OAKS BOULEVARD, ORANGE PARK

Existing Recommended

Capital Outlay 
Classification

1 - SCHOOL RECOMMENDED FOR 
CONTINUED USE

1 - SCHOOL RECOMMENDED FOR 
CONTINUED USE

Facility Use MIDDLE JUNIOR HIGH

Low Grade GRADE 7 GRADE 6

High Grade GRADE 8 GRADE 8

Comments

Existing
Student Stations 

Added/Reduced(+ or -) Recommended

Perm. Stations 1,600 0 1600

Reloc. Stations 660 0 660

Mod. Stations 0 0 0

Total Stations 2,260 0 2260

Utilization Factor 90% 90%

School Capacity 2,034 2034

COFTE Student 
Membership 1,171 1,639

Survey Annotation

Spot Survey 7.4:
*Receiving 6th grade students from Coppergate Elementary, Discovery Oaks Elementary, 
Oakleaf Village Elementary, Plantation Elementary, and Tynes Elementary.
*Oakleaf School (Junior High) will now serve grades 6-8.

Previous Survey Recommendations:
The District will rename this facility "Oakleaf Junior High School”.                                              
                                     
Correct Site Drainage Problems.                                 
Construct Additional Covered Walkways Where Needed.   
(Other) - District-Wide Recommendations for this facility are: Improve Security Fencing and 
Lighting.

New Site Cost Site 
Expansion

Site 
Development

Site 
Improvement

Remodeling 
Cost

Renovation 
Cost

New 
Construction 

Cost

$0 $0 $0 $45,000 $0 $0 $0

Estimated Total Project Cost $45,000

OAKLEAF SCHOOL Parcel Building Description Total NSF Change In 
Station Count

Calculated 
Cost

Cost Per 
NSF

Cost Per 
Station

 

Page 2351 of 2427

DRAFT



District Name: CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

Survey: Number 7 - Version 4

Facility Name: OAKLEAF VILLAGE ELEMENTARY

Address: 410 OAKLEAF VILLAGE PARKWAY, ORANGE PARK

Existing Recommended

Capital Outlay 
Classification

1 - SCHOOL RECOMMENDED FOR 
CONTINUED USE

1 - SCHOOL RECOMMENDED FOR 
CONTINUED USE

Facility Use ELEMENTARY ELEMENTARY

Low Grade PRE-K E S E PRE-K E S E

High Grade GRADE 6 GRADE 5

Comments

Existing
Student Stations 

Added/Reduced(+ or -) Recommended

Perm. Stations 881 0 881

Reloc. Stations 216 -36 180

Mod. Stations 0 0 0

Total Stations 1,097 -36 1061

Utilization Factor 100% 100%

School Capacity 1,097 1061

COFTE Student 
Membership 1,032 757

Survey Annotation

Spot Survey 7.4:
*Remove 100% of 6th grade students and sending them to Oakleaf Junior High.
*Oakleaf Village Elementary will now serve grades PK-ESE – 5.

Previous Survey Recommendations:
Construct Elementary Covered Play Area.                                 
Correct Site Drainage Problems.                                 
Construct Additional Covered Walkways Where Needed.   
Remove 2 portables in excess of 20 years of age.
(Other) - District-Wide Recommendations for this facility are: Improve Security Fencing and 
Lighting.

New Site Cost Site 
Expansion

Site 
Development

Site 
Improvement

Remodeling 
Cost

Renovation 
Cost

New 
Construction 

Cost

$0 $0 $0 $45,000 $18,420 $0 $952,200

Estimated Total Project Cost $1,015,620

OAKLEAF VILLAGE 
ELEMENTARY

Parcel Building Description Total NSF Change In 
Station Count

Calculated 
Cost

Cost Per 
NSF

Cost Per 
Station

New Construction 2026 New Construction: Adding 1 unit of 
ELEMENTARY COVERED PLAY 
AREA (3450 NSF)

3,450 0 $952,200 $276 $0

Page 2352 of 2427

DRAFT



OAKLEAF VILLAGE 
ELEMENTARY

Parcel Building Description Total NSF Change In 
Station Count

Calculated 
Cost

Cost Per 
NSF

Cost Per 
Station

Remodeling 2026 55 92 Removed NSF (1535), Added NSF 
(0), Difference NSF (1535), Percent 
(100%), Removed Stations (36), 
Added Stations (0) Remodeling: 
Adding  and Removing Room 906 
(729 NSF), Room 906A (26 NSF), 
Room 907 (750 NSF), Room 907A 
(30 NSF)

-1,535 -36 $18,420 $12 $0

Page 2353 of 2427

DRAFT



District Name: CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

Survey: Number 7 - Version 4

Facility Name: PLANTATION OAKS ELEMENTARY

Address: 4150 PLANTATION OAKS BOULEVARD, ORANGE PARK

Existing Recommended

Capital Outlay 
Classification

1 - SCHOOL RECOMMENDED FOR 
CONTINUED USE

1 - SCHOOL RECOMMENDED FOR 
CONTINUED USE

Facility Use ELEMENTARY ELEMENTARY

Low Grade PRE-K E S E PRE-K E S E

High Grade GRADE 6 GRADE 5

Comments

Existing
Student Stations 

Added/Reduced(+ or -) Recommended

Perm. Stations 887 0 887

Reloc. Stations 117 -44 73

Mod. Stations 0 0 0

Total Stations 1,004 -44 960

Utilization Factor 100% 100%

School Capacity 1,004 960

COFTE Student 
Membership 993 777

Survey Annotation

Spot Survey 7.4:
*Remove 100% of 6th grade students and sending them to Oakleaf Junior High.
*Plantation Oaks Elementary will now serve grades PK-ESE – 5.

Previous Survey Recommendations:
Remove 2 portables in excess of 20 years of age.                 
Construct Elementary Covered Play Area.                                                                                  
  
Correct Site Drainage Problems.                                 
Construct Additional Covered Walkways Where Needed.   
(Other) - District-Wide Recommendations for this facility are: Improve Security Fencing and 
Lighting.

New Site Cost Site 
Expansion

Site 
Development

Site 
Improvement

Remodeling 
Cost

Renovation 
Cost

New 
Construction 

Cost

$0 $0 $0 $45,000 $214,590 $0 $997,464

Estimated Total Project Cost $1,257,054

PLANTATION OAKS 
ELEMENTARY

Parcel Building Description Total NSF Change In 
Station Count

Calculated 
Cost

Cost Per 
NSF

Cost Per 
Station

New Construction 2026 New Construction: Adding 1 unit of 
ELEMENTARY COVERED PLAY 
AREA (3614 NSF)

3,614 0 $997,464 $276 $0

Page 2354 of 2427

DRAFT



PLANTATION OAKS 
ELEMENTARY

Parcel Building Description Total NSF Change In 
Station Count

Calculated 
Cost

Cost Per 
NSF

Cost Per 
Station

Remodeling 2026 63 92 Removed NSF (1555), Added NSF 
(0), Difference NSF (1555), Percent 
(100%), Removed Stations (44), 
Added Stations (0) Remodeling: 
Adding  and Removing Room 913 
(750 NSF), Room 913A (26 NSF), 
Room 915 (754 NSF), Room 915A 
(25 NSF)

-1,555 -44 $214,590 $138 $0

Page 2355 of 2427

DRAFT



District Name: CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

Survey: Number 7 - Version 4

Facility Name: RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY

Address: 3065 APALACHICOLA BOULEVARD, MIDDLEBURG

Existing Recommended

Capital Outlay 
Classification

1 - SCHOOL RECOMMENDED FOR 
CONTINUED USE

1 - SCHOOL RECOMMENDED FOR 
CONTINUED USE

Facility Use ELEMENTARY ELEMENTARY

Low Grade PRE-K E S E PRE-K E S E

High Grade GRADE 6 GRADE 5

Comments

Existing
Student Stations 

Added/Reduced(+ or -) Recommended

Perm. Stations 628 360 988

Reloc. Stations 143 0 143

Mod. Stations 0 0 0

Total Stations 771 360 1131

Utilization Factor 100% 100%

School Capacity 771 1131

COFTE Student 
Membership 481 867

Survey Annotation

Spot Survey 7.4
*Remove 100% of 6th grade students and sending them to Lake Asbury Junior High.
*Rideout Elementary will now serve grades PK-ESE – 5.

Previous Survey Recommendations:
Renovate Buildings 1.

New Site Cost Site 
Expansion

Site 
Development

Site 
Improvement

Remodeling 
Cost

Renovation 
Cost

New 
Construction 

Cost

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $7,693,132 $9,196,200

Estimated Total Project Cost $16,889,332

RIDEOUT ELEMENTARY Parcel Building Description Total NSF Change In 
Station Count

Calculated 
Cost

Cost Per 
NSF

Cost Per 
Station

New Construction 2026 New Construction: Adding 20 units 
of PRIMARY CLASSROOM (K-3) 
(882 NSF)

22,640 360 $9,196,200 $406 $25,545

Renovation 2026 48 1 Renovating: Apply Painting, Floor 
Cover, Electrical, Plumbing, 
Windows, Lighting, Restrooms, 
HVAC Systems, Bell/Fire Alarm 
Systems, Retrofit for Technology to 
Room 101 (829 NSF), Room 102 
(128 NSF), Room 103 (70 NSF), 
Room 104 (926 NSF), Room 105 
(70 NSF), Room 106 (168 NSF), 
Room 107 (924 NSF), Room 108 
(87 NSF), Room 109 (70 NSF), 

83,621 0 $7,693,132 $92 $0

Page 2356 of 2427

DRAFT



Room 110 (926 NSF), Room 111 
(595 NSF), Room 112 (477 NSF), 
Room 113 (924 NSF), Room 114 (52 
NSF), Room 115 (70 NSF), Room 
116 (69 NSF), Room 117 (219 NSF), 
Room 118 (69 NSF), Room 119 (70 
NSF), Room 120 (52 NSF), Room 
121 (924 NSF), Room 122 (235 
NSF), Room 123 (279 NSF), Room 
124 (70 NSF), Room 125 (926 NSF), 
Room 126 (243 NSF), Room 127 
(924 NSF), Room 128 (70 NSF), 
Room 129 (808 NSF), Room 130 
(70 NSF), Room 131 (924 NSF), 
Room 132 (120 NSF), Room 133 
(1456 NSF), Room 134 (364 NSF), 
Room 135 (83 NSF), Room 136 
(145 NSF), Room 137 (59 NSF), 
Room 138 (59 NSF), Room 139 
(127 NSF), Room 140 (70 NSF), 
Room 141 (924 NSF), Room 142 
(70 NSF), Room 143 (127 NSF), 
Room 144 (926 NSF), Room 145 
(978 NSF), Room 146 (78 NSF), 
Room 147 (42 NSF), Room 148 (42 
NSF), Room 149 (984 NSF), Room 
150 (78 NSF), Room 151 (78 NSF), 
Room 152 (984 NSF), Room 153 
(78 NSF), Room 154 (78 NSF), 
Room 155 (978 NSF), Room 156 
(42 NSF), Room 157 (42 NSF), 
Room 158 (78 NSF), Room 159 
(542 NSF), Room 201 (144 NSF), 
Room 202 (68 NSF), Room 203 
(149 NSF), Room 204 (93 NSF), 
Room 205 (122 NSF), Room 206 
(102 NSF), Room 207 (1257 NSF), 
Room 208 (621 NSF), Room 209 
(298 NSF), Room 210 (473 NSF), 
Room 211 (342 NSF), Room 212 
(122 NSF), Room 213 (75 NSF), 
Room 214 (217 NSF), Room 215 
(1840 NSF), Room 215A (3440 
NSF), Room 216 (932 NSF), Room 
217 (296 NSF), Room 218 (307 
NSF), Room 219 (32 NSF), Room 
220 (47 NSF), Room 221 (214 NSF), 
Room 222 (325 NSF), Room 223 
(924 NSF), Room 224 (127 NSF), 
Room 225 (70 NSF), Room 226 
(1650 NSF), Room 227 (70 NSF), 
Room 228 (70 NSF), Room 229 (42 
NSF), Room 230 (924 NSF), Room 
231 (318 NSF), Room 232 (212 
NSF), Room 233 (32 NSF), Room 
234 (57 NSF), Room 235 (307 NSF), 
Room 236 (250 NSF), Room 237 
(52 NSF), Room 238 (324 NSF), 
Room 239 (343 NSF), Room 240 
(301 NSF), Room 241 (37 NSF), 
Room 242 (16 NSF), Room 243 
(120 NSF), Room 244 (90 NSF), 
Room 301 (1104 NSF), Room 302 
(2918 NSF), Room 303 (212 NSF), 
Room 304 (185 NSF), Room 305 
(116 NSF), Room 306 (129 NSF), 
Room 307 (129 NSF), Room 308 
(484 NSF), Room 309 (180 NSF), 
Room 310 (293 NSF), Room 311 
(167 NSF), Room 312 (214 NSF), 
Room 313 (141 NSF), Room 314 
(31 NSF), Room 315 (219 NSF), 
Room 316 (232 NSF), Room 317 
(266 NSF), Room 318 (167 NSF), 
Room 319 (122 NSF), Room 320 
(122 NSF), Room 321 (222 NSF), 
Room 322 (196 NSF), Room 323 
(108 NSF), Room 324 (69 NSF), 
Room 325 (143 NSF), Room 326 
(84 NSF), Room 327 (175 NSF), 

Page 2357 of 2427

DRAFT



Room 328 (337 NSF), Room 329 
(270 NSF), Room 330 (466 NSF), 
Room 331 (123 NSF), Room 332 
(30 NSF), Room 333 (30 NSF), 
Room 334 (468 NSF), Room 335 
(38 NSF), Room 336 (313 NSF), 
Room 337 (48 NSF), Room 338 (40 
NSF), Room 339 (48 NSF), Room 
340 (3480 NSF), Room 341 (464 
NSF), Room 342 (377 NSF), Room 
343 (463 NSF), Room 344 (424 
NSF), Room 345 (240 NSF), Room 
346 (250 NSF), Room 347 (273 
NSF), Room 348 (274 NSF), Room 
349 (81 NSF), Room 350 (46 NSF), 
Room 351 (44 NSF), Room 352 
(231 NSF), Room 353 (472 NSF), 
Room 354 (128 NSF), Room 355 
(214 NSF), Room 356 (44 NSF), 
Room 357 (490 NSF), Room 401 
(1107 NSF), Room 402 (130 NSF), 
Room 403 (42 NSF), Room 404 
(971 NSF), Room 405 (70 NSF), 
Room 406 (70 NSF), Room 407 
(970 NSF), Room 408 (42 NSF), 
Room 409 (42 NSF), Room 410 
(975 NSF), Room 411 (70 NSF), 
Room 412 (70 NSF), Room 413 
(1164 NSF), Room 414 (42 NSF), 
Room 415 (42 NSF), Room 416 (70 
NSF), Room 417 (975 NSF), Room 
418 (150 NSF), Room 419 (70 NSF), 
Room 420 (975 NSF), Room 421 
(42 NSF), Room 422 (1074 NSF), 
Room 423 (42 NSF), Room 424 
(975 NSF), Room 425 (70 NSF), 
Room 426 (150 NSF), Room 427 
(70 NSF), Room 428 (975 NSF), 
Room 429 (42 NSF), Room 430 
(215 NSF), Room 431 (45 NSF), 
Room 432 (45 NSF), Room 433 (52 
NSF), Room 434 (966 NSF), Room 
435 (70 NSF), Room 436 (69 NSF), 
Room 437 (455 NSF), Room 438 
(69 NSF), Room 439 (70 NSF), 
Room 440 (966 NSF), Room 441 
(52 NSF), Room 442 (128 NSF), 
Room 443 (429 NSF), Room 444 
(311 NSF), Room 445 (42 NSF), 
Room 446 (975 NSF), Room 447 
(70 NSF), Room 448 (150 NSF), 
Room 449 (150 NSF), Room 450 
(975 NSF), Room 451 (42 NSF), 
Room 452 (42 NSF), Room 453 
(975 NSF), Room 454 (70 NSF), 
Room 455 (70 NSF), Room 456 (42 
NSF), Room 457 (971 NSF), Room 
458 (130 NSF), Room 459 (978 
NSF), Room 460 (78 NSF), Room 
461 (42 NSF), Room 462 (42 NSF), 
Room 463 (984 NSF), Room 464 
(78 NSF), Room 465 (78 NSF), 
Room 466 (984 NSF), Room 467 
(78 NSF), Room 468 (78 NSF), 
Room 469 (978 NSF), Room 470 
(42 NSF), Room 471 (42 NSF), 
Room 472 (78 NSF), Room 473 
(542 NSF)

Page 2358 of 2427

DRAFT



District Name: CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

Survey: Number 7 - Version 4

Facility Name: SHADOWLAWN ELEMENTARY

Address: 2945 County Road 218, Green Cove Springs

Existing Recommended

Capital Outlay 
Classification

1 - SCHOOL RECOMMENDED FOR 
CONTINUED USE

1 - SCHOOL RECOMMENDED FOR 
CONTINUED USE

Facility Use ELEMENTARY ELEMENTARY

Low Grade PRE-K E S E PRE-K E S E

High Grade GRADE 6 GRADE 5

Comments

Existing
Student Stations 

Added/Reduced(+ or -) Recommended

Perm. Stations 845 0 845

Reloc. Stations 0 0 0

Mod. Stations 0 0 0

Total Stations 845 0 845

Utilization Factor 100% 100%

School Capacity 845 845

COFTE Student 
Membership 681 720

Survey Annotation

Spot Survey 7.4:
*Remove 100% of 6th grade students and sending them to Lake Asbury Junior High.
*Shadowlawn Elementary will now serve grades PK-ESE – 5.

Previous Survey Recommendaitons:
Correct Site Drainage Problems.                                 
Construct Additional Covered Walkways Where Needed.   
(Other) - District-Wide Recommendations for this facility are: Improve Security Fencing and 
Lighting.

New Site Cost Site 
Expansion

Site 
Development

Site 
Improvement

Remodeling 
Cost

Renovation 
Cost

New 
Construction 

Cost

$0 $0 $0 $45,000 $0 $0 $0

Estimated Total Project Cost $45,000

SHADOWLAWN 
ELEMENTARY

Parcel Building Description Total NSF Change In 
Station Count

Calculated 
Cost

Cost Per 
NSF

Cost Per 
Station

 

Page 2359 of 2427

DRAFT



District Name: CLAY COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT

Survey: Number 7 - Version 4

Facility Name: TYNES ELEMENTARY

Address: 1550 TYNES BOULEVARD, MIDDLEBURG

Existing Recommended

Capital Outlay 
Classification

1 - SCHOOL RECOMMENDED FOR 
CONTINUED USE

1 - SCHOOL RECOMMENDED FOR 
CONTINUED USE

Facility Use ELEMENTARY ELEMENTARY

Low Grade PRE-K E S E PRE-K E S E

High Grade GRADE 6 GRADE 6

Comments

Existing
Student Stations 

Added/Reduced(+ or -) Recommended

Perm. Stations 667 0 667

Reloc. Stations 495 -98 397

Mod. Stations 0 0 0

Total Stations 1,162 -98 1064

Utilization Factor 100% 100%

School Capacity 1,162 1064

COFTE Student 
Membership 1,036 805

Survey Annotation

Spot Survey 7.4:
*Remove 19% of 6th Grade students and sending to Oakleaf Junior High.
*Tynes Elementary will remain serving PK-ESE – 6th grades.

Previous Recommendations:
Renovate Buildings 1-6.                                                     
Correct Site Drainage Problems.                                 
Construct Additional Covered Walkways Where Needed.   
Remove 7 portables in excess of 20 years of age.
(Other) - District-Wide Recommendations for this facility are: Improve Security Fencing and 
Lighting.

New Site Cost Site 
Expansion

Site 
Development

Site 
Improvement

Remodeling 
Cost

Renovation 
Cost

New 
Construction 

Cost

$0 $0 $0 $45,000 $65,076 $8,475,760 $0

Estimated Total Project Cost $8,585,836

Page 2360 of 2427

DRAFT



TYNES ELEMENTARY Parcel Building Description Total NSF Change In 
Station Count

Calculated 
Cost

Cost Per 
NSF

Cost Per 
Station

Remodeling 2026 44 92 Removed NSF (5423), Added NSF 
(0), Difference NSF (5423), Percent 
(100%), Removed Stations (98), 
Added Stations (0) Remodeling: 
Adding  and Removing Room 010 
(748 NSF), Room 044 (756 NSF), 
Room 044A (27 NSF), Room 061 
(749 NSF), Room 061A (30 NSF), 
Room 062 (737 NSF), Room 062A 
(25 NSF), Room 063 (760 NSF), 
Room 063A (25 NSF), Room 065 
(750 NSF), Room 065A (25 NSF), 
Room 068 (750 NSF), Room 068A 
(41 NSF)

-5,423 -98 $65,076 $12 $0

Renovation 2026 44 1 Renovating: Apply Painting, Floor 
Cover, Electrical, Plumbing, 
Windows, Lighting, Restrooms, 
HVAC Systems, Bell/Fire Alarm 
Systems, Retrofit for Technology to 
Room 101 (450 NSF), Room 102 
(439 NSF), Room 103 (148 NSF), 
Room 104 (617 NSF), Room 105 
(323 NSF), Room 107 (43 NSF), 
Room 108 (6 NSF), Room 109 (255 
NSF), Room 110 (184 NSF), Room 
111 (130 NSF), Room 112 (130 
NSF), Room 113 (152 NSF), Room 
114 (88 NSF), Room 115 (152 NSF), 
Room 116 (152 NSF), Room 117 
(161 NSF), Room 118 (185 NSF), 
Room 119 (256 NSF), Room 120 (75 
NSF), Room 121 (282 NSF), Room 
122 (269 NSF), Room 123 (327 
NSF), Room 124 (40 NSF), Room 
125 (69 NSF), Room 126 (297 NSF), 
Room 127 (84 NSF), Room 128 
(220 NSF), Room 129 (199 NSF), 
Room 129A (30 NSF), Room 130 
(393 NSF), Room 131 (473 NSF), 
Room 132 (274 NSF), Room 133 
(149 NSF), Room 134 (176 NSF), 
Room 135 (176 NSF), Room 136 
(136 NSF), Room 137 (313 NSF), 
Room 138 (189 NSF), Room 139 
(457 NSF), Room 139A (51 NSF), 
Room 140 (32 NSF), Room 141 (32 
NSF), Room 142 (30 NSF), Room 
143 (155 NSF), Room 144 (3253 
NSF), Room 145 (385 NSF), Room 
146 (197 NSF), Room 147 (139 
NSF), Room 148 (614 NSF), Room 
150 (455 NSF), Room 151 (375 
NSF), Room 152 (154 NSF), Room 
153 (311 NSF), Room 154 (33 NSF), 
Room 155 (36 NSF), Room 156 
(346 NSF), Room 157 (294 NSF), 
Room 158 (575 NSF)

15,966 0 $2,171,376 $136 $0

Page 2361 of 2427

DRAFT



TYNES ELEMENTARY Parcel Building Description Total NSF Change In 
Station Count

Calculated 
Cost

Cost Per 
NSF

Cost Per 
Station

Renovation 2026 44 2 Renovating: Apply Painting, Floor 
Cover, Electrical, Plumbing, 
Windows, Lighting, Restrooms, 
HVAC Systems, Bell/Fire Alarm 
Systems, Retrofit for Technology to 
Room 201 (5464 NSF), Room 202 
(60 NSF), Room 203 (69 NSF), 
Room 204 (227 NSF), Room 205 
(36 NSF), Room 206 (113 NSF), 
Room 207 (179 NSF), Room 208 
(1109 NSF), Room 209 (543 NSF), 
Room 210 (383 NSF), Room 211 
(122 NSF), Room 212 (187 NSF), 
Room 213 (223 NSF), Room 214 
(34 NSF), Room 215 (106 NSF), 
Room 216 (71 NSF), Room 217 
(409 NSF), Room 218 (638 NSF), 
Room 219 (25 NSF), Room 220 
(1191 NSF), Room 221 (334 NSF), 
Room 222 (83 NSF), Room 223 
(100 NSF), Room 225 (145 NSF), 
Room 226 (145 NSF), Room 227 
(97 NSF), Room 228 (303 NSF), 
Room 229 (12 NSF), Room 230 (84 
NSF), Room 231 (39 NSF), Room 
232 (81 NSF), Room 233 (222 NSF), 
Room 234 (44 NSF), Room 235 
(141 NSF), Room 237 (39 NSF), 
Room 238 (644 NSF)

13,702 0 $1,260,584 $92 $0

Renovation 2026 44 3 Renovating: Apply Painting, Floor 
Cover, Electrical, Plumbing, 
Windows, Lighting, Restrooms, 
HVAC Systems, Bell/Fire Alarm 
Systems, Retrofit for Technology to 
Room 300 (1807 NSF), Room 301 
(923 NSF), Room 302 (923 NSF), 
Room 303 (68 NSF), Room 304 (68 
NSF), Room 305 (61 NSF), Room 
306 (61 NSF), Room 307 (37 NSF), 
Room 308 (40 NSF), Room 309 
(103 NSF), Room 310 (96 NSF), 
Room 311 (203 NSF), Room 312 
(101 NSF), Room 313 (101 NSF), 
Room 314 (101 NSF), Room 315 
(926 NSF), Room 316 (925 NSF), 
Room 317 (61 NSF), Room 318 (61 
NSF), Room 319 (29 NSF), Room 
320 (30 NSF), Room 321 (137 NSF), 
Room 322 (136 NSF), Room 323 
(846 NSF), Room 324 (871 NSF), 
Room 325 (32 NSF), Room 326 (32 
NSF), Room 327 (99 NSF), Room 
328 (99 NSF), Room 329 (101 NSF), 
Room 330 (101 NSF), Room 331 
(101 NSF), Room 332 (101 NSF), 
Room 333 (847 NSF), Room 334 
(874 NSF), Room 335 (99 NSF), 
Room 336 (99 NSF), Room 337 (32 
NSF), Room 338 (32 NSF), Room 
339 (46 NSF), Room 340 (169 NSF), 
Room 341 (156 NSF), Room 342 
(76 NSF), Room 343 (11 NSF)

11,822 0 $1,087,624 $92 $0

Page 2362 of 2427

DRAFT



TYNES ELEMENTARY Parcel Building Description Total NSF Change In 
Station Count

Calculated 
Cost

Cost Per 
NSF

Cost Per 
Station

Renovation 2026 44 4 Renovating: Apply Painting, Floor 
Cover, Electrical, Plumbing, 
Windows, Lighting, Restrooms, 
HVAC Systems, Bell/Fire Alarm 
Systems, Retrofit for Technology to 
Room 400 (1906 NSF), Room 401 
(185 NSF), Room 402 (129 NSF), 
Room 402A (118 NSF), Room 403 
(41 NSF), Room 403A (11 NSF), 
Room 404 (995 NSF), Room 405 
(992 NSF), Room 406 (32 NSF), 
Room 407 (32 NSF), Room 408 
(107 NSF), Room 409 (108 NSF), 
Room 410 (139 NSF), Room 411 
(139 NSF), Room 412 (139 NSF), 
Room 413 (139 NSF), Room 414 
(994 NSF), Room 415 (989 NSF), 
Room 416 (108 NSF), Room 417 
(118 NSF), Room 418 (32 NSF), 
Room 419 (32 NSF), Room 420 
(1171 NSF), Room 421 (1171 NSF), 
Room 422 (32 NSF), Room 423 (32 
NSF), Room 424 (107 NSF), Room 
425 (107 NSF), Room 426 (139 
NSF), Room 427 (139 NSF), Room 
428 (139 NSF), Room 429 (139 
NSF), Room 430 (994 NSF), Room 
431 (965 NSF), Room 432 (118 
NSF), Room 433 (107 NSF), Room 
434 (33 NSF), Room 435 (32 NSF)

12,910 0 $1,187,720 $92 $0

Renovation 2026 44 5 Renovating: Apply Painting, Floor 
Cover, Electrical, Plumbing, 
Windows, Lighting, Restrooms, 
HVAC Systems, Bell/Fire Alarm 
Systems, Retrofit for Technology to 
Room 500 (1898 NSF), Room 501 
(995 NSF), Room 502 (997 NSF), 
Room 503 (32 NSF), Room 504 (32 
NSF), Room 505 (107 NSF), Room 
506 (118 NSF), Room 507 (88 NSF), 
Room 508 (88 NSF), Room 509 (88 
NSF), Room 510 (88 NSF), Room 
511 (998 NSF), Room 512 (990 
NSF), Room 513 (107 NSF), Room 
514 (108 NSF), Room 515 (33 NSF), 
Room 516 (32 NSF), Room 517 
(993 NSF), Room 518 (996 NSF), 
Room 519 (88 NSF), Room 520 (32 
NSF), Room 521 (107 NSF), Room 
522 (108 NSF), Room 523 (88 NSF), 
Room 524 (88 NSF), Room 525 (88 
NSF), Room 526 (88 NSF), Room 
527 (962 NSF), Room 528 (997 
NSF), Room 529 (107 NSF), Room 
530 (108 NSF), Room 531 (32 NSF), 
Room 532 (32 NSF), Room 533 (11 
NSF), Room 534 (128 NSF), Room 
535 (47 NSF), Room 536 (117 NSF), 
Room 537 (152 NSF)

12,168 0 $1,119,456 $92 $0

Page 2363 of 2427

DRAFT



TYNES ELEMENTARY Parcel Building Description Total NSF Change In 
Station Count

Calculated 
Cost

Cost Per 
NSF

Cost Per 
Station

Renovation 2026 44 6 Renovating: Apply Painting, Floor 
Cover, Electrical, Plumbing, 
Windows, Lighting, Restrooms, 
HVAC Systems, Bell/Fire Alarm 
Systems, Retrofit for Technology to 
Room 600 (1899 NSF), Room 601 
(995 NSF), Room 602 (996 NSF), 
Room 603 (32 NSF), Room 604 (32 
NSF), Room 605 (107 NSF), Room 
606 (107 NSF), Room 607 (88 NSF), 
Room 608 (88 NSF), Room 609 (88 
NSF), Room 610 (88 NSF), Room 
611 (994 NSF), Room 612 (994 
NSF), Room 613 (107 NSF), Room 
614 (108 NSF), Room 615 (32 NSF), 
Room 616 (32 NSF), Room 617 
(990 NSF), Room 618 (992 NSF), 
Room 619 (32 NSF), Room 620 (32 
NSF), Room 621 (107 NSF), Room 
622 (107 NSF), Room 623 (88 NSF), 
Room 624 (88 NSF), Room 625 (88 
NSF), Room 626 (88 NSF), Room 
627 (993 NSF), Room 628 (993 
NSF), Room 629 (107 NSF), Room 
630 (107 NSF), Room 631 (32 NSF), 
Room 632 (32 NSF), Room 633 (11 
NSF), Room 634 (248 NSF), Room 
635 (48 NSF), Room 637 (155 NSF)

12,125 0 $1,649,000 $136 $0

Page 2364 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

September 4, 2025 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C19 - Prequalification of Contractors

Description
Section 1013.46 of Florida Statutes requires school boards to prequalify contractors prior to their being able to bid on
construction projects for the district.  The rules for prequalification are stipulated in the State Requirements for Educational
Facilities (SREF).  The attached list identifies the contractors to be approved this month.  As this is an annual requirement, the
attached list may contain both new contractors and contractors seeking to renew their prequalification status.  Per Florida
Statutes, only those contractors currently prequalified at the time of bidding may bid on a school board construction project.

Gap Analysis
Prequalification of Contractors is an annual requirement.

Previous Outcomes
CCDS complies with contractor prequalification as required by Florida Statutes and SREF (State Requirements for Educational
Facilities).

Expected Outcomes
CCDS will remain in compliance by certifying the contractors recommended for prequalification meet the requirements of
Section 1013.46 FS, the State Requirements for Educational Facilities (SREF) and School Board Policy.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure fiscal responsibility through the effective management of district operations in an effort to maximize available resources
necessary to provide an environment that is safe, efficient, and conducive to learning.

Recommendation
Approve the attached contractor prequalification list.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net
Lance Addison, Director for Facility Planning and Construction, (904) 336-6852, lance.addison@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
None.

Review Comments

Attachments

Table for Board Backup Contractor Prequal, 9.4.2025

Page 2365 of 2427

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/table-for-board-backup-contractor-prequal-942025.pdf


SBCC PRE-QUALIFIED CONTRACTORS 
 
 
The following contractors are being submitted to the School Board for Contractor Pre-Qualification approval 
having met all requirements of Chapter 1013.46 F. S., as determined by the Pre-Qualification Committee 
consisting of Lance Addison, Clayton Anderson, Bertie Staefe, Chris Deely-Isais and Beth Clark.  The pre-
qualification certification is valid for one year from the end of the month in which Board approval is obtained. 

 
 

COMPANY TRADE CATEGORY BOND LIMIT EXPIRATION DATE 

A3 Communications Electrical Contractor $15,000,000.00 September 30, 2026 

Allstate Construction, LLC General Contractor $150,000,000.00 September 30, 2026 

National Building Contractors, Inc. General and Roofing 
Contractor 

$10,000,000.00 September 30, 2026 

 

Page 2366 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

September 4, 2025 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C20 - Change Order #3 (Direct Purchasing) for Lake Asbury Junior High School Classroom Addition

Description
Direct purchasing change orders are almost always deductive and are the sole initiative of the owner. These change orders
represent the purchase of materials and/or equipment directly by the School Board in order to save sales tax. This change order
reconciles direct purchasing and returns unused funds to the Contractor.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
Sales tax savings have been used in the past to fund capital projects that may otherwise have not been funded.

Expected Outcomes
Money saved with sales tax savings will be used for capital projects that may otherwise have not been funded.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure fiscal responsibility through the effective management of district operations in an effort to maximize available resources
necessary to provide an environment that is safe, efficient, and conducive to learning.

Recommendation
Approve Change Order #3.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net
Lance Addison, Director of Facility Planning and Construction, (904) 336-6852, lance.addison@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
This change order will increase the contract amount by $44,963.12. Architect fees will not increase as a result of this change
order. This addition to the construction contract will not impact the budget.

Review Comments

Attachments

Change Order #3 (Direct Purchasing) Lake Asbury Junior High School Classroom Addition

Page 2367 of 2427

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/change-order-3-direct-purchasing-lake-asbury-junior-high-school-classroom-addition.pdf


Page 2368 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2369 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

September 4, 2025 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C21 - Change Order #2 (Days Only) for Oakleaf Village Elementary School Fire Alarm Repair/Replacement

Description
Change orders are initiated by the contractor, architect/engineer or owner, and may increase or decrease the scope of the project
as defined by the plans and specifications. Change orders are reviewed by the architect/engineer and staff prior to submission to
the School Board for approval. This change order is for four (4) days to be added to the contract due to increased procurement
times for backordered materials required to complete the project.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
Construction will proceed immediately translating to an on time completion.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure fiscal responsibility through the effective management of district operations in an effort to maximize available resources
necessary to provide an environment that is safe, efficient, and conducive to learning.

Recommendation
Approve Change Order # 2.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net
Lance Addison, Director for Facility Planning and Construction, (904) 336-6852, lance.addison@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
If approved, this change order will not increase the contract amount. The substantial completion date will now be August 5,
2025.  Final completion date is September 5, 2025.  Architect fees will not increase as a result of this change order.

Review Comments

Attachments

Change Order #2 OVE Fire Alarm Repair Replacement

Page 2370 of 2427

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/change-order-2-ove-fire-alarm-repair-replacement.pdf


Page 2371 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2372 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

September 4, 2025 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C22 - Change Order #2 (Days Only) for Tynes Elementary School Fire Alarm Repair/Replacement

Description
Change orders are initiated by the contractor, architect/engineer or owner, and may increase or decrease the scope of the project
as defined by the plans and specifications. Change orders are reviewed by the architect/engineer and staff prior to submission to
the School Board for approval. This change order is for five (5) days to be added to the contract due to increased procurement
times for backordered materials required for the project.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
Construction will proceed immediately translating to an on time completion.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure fiscal responsibility through the effective management of district operations in an effort to maximize available resources
necessary to provide an environment that is safe, efficient, and conducive to learning.

Recommendation
Approve Change Order # 2.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net
Lance Addison, Director for Facility Planning and Construction, (904) 336-6852, lance.addison@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
If approved, this change order will not increase the contract amount. The substantial completion date will now be August 6,
2025.  Final completion date is September 6, 2025.  Architect fees will not increase as a result of this change order.

Review Comments

Attachments

Change Order #2 TES Fire Alarm Repair Replacement

Page 2373 of 2427

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/change-order-2-tes-fire-alarm-repair-replacement.pdf


Page 2374 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2375 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

September 4, 2025 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C23 - Change Order #2 (Days Only) for Plantation Oaks Elementary School Fire Alarm Repair/Replacement

Description
Change orders are initiated by the contractor, architect/engineer or owner, and may increase or decrease the scope of the project
as defined by the plans and specifications. Change orders are reviewed by the architect/engineer and staff prior to submission to
the School Board for approval. This change order is for three (3) days to be added to the contract due to increased procurement
times for backordered materials required for the project.

Gap Analysis
N/A

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
Construction will proceed immediately translating to an on time completion.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure fiscal responsibility through the effective management of district operations in an effort to maximize available resources
necessary to provide an environment that is safe, efficient, and conducive to learning.

Recommendation
Approve Change Order # 2.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net
Lance Addison, Director for Facility Planning and Construction, (904) 336-6852, lance.addison@myoneclay.net

Financial Impact
If approved, this change order will not increase the contract amount. The substantial completion date will now be August 4,
2025.  Final completion date is September 4, 2025.  Architect fees will not increase as a result of this change order.

Review Comments

Attachments

Change Order #2 POE Fire Alarm Repair Replacement

Page 2376 of 2427

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/change-order-2-poe-fire-alarm-repair-replacement.pdf


Page 2377 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2378 of 2427

DRAFT



School Board of Clay County

September 4, 2025 - Regular School Board Meeting

Title
C24 - Thunderbolt Elementary School HVAC Repair/Replacement Contract Award

Description
The Thunderbolt Elementary School HVAC Repair/Replacement project was listed and approved by the School Board as part of
the 2025/26 Educational Facilities Plan (EFP). The district will be utilizing the DCPS RFP N 08/19 –TW –HVAC Maintenance
Bid. Per School Board policy, contracts over $500,000.00 must be approved by the School Board of Clay County; therefore, this
contract is being presented for approval.

Gap Analysis
Thunderbolt Elementary School is in need of HVAC Repair/Replacement.

Previous Outcomes
N/A

Expected Outcomes
Upon approval by the Board, we expect the awarded vendor to provide quality construction services as specified for the
Thunderbolt Elementary School HVAC Repair/Replacement.

Strategic Plan Goal
Ensure fiscal responsibility through the effective management of district operations in an effort to maximize available resources
necessary to provide an environment that is safe, efficient, and conducive to learning.

Recommendation
Award the contract to Trane U.S., Inc. using the DCPS RFP N 08/19 –TW – HVAC Maintenance Bid in the amount of
$507,460.80.

Contact
Bryce Ellis, Assistant Superintendent for Operations, (904) 336-6853, bryce.ellis@myoneclay.net
Lance Addison, Director for Facility Planning and Construction, (904) 336-6824,

Financial Impact
The contract amount of $507,460.80 is available in the Educational Facilities Plan.

Review Comments

Attachments

TBE HVAC Repair Replacement Contract

TBE HVAC Repair Replacement Contract Cont.

Page 2379 of 2427

DRAFT

https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/tbe-hvac-repair-replacement-contract.pdf
https://agenda.oneclay.net/content/files/tbe-hvac-repair-replacement-contract-cont_1.pdf


Page 2380 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2381 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2382 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2383 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2384 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2385 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2386 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2387 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2388 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2389 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2390 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2391 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2392 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2393 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2394 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2395 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2396 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2397 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2398 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2399 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2400 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2401 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2402 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2403 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2404 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2405 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2406 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2407 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2408 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2409 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2410 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2411 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2412 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2413 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2414 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2415 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2416 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2417 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2418 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2419 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2420 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2421 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2422 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2423 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2424 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2425 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2426 of 2427

DRAFT



Page 2427 of 2427

DRAFT


